ADVANCES IN PATHOGENESIS, ETIOLOGY, AND THERAPIES FOR ANKYLOSING SPONDYLITIS

EDITED BY: Jieruo Gu, David Yu and James Cheng-Chung Wei PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-320-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-320-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

ADVANCES IN PATHOGENESIS, ETIOLOGY, AND THERAPIES FOR ANKYLOSING SPONDYLITIS

Topic Editors:

Jieruo Gu, Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, China David Yu, University of California, Los Angeles, United States James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Citation: Gu, J., Yu, D., Wei, J. C.-C., eds. (2022). Advances in Pathogenesis, Etiology, and Therapies for Ankylosing Spondylitis. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-320-9

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Advances in Pathogenesis, Etiology, and Therapies for Ankylosing Spondylitis

Chih-Wei Chen, James Cheng-Chung Wei, Jieruo Gu and David Yu

- O6 A Comprehensive Assessment of Hip Damage in Ankylosing Spondylitis, Especially Early Features
 Qing Han, Zhaohui Zheng, Kui Zhang, Jin Ding, Xenofon Baraliakos and Ping Zhu
- **13 Testing if Micro-CT Is Capable of Quantitating the Extent of Proteoglycan-Aggrecan Induced Axial Spondyloarthritis in Mice** Qing Han, ZhaoHui Zheng, Qiang Liang, Kui Zhang, FengFan Yang, XiangHui Fu, Xing Luo, Jin Ding, Ronghua Xie, WenXiao Zhu and Ping Zhu
- 19 Imbalance of Peripheral Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Meta-Analysis

Dong Liu, Budian Liu, Churong Lin and Jieruo Gu

35 Active Inflammatory and Chronic Structural Damages of Sacroiliac Joint in Patients With Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis and Non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis

Liudan Tu, Churong Lin, Ya Xie, Xiaohong Wang, Qiujing Wei, Yanli Zhang and Jieruo Gu

41 Adalimumab Therapy Restores the Gut Microbiota in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis

Zena Chen, Xuqi Zheng, Xinyu Wu, Jialing Wu, Xiaomin Li, Qiujing Wei, Xi Zhang, Linkai Fang, Ou Jin and Jieruo Gu

49 Genetic Associations Between IL-6 and the Development of Autoimmune Arthritis Are Gender-Specific

Jianqiao Hong, Zihao Qu, Xiaoxiao Ji, Congsun Li, Geng Zhang, Ciliang Jin, Jie Wang, Yongxing Zhang, Yue Shen, Jiahong Meng, Chenhe Zhou, Chaohua Fang, Wei Wang and Shigui Yan

59 Targeting the Interleukin-23/Interleukin-17 Inflammatory Pathway: Successes and Failures in the Treatment of Axial Spondyloarthritis

Runsheng Wang and Walter P. Maksymowych

77 Paradoxical Augmentation of Experimental Spondyloarthritis by RORC Inhibition in HLA-B27 Transgenic Rats Melissa N. van Tok, Mohamed Mandour, Joseph Wahle, Mark E. Labadia,

Melissa N. van Tok, Mohamed Mandour, Joseph Wahle, Mark E. Labadia, Marleen G. H. van de Sande, Gerald Nabozny, Dominique L. Baeten and Leonie M. van Duivenvoorde

86 The Clinical and MRI Effect of TNF-α Inhibitors in Spondyloarthritis Patients With Hip Involvement: A Real-World Observational Clinical Study Kui Zhang, Yan Zheng, Qing Han, Ying Liu, Weitao Wang, Jin Ding, Yan Wang, Bei Zhang, Junfeng Jia, Minwen Zheng, Zhaohui Zheng and Ping Zhu

95 Association Between Infections and Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Xiao Zhang, Zhe Sun, Aihong Zhou, Lei Tao, Yingxin Chen, Xinyu Shi, Jia Yin, Zheng Sun and Guoyong Ding





Editorial: Advances in Pathogenesis, Etiology, and Therapies for Ankylosing Spondylitis

Chih-Wei Chen^{1†}, James Cheng-Chung Wei^{1,2,3†}, Jieruo Gu^{4*} and David Yu⁵

¹ Institute of Medicine, Chung Shan Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, ² Department of Allergy, Immunology & Rheumatology, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, ³ Graduate Institute of Integrated Medicine, China Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, ⁴ Rheumatology Department of the Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ⁵ Department of Medicine, University of California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Keywords: ankylosing spondylitis, acquired immunity, diagnosis, innate immunity, therapy

Editorial on the Research Topic

Advances in Pathogenesis, Etiology, and Therapies for Ankylosing Spondylitis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Betty Diamond, Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, United States

*Correspondence:

Jieruo Gu gujieruo@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 November 2021 Accepted: 09 December 2021 Published: 23 December 2021

Citation:

Chen C-W, Wei JC-C, Gu J and Yu D (2021) Editorial: Advances in Pathogenesis, Etiology, and Therapies for Ankylosing Spondylitis. Front. Immunol. 12:822582. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.822582 Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is a chronic inflammatory rheumatic disease caused by the disrupted balance of both the innate immune system and acquired immune system in response to environmental factors (1). AS causes inflammatory back pain and affects the spine and sacroiliac joints, which can lead to a drop in life quality of patients, as well as an increased burden to patients and society (2). In recent years, a growing number of studies have been conducted to investigate the pathogenesis and etiology, imaging techniques, and treatment in AS (3–7). In this Research Topic, there are three review articles and seven research articles published, mainly focusing on pathogenesis and etiology, diagnosis and therapies, and related assessment tools of AS.

Hong et al. investigated the genetic association between IL 6 and autoimmune arthritis using multiple genome-wide association studies (GWAS) datasets, and they found a genetic association between the increased level of IL-6 signalling and risk of RA and AS, as well as observed the sexual difference in IL6-intermediate susceptibility to autoimmune arthritis. Controversial results on the effect of infections on the risk of AS were reported by previous studies, which is quantitatively investigated by Zhang et al. through a meta-analysis. They confirmed that the risk of AS can be significantly enhanced by infections, such as infections with adjusted comorbidities, viral infection. Liu et al. further conducted a meta-analysis to clarify the alteration of the immune system in patients with AS. They found that the pathogenesis of AS can be ascribed to the disequilibrium between Th17 and Tregs, Th1 and Th2, which further supports that AS is resulted from the disrupted balance of the innate immune system and acquired immune system (8).

The diagnosis is the key to reducing the burden on patients and society caused by AS. Tu et al. employed the MRI images to identify non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (nr-axSpA) and radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (r-axSpA), the latter of which is also known as AS. They found that AS patients presented more active inflammatory and chronic structural damages, while erosion was more frequently observed in MRI of nr-axSpA patients. Han et al. systematically analysed clinical and imaging hip data to examine hip changes in AS patients by MRI and X-ray. They observed that more than 40% of AS patients with minimal or no hip pain had hip changes, which can be used for early diagnosis.

4

Various therapies for AS have been studied, such as tofacitinib - an oral Janus kinase inhibitor (9) and Risankizumab - an IL-23 inhibitor (10). An increasing number of studies found that cytokine signalling via the IL-17A pathway was a major factor in the pathogenesis of spondyloarthritis (SpA) (11, 12). Tok et al. assessed the influence of inhibition of RAR related orphan receptor-g (RORC) on experimental SpA in HLA-B27 transgenic (tg) rats, and they found that experimental SpA in the HLA-B27 tg rat model could be accelerated and aggravated by RORC inhibitor treatment. Wang and Maksymowych reviewed recent studies on the role of the IL-23/IL-17 pathway in the pathophysiology of inflammation to discuss the treatment of AS. They found that the inhibition of IL-17 cytokines contributed to the inflammatory symptom control in patients with axSpA, but the IL-23 blockade was ineffective in the treatment. Chen et al. employed the gut microbiome as a biomarker to evaluate the effectiveness of adalimumab therapy in AS patients, based on previous discoveries that the gut microbiome was associated with the initiation and development of AS, and their findings suggested the gut microbiome was restored by adalimumab therapy in AS patients and therefore could be used as a predictive tool for treatment response.

REFERENCES

- Braun J, Sieper J. Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Lancet* (2007) 369(9570):1379–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60635-7
- Burgos-Varga R, Wei JC-C, Rahman MU, Akkoc N, Haq SA, Hammoudeh M, et al. The Prevalence and Clinical Characteristics of Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis Among Patients With Inflammatory Back Pain in Rheumatology Practices: A Multinational, Multicenter Study. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2016) 18(1):132. doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-1027-9
- Wei JC, Chen HH, Hsieh TY, Lan HH, Tseng JC, Liu CH, et al. Clinical Practice Recommendations for the Use of Imaging in the Diagnosis and Management of Axial Spondyloarthritis in Taiwan. *Int J Rheum Dis* (2020) 23 (1):24–36. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.13679
- 4. Gu J, Wei YL, Wei JC, Huang F, Jan MS, Centola M, et al. Identification of RGS1 as a Candidate Biomarker for Undifferentiated Spondylarthritis by Genome-Wide Expression Profiling and Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60(11):3269–79. doi: 10.1002/art.24968
- Brown MA, Kennedy LG, Macgregor AJ, Darke C, Duncan E, Shatford JL, et al. Susceptibility to Ankylosing Spondylitis in Twins the Role of Genes, HLA, and the Environment. *Arthritis Rheum* (1997) 40(10):1823–8. doi: 10.1002/art.1780401015
- Huang CH, Wong RH, Wei JC, Tsay MD, Chen WC, Chen HY, et al. Effects of Genetic Polymorphisms of Programmed Cell Death 1 and its Ligands on the Development of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Rheumatology (Oxford England)* (2011) 50(10):1809–13. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ker211
- Huang CH, Wei JC, Chang WC, Chiou SY, Chou CH, Lin YJ, et al. Higher Expression of Whole Blood microRNA-21 in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis Associated With Programmed Cell Death 4 mRNA Expression and Collagen Cross-Linked C-Telopeptide Concentration. J Rheumatol (2014) 41(6):1104–11. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.130515
- Dulic S, Vasarhelyi Z, Bajnok A, Szalay B, Toldi G, Kovacs L, et al. The Impact of Anti-TNF Therapy on CD4+ and CD8+ Cell Subsets in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Pathobiol* (2018) 85(3):201–10. doi: 10.1159/000484250
- 9. van der Heijde D, Deodhar A, Wei JC, Drescher E, Fleishaker D, Hendrikx T, et al. Tofacitinib in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Phase II, 16-

Moreover, assessment technologies have been investigated to support the diagnosis and therapeutic interventions. Han et al. studied the effect of therapeutic interventions that can be assessed by Micro-CT, and they found that Micro-CT could be used to quantitatively assess the extent of axial involvement in mouse spondylitis caused by proteoglycan aggrecan (PGA). Zhang et al. quantitatively assessed the effect of tumour necrosis factor (TNF)a inhibitor treatment in patients with spondyloarthritis (SpA) through clinical and MRI assessment, which was suggested as an accurate evaluation tool to guide targeted treatment.

In conclusion, the papers collected in this Research Topic contributed to the understanding of the pathogenesis and etiology of AS, including hereditary and environmental factors, as well as the development of diagnosis and therapies, and related assessment technologies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

C-WC and JC-CW contributed equally to the writing and reviewing of the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Week, Randomised, Placebo-Controlled, Dose-Ranging Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76(8):1340. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-210322

- Baeten D, Østergaard M, Wei JC-C, Sieper J, Järvinen P, Tam L-S, et al. Risankizumab, an IL-23 Inhibitor, for Ankylosing Spondylitis: Results of a Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Proof-of-Concept, Dose-Finding Phase 2 Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77(9):1295. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2018-213328
- Yeremenko N, Paramarta JE, Baeten D. The Interleukin-23/Interleukin-17 Immune Axis as a Promising New Target in the Treatment of Spondyloarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2014) 26(4):361–70. doi: 10.1097/ BOR.00000000000069
- van der Heijde D, Cheng-Chung Wei J, Dougados M, Mease P, Deodhar A, Maksymowych WP, et al. Ixekizumab, an Interleukin-17A Antagonist in the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis or Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis in Patients Previously Untreated With Biological Disease-Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (COAST-V): 16 Week Results of a Phase 3 Randomised, Double-Blind, Active-Controlled and Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Lancet* (2018) 392(10163):2441–51. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31946-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Wei, Gu and Yu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Comprehensive Assessment of Hip Damage in Ankylosing Spondylitis, Especially Early Features

Qing Han¹, Zhaohui Zheng^{1,2}, Kui Zhang^{1,2}, Jin Ding^{1,2}, Xenofon Baraliakos³ and Ping Zhu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Clinical Immunology, PLA Specialized Research Institute of Rheumatology & Immunology, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, ² National Translational Science Center for Molecular Medicine, Xi'an, China, ³ Rheumazentrum Ruhrgebiet Herne, Ruhr-University Bochum, Herne, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

David Yu, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Feng Huang, Chinese PLA General Hospital, China

> ***Correspondence:** Ping Zhu zhuping@fmmu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 February 2021 Accepted: 08 March 2021 Published: 24 March 2021

Citation:

Han Q, Zheng Z, Zhang K, Ding J, Baraliakos X and Zhu P (2021) A Comprehensive Assessment of Hip Damage in Ankylosing Spondylitis, Especially Early Features. Front. Immunol. 12:668969. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.668969 Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is most common in adolescents and the ultimate result is disability, which places a huge burden on patients and society. Therefore, the key to improve the prognosis of AS is the early diagnosis of hip injury. To examine if AS patients whose hip pain is either absent or minimal might already have observable MRI and X-ray hip changes. Clinical and imaging hip data were systematically analyzed in 200 healthy controls (HC) and 300 AS with varying degrees of hip pain. Forty-four patients with early hip osteoarthritis (OA) served as positive imaging controls. In MRI images, BME lesions in the STIR sequence were much more frequent in AS (62%) compared to HC (2%) ($p < 10^{-10}$ 0.0001). Most importantly, 42% of AS with no or minimal hip pain had one or more MRI lesions. This was much more frequent compared to the 2% in HC (p < 0.05). These lesions in AS were observed singly or in combination in the trochanters (8%), femoral heads (12%), and acetabula (13%). Parallel finding that X-ray changes were present in patients with minimal or no hip pain was also observed with X-ray. Based on the normal hip width of HC, joint space narrowing was observed in 94.3% of the entire AS cohort, and importantly 56.7% of AS patients with no or mild hip pain. In these latter patients, functional activities of the hips such as walking were normal. At least 40% of AS patients with minimal or no hip pain might already show MRI and X-ray changes.

Keywords: ankylosing spondylitis, hip, MRI, X-ray, Harris score

INTRODUCTION

Axial spondyloarthritis consists of two groups of entities, ankylosing spondylitis (AS), also known as radiographic axial spondyloarthritis, and non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (nr-axSpA). Radiographic sacroiliitis is present in AS but not in nr-axSpA (1). In the majority of ethnic groups, many AS patients carry the HLA-B27 gene (1–3). Other than pain, the two most common disabling features are bridging of vertebral syndesmophytes and hip destruction (4–6). The disease activity in many patients can be controlled by a TNF inhibitor, an IL-17 inhibitor, or a Janus kinase inhibitor (4, 7, 8). Not all patients develop syndesmophytes or hip destruction (9). It is commonly thought that early treatment can prevent syndesmophyte formation (10, 11). However, prevention of

6

progression has not been studied for hip destruction. Such studies need markers that might identify early hip disease.

Hip lesions have been reported in 25 to 35 percent of AS patients (12, 13). The typical symptom is groin pain. As a whole, hip lesions may be more severe in patients with early age onset, highly active axial, and entheseal diseases (14, 15). Very few imaging studies have been done with the aim of identifying early hip lesions. By the time a patient develops even moderate hip pain, the destructions are usually extensive (12). By that time, due to the lack of alternate treatment, hip arthroplasty is often the only effective therapy (12). Almost 90 percent of patients will experience pain relief and improved ranges of motion from hip arthroplasty. Ninety percent survived the replaced hip for 10 years, and 72 percent for 15 years (16, 17). Nevertheless, in theory, a patient would prefer using medications to arrest the progression of destruction before it requires arthroplasty.

One of the major objectives of this project is to examine if patients with minimal or no hip pain might already have X-ray and MRI changes. Investigators can then test if the progression of arthritis can be arrested by more aggressive medical therapies.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

Two hundred healthy control (HC), 300 outpatients with AS with or without hip pain, and 44 patients with early OA of hips were recruited from the clinics of the Department of Clinical Rheumatology at Xijing Hospital, Xi'an, China. All AS patients fulfilled the 1984 modified New York criteria. Their spondylitis was regarded as being clinically active. None of them were on biologics at the time of evaluation. We follow three steps. The first step is to identify among a list of clinical parameters, the one which by itself is most useful for assessing hip involvement. The second is to identify X-ray parameters that might appear in early hip involvement. The third is to identify corresponding MRI changes. As for comparisons, we also investigate patients with moderate and severe hip pain. For positive controls, we used early hip osteoarthritis.

None of AS patients had experienced hip injury or showed non-Spondyloarthritis causes of hip arthritis. Patient with psoriasis or inflammatory bowel disease were excluded from the study. The study and the informed consent have been approved by the ethics committee of the Xijing Hospital of Fourth Military Medical University (ID: 20110303-7).

Radiography

X-rays were taken with subjects in the supine position with the targeted hip(s) at the center of focus. They were instructed to extend their lower limbs, and to rotate them so that the two big toes would touch one another. The upper margin of the image included the superior iliac crests. The lower margin included the upper third of the femurs. Quantitative hip joint width (HJW) measurements were assessed on images in a DICOM viewer. Three sites were measured: superomedial, superolateral, and the point of narrowest part of each hip space. For each patient, the narrowest side of the

three measurements was used for comparison to other patients. The team of readers consisted of two radiologists and two rheumatologists. Readers were blinded to the clinical data. In our own cohort, the X-rays of the hips of OA patients were assessed systematically for the following three features: osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis and femoral head deformity.

MRI

MRI examinations were performed using standard protocols for T1W1 and STIR sequences using a 1.5-T machine (Magnetom Aera; Siemens Medical Solutions, Erlangen, Germany). Patients were placed supine with the hip joint in a neutral position. The parameters for T1-weighted images were TR/TE 715/9.5ms, for coronal short-tau inversion recovery (STIR), repetition time was 3550, echo time 51, and inversion time 145ms. Slice thickness was 4 mm. Both hips were included in the same image. Formal readings were preceded by a learning session. In the learning session, MRIs of a randomly selected subset of subjects were read separately by the four experienced readers. We divided the intense STIR signals into the following categories: subchondral acetabular, subchondral femoral head, cysts in acetabula, cysts in the femoral heads, enthesitis at greater trochanter, enthesitis at lesser trochanter. The readers were blinded to the clinical data. Afterwards, the four readers reviewed their scores together and discussed about the discrepancies. This learning session was followed by formal reading of all MRI. Disparities were reviewed together to arrive at a consensus.

Statistical Analyses

Analyses were performed using the SPSS 19.0 software (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Because the distribution was nonparametric, the Mann-Whitney U test was used for intra-group comparisons. In descriptive analysis, quantitative parameters were expressed as means and standard deviations. Qualitative parameters were expressed as percentages. Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to assess the percent contribution of each of different parameter. Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparing samples of different sample sizes. Spearman's rank correlation test was used to evaluate the degree of correlation. The threshold statistic significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Demographic

In **Table 1**, we show the demographic of the 300 AS patients, 44 OA patients and 200 healthy control. Eighty six percent of AS patients were HLA-B27 positive. The mean age of the AS group is not statistically different from the healthy control but less than the OA group (p < 0.05 comparing mean ages between AS and OA).

Identifying the Most Useful Clinical Parameter to Assess Hip Involvement in AS

We first used the parameters in the Harris Score as a clinical tool to assess hip joint disease activity and function. These parameters

TABLE 1 Demographic features and pretreatment values for evaluation
parameters of groups.

Characteristics (mean ± SD or %)	HC group	OA group	AS group
number of individuals	200	44	300
Age in years	29.9 ± 10.45	69.9 ± 5.54	25.8 ± 10.32
Male	73%	54%	82%
Duration (Month)	NA	NA	67.38 ± 65.39
Harris Hip Score (100 = best health)	94.49 ± 6.59	68.4 ± 6.33	77.82 ± 8.82
Hip pain score (44 = best health)	0	39.19 ± 6.65	24.95 ± 5.57
Flexion (degree)	132.8 ± 16.17	129.1 ± 22.3	125.31 ± 2.67
Abduction (degree)	29.16 ± 6.62	28.24 ± 6.15	26.19 ± 6.62
Extorsion (degree)	25.62 ± 0.61	25.5 ± 3.45	13.61 ± 6.61
Adduction (degree)	24.82 ± 2.46	22.5 ± 3.43	23.8 ± 5.45
Walking distance (m)	>1000	634 ± 256.6	521.2 ± 341.8
Function (0 = normal)	NA	32.78 ± 6.12	38.05 ± 5.11
BASDAI (0-10)	NA	NA	5.69 ± 1.58
BASFI (0-100)	NA	NA	37.48 ± 18.78
BASMI (0-10)	NA	NA	1.26 ± 1.98
Patient Global (0-10)	NA	NA	8.02 ± 1.25
CRP (higher than normal)	NA	NA	71%
ESR (higher than normal)	NA	NA	78%
HLA-B27 positive	NA	NA	86%

HC, Health control; OA, Osteoarthritis; AS, Ankylosing Spondylitis; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; BASMI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index; CRP, C-reactive protein (normal <0.8mg/dl); ESR, Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate (normal Male<15mm/h, Female<20mm/h). Numbers are in means ± SD. NA, not available.

included hip pain, three separate hip ranges of motion (flexion, external and internal rotation), function, and walking distance. The Harris scores of both AS (77.5 \pm 8.7) and OA (81.2 \pm 6.4) were significantly lower than those of healthy normal controls (94.1 ± 3.6) (p < 0.0001). In AS, correlation analysis showed that among the variables in the Harris score, a strong correlation was observed only between pain and walking distance (r = 0.7, p < 0.70.0001). This showed that each parameter was relatively independent of the others. In AS, Harris score did not correlate with age, disease duration, BASDAI, BASMI, BASFI, ASDAS, CRP or ESR (p > 0.5). The lack of correlation to those parameters indicated that for AS, the Harris score was an independent evaluation tool. We used PCA to calculate the percent of contribution of each of the variable within the Harris score to the final score. PCA showed that pain accounted for at least 50% of the total variables. The contribution of the other parameters was relatively even and much less than that from pain. Harris Score divided the intensity of pain into three categories: minimal/none, moderate and severe. For hip pain, in our cohort, 33% of patients reported minimal/no pain, while 28% reported moderate pain, and 39% severe pain. In the OA cohort, 73% reported minimal/no pain, while 21% reported moderate pain, and 6% severe pain.

Positive Controls for X-ray and MRI Changes Using OA Images

Results are of X-ray features of the hips were tabulated in **Table 2**. In the 200 subjects in the HC group, osteophytes subchondral

sclerosis and femoral head deformity were present in 1%, 2% and 0% respectively. For the 44 OA patients, those features were much more frequently at 29%, 87% and 32% respectively (p values of each ranged from < 0.001 to <0.0001). The joint width of hips in our OA cohort varied considerably. The mean and SD were 3.2 \pm 0.7 mm. The mean was less than that of the 4.8 \pm 0.74 mm of HC (p < 0.001). When analyzed by regression analysis, there was a small degree of correlation between the joint width and degree of pain (r = 0.408, p = 0.006). As expected, the mean joint width was the smallest in the group with severe pain.

We systematically evaluated the STIR images of the OA hips for BME lesions in trochanters, superficial subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads, superficial subchondral BME lesions in the acetabula, deep subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads, deep subchondral BME lesions in the acetabula, cysts in the femoral heads, and cysts in the acetabula. The lesions designated as cystic were distinguished from the BME lesions by their very distinct outline. Results are tabulated in **Table 2**. In our OA hip cohort, there was no BME lesion in the trochanters or cysts in the acetabula. The only STIR lesions that distinguished OA from HC were superficial subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads and cysts in the femoral heads. We then searched for similar appearing BME and cystic lesions in AS.

X-ray and MRI in AS Patients

Hip X-rays were systematically evaluated to determine the following characteristics: osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis and femoral head deformity. The upper half of Table 2 compares X-ray features in HC and AS subjects. Compared with HC subjects, only subchondral sclerosis appeared to be more frequent in AS than that of the control group (22% in AS versus 2% in control, p = 0.008). In addition to the above 3 parameters, we also measured joint widths of the involved hips. The mean and standard deviations of joint width in the healthy control group were 4.8 ± 0.74 mm. The range was 3.0 to 6.6 mm. Using the same method of measurement, the mean and standard deviation of the affected AS hips were much lower at 1.5 \pm 0.8 mm (p < 0.00001). Regression analysis showed that there was a high degree of a statistical relationship between joint width and pain (r = 0.81, p < 0.001). If the lower limit of normal is set at 3.89 mm, 94.3% of the involved hips in AS were below the normal threshold regardless of the presence or absence of pain. Even more striking, 56.7% of AS patients with no or mild hip pain showed a narrowing of hip-width. We also compared the hip joint width of AS patients who have minimal/no hip pain $(3.3 \pm 0.66 \text{ mm})$ to mild hip pain $(2.15 \pm 0.63 \text{ mm})$, to moderate hip pain (1.65 \pm 0.26 mm), and severe hip pain (0.93 \pm 0.56 mm). The mean hip joint width of each group was significantly different from one another (p < 0.01) (**Figure 1**).

In the healthy controls, the percent of hips with BME lesions in trochanters, superficial subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads, deep subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads, superficial subchondral BME lesions in the acetabula, deep subchondral BME lesions in the acetabula, cysts in the femoral heads, and cysts in the acetabula were observed in only 0%, 1%, 1%, 0%, 0%, 0% and 0%, of all the hips. The

X ray	Number of individuals	Joint width (mm)	Osteophytes	Subchondral sclerosis	Femoral head deformity			
HC	200	4.8 ± 0.74	1%	2%	0			
AS	300	1.5 ± 0.8*#	2%#	22%*#	1%#			
OA	44	3.2 ± 0.7*#	29%*#	87%*#	32%*#			
MRI	Number of individuals	BME lesions in trochanters	Superficial BME lesions in femoral heads	Superficial BME lesions in acetabula	Deep BME lesions in femoral heads	Deep BME lesions in acetabula	Cysts in femoral heads	Cysts in acetabula
HC	200	0%	1%	1%	0%	0%	0%	0%
AS	300	14%*#	56%*#	38%*#	29%*#	13%*#	0%#	10%*#
OA	44	0%#	30%*#	2%#	4%#	1%#	14%*#	0%#

TABLE 2	Statistical comparisor	n of X-ray and MRI features	s of hips in HC, AS and	I OA subjects.

HC, Healthy control; AS, Ankylosing Spondylitis; OA, Osteoarthritis; BME, bone marrow edema. Numbers in mean \pm SD. statistically different from healthy control, p < 0.05-0.0001; # statistically different between AS and OA, p < 0.05-0.0001. All MRI lesions were observed with the STIR sequences.



FIGURE 1 | X-rays of hips in a healthy control, OA and AS subject. (A) a healthy control subject; (B) an OA patient. White arrow points at an osteophyte; (C) an AS patients. White arrow points at narrowing of joint space.

corresponding values for AS were 14%, 56%, 38%, 29%, 13%, 0% and 10% respectively (**Table 3**).

All parameters except cysts in the femoral head were statistically more frequent in AS than those in the HC group (p values ranged from < 0.05 to <0.0001). Interestingly, some of the BME lesions appeared to extend inward from the areas where the femoral heads engaged the labrum (**Figure 2**).

When we confined our focus on the group of AS patients with minimal or no pain, we observed three differences from the HC group. Firstly, there were 8% in AS with BME lesions in trochanters. Secondly, 36% of AS showed subchondral BME lesions, and 4% of AS showed cystic lesions. All three MRI lesions were practically non-existent in the HC group. Overall, 42% of those with minimal or no pain in the hips showed one or more MRI lesions. Specifically, we did not observe any fat metaplasia.

X-ray and MRI Changes and Clinical Parameters in the Group With Minimal or No Hip Pain

For X-ray features, we first focus on joint width. The lowest width in the HC group is 3.0 mm. If we consider the lowest 95% Percentile, the lowest limit is 4.0 mm. In the group of patients with minimal/no hip pain, 44% have width less than 3.0 mm and 88% have width less than 4.0 mm. When we examine for MRI changes, 58% show at least one MRI change, 39% show more than one MRI changes. The MRI changes and clinical parameters are shown in the accompanying **Table 4**.

TABLE 3 | Statistical comparison of MRI features in different hip pain subgroups.

AS -hip pain	Number of individuals	BME lesions in trochanters	Superficial BME lesions in femoral heads	Superficial BME lesions in acetabula	Deep BME lesions in femoral heads	Deep BME lesions in acetabula	Cysts in femoral heads	Cysts in acetabula
Minimal/mild ^a	103	8%*	12%*	13%*	5%*	6%*	0%	4%*
Moderate	142	3%	13%	11%	3%	1%	0%	1%
Severe	55	1%	31%#	12%	21%#	6%	0%	5%

HC, Healthy control; AS, Ankylosing Spondylitis; OA, Osteoarthritis; BME, bone marrow edema. * indicates that the particular minimum/mild hip pain group value is statistically higher than the healthy control group; # represents statistically significant difference between the severe hip pain group and the minimal/mild hip pain; ^a42% of this group has at least one MRI sign. All MRI lesions were observed with the STIR sequences.



FIGURE 2 | MRI STIR images of hips in AS patients. Legends: (A) White arrow points at a deep BME lesion in the femoral head; (B) White arrows point at superficial BME lesions in the femoral head; (C) White arrow points at a BME lesion in the greater trochanter; (D) White arrow points at two cysts in the acetabulum.

TABLE 4 | Comparison of X-ray and MRI changes and clinical parameters in no or minimal hip pain group.

Parameters	Percentage
X-ray width less than 3 mm (%)	44
X-ray width less than 3.85mm (%)	82
X-ray width less than 4 mm (%)	88
at least one MRI change(%)	58
more than one MRI changes(%)	39
MRI features:	
Superficial subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads (%)	53
Superficial subchondral BME lesions in the acetabula (%)	31
Deep subchondral BME lesions in the acetabula(%)	17
Deep subchondral BME lesions in the femoral heads(%)	14
BME lesions in trochanters(%)	22
Cysts in the acetabula(%)	11
BASDAI ≧4.0(%)	26
High CRP ^a (%)	25
High ESR ^b (%)	22

BME, bone marrow edema; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; CRP, C-reactive protein (<0.8 mg/dl); ESR, Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate (Male<15 mm/h, Female<20 mm/h). ^aCRP higher than normal; ^bESR higher than normal.

DISCUSSION

AS places a huge burden on both patients and society. Inflammation of hip joint can eventually lead to bone damage, which result in decreased physical function and psychological disorders such as anxiety and depression. This further results in the need for help at work, increased sick leave and even incapacity. In addition, patients still need to spend a high amount of medical resources. It is important to note that the burden of disease increases with the course of the disease. Acute inflammatory findings on MRI can predict bone structure changes on late radiographs. Patients with early, typical presentation of AS may not have definite X-ray abnormalities, but further MRI examination may reveal early inflammation. Therefore, early diagnosis and treatment are crucial to improve prognosis.

Hip involvement has been recognized to be present in 19% to 47% of AS patients in several studies (18, 19). The largest of these is a composite of three data sets consisting of more than 2,000 AS patients. In these AS cohorts, hip involvement was present in about a third to a quarter of the patients. As in all studies, hip involvement is associated with a higher degree of functional impairment. Therefore diagnosis, especially early diagnosis should be an important part of AS management. In the above study, hip involvement was defined as either of three parameters: Clinical assessment, radiographic assessment, and need for hip replacement. It is not clear what are the most sensitive methods for either clinical or radiographic assessment. One recent study of 60 AS patients assessed the usefulness of the BASRI-score, which grades the radiographic severity from 0 to 4 using four separate parameters (9). However, the study did not use HC or reveal which particular of the four radiographic parameters was the most useful for identifying early hip involvement.

We know from sacroiliitis that MRI has the potential of showing pathologies before obvious radiographic changes. Two studies are promising in showing that more than 70% of AS patients with clinical hip involvement showed MRI abnormalities (20, 21). The changes they observed were joint effusion, bone marrow edema, and bone erosions. However, there were no HC in their studies. Based on numerous studies on MRI of the sacroiliac joints and the spine, unless MRI of HC for false positives are taken into account, it is impossible to assess which MRI changes of the hips can provide a diagnosis for preclinical and early clinical hip involvements.

We need to examine if patients with minimal or no hip pain might already have MRI changes. To ensure that we could identify MRI lesions, we first used patients with OA as positive controls. This is because MRI changes have been well described in OA, and typical examples are publically available. We then proceeded to study AS. In MRI images, BME lesions in the STIR sequence were much more frequent in AS (62%) compared to HC (2%) (p < 0.05 to 0.0001). Most importantly, 42% of AS with minimal or no hip pain had one or more MRI lesions. This was much more frequent compared to HC (p < 0.05). These lesions were observed singly or in combination in the trochanters (8%), femoral heads (12%)and acetabula (13%). For X-ray images, the most significant finding is that there was a high correlation between the joint width of the involved hips with hip pain (r =0.81, p < 0.001). Using the HC to set the lower limit of normal, narrowing was observed in 94.3% of the entire AS cohort, and importantly 56.7% of AS patients with no or mild hip pain. To our knowledge, narrowing of hip joint width with minimal or no hip pain has not been reported before.

In AS, overall disease activity in many patients can be controlled by TNF inhibitors, IL-17 inhibitors or Janus Kinase inhibitors. For TNF inhibitors, early treatment is often considered able to retard radiological vertebral progression. However, this has not been studied in hip studies. Part of the difficulty is that there are no markers for early hip disease. The present study offers several promising parameter for future investigation. Since it is not practical to subject every AS patients to MRI of the hips, we studied the X-ray changes in detail. Our results suggest that some AS patients with no or minimal pain might already show joint width narrowing on Xrays. Our results also showed that some of them might have normal acute phase reactants and low disease activity. In clinical practice, it would be reasonable to submit those patients with narrowed joint width to MRI evaluation of their hip joints. This indicated the joint width is a potentially very cost-effective objective imaging parameter to assess for both the presence as well the severity of hip involvement in AS.

The present MRI study adds to the existing information because the cohort is much larger, and because we use healthy control as negative control, and OA as positive control. Further, we categorize patients into groups of symptoms severity.

Limitations

The present study has several shortcomings. The definitions of X-ray and MRI lesions were arbitrarily chosen because there is no standardization available. The method of measuring joint width might vary depending on how the X-rays are taken. In our study, all X-rays were taken with the same protocol. The presence of joint width narrowing in AS is not totally unexpected. What is unexpected is that there is considerable number of patients with joint width narrowing even when they have minimal or no hip pain. Similarly, the presence of MRI changes described is not unexpected. What is unexpected is that they can be present in patients with minimal or no hip pain. Another shortcoming is that we did not detect significant MRI changes with the T1 sequence. This might be partly because we were using a lowresolution machine. Another shortcoming is that the OA we report were used as positive controls. Our OA cohort consisted those with early OA. Any differences between the AS and the OA we observed do not reflect general differences between the two

diseases. The most important shortcoming is that this is a crosssectional study. Any changes we observed might theoretically be transient. However, the study provided parameters which we can use in the future in longitudinal studies.

CONCLUSION

Hip involvement, which occurs in at least 20% of patients with AS, is associated with a high degree of disability. In current clinical practice, accurate diagnosis relies on X-ray, which is usually used only when there is hip pain and probably misses the early cases. This study discovers that AS patients with minimal or no hip pain might already have silent X-ray and MRI changes. Studies are needed to test whether AS patients with X-ray and MRI signs of early hip arthritis should be treated with aggressive medical therapies. The current research provides those X-ray and MRI parameters.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study and the informed consent have been approved by the ethics committee of Xijing Hospital of Fourth Military Medical University (ID: 20110303-7). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QH and PZ contributed to the conception of the work and completed the first draft and final version of the manuscript. QH, ZZ, KZ, JD, and XB contributed to the design of the work. QH, ZZ, KZ, JD, and XB contributed to the data acquisition and analysis. QH, ZZ, KZ, JD, XB, and PZ contributed to interpretation of data. All authors were involved in the manuscript revision and agreed with final approval of the version, and ensured the accuracy of investigation.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the National Basic Research Program of China (2015CB553704) and the National Nature Science Foundation Key Research Project of China (2017YFC0909002).

REFERENCES

- Sieper J, Poddubnyy D. Axial spondyloarthritis. *Lancet* (2017) 390(10089):73–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31591-4
- Schlosstein L, Terasaki PI, Bluestone R, Pearson CM. High association of an HL-A antigen, W27, with ankylosing spondylitis. N Engl J Med (1973) 288 (14):704–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197304052881403
- Stolwijk C, van Onna M, Boonen A, van Tubergen A. Global Prevalence of Spondyloarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Regression Analysis. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* (2016) 68(9):1320–31. doi: 10.1002/acr.22831
- Baraliakos X, Braun J. Hip involvement in ankylosing spondylitis: what is the verdict? *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2010) 49(1):3–4. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ kep298
- 5. Brophy S, Calin A. Ankylosing spondylitis: interaction between genes, joints, age at onset, and disease expression. J Rheumatol (2001) 28(10):2283–8.
- Chen J, Veras MM, Liu C, Lin J. Methotrexate for ankylosing spondylitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2013) 2013(2):D4524. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004524.pub4
- van der Heijde D, Ramiro S, Landewe R, Baraliakos X, Van den Bosch F, Sepriano A, et al. 2016 update of the ASAS-EULAR management recommendations for axial spondyloarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis 2017* (2017) 76(6):978–91. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-210770
- Braun J, Baraliakos X, Deodhar A, Baeten D, Sieper J, Emery P, et al. Effect of secukinumab on clinical and radiographic outcomes in ankylosing spondylitis: 2year results from the randomised phase III MEASURE 1 study. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76(6):1070–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209730
- Jeong H, Eun YH, Kim IY, Kim H, Lee J, Koh EM, et al. Characteristics of hip involvement in patients with ankylosing spondylitis in Korea. *Korean J Intern Med* (2017) 32(1):158–64. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2015.229
- Baraliakos X, Listing J, Brandt J, Haibel H, Rudwaleit M, Sieper J, et al. Radiographic progression in patients with ankylosing spondylitis after 4 yrs of treatment with the anti-TNF-alpha antibody infliximab. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2007) 46(9):1450–3. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kem166
- 11. van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Einstein S, Ory P, Vosse D, Ni L, et al. Radiographic progression of ankylosing spondylitis after up to two years of treatment with etanercept. Arthritis Rheum (2008) 58(5):1324–31. doi: 10.1002/art.23471
- Vander CB, Munoz-Gomariz E, Font P, Mulero J, de Vlam K, Boonen A, et al. Hip involvement in ankylosing spondylitis: epidemiology and risk factors associated with hip replacement surgery. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2010) 49 (1):73–81. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kep174
- Vander CB, Vastesaeger N, Collantes-Estevez E. Hip disease in ankylosing spondylitis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2013) 25(4):448–54. doi: 10.1097/ BOR.0b013e3283620e04

- Gensler LS, Ward MM, Reveille JD, Learch TJ, Weisman MH, Davis JJ. Clinical, radiographic and functional differences between juvenile-onset and adult-onset ankylosing spondylitis: results from the PSOAS cohort. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2008) 67(2):233–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2007.072512
- Zochling J, van der Heijde D, Burgos-Vargas R, Collantes E, Davis JJ, Dijkmans B, et al. ASAS/EULAR recommendations for the management of ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2006) 65(4):442–52. doi: 10.1136/ ard.2005.041137
- Tang WM, Chiu KY. Primary total hip arthroplasty in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Arthroplasty (2000) 15(1):52–8. doi: 10.1016/ S0883-5403(00)91155-0
- Chong RW, Chong CS, Lai CH. Total hip arthroplasty in patients with chronic autoimmune inflammatory arthroplasties. *Int J Rheum Dis* (2010) 13(3):235–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-185X.2010.01477.x
- Burki V, Gossec L, Payet J, Durnez A, Elhai M, Fabreguet I, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of hip involvement in spondyloarthritis: a single-centre observational study of 275 patients. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2012) 30(4):481–6.
- Chen HA, Chen CH, Liao HT, Lin YJ, Chen PC, Chen WS, et al. Factors associated with radiographic spinal involvement and hip involvement in ankylosing spondylitis. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* (2011) 40(6):552–8. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2010.07.008
- 20. Huang ZG, Zhang XZ, Hong W, Wang GC, Zhou HQ, Lu X, et al. The application of MR imaging in the detection of hip involvement in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. *Eur J Radiol* (2013) 82(9):1487–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejrad.2013.03.020
- Huang ZX, Deng WM, Guo X, Huang ZP, Huang YK, Lin CL, et al. Clinical and MRI response to dose reduction of an etanercept-biosimilar for hip arthritis in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: an observational, retrospective cohort study. *Clin Rheumatol* (2019) 38(6):1595–604. doi: 10.1007/s10067-019-04466-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Han, Zheng, Zhang, Ding, Baraliakos and Zhu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Testing if Micro-CT Is Capable of Quantitating the Extent of Proteoglycan-Aggrecan Induced Axial Spondyloarthritis in Mice

Qing Han^{1,2†}, ZhaoHui Zheng^{1,2†}, Qiang Liang^{1,2†}, Kui Zhang^{1,2}, FengFan Yang^{1,2}, XiangHui Fu^{1,2}, Xing Luo^{1,2}, Jin Ding^{1,2}, Ronghua Xie^{1,2}, WenXiao Zhu^{1,2} and Ping Zhu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Clinical Immunology, PLA Specialized Research Institute of Rheumatology & Immunology, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, ² National Translational Science Center for Molecular Medicine, Xi'an, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

David Yu, University of California, Los Angeles, United States Ming-Shiou Jan, Chung Shan Medical University, Taiwan

*Correspondence:

Ping Zhu zhuping@fmmu.edu.cn ¹These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 16 March 2021 Accepted: 21 June 2021 Published: 05 July 2021

Citation:

Han Q, Zheng Z, Liang Q, Zhang K, Yang F, Fu X, Luo X, Ding J, Xie R, Zhu W and Zhu P (2021) Testing if Micro-CT Is Capable of Quantitating the Extent of Proteoglycan-Aggrecan Induced Axial Spondyloarthritis in Mice. Front. Immunol. 12:681217. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.681217 **Objective:** Injections of proteoglycan aggrecan (PGA) have been reported to induce axial spondyloarthritis (ax-SpA) in BALB/c mice. It is considered to be a model for radiographic ax-SpA. However, evaluation of the extent of axial disease by histopathological assessment of every intervertebral space is labor-intensive. The objective of our paper is to test the feasibility of Micro Computed Tomography (Micro-CT) in rapidly enumerating the number of intervertebral spaces affected in each mouse.

Methods: Arthritis was induced in BALB/c mice by intraperitoneal injections of PGA. Involvement of several spinal segments, and selected sacroiliac and hip joints were evaluated by histopathology. The involvement of all intervertebral spaces, sacroiliac and hip joints was evaluated by Micro-CT.

Results: BALB/c mice injected with PGA developed histopathology of SpA-like axial lesions, including spondylitis, sacroiliac joint arthritis and hip joint arthritis. Micro-CT allowed us to clearly enumerate the number of lesions in each mouse.

Conclusion: Micro-CT allows quantitative assessment of the extent of axial involvement in PGA-induced mouse spondylitis. This can be a useful tool in assessing therapeutic interventions.

Keywords: spondyloarthritis, proteoglycan, aggrecan, BALB/c, animal models

INTRODUCTION

Axial Spondyloarthritis (ax-SpA) is a chronic inflammatory disease that affects the spine and sacroiliac joints (SIJs). The prototype is Ankylosing Spondylitis (AS) (1). Although the exact pathogenesis of SpA is not known, in AS, Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA-B27) is a major genetic contributor (2). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) is one of the main disease-causing cytokines (3, 4). The other known cytokine axis is the interleukin (IL) -23/IL-17 axis (5, 6). Proteoglycan (PG) is a normal component of human and mouse cartilage tissue. Immunizing BALB/c mice with human PG in presence of adjuvants turns it into an autoantigen (7). About 70% of PG-immunised BALB/c mice develop SpA (PG-induced spondylitis, PGISp), with a disease pathology and progression very similar to human AS (8). The success of inhibitors of TNF, IL-17 and Janus Kinase (JAK) in human patients have led to an explosion of clinical therapeutic trials of other modalities. The PGISp mouse

model is potentially a useful screening tool for potential novel therapeutic agents. However, being in the spine, assessment of individual spinal segment by histopathology will be laborintensive. The purpose of this study was to test the feasibility of Micro-CT as a rapid and accurate tool in quantitative evaluation of the extent of involvement of spine, SIJs and hip joints in this mouse model. The first step of our experiments was to validate the model in our laboratory using histopathology and cytokine assays. The final step was to test if Micro-CT could distinguish each affected intervertebral disc (IVD) and joints from healthy controls (HC).

METHODS

Experimental Animals

Specific pathogen-free (SPF) BALB/c mice purchased from the Experimental Center of the Fourth Military Medical University were placed in a pathogen-free facility. All animal experiments are conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health (NIH) guidelines and the guidelines and regulations of the Experimental Animal Research Center at the Fourth Military Medical University.

PGA-Induced SpA Mouse Model

BALB/c female mice (6~8 weeks) were used as experimental animals. Model group (n = 15) was injected with 100g PGA (dissolved in 100uL complete Freund's adjuvant) at time zero. The same dose of PGA (dissolved in 100uL incomplete Freund's adjuvant) was injected intraperitoneally at week 3 and 6 (9). The control group (n = 15) was given intraperitoneal injection of Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) and the same doses of adjuvants at the same time schedule as the model group. Mice were sacrificed at week 36 after the third injection. For the care and use of laboratory animals, all procedures used in this study followed the National Institutes of Health guidelines. The institutional Animal Care Committee approved the animal testing program. The Animal Experiment Administration Committee of the Fourth Military Medical University approved all protocols.

Histopathological Examination

The mice were anesthetized and euthanized 36 weeks after the first PGA injection. Tissue samples were fixed in 10% formalin, decalcified in EDTA, and embedded in paraffin. The sections were dewaxed with xylene, dehydrated in a series of graded alcoholic solutions, and then stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E).

Micro-CT Imaging

Mice were anesthetized and Micro-CT of the entire skeletons obtained by a Micro-CT machine using a protocol provided by the manufacturer (Inveon; Siemens Healthcare Solutions, Knoxville, Tenn, USA). A companion software reconstructed the images into a 40 m voxel 3D format (Inveon Acquisition Workplace; IAW version 1.5, Siemens Medical Solutions). The effective pixel size (EPS) of the scanning image was 27.8~55.6µm, the scanning time was 30 minute~1 hour, and the average number of scanned slices was 1537.

Cytokine Analysis of Mouse Serum Samples

Blood samples were obtained from isoflurane-anesthetized animals by heart puncture 36 weeks after the third injection. Serum samples were stored at -70°C for batch analysis. A Luminex magnetic beads multiple assay system (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) was used to assay the samples for TNF- α , IL-6, IL-17A, and IL-10, according to manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical Analysis

The results were expressed as the mean \pm standard (SD) of the clinical arthritis score. Normally distributed group comparisons are performed using the T-test, non-normally distributed groups using the Man-Whitney U test for. Variance bidirectional analysis (ANOVA) was used to analyze the influence of PGA on clinical scores over time, and then Tukey post-mortem test was performed. All analyses were performed using version 19.0 of SPSS software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA) and version 7 of GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA).

RESULTS

We did not observe any joint swelling in the peripheral joints. The following results were confined to the spine, the sacroiliac and the hip joints.

Histopathological Features of BALB/c Mice Induced by PGA

Histopathological analysis was performed on mice 36 weeks after the first injection of PGA (n = 10). Control mice were shown in **Figure 1A**. In control mice, the nucleus pulposus was wide and the adjoining bone surfaces were smooth. In PGISp mice, we observed extensive narrowing of the intervertebral space (**Figures 1B, C**), and in certain areas the intervertebral space was bridged by bone (**Figure 1D**). When observed at ten times higher magnification, many chondrocytes were observed next to the much narrowed intervertebral space (**Figure 2**).

Micro-CT Results

Figure 3A shows several control vertebral bodies with clearly defined intervertebral space. **Figures 3B, C** show the control SIJs and a hip joint respectively. The joint surfaces appeared smooth, and the joint space distinct. In PGISp mice group, the intervertebral space became much narrower (**Figure 3D**). The surfaces of the SIJs appeared irregular (**Figure 3E**). The space of the hip joints also became much narrower (**Figure 3F**).

Serum Cytokine Analysis

Serum samples (n=9) were obtained at week 36 and cytokine levels were measured. The expressions of IL-6, IL-17A and TNF- α were significantly higher in the PGA-induced mice compared with those



FIGURE 1 | Pathological changes of spondylitis in BALB/c mice induced by PGA injections (HE, × 40). At the center of each figure is the IVD. (A) HC mouse; (B) Extensive narrowing of intervertebral space in a PGISp mouse; (C) More extensive narrowing of intervertebral space; (D) Bridging bone formation in part of the intervertebral space; NP= nucleus pulposus.





in the control group (**Figures 4A–C**). Compared with the control group, the expression of IL-10 in mice that induced by PGA was significantly decreased (**Figure 4D**).

Evaluation of Number of Affected Intervertebral Space and Affected SIJs and Hip Joints as Visualized by Micro-CT

All the intervertebral spaces, the sacroiliac and hip joints appeared normal in the control mice. In **Table 1**, we designate the observation of each intervertebral space of each PGA-induced model mouse as positive or negative. A positive sign indicates an abnormal appearing space/joint. A negative sign indicates a normal space/sign. Data of sacroiliac and hip joints were not available in 3 mice because we only had X-ray images of those joints in those mice. The resolution in X-ray images were too low to be interpreted.

All PGISp mice showed changes in some intervertebral spaces. Pathology mainly concentrated in T6 \sim T12, L1 \sim L2, L3 \sim L4, S1 \sim S2. Changes in SIJs and hip joints were observed in 100% and 57% of PGA-induced model mice (**Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

The IVD is a complex fibrochondrocyte structure containing chondrocytes and fibroblast-like cells embed in a relatively vascular environment. The extracellular matrix of IVD is mainly composed of collagen and PG, the nucleus pulposus of type II collagen and aggregative PG, and the anulus fibrosus of type I collagen and aggregative PG. PG is also present in articular joints. In theory, an autoimmune response towards PG will lead to inflammatory diseases in the intervertebral discs as well the









X-ray	IVD Inflammation	M1	M2	М 3	M 4	M 5	M 6	Μ7	M 8	M 9	M10	M 11	M12	M 13	M 14	Numbers of Positive mice
	C1-C2	_	_	_	_	-	-	_	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	6
	C3-C4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	6
	C4-C5	-	-	-	_	-	-	_	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	6
	C5-C6	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	5
	C6-C7	+	+	-	+	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	+	+	+	6
	T1-T2	+	+	-	_	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	2
	T2-T3	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	7
	T3-T4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	_	-	+	-	-	-	8
	T4-T5	+	+	-	_	_	_	_	-	_	-	-	+	+	-	4
	T5-T6	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	+	+	-	4
	T6-T7	+	+	+	+	_	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	12
	T7-T8	+	+	+	+	_	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	12
	T8-T9	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	12
	T9-T10	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	12
	T10-T11	+	+	+	+	_	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	12
	T11-T12	+	+	+	-	+	-	+	_	+	-	+	-	+	-	8
	L1-L2	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	14
	L2-L3	+	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	-	+	-	9
	L3-L4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	14
	S1-S2	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	14
	S2-S3	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	11
	S3-S4	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	12
Micro-CT	R-SIJ	+	+	+	_	NA	NA	NA	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	7
	L-SIJ	+	+	+	+	NA	NA	NA	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	8
	R-hip	+	+	+	+	NA	NA	NA	+	+	+	-	_	-	-	7
	L-hip	+	+	-	-	NA	NA	NA	_	+	+	-	-	-	-	4
	Shoulders	-	-	-	-	NA	NA	NA	-	-	_	-	_	-	-	0
	Ankles	-	-	-	-	NA	NA	NA	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	0

TABLE 1 | X-ray/Micro-CT assessment of individual intervertebral space as well as sacroiliac and hip joints in PGISp mice.

M, PGISp mouse; IVD, intervertebral disc; C, cervical spine; T, thoracic spine; L, lumbar spine; S, sacral vertebrae; R-SIJ, right sacroiliac joint; L-SIJ, left sacroiliac joint; R-hip, right-hip joint; L-hip, left-hip joint; NA, data not available.

peripheral joints. Indeed, PG induced arthritis is a wellestablished mouse model (10). It is different from collageninduced mouse arthritis. In collagen-induced arthritis, the highest incidence is in DBA/1 mice. In PG induced arthritis, the highest incidence is in the BALB/c mice. The incidence of arthritis in the progeny of BALB/c mice hybridization with DBA/2 mice was only 43.5%, suggesting that the arthritis was related to the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) gene, although the specific susceptibility gene loci of BALB/c mice have not yet been determined (11, 12).

In all reports of PG induced arthritis, both peripheral and axial arthritis are present. However, even in BALB/c mice the phenotype of the arthritis varies among subclones of mice in the same institute (13). The particular colony we immunized did not show any peripheral arthritis, but showed disease in the intervertebral disc, the hip and the SIJs. Arthritis mice also showed higher levels of TNF- α and IL-17A in the sera. These features are similar to patients with AS. Although the arthritis in AS is not caused by an autoimmune response against PG, there is probably some similarity in the downstream processes. Hence, the mouse model can be used for screening of potential therapeutic agents. What is needed is an accurate and convenient tool to quantitate the extent of disease. Being in the spine, disease involvement is much more difficult to observe compared to the peripheral joints. With at least twenty IVDs, it will be labor-intensive to assess each by histopathology. Our results with Micro-CT demonstrate that it provides clear images of the IVD, the sacroiliac and the hip joints.

A major limitation of this paper is that it does not address the pathogenesis of PGA arthritis. The serum cytokine tests and the immunohistology were carried out to ensure it was an inflammatory disease with tissue destruction and changes in cytokines parallel to those with human SpA. The only conclusion which we can be confident are observations from the micro-CT.

CONCLUSION

Micro-CT is an accurate and convenient tool to quantitate disease involvement in PGA-induced mouse arthritis in the spine, sacroiliac and hip joints.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Fourth Military Medical University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QH, ZZ, QL, and PZ contributed to the conception of the work, completed the first draft, and final version of the manuscript. QH, ZZ, QL, KZ, and PZ contributed to the design of the work. QH, ZZ, QL, KZ, FY, XF, XL, JD, WZ, and RX contributed to the data acquisition and analysis. QH, ZZ, QL, and PZ contributed to interpretation of data. All authors were involved in the manuscript revision and agreed with final approval of the

REFERENCES

- Wang R, Ward MM. Epidemiology of Axial Spondyloarthritis: An Update. Curr Opin Rheumatol (2018) 30(2):137–43. doi: 10.1097/BOR.000000000000475
- Coates LC, Baraliakos X, Blanco FJ, Blanco-Morales E, Braun J, Chandran V, et al. The Phenotype of Axial Spondyloarthritis: Is it Dependent on HLA-B27 Status? *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* (2020) 73(6):856–60. doi: 10.1002/acr.24174
- Wang CH, Feng Y, Ren Z, Yang X, Jia JF, Rong MY, et al. Performance of Ultrasound to Monitor Achilles Enthesitis in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis During TNF-A Antagonist Therapy. *Clin Rheumatol* (2015) 34 (6):1073–8. doi: 10.1007/s10067-015-2939-5
- Lee SH, Lee EJ, Chung SW, Song R, Moon JY, Lee SH, et al. Renal Involvement in Ankylosing Spondylitis: Prevalence, Pathology, Response to TNF-A Blocker. *Rheumatol Int* (2013) 33(7):1689–92. doi: 10.1007/s00296-012-2624-9
- Ivanova M, Manolova I, Miteva L, Gancheva R, Stoilov R, Stanilova S. Genetic Variations in the IL-12B Gene in Association With IL-23 and IL-12p40 Serum Levels in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Rheumatol Int* (2019) 39(1):111–9. doi: 10.1007/s00296-018-4204-0
- Sode J, Bank S, Vogel U, Andersen PS, Sorensen SB, Bojesen AB, et al. Genetically Determined High Activities of the TNF-Alpha, IL23/IL17, and NFkB Pathways Were Associated With Increased Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *BMC Med Genet* (2018) 19(1):165. doi: 10.1186/s12881-018-0680-z
- Bardos T, Szabo Z, Czipri M, Vermes C, Tunyogi-Csapo M, Urban RM, et al. A Longitudinal Study on an Autoimmune Murine Model of Ankylosing Spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis (2005) 64(7):981–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.029710
- Tseng HW, Pitt ME, Glant TT, Mcrae AF, Kenna TJ, Brown MA, et al. Inflammation-Driven Bone Formation in a Mouse Model of Ankylosing Spondylitis: Sequential Not Parallel Processes. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2016) 18:35. doi: 10.1186/s13075-015-0805-0

version, and ensured the accuracy of investigation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by the National Basic Research Program of China (2015CB553704) and the National Nature Science Foundation Key Research Project of China (2017YFC0909002).

- Glant TT, Mikecz K. Proteoglycan Aggrecan-Induced Arthritis: A Murine Autoimmune Model of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Methods Mol Med* (2004) 102:313–38. doi: 10.1385/1-59259-805-6:313
- Mikecz K, Glant TT, Poole AR. Immunity to Cartilage Proteoglycans in BALB/c Mice With Progressive Polyarthritis and Ankylosing Spondylitis Induced by Injection of Human Cartilage Proteoglycan. *Arthritis Rheum* (1987) 30(3):306–18. doi: 10.1002/art.1780300310
- Bardos T, Szabo Z, Czipri M, Vermes C, Tunyogi-Csapo M, Urban RM, et al. A Longitudinal Study on an Autoimmune Murine Model of Ankylosing Spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis (2005) 64(7):981–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.029710
- Szabo Z, Szanto S, Vegvari A, Szekanecz Z, Mikecz K, Glant TT. Genetic Control of Experimental Spondylarthropathy. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52 (8):2452–60. doi: 10.1002/art.21193
- Farkas B, Boldizsar F, Tarjanyi O, Laszlo A, Lin SM, Hutas G, et al. BALB/c Mice Genetically Susceptible to Proteoglycan-Induced Arthritis and Spondylitis Show Colony-Dependent Differences in Disease Penetrance. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2009) 11(1):R21. doi: 10.1186/ar2613

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Han, Zheng, Liang, Zhang, Yang, Fu, Luo, Ding, Xie, Zhu and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Imbalance of Peripheral Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Meta-Analysis

Dong Liu¹, Budian Liu¹, Churong Lin² and Jieruo Gu^{1*}

¹ Department of Rheumatology, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, ² Radiology Department, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giuseppe Lopalco, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

Reviewed by:

Vincenzo Venerito, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy Won-Woo Lee, Seoul National University, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Jieruo Gu gujieruo@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 18 April 2021 **Accepted:** 07 June 2021 **Published:** 06 July 2021

Citation:

Liu D, Liu B, Lin C and Gu J (2021) Imbalance of Peripheral Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Meta-Analysis. Front. Immunol. 12:696973. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.696973 Ankylosing spondylitis is a complicated consequence of genetic predisposition and environmental factors. Enthesitis is believed to be the hallmark of ankylosing spondylitis, and the chronic inflammatory state of this disease is perpetuated by the disturbances of both the innate immune system and the acquired immune system. To clarify the alteration of immune system in patients with AS, we conducted a meta-analysis concerning the proportions of major lymphocyte subsets in the peripheral blood of AS patients. We systematically searched PubMed and China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI) for articles related to this subject. A total of 95 articles involving 4,020 AS patients and 3,065 healthy controls were included in the analysis. This meta-analysis is performed on R platform using R package "meta", and Egger's tests were used to determine the presence of publication bias. Results showed that the percentages of T cells, NK cells and NKT cells were not significantly different between AS patients and healthy controls, but B cells were significantly increased. Among the subsets of T cells, the proportions of CD4+ T cells, Th17 cells, Tfh cells as well as Th1/Th2 ratio were significantly increased, while Treqs were significantly decreased. Subgroup analysis showed that the proportions of Th17 among both PBMCs, T cells and CD4+ T cells were significantly elevated, while Tregs were only significantly lower in PBMCs. Subgroup analysis also demonstrated that Tregs defined by "CD4+CD25+FoxP3+", "CD4+CD25+CD127low" or "CD4+CD25+CD127-" were significantly downregulated, indicating that the selection of markers could be critical. Further study is warranted in order to elucidate the complicated interactions between different lymphocyte subsets in AS patients. This study implied that the disequilibrium between Th17 and Tregs, as well as between Th1 and Th2 could contribute to the pathogenesis of ankylosing spondylitis, further cementing the understanding that ankylosing spondylitis is a consequence of disrupted balance of innate immune system and acquired immune system.

Keywords: Ankylosing spondylitis, lymphocyte, immune system, flow cytometry, Th17 & Treg cells

INTRODUCTION

Ankylosing spondylitis belong to the group of diseases known as spondyloarthrpathies, which is a spectrum of diseases encompassing psoriatic arthritis, reactive arthritis and undifferentiated spondyloarthritis (1). Clinical manifestations of ankylosing spondylitis include articular manifestations and extra-articular manifestions. The articular manifestations mainly involve axial skeleton presenting as inflammatory back pain, with peripheral oligoarthritis present in some of the patients, while the extra-articular manifestations include uveitis, gut inflammation and dactylitis (2-4). To date, the pathogenesis of ankylosing spondylitis has not yet been fully elucidated. Previous studies have revealed that ankylosing spondylitis is a consequence of genetic background and environmental factors, with HLA-B27 stepping into the limelight of research upon the discovery that HLA-B27 can be present in as many as 90% of patients with AS (5).

How HLA-B27 causes the disease of ankylosing spondylitis remains unclear, though several hypotheses have been put forward attempting to connect the dots (6, 7). Yet, it is undisputed that the disturbances of the immune system eventually perpetuate this disease (8-10). Unlike autoimmune diseases like systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis, it is not the autoreactive B cells secreting autoantibodies that should be held accountable, since no antibody is widely acknowledged to be detected in patients with ankylosing spondylitis (11). Instead, such disturbances in the immune system in patients with AS are the result of complicated interactions between the innate immune system and the adaptive immune systems (10). The successful application of biologics, especially TNF- α inhibitors, provide substantial evidence that by blocking cytokines characteristic of the innate immune system, the inflammatory status can be greatly alleviated (12, 13). On the other hand, numerous studies have added to the confirmation of the fact that AS is driven by the imbalances of lymphocyte subsets, especially the Th17/Tregs and Th1/Th2 imbalances, disrupting the equilibrium of the immune system (14, 15). The specific CD4+ T cell subset of Tregs possess immunosuppressive features (16), and the incapability of Tregs may allow the oversecretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, especially IL-17, which is a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine secreted by Th17 and plays an important role in mediating bone damage (17). Meanwhile, the hyperactivation of the Th1 effector T cell lineage may secrete abundant IFN γ and TNF- α (18), leading to the chronic inflammatory state of the disease.

However, different studies have provided conflicting data regarding the direction and extent of the imbalance of lymphocytes. Most studies suggested that the percentages of Tregs were significantly decreased in patients with AS, yet a few studies found that Tregs might be increased in the peripheral blood of AS patients, arguing that the increase of Tregs might be the result of an attempt to enhance immune tolerance to control the immune response. More intriguingly, the proportions of NK cells is the peripheral blood of AS patients were heavily debated. It has been hypothesized that KIR3DL2, an inhibitory receptor expressed on NK cells, might inhibit apoptosis of NK cells once ligated with HLA-B27, leading to an excess of NK cells in the peripheral blood. In the meanwhile, a few studies observed a significant decrease in the proportions of NK cells in AS patients. Based on previous studies, we hypothesized that the elevation of Th17 and the downregulation of Tregs were pivotal in the pathogenesis of AS, while the th1/th2 polarization might also be involved. In order to clarify the actual proportions of different subsets of lymphocytes, we conducted a meta-analysis concerning the lymphocyte imbalances in the peripheral blood in patients with AS, with healthy donors as the control.

METHODS

Data Sources and Searches

We searched the relevant studies using PubMed, Cochrane, Medline and China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI). The literature search strategy used the following terms: ("ankylosing spondylitis") AND ("lymphocyte subsets" OR "T cell" OR "B cell" OR "Th1" OR "Th2" OR "Th17" OR "Treg" OR "NK cell" OR "NKT cell" OR "gamma delta T cell" OR "flow cytometry"). The publication date was set before April 1, 2021, and all potential eligible studies were screened except for animal experiments or reviews. Some of the studies listed in the reference were retrieved through reference literature in related articles.

Study Selection

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (a) original research; (b) human research; (c) studies with full text available; (d)studies that provided data concerning proportions of certain lymphocyte subsets in peripheral blood of AS patients; (e) studies that provided information concerning flow cytometry experiment protocol and subject characteristics.

The following criteria is used to exclude studies from the final analysis: (a) Studies that did not provide data in the form of mean and standard deviation, or data that could not be transformed; (b) Studies focusing on certain tissue instead of peripheral blood; (c)Duplicates already included once in the analysis.

Two independent researchers (Dong Liu and Budian Liu) extracted data from eligible articles according to the inclusion criteria, while a third investigator settled any disagreements (Churong Lin). Extracted data included author's name, publication year, baseline characteristics, number of patients and healthy controls, markers of lymphocytes, diagnostic criteria and proportions of each lymphocyte subset in PBMC or T cells or CD4+ T cells. Data were recorded as mean and standard deviation. If the percentages of lymphocytes were presented as median or interquartile range yet no obvious skewing is identified, the data is transformed to mean and standard deviation. (SD = IQR/1.35) The Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment Scale was used to assess the quality of studies.

Statistical Analysis

This meta-analysis was perfomed on the R platform, using R package "meta" [v4.13-0; (19)]. The Cochrane chi-squared

test was used to assess the heterogeneity of the included studies. If the heterogeneity of the studies were high (), then the randomeffects model was employed to conduct the analysis. Subgroup analysis was performed when it was deemed necessary to break down the analysis on levels of comparison (PBMC, T cells or CD4+ T cells) or based on different markers. Considering the heterogeneity of the literature since different classification criteria were applied, and disease activity of the patients varied across studies, we also conducted subgroup analysis based on classification criteria and disease activity. Publication bias was assessed by the Egger's test (p \geq 0:05). Sensitivity analyses was conducted to test the robustness of the results.

RESULTS

Study Characteristics

Based on the methods stated above, a total of 2,982 articles were retrieved. We excluded 700 articles since they were duplicates. Next, through screening the abstracts of the articles, a total of 384 articles were included. After carefully examining the articles, articles without full text or failing to provide original data were excluded, leaving 95 articles eligible to be included in the final meta-analysis. Flow chart of the literature search process can be seen in **Figure 1**.

This meta-analysis included 4020 AS patients and 3065 healthy controls from 95 eligible studies. The features of these studies can be seen in **Table 1**. Of all the studies, 19, 19, 13 and 3 studies provided data on the proportion of T cells, B cells, NK cells and NKT cells. As for the subsets of T cells, 37, 32 and 3 studies focused on CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Delving into the CD4+ T cells, 19, 12, 28, 46 and 3 studies presented data on the proportions of Th1, Th2, Th17, Tregs and Tfh cells. Six and 7 studies further discussed the Th1/Th2 proportions and Th17/Treg proportions. All studies had a NOS score of 3-7; the qualities of these studies were moderate. The original data can be seen in **Supplemental Material 1**.

Proportions of T Cells

Firstly, we conducted a meta-analysis on the proportions of T cells in PBMC between AS patients and healthy controls, as well as the subsets of T cells in the corresponding category (**Figure 2**). Results showed that there is no significant difference in the T cell



TABLE 1 Characteristics of 95 studies included in this meta-analysis.

Author (Ref.)	Publish year	Country	Case numbers (AS/HC)	Lymphocyte subsets discussed	Age (year) AS/HC	Disease activity	Diagnosis criteria	NOS score	Database
An et al. (20)	2019	China	73/85	Th17/Treg ratio	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	Medline; PubMed
Appel et al. (21)	2011	Germany	19/20	Treg	40.9 ± 13.8/nr	nr	mNY1984	4	Medline; PubMed
Bautista et al. (22)	2014	Norway	25/50	Tfh	56 ± 14.8/nr	nr	mNY1984	5	Medline; PubMed
Bidad et al. (23)	2013	Iran	18/18	Th17; Treg	34 ± 2/33 ± 1	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Brand et al. 24)	1997	Germany	21/29	B; CD4+T; CD8+T	42 ± 14/47 ± 16	nr	mNY1984	5	Medline; PubMed
Cai and Xiao 25)	2013	China	40/20	Treg	29 ± 9.4/28.4 ± 10.3	nr	mNY1984	7	CNKI
Cai et al. (26)	2005	China	30/20	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI
Cao et al. (27)	2004	Sweden	10/29	Treg	nr	nr	mNY1984	4	PubMed
Chen et al.	2013	China	61/36	Th1; Th17; Treg	25 ± 8.2/25 ± 7	nr	mNY1984	7	CNKI
Chen et al. (29)	2011	Taiwan (China)	23/25	B; T; CD4+T; Treg	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Cheng (30)	2007	China	25/21	CD4+T	28 ± 9/27 ± 6	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Dejaco et al. (31)	2010	Austria	22/17	Treg	40.9 ± 12.7/ 40.3 ± 23.4	nr	nr	3	Medline; PubMed
Deng et al. 32)	2019	China	49/100	Th1; Th2; Th1/Th2 ratio	28.31 ± 6.72/ 27.38 ± 6.39	nr	mNY1984	7	CNKI
) Deng et al. 33)	2018	China	91/50	T; CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
) Dong et al. 34)	2006	China	30/30	T; CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
Duan et al. (35)	2017	China	21/16	T; CD4+T; CD8+T; Treg	37 ± 9.8/34.6 ± 10.1	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Dulic et al. (14)	2017	Hungary	7/10	CD4+T; CD8+T; Th1; Th2; Th1/Th2 ratio; Th17; Treg; Th17/Treg ratio	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Fattahi et al. 36)	2018	Iran	30/15	Th17; Treg	31.4 ± 9.1/ 32.1 ± 8.2	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Forger et al. 37)	2009	Switzerland	15/18	Treg	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	PubMed
Gao et al. (38)	2012	China	40/37	Th17; Treg	29.1 ± 8.6/ 26.7 ± 6.9	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Guo et al. (39)	2012	China	98/76	CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	nr	5	CNKI
Hajialilo et al. 40)	2019	Iran	24/35	Th17	nr	BASDAI≥4	ASAS2009	6	Cochrane; Medline;
lop at al. (41)	0000	China	69/50	B: T: CD4+T: CD8+T		24	mNV1004	F	PubMed CNKI
Han et al. (41)	2006	China		, , - ,	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	
He et al. (42) Hu et al. (43)	2012 2019	China China	32/50 60/40	B; CD4+T; NK B; CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	nr	nr	nr mNY1984	4 5	CNKI CNKI
Hu et al. (43) Hu et al. (44)	2013	China	32/30	T; CD4+T; CD8+T; Th1; Th2	nr 34 ± 3.89/36 ± 3.76	nr nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI
Huang et al. 45)	2009	China	20/9	CD4+T; Treg	± 3.70 nr	nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI
43) Huang et al. 46)	1990	China	9/9	CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI
li et al. (47)	2014	China	20/20	Treg	nr	nr	mNY1984	7	Medline; PubMed
Kenna et al. 48)	2012	Australia	17/20	γδΤ; Th17	39.47 ± 13.6/ nr	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Kim et al. (49)	2019	South Korea	49/53	CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	36.4 ± 10.8/ 34.9 ± 9	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Klasen et al. (50)	2019	Germany	14/5	Th17	42.7 ± 3.15/nr	nr	mNY1984	5	Medline; PubMed
Li (51)	2019	China	64/60	Th17; Treg	33.26 ± 5.74/ 35.84 ± 6.19	nr	mNY1984	7	CNKI

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Author (Ref.)	Publish year	Country	Case numbers (AS/HC)	Lymphocyte subsets discussed	Age (year) AS/HC	Disease activity	Diagnosis criteria	NOS score	Databas
Li et al. (52)	2013	China	222/68	Th17; Treg	33.6 ± 8/34.1 ± 10.6	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Li et al. (53)	2009	China	30/10	Th1; Th2; Th1/Th2 ratio	nr	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	5	CNKI
_i et al. (54)	2008	China	50/21	T; CD8+T	$25 \pm 8/25 \pm 5$	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
iao et al. (55)	2015	Taiwan	69/30	Treg	39.6 ± 12.7/	nr	mNY1984	7	Medline;
		(China)			44.3 ± 10.5				PubMed
Limon- Camacho et al. 56)	2012	Mexico	39/25	Th1; Th2; Th17; Treg	32 ± 13/32 ± 8	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	4	PubMed
in et al. (57)	2008	China	66/30	CD4+T; CD8+T	29.7 ± 9.6/ 26.7 ± 6.7	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
in et al. (58)	2009	China	66/30	В	29.7 ± 9.6/	nr	mNY1984	6	Cochrane;
					26.7 ± 6.7				Medline; PubMed
iu and Feng It al. (59)	2017	China	38/38	Th1; Th17	39.3 ± 3.4/ 40.4 ± 3.9	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
iu et al. (60)	2016	China	60/20	Treg	35 ± 10.7/41.9 ± 11.7	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
iu et al. (61)	2012	China	60/30	Treg	31.5 ± 9.1/nr	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
iu et al. (62)	2010	China	30/20	Th1/Th2	26 ± 3.69/ 25.15 ± 3.79	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
ong et al. (63)	2018	China	65/20	CD4+T; Tfh	27.8 ± 8.5/ 31.4 ± 7.4	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Ma et al. (64)	2011	China	36/32	B; CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	23.1 ± 4.8/ 25.8 ± 3.6	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
1a et al. (65)	2011	China	43/20	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	nr	nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI
/ la et al. (66)	2004	China	25/30	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
1eng et al. 67)	2015	China	42/20	CD8+T;	32.4 ± 9.3/ 29.5 ± 8.4	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
/lo et al. (68)	2019	China	30/23	B; CD4+T; CD8+T; γδT; NK	40.7 ± 3.18/ 45.71 ± 2.6	nr	mNY1984	7	CNKI
Pishgahi et al. 69)	2020	Iran	31/35	Th17; Treg	nr/41.89 ± 11.29	nr	ASAS2009	5	Medline; PubMed
han et al. (70)	2015	China	20/10	Treg	nr	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Shen et al. (71)	2009	China	10/16	Th17	46.05 ± 11.51/ nr	nr	mNY1984	3	Medline; PubMed
Suen et al. (72)	2008	Taiwan (China)	23/26	Treg	43 ± 12/37 ± 12	nr	nr	4	Medline; PubMed
szalay et al. 15)	2012	Hungary	13/9	CD4+T; CD8+T; Th1; Th2; Th1/Th2 ratio; Th17/Treg ratio	43.7 ± 9.2/nr	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	4	Medline; PubMed
szanto et al. 73)	2008	Hungary	42/52	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; Th1; Th2; NK	nr	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	5	Medline; PubMed
hoen et al. 74)	1987	Norway	31/15	CD4+T; CD8+T	32 ± 1.8/nr	nr	mNY1984	3	Medline; PubMed
oussirot et al. 75)	2009	France	32/15	Treg	42.9 ± 1.1/ 44.4 ± 0.8	nr	nr	4	PubMed
Vang et al. 76)	2020	China	90/90	Th17; Treg; Th17/Treg ratio	43.27 ± 8.19/ 43.55 ± 8.6	nr	nr	5	CNKI
Vang et al. 77)	2018	China	30/30	Th1; Th17; Treg	$31.2 \pm 4.1/nr$		mNY1984	6	CNKI
Vang et al. 78)	2018	China	26/26	Treg	33.5 ± 8.4/ 31.5 ± 10.2	ASDAS ≥ 2.1	mNY1984	4	Medline; PubMed
Vang et al. 79)	2016	China	50/50	CD4+Τ; γδΤ	28.53 ± 8.15/ 27.93 ± 8.52	nr	mNY1984	7	Medline; PubMed
Vang et al. 80)	2015	China	78/30	Treg; Th17/Treg ratio	26 ± 7.8/25 ± 8	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Nang et al. 81)	2015	China	45/20	T; CD8+T; Th17; Treg	nr/55.05 ± 6.42	nr	nr	5	Medline; PubMed
Wang et al. 82)	2012	China	60/44	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Author (Ref.)	Publish year	Country	Case numbers (AS/HC)	Lymphocyte subsets discussed	Age (year) AS/HC	Disease activity	Diagnosis criteria	NOS score	Databas
Wang et al. (83)	2008	China	30/20	CD4+T; CD8+T; Th1; Th2	26 ± 3.69/ 25.15 ± 3.79	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Vei et al. (84)	2017	China	131/127	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; Treg; NK	27 ± 8/26 ± 9	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Vu (85)	2014	China	60/60	Tfh	26.9 ± 7.8/ 24.3 ± 5.6	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Vu et al. (86)	2011	China	51/49	Treg	nr	BASDAI≥4	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
Vu et al. (87)	2011	China	24/30	В	35 ± 14/33 ± 12	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
(u et al. (88)	2019	China	18/9	Th17; Treg	39.4 ± 2.3/ 42.6 ± 4.3	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
u et al. (89)	2018	China	69/22	CD4+T; CD8+T; NKT	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
(u (90)	2013	China	24/22	Th1; Th17; Treg	24.3 ± 8.5/ 27.9 ± 8.6	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
(u et al. (91)	2011	China	78/50	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; Th1; Th2	nr	nr	nr	5	CNKI
Kue et al. (92)	2015	China	38/30	Th17; Treg	29.93 ± 9.82/ 30.58 ± 8.39	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Kue et al. (93)	2008	China	89/42	T; CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	nr	5	CNKI
'ang et al. (94)	2020	China	67/50	B; Th1; Th2; Th17	nr	ASDAS ≥ 1.3	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
'ang et al. (95)	2018	China	30/30	T; NKT	29.3 ± 5.9/ 31.1 ± 6.7	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
'ang et al. (96)	2017	China	40/40	Treg	32.53 ± 9.76/ 33.7 ± 10.06	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
'ang et al. (97)	2016	China	38/31	Treg	28.9 ± 10.8/ 29.1 ± 8.1	nr	mNY1984	7	CNKI
'ang et al. (98)	2007	China	60/30	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
e et al. (99)	2013	China	21/27	Treg	36.6 ± 10.2/ 37.9 ± 9.1	nr	mNY1984	3	Medline; PubMed
hang et al. 00)	2019	China	60/30	Th17; Treg; Th17/Treg ratio	43 ± 11/32 ± 12	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
hang et al. 101)	2019	China	39/41	B; T; CD4+T; CD8+T; NK	28.87 ± 8.31/ 27.05 ± 6.63	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
'hang et al. 102)	2014	China	60/60	Th1; Th17; Treg	39 ± 3.2/39.2 ± 3.1	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
'hang et al. 103)	2014	China	10/10	Th17	nr	nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI
hang et al. 104)	2012	China	32/20	Th1; Th17	36.6 ± 10.2/ 37.9 ± 9.1	nr	mNY1984	6	Medline; PubMed
'hang et al. 105)	2008	China	78/50	Treg; NK	26.1 ± 6.8/ 25.5 ± 3.8	BASDAI≥4		7	CNKI
(hao and Li 106)	2013	China	21/20	Th17; Treg; Th17/Treg ratio	nr/26 ± 8	BASDAI≥5		5	CNKI
'hao et al. 107)	2011	China	14/18	Treg	26.4 ± 6.1/ 28.2 ± 9.4	nr	mNY1984	5	Medline; PubMed
'hao et al. 108)	2009	China	30/30	CD4+T; CD8+T	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
Zhong and Ma 109)	2014	China	78/30	Th1; Th2; Th17	nr	nr	mNY1984	6	CNKI
Zhu et al. (110)	2017	China	42/42	CD4+T	nr	nr	nr	3	CNKI
hu et al. (111)	2016	China	30/30	NK	nr	nr	mNY1984	5	CNKI
Zhu et al. (112)	2000	China	14/7	Th1; Th2; Th1/Th2 ratio	nr	nr	mNY1984	4	CNKI

AS, ankylosing spondylitis; HC, healthy control; nr, not reported; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Activity Disease Activity Index; ASDAS: Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; mNY1984: 1984 Modified New York AS Criteria; ASAS2009: 2009 Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS) Criteria.

proportion between AS patients and healthy controls [4.43, (-2.41,11.26), p<0.01]; however, the proportion of CD4+ T cells was significantly elevated [3.32. (1.21,5.43), p<0.01]. When examining the subsets of the CD4+ T cells, we identified significant increases in the proportion of Th17 cells[1.49, (1.03,1.65), p<0.01], Tfh cells[3.85, (0.31,7.38), p<0.01] and

Th1/Th2 ratio[1.02, (0.39,1.65), p<0.01], while the proportion of Tregs was significantly decreased[-0.43, (-0.71,-0.15), p<0.01]. However, sensitivity analysis indicated that the significantly lower proportions of Tfh cells could be insignificant by omitting either Long et al, or Wu et al. No significant difference was found in the level of Th1, Th2 cells.

Meta-Analysis	Number of Studies	Random Effects Model (Mean Difference)	MD	95%-CI
T cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 99%, τ^2 = 227.8276, ρ =	= 0 19		— 4.43	[-2.41; 11.26]
CD4+ T cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 98%, τ^2 = 39.4247, $p < 0$	0.01 36		3.46	[1.32; 5.59]
Th1 cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 99%, τ^2 = 0.9791, p = 0	18	4	-0.15	[-0.69; 0.39]
Th2 cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 84%, τ^2 = 0.0422, p < 0.	.01 12		0.02	[-0.14; 0.17]
Th1/Th2 ratio Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 96\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.4561$, $p < 0$.	.01 6	=	1.02	[0.39; 1.65]
Th17 cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 100%, τ^2 = 1.4774, p = 0	0 28		1.49	[1.03; 1.94]
Treg cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 99%, τ^2 = 0.7507, ρ = 0	44		-0.48	[-0.76; -0.19]
Th17/Treg ratio Heterogeneity: I^2 = 100%, τ^2 = 0.7363, p = 0	0 7	-	0.60	[-0.04; 1.24]
Tfh cells Heterogeneity: $J^2 = 84\%$, $\tau^2 = 8.0133$, $p < 0$.	.01 3		3.85	[0.31; 7.38]
CD8+ T cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 96%, τ^2 = 19.1449, $p < 0$	0.01 32		-0.90	[-2.53; 0.72]
γδ T cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 99%, τ^2 = 4.5592, p < 0.	.01 3		0.12	[-2.32; 2.57]
B cells Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 92\%$, $\tau^2 = 4.1772$, $\rho < 0.10$.01 19	-	2.00	[1.00; 3.00]
NK cells Heterogeneity: $J^2 = 96\%$, $\tau^2 = 36.5265$, $p < 6$	0.01 13		-2.67	[-6.05; 0.71]
NKT cells Heterogeneity: I^2 = 99%, τ^2 = 2.8386, p < 0.	.01 3	-10 -5 0 5 1	-1.54 10	[-3.51; 0.42]
JRE 2 Proportions of major lymphocyte subsets in the peripheral	l blood of AS r	patients		

FIGURE 2 | Proportions of major lymphocyte subsets in the peripheral blood of AS patients.

Noteworthy, Th17/Treg ratio was increased but did not reach statistical significance [0.60, (-0.04,1.24), p<0.01]. According to the sensitivity analysis, if omitting Wang et al, the Th17/Treg ratio could be significantly elevated (See **Supplemental Material 2**).

Considering that the proportions of these lymphocytes were compared to PBMCs, T cells or CD4+ cells, we deemed it necessary to conduct subgroup analysis based on the level of comparisons. Subgroup analysis revealed that Th17 cells were increased on all the levels of PBMC, T cells and CD4+ cells (**Figure 3**), while Tregs were only significantly decreased on the level of PBMC (**Figure 4**). Still no significant difference was found in the proportions of Th1 and Th2 cells on all levels (**Figures 5**, **6**). On the other hand, due to the heterogeneity of the markers used to define Tregs, we also conducted a subgroup analysis of Tregs (**Table 2**). Results showed that Tregs defined by "CD4+CD25+FoxP3+", "CD4+CD25+CD127low" or "CD4+CD25+CD127-" were significantly downregulated. No significant difference was detected in the proportions of CD8+T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells.

Subgroup analysis further suggested that T cells were significantly elevated in patients with high disease activity, and that CD4+ T cells were still significantly increased in AS patients

strictly defined by 1984 modified New York criteria. Furthermore, the proportion of Th17 cells remained elevated regardless of the classification criteria or disease activity, indicating the robustness of this result. Tregs were only significantly decreased in AS patients strictly defined by 1984 modified New York criteria. Intriguingly, though previous analysis failed to detect any alterations of Th1 proportions, subgroup analysis revealed that the Th1 lineage was elevated in AS patients with high disease activity, Still no alterations were observed in the proportions of Th2 cells and CD8+ T cells in AS patients (See **Supplemental Material 2**).

Egger's tests showed that there was no obvious publication bias in all the subgroups of lymphocytes (**Table 3**).

Proportion of B cells

According to the results of the meta-analysis, the proportion of B cells was significantly increased [2.00, (1.00,3.00), p<0.01]. Egger's test found no publication bias in this result (**Table 3**). Sensitivity analysis indicated that this result was robust.

Proportions of NK Cells and NKT Cells

No significant difference was found in the proportions of NK cells [-2.67, (-6.05,0.71)] and NKT cells[-1.54, (-3.51,0.42)].

Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean S	5D	Mean Difference		MD	95%-CI	Weight
asin = CD4+T							Li				
Bidad 2013	18		0.1000		0.70 0.07		·			[0.44; 0.56]	3.6%
Chen 2013	61		0.5800	36	0.65 0.33					[1.16; 1.52]	3.6%
Dulic 2017	22		1.3900		1.00 0.17		· · · ·			[1.74; 2.92]	3.4%
Li 2013	222	3.84	0.6200	68	0.24 0.05	00		3	.60	[3.52; 3.68]	3.6%
Limon-Camacho 2012	39	7.40	1.8000	25	0.70 0.20	00		-+ 6	.70	[6.13; 7.27]	3.5%
Xu 2019	18	2.08	1.4600	9	0.62 0.10	00	-	1	.46	[0.78; 2.14]	3.4%
Yang 2020	67	1.55	1.4815	50	1.06 0.88	89		0	.49	[0.06; 0.92]	3.5%
Zhao 2013	21	2.89	1.7700	20	1.34 0.28	00	*	1	.55	[0.78; 2.32]	3.3%
Random effects model	468			236			\Leftrightarrow	2	.24 [0.86; 3.63]	28.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 100\%$,	$\tau^2 = 3.9$	331, p =	= 0								
asin = PBMC											
Fattahi 2018	30	2.40	0.2100	15	1.10 0.26	00		1	.30	[1.15; 1.45]	3.6%
Hajialilo 2019	24	4.51	1.3000	35	3.32 1.32	00	-	1	.19	[0.51; 1.87]	3.4%
Kenna 2012	17	0.41	0.2200	20	0.42 0.10	00	1 E	-0	.01	-0.12; 0.10]	3.6%
Klasen 2019	14	2.34	0.5600	5	0.40 0.20	00		1	.94	[1.60; 2.28]	3.6%
Li 2019	64	5.37	0.2800	60	2.56 0.41	00		2	.81	[2.69; 2.93]	3.6%
Liu 2017	38	2.38	0.7800	38	0.92 0.24	00		1	.46	[1.20; 1.72]	3.6%
Pishgahi 2020	31	4.68	0.9100	35	3.30 0.89	00		1	.38	0.94; 1.82]	3.5%
Shen 2009	20	0.94	0.4900	16	0.50 0.34	00		0	.44	[0.17; 0.71]	3.6%
Szalay 2012	13	1.18	0.4960	9	0.69 0.12	60				0.21; 0.77]	3.6%
Wang 2015	45	2.07	0.6300	20	0.54 0.23	00		1	.53	[1.32; 1.74]	3.6%
Wang 2018	30	2.05	0.8800	30	0.83 0.29	00		1	.22	0.89; 1.55]	3.6%
Wang 2020	90	2.73	0.3500	90	0.91 0.29	00		1	.82	[1.73; 1.91]	3.6%
Xu 2013	24	1.53	0.2100	22	0.40 0.15	00		1	.13	[1.03; 1.23]	3.6%
Xue 2015	38	1.79	0.7900	30	0.97 0.46	00		0	.82	[0.52; 1.12]	3.6%
Zhang 2012	32	2.58	0.8600	20	1.07 0.26	00		1	.51	[1.19; 1.83]	3.6%
Zhang 2014	60	1.99	0.4800	60	0.68 0.38	00		1	.31	[1.15; 1.46]	3.6%
Zhang 2014	10	4.14	0.4600	10	2.14 0.39	00	and the second sec	2	.00	[1.63; 2.37]	3.6%
Zhang 2019	60	1.07	0.9600	30	0.59 0.36	00		0	.48	[0.21; 0.75]	3.6%
Zhong 2014	78	1.57	0.7800	30	0.82 0.35	00	+	0	.75	[0.54; 0.96]	3.6%
Random effects model	718			575			•	1	.24 [0.86; 1.62]	68.3%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$, τ^2	2 = 0.68	19, p <	0.01								
asin = T cells											
Gao 2012	40	1.02	0.4300	37	0.68 0.29	00	-	0	.34	[0.18; 0.50]	3.6%
Random effects model	40			37			0			0.18; 0.50]	
Heterogeneity: not applical	ole										
Random effects model	1226			848				1	.49 [1.03; 1.94]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 100\%$,		774, p =	= 0					٦ '			
Residual heterogeneity: 12						-6	-4 -2 0 2 4	6			

Subgroup analysis based on classification criteria and disease activity still failed to detect any differences in the proportions of NK cells between AS patients and healthy controls (See **Supplemental Material 2**). Egger's test found no publication bias in this result (**Table 3**).

Results of the sensitivity analyses can be found in the **Supplemental Material 2**.

DISCUSSION

This is the first meta-analysis to systemically examine the skewing of functional subgroups of lymphocytes, encompassing the major lymphocyte subsets, namely T cells, B cells, NK cells and NKT cells. Previous meta-analyses done by Li et al. and Lai et al. focused on regulatory T cells, arriving at the conclusion that the proportions of Tregs are significantly lower in both PBMCs and CD4+ T cells in patients with AS, though the markers used to define Tregs may have an impact on the proportions of Tregs (113, 114). In line with the results of previous studies, our study further confirmed that the levels of Tregs significantly decreased in patients with AS in PBMCs.

Tregs have been recognized as the essential subgroup of lymphocytes in charge of maintaining immune homeostasis and preventing autoimmunity. Immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10 secreted by Tregs may function as a

negative regulator of immune responses and down-regulate excessive inflammatory status (115). For example, IL-10 secreted by Tregs may act directly on the IL-10 receptor on Th17 cells, thereby inhibiting the expansion of the inflammatory Th17 cells, or suppress the antigen-presenting cells and eventually suppress the responses of effector T cells (116). It has been reported that in patients with active AS, Tregs in peripheral blood fail to utilize IL-2 and cannot suppress naïve T cell proliferation (117). Moreover, application of TNF- α inhibitors can restore the proportion of Tregs, and the increase in Tregs is positively correlated with the decrease in CRP levels (94). Of note, different markers have been employed to identify the subgroup of Tregs, which may exert an influence on the proportions of Tregs measured in different studies, sometimes yielding contradictory results. Initially, Tregs is defined as CD4+CD25+, yet it was disputed since CD25 may also be expressed on cells without regulatory functions (118). Afterwards, the intracellular transcription factor (FOXP3) was proved to be exclusively expressed in Tregs and indispensable in the development of Tregs (119). The most common marker used to identify Tregs currently is CD4+CD25highCD127low or CD4+CD25highCD127-, of which CD127 is considered to be down-regulated on Tregs (113, 120). In our meta-analysis, we discovered that merely CD4+CD25+ did not produce significant outcomes regarding the proportions of Tregs, while Tregs defined by CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ and CD4+CD25+CD127low

Study	Total I	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Di	ifference	MD	95%	-CI Weig
asin = CD4+T								1			
Appel 2011			2.4500		5.18	1.9900		÷		[-1.04; 1.	
Cai 2013		11.41	3.6900		8.78	2.8400		-		[0.94; 4.	
Chen 2013		0.94	0.3800	36	2.13	0.7500		L		[-1.45; -0.	
Dunn 2016		1.43	0.3700		0.43	0.1500				[0.69; 1.	
Gao 2012		3.77	0.8100		4.69	1.2300				[-1.39; -0.	
Huang 2009		12.67	5.2600	9	8.31	1.6300	_	-		[1.82; 6.	
Li 2013	222		0.4400	68		0.4900				[-2.98; -2.	
Limon-Camacho 2012		7.30	1.3000	25	5.30	1.7000				[1.22; 2.	
Suen 2008 Toussirot 2009		0.97 8.20	0.3300 0.6100		0.86	0.3900				[-0.09; 0. [-0.31; 0.	
Wang 2018		6.32	1.5000			1.0200		H		[0.18; 1.	
Xu 2019		3.39	2.0300			0.1100		100		[1.31; 3.	
Yang 2016		3.39	0.8100			0.8700		1		[-0.16; 0.	
Zhang 2008		4.18	1.2100			1.2300		F		[-1.24; -0.	
Zhao 2013		3.90	1.2000	20		1.2000		1		[-1.73; -0.	
Random effects mode				402				6		-0.57; 1.	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$,	r ² = 3.139	2, p <	0.01								
asin = PBMC	40	0.70	1 0000		10.10	0.0000	_		0.46		
Bidad 2013			1.2000		16.10	3.0000	-	1		[-7.89; -4.	
Cao 2004		1.31	0.6800		1.23	0.6400				[-0.40; 0.	
Chen 2011 Dejaco 2010		2.18	0.1100 16.5500	25 17	2.16 3.08	0.1000 2.4800				[-0.04; 0. 3.44; 17.	
Duan 2017		2.70	0.8000	16	3.08	0.8300		1		[-1.30; -0.	
Fattahi 2018		2.70	0.2300			0.8300				[-1.30, -0.	
Forger 2009		2.22	1.4700			1.4200				[-0.89; 1.	
Ji 2014			17.5000			10.2000 -	I	E		-27.38; -9.	
Li 2019			0.4900			2.0300				[-4.68; -3.	
Liao 2015		1.73	1.0800			0.4800				[-0.09; 0.	
Liu 2012	60	1.51	0.2600	30	2.30	0.3800	1		-0.79	[-0.94;-0.	64] 2.8
Liu 2016		5.68	1.3600		6.71	1.7500	5	1		[-1.87; -0.	
Pishgahi 2020			0.7200			0.7600		1		[-0.94;-0.	
Szalay 2012		4.45	1.4370			1.3480		2		[-1.15; 1.	
Wang 2015			0.8100			0.5200				[0.25; 0.	
Wang 2015 Wang 2018		7.59 6.84	1.9700 2.5900		8.16 8.29	2.1600 2.2500				[-1.46; 0. [-2.68; -0.	
Wang 2018		1.19	0.4100		2.70	0.1700				[-2.68; -0.	
Wei 2017		1.99	1.2000	127	2.96	1.2500	1			[-1.27; -0.	
Wu 2011		1.23	0.1300	49	2.56	0.1600				[-1.39; -1.	
Xu 2013		4.23	0.9800	22	6.87	1.0300				-3.22: -2.	
Xue 2015		2.66	1.0100	30	2.80	1.2200		1		[-0.68; 0.	
Ye 2013	21	0.48	0.0700	22	0.73	0.0700			-0.25	[-0.29; -0.	21] 2.8
Zhang 2014		1.13	0.1700			0.1600		l .		[-1.45; -1.	
Zhang 2014		0.98	0.3200			0.7800				[-1.42; -1.	
Zhang 2019		1.65	1.2500			1.7600		1		[-1.67; -0.	
Zhao 2011		0.57	0.2900		1.65	0.7500		4		[-1.46; -0.	
Random effects mode Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$,		8. p =	0	880			•		-0.97 [[-1.27; -0.	67] 62.5
asin = Not specified											
Shan 2015	20	5 57	1.2800	10	3.08	0.5900			2 40	[1.82; 3.	16] 2.4
Random effects mode		5.51	1.2000	10	5.00	0.0000		•		[1.82; 3.	
Heterogeneity: not applica									m1-1-0	L river, or] A.
asin = T cells											
Yang 2017		30.05	5.7300		27.40	5.6600		-		[0.15; 5.	
Random effects mode Heterogeneity: not applica				40				0	2.65	[0.15; 5.	15] 0.9
Random effects mode				1332					-0.48	[-0.76; -0.	191 100 0
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$,		7. p =					<u>г</u>		-0.40	0.10, -0.	
Residual heterogeneity: I			-				-20 -10	0 10 20			

or CD4+CD25+CD127- were significantly lowered. This result of the subgroup analysis indicated that the CD127 could be a specific marker when trying to identify Tregs.

Upon the discovery of IL-23/IL-17 axis, the Th17 cells are moving center stage in the research of pathogenesis of spondyloarthropathies (121, 122). It has been widely acknowledged that enthesitis is the hallmark of spondyloarthropathies including AS, and recent research revealed that enthesitis is likely to be driven by the IL-23/IL-17 axis (123). IL-23, produced by myeloid cells either enthesis-resident or tissue infiltrating, may bind to the IL-23 receptors on Th17 cells as well as other lymphoid populations, and the activated Th17 cells can secrete IL-17, a powerful pro-inflammatory cytokine (123). Of the IL-17 family, IL-17A/IL-17F may act on stromal cells and other lymphocytes, which initiates the inflammatory process (17). It has also been reported that IL-17A may mediate bone damage by inducing the expression of RANK on the cell surface of osteoclasts, while also increasing the production of RANKL from mesenchymal stem cells (124). Apart from IL-17, Th17 lymphocytes are known to produce other pro-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-22, GM-CSF and TNF (125). All these studies further cemented the significance of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of enthesitis, and, in a bigger picture, spondyloarthropathies. Our study substantiated that the levels of Th17 cells were significantly elevated, adding more concrete evidence to the critical role Th17 lineage plays in the pathogenesis in AS. Subgroup analysis further verified the robustness of this result, since Th17 cells were elevated on all levels of comparison, regardless of the classification criteria applied or disease activity of the patients.

In addition to Th17 cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells may also participate in the IL-23/IL-17 axis (123). $\gamma\delta$ T cells are a specific population of T

Study	AS Total Mean SD 1	control Fotal Mean SD	Mean Difference	MD 95%-CI	Weight
asin = CD4+T Chen 2013 Dulic 2017 Limon-Camacho 2012 Yang 2020 Random effects model Heterogeneity: I ² = 99%, τ ²		36 6.85 1.3600 10 9.41 0.8024 25 1.10 0.3000 50 18.08 8.5000 121		-2.87 [-3.35; -2.39] - 8.66 [4.13; 13.18] 2.90 [2.48; 3.32] -4.02 [-6.85; -1.19] 0.83 [-3.38; 5.04]	7.3% 1.2% 7.4% 2.5% 18.3%
asin = PBMC Deng 2019 Hu 2013 Li 2009 Liu 2010 Liu 2017 Szalay 2012 Szanto 2008 Wang 2018 Xu 2011 Xu 2013 Zhang 2014 Zhang 2014 Zhang 2014 Zhang 2014 Zhu 2000 Random effects model Heterogeneity: I ² = 100%		100 0.68 0.2400 30 0.45 0.6600 10 2.60 0.9500 20 0.48 0.0680 38 11.85 0.9600 9 9.81 2.6520 52 24.90 7.9000 30 17.27 3.0100 50 0.43 0.0600 22 7.32 1.3500 20 10.37 2.0000 30 12.05 2.3500 7 7.94 3.3800 478 478		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	7.5% 7.7% 5.9% 7.7% 3.9% 2.0% 5.6% 7.7% 6.8% 4.9% 7.4% 5.8% 1.3% 81.7%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 99\%$, τ' Residual heterogeneity: l^2	= 0.9791, p = 0	599	-10 -5 0 5 10	-0.15 [-0.69; 0.39]	100.0%

lymphocytes characterized by the highly diverse TCR on the cell surface, formulating TCR repertoire (126). Studies show that there is a 3-fold increase in the proportions of IL-23R-positive $\gamma\delta$ T cells in AS patients, and such $\gamma\delta$ T cells are also heavily skewed towards IL-17 production (48). Another study shows that IL-23R+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the main producers of IL-17 in a mice model (127). More recent studies have revealed that IL-17 may also be produced in an IL-23-independent fashion (128). Therapies targeting IL-23 have failed in patients with SpA, while the downstream inhibition of IL-17 by IL-17A inhibitor Secukinumab and IL-17A/IL-17F inhibitor bimekizumab has yielded promising results in patients with SpA (129–131). Such phenomenon pointed to a possible pathway that IL-17 may be secreted without the stimulus of IL-23. It has been proved that

 γ/δ T cells may still secrete IL-17 despite the homozygous deletion of IL-23R (128). However, our study failed to recognize any alteration in the levels of γ/δ T cells. It could be attributed to the limited number of studies included, or that it was not the elevated number but the hyperactivity that was to blame for the IL-23 independent IL-17 secretion. Furthermore, ROR γ t+ iNKT cells were also reported to be able to secrete IL-17 with and without the effect of IL-23 (132).

In the meanwhile, the Th1/Th2 polarization of T helper cells is also a widely researched area in the immunity of AS (9). Th1 cells are known to mount immune responses against intracellular pathogens *via* secretion of IFN γ , which acts as a macrophageactivating factor (133). In addition to IFN γ , Th1 cells are also capable of producing IL-2, IL-10 and TNF- α , many of which

Study	Total M		S D Total	contro Mean SE		MD	95%-CI	Weight
asin = PBMC					1			
Deng 2019	49	1.16 0.570	00 100	1.12 0.5800) 📫	0.04 [-	0.16; 0.24]	12.0%
Hu 2013	32	1.12 0.190	0 30	1.07 0.1800) 👘	0.05 [-	0.04; 0.14]	14.1%
Li 2009	30	2.16 0.660	0 10	2.92 0.7900)	-0.76 [-	1.30; -0.22]	5.3%
Szalay 2012	13	9.18 3.059	90 9	4.54 0.4810		4.64 [2.95; 6.33]	0.8%
Szanto 2008	42	0.48 0.550	0 52	0.45 0.3900) 👘	0.03 [-	0.17; 0.23]	12.0%
Wang 2009	30	1.09 0.200	0 20	1.11 0.2100		-0.02 [-	0.14; 0.10]	13.7%
Xu 2011	78	1.13 0.220	0 50	1.08 0.2100)	0.05 [-	0.03; 0.13]	14.3%
Zhong 2014	78	1.51 0.510	0 30	1.98 0.6000) 🗉	-0.47 [-	0.71; -0.23]	10.9%
Zhu 2000	14	1.98 0.730	0 7	2.07 0.7000) 🕂	-0.09 [-	0.73; 0.55]	4.2%
Random effects mo			308		4	-0.04 [-	0.20; 0.11]	87.3%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 85\%$	$\%, \tau^2 = 0.036$	8, <i>p</i> < 0.01						
asin = CD4+T								
Dulic 2017	7	9.77 4.653	10	5.94 1.1550)	- 3.83 [0.31; 7.35]	0.2%
Limon-Camacho 201		1.30 0.400		1.00 0.4000			0.10; 0.50]	
Yang 2020		14.40 5.48		12.80 4.7778			0.26; 3.46]	
Random effects mo			85				0.38; 2.89]	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 65\%$		7, <i>p</i> = 0.06					,	
Random effects mo	del 479		393			0.02 [-	0.14; 0.17]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 84\%$								
	: I ² = 83%, p	< 0.01			-6 -4 -2 0 2 4 6			

TABLE 2 | Egger's tests by different lymphocyte subsets.

Lymphocyte subset	t	df	p-value
T cells	0.49132	17	0.6295
CD4+ T cells	-1.9812	34	0.0557
Th1 cells	-1.6584	16	0.1167
Th2 cells	0.82077	10	0.4309
Th1/Th2 ratio	-0.55844	4	0.6063
Th17	0.23055	26	0.8195
Tregs	-0.086137	42	0.9318
Th17/Tregs	0.71323	5	0.5076
Tfh	0.16592	1	0.8953
CD8+ T cells	1.1247	30	0.2696
γδ T cells	-0.55802	1	0.676
B cells	1.7184	17	0.1039
NK cells	1.812	11	0.09735
NKT cells	-1.51	1	0.3724

TABLE 3 | Subgroup analysis of Tregs proportions based on markers.

Treg definition	Number of studies (n)	SMD	95%CI	(%)	Ρ
CD4+CD25+	3	1.11	(-1.77,3.98)	97	<0.01
CD4+CD25HI	6	0.23	(-0.26,0.71)	72	< 0.01
CD4+FoxP3+	3	-1.32	(-6.12,3.49)	98	< 0.01
CD4+CD25+FoxP3+	12	-0.75	(-1.28,- 0.22)	99	<0.01
CD4+CD25+CD127LO	6	-2.18	(-3.55,- 0.81)	97	<0.01
CD4+CD25+CD127-	4	-0.74	(-0.91,- 0.57)	8	0.36
CD4+CD25HIFoxP3+	2	0.55	(33,1.42)	95	< 0.01
CD4+CD25 +CD127LO/-	4	-0.57	(-1.46,0.32)	84	<0.01
CD4+CD25+FoxP3 +CD127-	1	0.88	(0.18,1.58)	/	/
Not specified	1	-1.51	(-1.6,-1.42)	/	/

participate in the inflammatory process (134, 135). Th2 cells, on the other hand, mainly assist in the humoral immune response (136). Cytokines secreted by Th2 cells include IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, which facilitate the isotope switching of antibodies, mucus secretion and eosinophilia (137). Data concerning the Th1/Th2 skewing in the peripheral blood of AS patients has been highly inconsistent. Some studies reported that T helper cells in AS were skewed towards Th1 lineage suggesting that Th1 cells contributed to the excessive inflammation (56), while others failed to observe such elevations in proportions of Th1 cells (73). Our meta-analysis concluded that there was no significant alteration in the proportions of Th1 and Th2 cells overall, yet subgroup analysis revealed a significant increase in the percentages in AS patients with high disease activity, indicating that the Th1 lineage might be relevant in the acute phase. Meanwhile, the Th1/Th2 ratio was also significantly elevated. More recent research provides evidence that the plasticity of Th17 cells allows this subset of CD4+ T cells to partly assume phenotype of Th1 lineage or Th2 lineage, blurring the boundaries between Th1, Th2 and Th17 cells. It has been argued that the categorical dichotomy of Th1/Th2 should be rendered obsolete.

Another intriguing finding of our study is that the proportions of Tfh cells and B cells are significantly elevated in

the peripheral blood of AS patients. Both Tfh cells and B cells participate in humoral immunity (136). After migrating to the B cell follicles, CD40L expressed on the cell surface of Tfh cells may interact with the CD40 on B cells serving as a stimulus signal, thereby facilitating the formation of germinal center, differentiation of B cells and ultimately the production of antibodies (63, 138). The relevance of humoral immunity in the pathogenesis of ankylosing spondylitis has long been underestimated, since no auto-antibody is universally acknowledged as the specific marker of AS (11). Although several studies have put forward that anti-CD74 antibody may serve as a potential biomarker for AS, its diagnostic utility awaits further confirmation (139). Another possible mechanism of the B lymphocyte involvement in the pathogenesis of AS is that B lymphocytes might mediate bone destruction through production of RANKL, as was previously reported in rheumatoid arthritis (140), How Tfh cells and B cells are involved in the pathogenesis of AS still requires more research.

As a pivotal component in the innate immunity, NK cells possess cytotoxic activity and the ability of producing proinflammatory cytokines, such as IFN γ (141). There is mounting evidence that NK cells, with its expression of KIR superfamily on the cell surface, may contribute to the pathogenesis of ankylosing spondylitis. Different KIRs may interact with HLA alleles in various forms, creating sophisticated genotypes of NK cells. It is hypothesized that the HLA-Bw4 group of alleles, notably HLA-B27, may bind to the KIR antigens with varying affinities, displaying inhibitory or stimulatory activities through downstream signal pathways (141-143). In particular, being an inhibitory receptor, KIR3DL2 ligation with HLA-B27 may inhibit apoptosis of NK cells and protect them from activation-induced cell death (142). However, studies regarding the frequency of NK cells in the peripheral blood of AS patients have been highly inconsistent. Azuz-Lieberman et al. found that AS patients have significantly higher percentages of NK cells in PB, while the inhibitory receptor CEACAM1 is highly expressed on the surface indicating suppressed function of NK cells (144). Another study also confirmed a higher frequency of NK cells expressing KIR3DL1 in SpA patients, with an impaired IFN- γ intracellular production in stimulated NK cells (145). However, such

alteration of NK cell proportions was not observed in another study by Park, et al. (146) A more recent study found that NK cells in the peripheral blood was significantly reduced (84). Due to the inconsistencies of the data, our study failed to recognize a shift in the proportions of NK cells in the peripheral blood of AS patients.

There is no denying that there were some limitations to this study. Though being an all-encompassing meta-analysis attempting to include all the major subsets of lymphocytes, this study failed to conduct a more in-depth look into the more subtle minor subsets of lymphocytes, such as Th22 in CD4+ T cells, Tc1 and Tc2 in CD8+ T cells, Bregs, naïve B cells and memory B cells in the B cell lineage. This study originally intended to include Th22 subset in the meta-analysis, considering recent discovery that Th22 cells might have the capacity to promote osteoclast differentiation though production o IL-22 (147). To our chagrin, there were not enough studies to conduct an appropriate analysis. Second, lymphocytes may assume complicated phenotypes by expressing various antigens on the cell surface. Therefore, this crude classification of lymphocytes may not be adequate to explain the exact shifting of immune system in AS patients. However, further investigation was impeded by the insufficiency of the data. Third, there was notable heterogeneity in the studies considering the selected patients might have undergone different treatments and might be in different phases, it might be more appropriate to look into the effects of different treatments on the lymphocyte subsets. Moreover, this study only targeted lymphocytes in the peripheral blood, which could not adequately reflect the inflammatory status of the tissue.

REFERENCES

- Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewé R, Listing J, Akkoc N, Brandt J, et al. The Development of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis International Society Classification Criteria for Axial Spondyloarthritis (Part II): Validation and Final Selection. Ann Rheum Dis (2009) 68(6):777–83. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.108233
- Choi EY, Lee M, Lee CS. Uveitis Occurrence in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis According to the Type of Tumour Necrosis Factor Inhibitor: A Cohort Study of 175 Patients. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2020) 38(6):1132–7.
- Rudwaleit M, Baeten D. Ankylosing Spondylitis and Bowel Disease. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol (2006) 20(3):451–71. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2006.03.010
- Rudwaleit M, Metter A, Listing J, Sieper J, Braun J. Inflammatory Back Pain in Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Reassessment of the Clinical History for Application as Classification and Diagnostic Criteria. *Arthritis Rheum* (2006) 54(2):569–78. doi: 10.1002/art.21619
- Brown MA, Kenna T, Wordsworth BP. Genetics of Ankylosing Spondylitis -Insights Into Pathogenesis. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2016) 12(2):81–91. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2015.133
- Bowness P, Ridley A, Shaw J, Chan AT, Wong-Baeza I, Fleming M, et al. Th17 Cells Expressing KIR3DL2+ and Responsive to HLA-B27 Homodimers are Increased in Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Immunol (2011) 186(4):2672–80. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002653
- Turner MJ, Sowders DP, DeLay ML, Mohapatra R, Bai S, Smith JA, et al. Hla-B27 Misfolding in Transgenic Rats is Associated With Activation of the Unfolded Protein Response. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(4):2438–48. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2438
- Ranganathan V, Gracey E, Brown MA, Inman RD, Haroon N. Pathogenesis of Ankylosing Spondylitis - Recent Advances and Future Directions. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2017) 13(6):359–67. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2017.56
- 9. Rezaiemanesh A, Abdolmaleki M, Abdolmohammadi K, Aghaei H, Pakdel FD, Fatahi Y, et al. Immune Cells Involved in the Pathogenesis of

In conclusion, our meta-analysis concluded that CD4+ T, Th17, Tfh and B cells were significantly elevated in the peripheral blood of AS patients, while Tregs were significantly reduced. Our study further cemented the understanding that the nature of ankylosing spondylitis is a hybrid of innate immunity and acquired immunity dysfunction.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JG conceived of the presented idea. DL and BL conducted the literature search, while DL performed the analytic calculation and drafted the final version of this manuscript. CL settled any disagreements concerning the inclusion of literature. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2021.696973/full#supplementary-material

Ankylosing Spondylitis. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2018) 100:198–204. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.01.108

- Watad A, Bridgewood C, Russell T, Marzo-Ortega H, Cuthbert R, WaMcGonagletad D. The Early Phases of Ankylosing Spondylitis: Emerging Insights From Clinical and Basic Science. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2668. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02668
- Brown MA, Li Z, Cao KL. Biomarker Development for Axial Spondyloarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2020) 16(8):448–63. doi: 10.1038/ s41584-020-0450-0
- Callhoff J, Sieper J, Weiss A, Zink A, Listing J. Efficacy of TNFalpha Blockers in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis: A Meta-Analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2015) 74(6):1241–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205322
- Landewe RB, van der Heijde D, Dougados M, Baraliakos X, Van den Bosch FE, Gaffney K, et al. Maintenance of Clinical Remission in Early Axial Spondyloarthritis Following Certolizumab Pegol Dose Reduction. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79(7):920–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216839
- Dulic S, Vasarhelyi Z, Bajnok A, Szalay B, Toldi G, Kovacs L, et al. The Impact of Anti-TNF Therapy on CD4+ and CD8+ Cell Subsets in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Pathobiology* (2018) 85(3):201–10. doi: 10.1159/ 000484250
- Szalay B, Meszaros G, Cseh A, Acs L, Deak M, Kovacs L, et al. Adaptive Immunity in Ankylosing Spondylitis: Phenotype and Functional Alterations of T-cells Before and During Infliximab Therapy. *Clin Dev Immunol* (2012) 2012:808724. doi: 10.1155/2012/808724
- Guo H, Zheng M, Zhang K, Yang F, Zhang X, Han Q, et al. Functional Defects in CD4(+) CD25(High) FoxP3(+) Regulatory Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis. Sci Rep (2016) 6:37559. doi: 10.1038/srep37559
- Schinocca C, Rizzo C, Fasano S, Grasso G, La Barbera L, Ciccia F, et al. Role of the IL-23/IL-17 Pathway in Rheumatic Diseases: An Overview. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:637829. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.637829

- Butcher MJ, Zhu J. Recent Advances in Understanding the Th1/Th2 Effector Choice. Fac Rev (2021) 10:30. doi: 10.12703/r/10-30
- Balduzzi S, Rücker G, Schwarzer G. How to Perform a Meta-Analysis with R: A Practical Tutorial. *Evid Based Ment Health* (2019) 22(4):153–60. doi: 10.1136/ ebmental-2019-300117
- An H, Li X, Li F, Gao C, Li X, Luo J. The Absolute Counts of Peripheral T Lymphocyte Subsets in Patient With Ankylosing Spondylitis and the Effect of Low-Dose Interleukin-2. *Med (Baltimore)* (2019) 98(15):e15094. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000015094
- Appel H, Wu P, Scheer R, Kedor C, Sawitzki B, Thiel A, et al. Synovial and Peripheral Blood CD4+Foxp3+ T Cells in Spondyloarthritis. J Rheumatol (2011) 38(11):2445–51. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.110377
- Bautista-Caro MB, Arroyo-Villa I, Castillo-Gallego C, de Miguel E, Peiteado D, Plasencia-Rodríguez C, et al. Decreased Frequencies of Circulating Follicular Helper T Cell Counterparts and Plasmablasts in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients Naïve for TNF Blockers. *PloS One* (2014) 9(9): e107086. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107086
- Bidad K, Salehi E, Jamshidi A, Saboor–Yaraghi AA, Oraei M, Meysamie A, et al. Effect of All-Transretinoic Acid on Th17 and T Regulatory Cell Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *J Rheumatol* (2013) 40(4):476–83. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.121100
- 24. Brand JM, Neustock P, Kruse A, Alvarez–Ossorio L, Schnabel A, Kirchner H. Stimulation of Whole Blood Cultures in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis by a Mitogen Derived From Mycoplasma Arthritidis (MAS) and Other Mitogens. *Rheumatol Int* (1997) 16(5):207–11. doi: 10.1007/BF01330297
- Cai CS, Xiao P. Expression of Regulatory T Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Chin Pract Diagnosis Ther (2013) 27 (12):1192–4. doi: 10.11756/j.issn.1674-3474.2013.12.018
- Cai PW, Lin Y, Dou M, Chen JH, Lin Y. Expression of CD40-CD40L on Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Immunol J* (2005) 21(06):507–513. doi: 10.13431/j.cnki.immunol.j.20050148
- Cao D, van Vollenhoven R, Klareskog L, Trollmo C, Malmstrom V. Cd25brightCD4+ Regulatory T Cells are Enriched in Inflamed Joints of Patients With Chronic Rheumatic Disease. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2004) 6(4): R335–46. doi: 10.1186/ar1192
- Chen SZ, Bai JP, Xie YH, You YQ, Su ML, Xu XX, et al. Expression of Transcription Factor Th17, Treg and Th1 in Peripheral Blood From Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Correlation With Disease Activity. *Chin J Immunol* (2013) 29(08):834–8+847. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-484X.2013.08.012
- Chen MH, Chen WS, Lee HT, Tsai CY, Chou CT. Inverse Correlation of Programmed Death 1 (PD-1) Expression in T Cells to the Spinal Radiologic Changes in Taiwanese Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2011) 30(9):1181–7. doi: 10.1007/s10067-011-1721-6
- Cheng F. CD4+CD25+Regulatory T Cells in Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. The Second Military Medical University (2007).
- Dejaco C, Duftner C, Klauser A, Schirmer M. Altered T-cell Subtypes in Spondyloarthritis, Rheumatoid Arthritis and Polymyalgia Rheumatica. *Rheumatol Int* (2010) 30(3):297–303. doi: 10.1007/s00296-009-0949-9
- Deng L, Chen YP, Sun YL. Expression of miR-138 in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Relationship With Th1/Th2 Imbalance. J Trop Med (2019) 19(08):1008–11 +1051. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-3619.2019.08.017
- Deng JH, Li ZQ, Zhang R, Li YM. The Correlation Ananlysis of HLA-B27 Expression and Lymphocytes Subsets, Cytokines in the Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. Int J Lab Med (2018) 39(16):1976–9. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1673-4130.2018.16.011
- 34. Dong Q, Yang DR, Liu H. The Test of Immune Function and Hemorheologic Changes in HLA-B27 Positive Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Hemorheol* (2006) 16(02):273–4+324. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1009-881X.2006.02.046
- Duan Z, Gui Y, Li C, Lin J, Gober HJ, Qin J, et al. The Immune Dysfunction in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients. *Biosci Trends* (2017) 11(1):69–76. doi: 10.5582/bst.2016.01171
- 36. Fattahi MJ, Ahmadi H, Jafarnezhad-Ansariha F, Mortazavi-Jahromi SS, Rehm BHA, Cuzzocrea S, et al. Oral Administration Effects of Beta-D-

Mannuronic Acid (M2000) on Th17 and Regulatory T Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2018) 100:495–500. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.02.059

- Förger F, Villiger PM, Ostensen M. Pregnancy in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: Do Regulatory T Cells Play a Role? *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 61 (2):279–83. doi: 10.1002/art.24161
- Gao Y, Song Y, Fan YX, Chen M, Xiao N, Pan LZ, et al. The Alteration of TH17cells and CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ Regulatory T Cell in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Microbiol Immunol* (2012) 32(04):318–22. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-5101.2012.04.006
- Guo L, Hou Q, Kou R. Application of Combined Detection of T Lymphocyte Subsets and Ferritin in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int J Lab Med* (2012) 33(12):1436–7. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-4130.2012.12.012
- Hajialilo M, Dolati S, Abdolmohammadi–Vahid S, Ahmadi M, Kamrani A, Eghbal–Fard S, et al. Nanocurcumin: A Novel Strategy in Treating Ankylosing Spondylitis by Modulating Th17 Cells Frequency and Function. J Cell Biochem (2019) 120(07):12027–38. doi: 10.1002/jcb.28488
- Han YX, Zhang SH, Wu JB. Expressions of B7 and CD28 in Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and Their Significance. J Wenzhou Med Univ (2006) 36(04):356–8. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1000-2138.2006.04.018
- He YH, Wu XM, Wu LJ. Analysis of Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. Int J Lab Med (2012) 33(02):141–145. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1673-4130.2012.006
- Hu W, Wang ML, Qiu W, Chen SM, Liu DS. Preliminary Study on Immunological Indicators of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis in Suqian. *Contemp Med* (2019) 25(10):1–3. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1009-4393.2019.10.001
- 44. Hu B, Cheng J, Liu SQ. Analysis of T Cell Subsets in Peripheral Blood in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Modern Med J* (2013) 41(08):543–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-7562.2013.08.006
- Huang H, Wang YD, Sun YY, Sui WG. Expression Regulatory T Cells in Peripheral Blood of Ankylosing Spondyligis Patients. *China Trop Med* (2009) 9(10):1992–3.
- Huang F, Cai XH, Shi GY, Chen XM, Cheng QL, Dong K, et al. A Study of Cellular Immune Function in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Acad J Chin PLA Med School* (1991) 12(02):102–5.
- 47. Ji W, Li H, Gao F, Chen Y, Zhong L, Wang D. Effects of Tripterygium Glycosides on interleukin-17 and CD4(+)CD25(+)CD127(low) Regulatory T-cell Expression in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *BioMed Rep* (2014) 2(4):517–20. doi: 10.3892/br.2014.262
- Kenna TJ, Davidson SI, Duan R, Bradbury LA, McFarlane J, Smith M, et al. Enrichment of Circulating interleukin-17-secreting interleukin-23 Receptor-Positive γ/δ T Cells in Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64(5):1420–9. doi: 10.1002/art.33507
- Kim TJ, Lee SJ, Cho YN, Park SC, Jin HM, Kim MJ, et al. Immune Cells and Bone Formation in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2012) 30 (4):469–75.
- Klasen C, Meyer A, Wittekind PS, Waque I, Nabhani S, Kofler DM. Prostaglandin Receptor EP4 Expression by Th17 Cells is Associated With High Disease Activity in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2019) 21(1):159. doi: 10.1186/s13075-019-1948-1
- Li WQ. Expression of Mi-155 in Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Relationship With Th17/Treg Balance. J Shanxi Med Univ (2019) 50(02):235–40. doi: 10.13753/j.issn.1007-6611.2019.02.023
- 52. Xueyi L, Lina C, Zhenbiao W, Qing H, Qiang L, Zhu P. Levels of Circulating Th17 Cells and Regulatory T Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients With an Inadequate Response to Anti-TNF-α Therapy. *J Clin Immunol* (2013) 33 (1):151–61. doi: 10.1007/s10875-012-9774-0
- Li JX, Zhang LY, Huo YH, Li XF. Effect of Methylprednisolone on the Th1/ Th2 Balance and Cytokines in Patients With Refractong Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2009) 3(01):28–33. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1673-8705.2009.01.007
- 54. Li HX, Sun GR, Cao YX, Wang JB. Expression and Significance of CD8 +CD28-T Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With as. *Chin J Rheumatol* (2008) 12(05):333-5+361. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:1007-7480.2008.05.011

- Liao HT, Lin YF, Tsai CY, Chou CT. Regulatory T Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis and the Response After Adalimumab Treatment. *Joint Bone* Spine (2015) 82(6):423–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2015.03.003
- Limón-Camacho L, Vargas-Rojas MI, Vázquez-Mellado J, Casasola-Vargas J, Moctezuma JF, Burgos-Vargas R, et al. In Vivo Peripheral Blood Proinflammatory T Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Rheumatol (2012) 39(4):830–5. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.110862
- 57. Lin Q, Lin ZM, Gu JR, Huang F, Li TW, Wei QJ, et al. Changes of T Lymphocyte Subsets and Expression of Costimulatory Molecule CD154 on T-cells in Peripheral Blood From Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Rheumatol* (2008) 12(05):309–13. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:1007-7480.2008.05.006
- Lin Q, Gu JR, Li TW, Zhang FC, Lin ZM, Liao ZT, et al. Value of the Peripheral Blood B-cells Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2009) 122(15):1784–9. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2009.15.013
- Liu EC, Feng YX. Relationship of the Balance Between Leptin and Th17 and Th1 With Ankylosing Spondycitis Patients. *Med Recapitulate* (2017) 23 (01):187–9. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-2084.2017.01.044
- 60. Liu L, Liu J, Wan L. The Changes of Platelet Parameters, BTLA and Treg in Peripheral Blood in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Clin Healthcare* (2016) 19(01):8–11. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672.6790.2016.01.003
- 61. Liu J, Wang SH, Wan L, Zhang JS, Yang J, Zong RK, et al. Changes of Regulatory T Cells in Peripheral Blood in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients and the Influence of Chinese Medicine Spleen-Strengthening Unit Therapy. *Chin J Clin Healthcare* (2012) 15(01):1–4+113. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-6790.2012.01.001
- Liu XC, Wang JX, Wei P. The Function of Helper T Lymphocytes in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Tianjin Med J* (2010) 38(12):1047–9. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.0253-9896.2010.12.009
- 63. Long S, Zhang X, Zhang N, Zhao Y, Song LT, et al. High Frequency of Circulating Follicular Helper T Cells is Correlated With B Cell Subtypes in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Exp Ther Med* (2018) 15(5):4578–86. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.5991
- 64. Ma XH, Zhang X, Wang N, Gu Y, Gu LT, et al. Detection of Lymphocyte Subsets in Peripheral Blood in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Clinical Meaning. *Chin J Lab Diagnosis* (2011) 15(10):1765–6. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1007-4287.2011.10.060
- Ma L, Zhang Y, Wang ZQ, Gu J, et al. A Study of Subsets and Activation of Lymphocytes in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Clin Res (2011) 28 (10):1963–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-7171.2011.10.044
- Ma L, Yang J, Li H. Study of the Activated State of TH1/TH2 Cytokines on Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Immunol* (2004) 20(08):572–4.
- Meng JH, Wei P, Chen HY, Wang JX, Xie JL, Zhang Y, et al. Change of Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Hebei Med Univ (2015) 36(05):543–6. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-3205.2015.05.015
- Mo JF, Shan DP, Bao Y, Ye Q, Yan WH, et al. Percentages of Immune Cells in Peripheral Blood in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and the Expression Level of CXCR6. *Curr Immunol* (2019) 39(03):217–21.
- 69. Pishgahi A, Abolhasan R, Danaii S, Amanifar B, Soltani–Zangbar MS, Zamani M, et al. Immunological and Oxidative Stress Biomarkers in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients With or Without Metabolic Syndrome. *Cytokine* (2020) 128:155002. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155002
- Shan Y, Qi C, Zhao J, Liu Y, Gao H, Zhao D, et al. Higher Frequency of Peripheral Blood Follicular Regulatory T Cells in Patients With New Onset Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2015) 42(2):154–61. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.12330
- Shen H, Goodall JC, Hill Gaston JS. Frequency and Phenotype of Peripheral Blood Th17 Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis and Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60(6):1647–56. doi: 10.1002/art.24568
- Suen JL, Li HT, Jong YJ, Chiang BL, Yen JH, et al. Altered Homeostasis of CD4(+) FoxP3(+) Regulatory T-cell Subpopulations in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Immunology* (2009) 127(2):196–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02937.x
- Szántó S, Aleksza M, Mihály E, Lakos G, Szabó Z, Végvári A, et al. Intracytoplasmic Cytokine Expression and T Cell Subset Distribution in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *J Rheumatol* (2008) 35(12):2372–5. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.070839

- 74. Thoen J, Førre O, Waalen K, Pahle J, et al. Phenotypes and Spontaneous Cell Cytotoxicity of Mononuclear Cells From Patients With Seronegative Spondyloarthropathies: Ankylosing Spondylitis, Psoriatic Arthropathy and Pauciarticular Juvenile Chronic Arthritis–Analysis of Mononuclear Cells From Peripheral Blood, Synovial Fluid and Synovial Membranes. *Clin Rheumatol* (1988) 7(1):95–106. doi: 10.1007/BF02284064
- 75. Toussirot E, Saas E, Deschamps P, Pouthier M, Perrot F, Perruche L, et al. Increased Production of Soluble CTLA-4 in Patients With Spondylarthropathies Correlates With Disease Activity. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2009) 11(4):R101. doi: 10.1186/ar2747
- Wang YF, Wang M, Song AF. Evaluation Value of Peripheral Th17/Treg Balance in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int J Lab Med* (2020) 41 (07):842–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-4130.2020.07.017
- Wang CL, Li KZ, Cui W. Study on Expression Ofth1, Th17, Treg Cells and Related Cytokines in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients. *Chronic Pathematol J* (2018) 19(09):1154–1156+1160. doi: 10.16440/j.cnki.1674-8166.2018.09.003
- Wang M, Liu C, Bond A, Yang J, Zhou X, Wang J, et al. Dysfunction of Regulatory T Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis is Associated With a Loss of Tim-3. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2018) 59:53–60. doi: 10.1016/ j.intimp.2018.03.032
- Wang H, Sun N, Li K, Tian J, Li H, et al. Assay of Peripheral Regulatory Vδ1 T Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Significance. *Med Sci Monit* (2016) 22:3163–8. doi: 10.12659/MSM.897126
- Wang ZL, Zhong NF, Ma L. A Study on the Clinical Value and Correlation of Treg and Th17 Cells Among Different Active Stages of Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Guizhou Med Univ (2015) 40(01):68–71+75.
- Wang C, Liao Q, Hu Y, Zhong D, et al. T Lymphocyte Subset Imbalances in Patients Contribute to Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Exp Ther Med* (2015) 9 (1):250–6. doi: 10.3892/etm.2014.2046
- Wang YF, Xu LH, Jiang LX, Qi CP, Wang Y, et al. Clinical Significance of Detecting Immune Functions on Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Modern Lab Med (2012) 27(06):132–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-7414.2012.06.043
- Wang JX, Wei P, Meng JH, Liu XC, Liu YJ, Gu G, et al. Expression and Significance of ThlTh2 Cytokines in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Med China* (2008) 24(10):989–90. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1008-6315.2008.10.010
- Wei YY, Han ZJ, Huang HY, Du W, Ren TL, Gao MZ, et al. Analysis of Treg Cells and Lymphocyte Subgroup in 131 Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *China Med Herald* (2017) 14(28):46–8.
- Wu SS. Association of Follicular Helper T Cells and Ankylosing Spondylitis. Anhui Medical University (2014).
- 86. Wu Y, Ren M, Yang R, Liang X, Ma Y, Tang Y, et al. Reduced Immunomodulation Potential of Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Induced CCR4+CCR6+ Th/Treg Cell Subset Imbalance in Ankylosing Spondylitis. Arthritis Res Ther (2011) 13(1):R29. doi: 10.1186/ar3257
- Wu HK, Zhou L, Zhang LZ, Zhong RQ, et al. The Expression Research of B Lymphocyte Subsets, B-cell Activating Factor and its Receptor BR3 in Peripheral Blood From Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Lab Med* (2011) 26(12):818–22. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-8640.2011.12.007
- Xu F, Guanghao C, Liang Y, Jun W, Wei W, Baorong H, et al. Treg-Promoted New Bone Formation Through Suppressing TH17 by Secreting Interleukin-10 in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* (2019) 44 (23):E1349–55. doi: 10.1097/BRS.00000000003169
- Xu WL, Luo Y, Li K, Liao CZ, Lin YH, Zhang HD, et al. Eepression and Significance of T Lymphocyte Subgroup and Natural Killer T Cells in Peripheral Blood of Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients. *Lab Med Clinic* (2018) 15(02):192–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-9455.2018.02.015
- Xu XX. The Differentiation of Th1/Th17/Treg Cells and Their Expression of Associated Transcription Factors and Cytokines in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. Fujian Medical University (2013).
- Xu XF, Jiang LH, Gao WH, Tao L, Huang LJ, Xu QB, et al. Detection of HLA-B27 and T Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Meaning. *Lab Med Clinic* (2011) 8(19):2366–8. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-9455.2011.19.034
- 92. Xue GH, Hua L, Liu XF, Chen XL, Dong L, Pan J, et al. Frequencies of Human Regulatory B Cells in PBMC in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients and its Clinical Significance. *Chin J Clin Lab Sci* (2015) 33(09):662–7. doi: 10.13602/j.cnki.jcls.2015.09.07

- Xue YH, Cai YT, Xie KC. Expression of CD28/CD152: CD80/CD86 on Peripheral Blood Lymphocytes of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Lab Med* (2008) 23(05):478–80. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-8640.2008.05.012
- 94. Yang M, Lv Q, Wei Q, Jiang Y, Qi J, Xiao M, et al. TNF-Alpha Inhibitor Therapy can Improve the Immune Imbalance of CD4+ T Cells and Negative Regulatory Cells But Not CD8+ T Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2020) 22(1):149. doi: 10.1186/s13075-020-02226-8
- 95. Yang WH, Shu R, Han YX, Yuan W, Yu P, Li N, et al. Levels of Natural Killer Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Clinical Meaning. *Guangxi Med J* (2018) 40(10):1241–1242+1245. doi: 10.11675/j.issn.0253-4304.2018.10.36
- Yang X. Changes and Clinical Significance of CD8+ Regulatory T Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. Anhui Medical University (2017).
- Yang FF, Zhang X, Zhu P. Percentage of Peripheral Effector T Cells in Active Phase Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis is Increased While Level of PD-L1 is Decreased. *Chin J Cell Mol Immunol* (2016) 32(05):676–9. doi: 10.13423/j.cnki.cjcmi.007764
- 98. Yang GM, Wang YF, Ma YF, Li SQ, Tan Y, et al. Study on Lymphocytes and CD28CD40 in Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Lab Diagnosis* (2007) 11(11):1486–9. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-4287.2007.11.022
- 99. Ye L, Zhang L, Goodall J, Gaston H, Xu H, et al. Altered Frequencies of Regulatory T-Cell Subsets in Ankylosing Spondylitis and Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients and Their Response to anti-TNF Therapy. *Rheumatol* (*United Kingdom*) (2013) 52:i135–6. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ket195
- 100. Zhang CQ, Fang LH, Liu XP, Li R, Cui LP, Wang J, et al. Differential Expression and Meaning of Th17 and Tregs in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and Psoriatic Arthritis. *Chin Remedies Clinics* (2019) 19(01):34– 6. doi: 10.11655/zgywylc2019.01.016
- 101. Zhang Y, Ma L, Shen X, Fang ZY, Lin J, et al. An Observation of Changes in Counts and Percentages of Peripheral Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Shandong Med J* (2019) 59(24):82–5. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1002-266X.2019.24.022
- 102. Zhang HL, Zhang JY, Jin XY, Niu JX, Li ZJ, Zhang FL, et al. Study on the Correlation of the Imbalance of Th17 Cells, Th1 Cell, Egulatory T Cells With Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score. *Med Recapitulate* (2014) 20 (24):4545–4546+4555. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-2084.2014.24.052
- 103. Zhang X, Wang P, Wu YF, Yang R, Huang L, Tang Y, et al. Allogeneic Blood Transfusion Alleviates Hip Joint Pain Induced by Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Tissue Eng Res* (2014) 18(09):1465–70. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.2095-4344.2014.09.026
- 104. Zhang L, Li YG, Li YH, Qi L, Liu XG, Yuan CZ, et al. Increased Frequencies of Th22 Cells as Well as Th17 Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and Rheumatoid Arthritis. *PloS One* (2012) 7(4): e31000. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031000
- 105. Zhang SH, Han YX, Wu JB, Hu XX, Chen D, et al. The Alteration of CD4 Regulatory T Cells in Patients Th Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Chin J Microbiol Immunol* (2008) 28(05):445–9. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:0254-5101. 2008.05.015
- Zhao JT, Li YJ. The Comparison of the Ratio of Thl7Treg Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondytitis and the Normal Controls. *Chin J Rheumatol* (2013) 17(07):481–4. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1007-7480.2013.07.013
- 107. Zhao SS, Hu JW, Wang J, Lou XJ, Zhou LL, et al. Inverse Correlation Between CD4+CD25highCD127low/- Regulatory T-cells and Serum Immunoglobulin A in Patients With New-Onset Ankylosing Spondylitis. J Int Med Res (2011) 39(5):1968–74. doi: 10.1177/147323001103900543
- 108. Zhao XZ, Song HC, Cui LF. Clinical Significance and Expression of T Cell Subsets in Peripheral Blood From Patients Witb Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Med China* (2009) 25(03):286–8. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1008-6315.2009.03.023
- 109. Zhong NF, Ma L. Clinical Significance of Th1, Th2 and Th17 Cell Determinations Among Different Active Stage Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients. Lab Med (2014) 29(05):477-82. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-8640.2014.05.011
- 110. Zhu YY, Zhang L, Sun R, Zhao X, Xu YZ, Wu T, et al. Changes in T Lymphocyte Subsets and Related Immune Molecules in Peripheral Blood in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Curr Immunol* (2017) 37(01):14–9.

- 111. Zhu LY, Yang WJ, Yu P, Wang J, Li N, Wang JR, et al. Expression of Natural Killer Cell in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Significance. *Chin J Coal Industry Med* (2016) 19(07):989–92. doi: 10.11723/mtgyyx1007-9564201607014
- 112. Zhu J, Liu XY, Huang F. Th1/Th2 Balance and Ankylosing Spondylitis. Chin J Rheumatol (2000) 4(04):202–5. doi: 10.3760/j:issn:1007-7480.2000.04.003
- 113. Lai NL, Zhang SX, Wang J, Zhang JQ, Wang CH, Gao C, et al. The Proportion of Regulatory T Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Meta-Analysis. J Immunol Res (2019) 2019:1058738. doi: 10.1155/2019/ 1058738
- 114. Li M, Zhou X, Zhou L, Yu Z, Fu L, Yang P, et al. Meta-Analysis of Changes in the Number and Proportion of Regulatory T Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *BioMed Res Int* (2020) 2020:8709804. doi: 10.1155/2020/8709804
- 115. Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T Cells: Mechanisms of Differentiation and Function. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:531–64. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141623
- Neumann C, Scheffold A, Rutz S. Functions and Regulation of T Cell-Derived Interleukin-10. Semin Immunol (2019) 44:101344. doi: 10.1016/ j.smim.2019.101344
- 117. Ge L, Wang J, Zhu BQ, Zhang ZS, et al. Effect of Abnormal Activated B Cells in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis and its Molecular Mechanism. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2018) 22(9):2527–33. doi: 10.26355/ eurrev_201805_14941
- 118. Letourneau S, Krieg C, Pantaleo G, Boyman O, et al. Il-2- and CD25dependent Immunoregulatory Mechanisms in the Homeostasis of T-cell Subsets. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2009) 123(4):758–62. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaci.2009.02.011
- 119. Lu L, Barbi J, Pan F. The Regulation of Immune Tolerance by FOXP3. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17(11):703–17. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.75
- 120. Sun J, Tang DN, Fu T, Sharma P, et al. Identification of Human Regulatory T Cells in the Setting of T-cell Activation and anti-CTLA-4 Immunotherapy on the Basis of Expression of Latency-Associated Peptide. *Cancer Discov* (2012) 2(2):122–30. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-11-0236
- 121. Gravallese EM, Schett G. Effects of the IL-23-IL-17 Pathway on Bone in Spondyloarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2018) 14(11):631–40. doi: 10.1038/ s41584-018-0091-8
- 122. Yasuda K, Takeuchi Y, Hirota K. The Pathogenicity of Th17 Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. Semin Immunopathol (2019) 41(3):283–97. doi: 10.1007/s00281-019-00733-8
- 123. Bridgewood C, Sharif K, Sherlock J, Watad A, McGonagle D, et al. Interleukin-23 Pathway at the Enthesis: The Emerging Story of Enthesitis in Spondyloarthropathy. *Immunol Rev* (2020) 294(1):27–47. doi: 10.1111/imr.12840
- 124. Sato K, Suematsu A, Okamoto K, Yamaguchi A, Morishita Y, Kadono Y, et al. Th17 Functions as an Osteoclastogenic Helper T Cell Subset That Links T Cell Activation and Bone Destruction. J Exp Med (2006) 203(12):2673–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061775
- 125. Xu S, Cao X. Interleukin-17 and its Expanding Biological Functions. Cell Mol Immunol (2010) 7(3):164–74. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2010.21
- Hayday AC. Gammadelta T Cell Update: Adaptate Orchestrators of Immune Surveillance. J Immunol (2019) 203(2):311–20. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800934
- 127. Reinhardt A, Yevsa T, Worbs T, Lienenklaus S, Sandrock I, Oberdorfer L, et al. Interleukin-23-Dependent Gamma/Delta T Cells Produce Interleukin-17 and Accumulate in the Enthesis, Aortic Valve, and Ciliary Body in Mice. Arthritis Rheumatol (2016) 68(10):2476–86. doi: 10.1002/art.39732
- Lee JS, Tato CM, Joyce–Shaikh B, Gulen MF, Cayatte C, Chen Y, et al. Interleukin-23-Independent IL-17 Production Regulates Intestinal Epithelial Permeability. *Immunity* (2015) 43(4):727–38. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.003
- 129. Deodhar A, Gensler LS, Sieper J, Clark M, Calderon C, Wang Y, et al. Three Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Studies Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of Ustekinumab in Axial Spondyloarthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol (2019) 71(2):258–70. doi: 10.1002/ art.40728
- 130. Pavelka K, Kivitz A, Dokoupilova E, Blanco R, Maradiaga M, Tahir H, et al. Efficacy, Safety, and Tolerability of Secukinumab in Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Randomized, Double-Blind Phase 3 Study, MEASURE 3. Arthritis Res Ther (2017) 19(1):285. doi: 10.1186/s13075-017-1490-y

- 131. van der Heijde D, Gensler LS, Deodhar A, Baraliakos X, Poddubnyy D, Kivitz A, et al. Dual Neutralisation of interleukin-17A and interleukin-17F With Bimekizumab in Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis: Results From a 48-Week Phase IIb, Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Dose-Ranging Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79(5):595–604. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2020-216980
- 132. Venken K, Jacques P, Mortier C, Labadia ME, Decruy T, Coudenys J, et al. Rorgammat Inhibition Selectively Targets IL-17 Producing iNKT and Gammadelta-T Cells Enriched in Spondyloarthritis Patients. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07911-6
- 133. Szabo SJ, Sullivan BM, Stemmann C, Satoskar AR, Sleckman BP, Glimcher LH, et al. Distinct Effects of T-bet in TH1 Lineage Commitment and IFNgamma Production in CD4 and CD8 T Cells. *Science* (2002) 295(5553):338– 42. doi: 10.1126/science.1065543
- 134. Austin LM, Ozawa M, Kikuchi T, Walters IB, Krueger JG, et al. The Majority of Epidermal T Cells in Psoriasis Vulgaris Lesions can Produce Type 1 Cytokines, Interferon-Gamma, interleukin-2, and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha, Defining TC1 (Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte) and TH1 Effector Populations: A Type 1 Differentiation Bias is Also Measured in Circulating Blood T Cells in Psoriatic Patients. J Invest Dermatol (1999) 113(5):752-9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.1999.00749.x
- 135. Mitchell RE, Hassan M, Burton BR, Britton G, Hill EV, Verhagen J, et al. IL-4 Enhances IL-10 Production in Th1 Cells: Implications for Th1 and Th2 Regulation. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):11315. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11803-y
- 136. Chatzileontiadou DSM, Sloane H, Nguyen AT, Gras S, Grant EJ, et al. The Many Faces of CD4(+) T Cells: Immunological and Structural Characteristics. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 22(1). doi: 10.3390/ijms22010073
- 137. Fulkerson PC, Schollaert KL, Bouffi C, Rothenberg ME, et al. IL-5 Triggers a Cooperative Cytokine Network That Promotes Eosinophil Precursor Maturation. J Immunol (2014) 193(8):4043–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1400732
- Crotty S. T Follicular Helper Cell Differentiation, Function, and Roles in Disease. *Immunity* (2014) 41(4):529–42. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.004
- 139. Riechers E, Baerlecken N, Baraliakos X, Achilles-Mehr Bakhsh K, Aries P, Bannert B, et al. Sensitivity and Specificity of Autoantibodies Against CD74 in Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2019) 71 (5):729–35. doi: 10.1002/art.40777

- 140. Iwata S, Zhang M, Hajime M, Ohkubo N, Sonomoto K, Torimoto K, et al. Pathological Role of Activated mTOR in CXCR3+ Memory B Cells of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2021). doi: 10.1093/ rheumatology/keab229
- 141. Kucuksezer UC, Aktas Cetin E, Esen F, Tahrali I, Akdeniz UN, Gelmez MY, et al. The Role of Natural Killer Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. Front Immunol (2021) 12:622306. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.622306
- 142. Chan AT, Kollnberger SD, Wedderburn LR, Bowness P, et al. Expansion and Enhanced Survival of Natural Killer Cells Expressing the Killer Immunoglobulin-Like Receptor KIR3DL2 in Spondylarthritis. Arthritis Rheum (2005) 52(11):3586–95. doi: 10.1002/art.21395
- Parham P, Guethlein LA. Genetics of Natural Killer Cells in Human Health, Disease, and Survival. Annu Rev Immunol (2018) 36:519–48. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-immunol-042617-053149
- 144. Azuz-Lieberman N, Markel G, Mizrahi S, Gazit R, Hanna J, Achdout H, et al. The Involvement of NK Cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17(7):837–45. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh270
- 145. Scrivo R, Morrone S, Spadaro A, Santoni A, Valesini G, et al. Evaluation of Degranulation and Cytokine Production in Natural Killer Cells From Spondyloarthritis Patients at Single-Cell Level. Cytometry B Clin Cytom (2011) 80(1):22–7. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.20549
- 146. Park YW, Kee SJ, Cho YN, Lee EH, Lee HY, Kim EM, et al. Impaired Differentiation and Cytotoxicity of Natural Killer Cells in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum (2009) 60(6):1753–63. doi: 10.1002/art.24556
- 147. Miyazaki Y, Nakayamada S, Kubo S, Nakano K, Iwata S, Miyagawa I, et al. Th22 Cells Promote Osteoclast Differentiation Via Production of IL-22 in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Front Immunol (2018) 9:2901. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02901

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Liu, Liu, Lin and Gu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the 'copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Active Inflammatory and Chronic Structural Damages of Sacroiliac Joint in Patients With Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis and Non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis

Liudan Tu¹, Churong Lin², Ya Xie¹, Xiaohong Wang², Qiujing Wei¹, Yanli Zhang¹ and Jieruo Gu^{1*}

¹ Department of Rheumatology, Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, ² Department of Radiology, Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giuseppe Lopalco, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

Reviewed by:

Augusta Ortolan, University of Padua, Italy Marco Di Carlo, Marche Polytechnic University, Italy

> *Correspondence: Jieruo Gu gujieruo@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 25 April 2021 **Accepted:** 12 July 2021 **Published:** 27 July 2021

Citation:

Tu L, Lin C, Xie Y, Wang X, Wei Q, Zhang Y and Gu J (2021) Active Inflammatory and Chronic Structural Damages of Sacroiliac Joint in Patients With Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis and Non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. Front. Immunol. 12:700260. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.700260 **Objective:** Evaluate the MRI evidence of active inflammatory and chronic structural damages in radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (r-axSpA) and non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (nr-axSpA).

Methods: A retrospective review of 253 patients who underwent sacroiliac joint (SIJ) MRI between June 2014 and December 2019 was performed. MRI images including short tau inversion recovery scan and T1-weighted spin echo scans were assessed using the Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada (SPARCC) score and SPARCC MRI SIJ structural score by two independent readers.

Results: Higher mean score of inflammatory (SPARCC) was seen in r-axSpA patients when compared with nr-axSpA patients (8.08 vs 4.37, P<0.05). Frequencies of MRI structural lesions in r-axSpA patients and nr-axSpA patients were as follows: erosion (65.84 vs 88.23%, P=0.002), backfill (33.17 vs 13.73%, P<0.001), fat metaplasia (79.21 vs 60.78%, P=0.01), and ankylosis (37.13 vs 1.96%, P<0.001). Patients with r-axSpA had a higher mean score for fat metaplasia (8.93 vs 4.06, P=0.0003) and ankylosis (4.49 vs 0.04, P<0.001).

Conclusion: More active inflammatory and chronic structural damages except for erosion were seen in r-axSpA patients than nr-axSpA patients, while higher percentage of nr-axSpA patients presented with erosion in MRI.

Keywords: ankylosing spondylitis, axial spondyloarthritis, inflammation, structural damage, MRI

INTRODUCTION

Spondyloarthritis (SpA) is a group of inflammatory diseases mainly affecting the sacroiliac (SI) joint and spine. Axial spondyloarthritis (axSpA) includes non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (nr-axSpA) and radiographic axial spondyloarthritis (r-axSpA); the latter one is also termed ankylosing spondylitis (AS). Nr-axSpA and r-axSpA share some similarities such as disease

35
activity (defined by Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index—BASDAI), physical function, prevalence of HLA-B27 positivity, and comorbidity burden (1–3), while there are several differences including disease course, gender predilection, and levels of inflammatory markers (4).

MRI is an objective measurement detecting acute inflammatory and chronic structural changes recommended by the Assessment of SpondyloArthritis International Society (5). Bone marrow edema (BME), capsulitis, and subligamentous enthesitis are defined as active inflammatory changes in SpA according to the update of the ASAS MRI working group (6). Chronic structural changes including subchondral sclerosis, erosion, backfill, fat metaplasia, and ankylosis are present better and earlier in CT (7) or MRI (8) than radiographs.

Inflammatory and chronic structural changes are objective signs of axSpA. Previous studies indicated that sacroiliitis on radiographs is usually bilateral and symmetric in AS (9). However, the differences of structural damages between r-axSpA and nr-axSpA patients on MRI are limited. The aim of this study was to investigate whether there are differences between Chinese r-axSpA and nr-axSpA patients in inflammatory and chronic structural lesions on MRI, and clinical factors related to MRI changes.

METHODS

Patients

A retrospective study was performed, and patients with MRI and radiographic imaging of the sacroiliac joint and diagnosed with axSpA between June 2014 and December 2019 were included. The local ethics committee waived approval because of the retrospective nature of this study. The patients provided their written informed consent to anonymize the use of relative data in further study according to daily clinical practices in this department. Demographic characteristics and inflammatory indicators such as C-reactive protein (CRP) and Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate (ESR) are collected.

MRI Protocol and Assessment

All MR images were acquired on a 1.5 Tesla or 3 Tesla MR scanner in a coronal plane titled parallel to the long axis of the SI joint with 3-4 mm slice thickness and 12-15 slices acquired. Short-tau inversion recovery (STIR) sequences were used for the assessment of inflammatory lesion. The T1-weighted MRI sequences were used for the assessment of chronic/structural changes. The Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada SPARCC MRI scoring system was used to assess inflammation and structural damages in SI joint. SPARCC SIJ scores were based on the measurement of six consecutive slices, with the largest score of 12 for edema, intensity, and depth per slice, and a total score of 0-72 was calculated. SPARCC SI structural lesion score (SSS) (10) was used to assess the structural lesions, and four kinds of lesions were assessed based on five consecutive slices through the SIJ. Fat metaplasia is defined as an increased signal in bone marrow on T1WSE, and the lesion has to demonstrate homogeneous signal

with more than 1 cm in depth from the joint surface. Erosion is defined as the full-thickness loss of the dark appearance of either iliac or sacral cortical bone at its anticipated location and loss of the normal bright appearance of adjacent bone marrow. Backfill is defined as complete loss of iliac or sacral cortical bone at its anticipated location and increased signal that is clearly demarcated from adjacent normal marrow by irregular dark signal reflecting sclerosis at the border of the eroded bone. Ankylosis is defined as bone marrow signal on T1WSE sequences extending between the sacral and iliac bone marrow with a full-thickness loss of the dark appearance of the iliac and sacral cortical bone. The presence/ absence of lesions is scored using an online data entry system in SIJ quadrants (fat, erosion) or halves (backfill, ankylosis) with a scoring range of 0-40 for quadrants lesions and 0-20 for halves lesions. Examples of these inflammatory and structural damages are shown in Figure 1. Images were assessed by two radiologists independently, who were blinded to all patient data. The mean score of two radiologists was used for analysis. For SPARCC SIJ score, two readers had to discuss and reach consensus if a difference of >3 points existed (11). A SPARCC SSS >0 was required from both readers for identification of a structural lesion of erosion, backfill, fat metaplasia, or ankylosis (12). The before image evaluation, a training session including 20 test images, was carried out by an expert rheumatologist. A score ≥ 2 for SI joint bone marrow edema (BME) was considered positive MRI evidence of inflammation, and this cutoff has been validated in the literature (3, 13).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Stata Version 15.0. Summary statistics such as frequency, percentage, mean, and standard deviation were used to analyze demographic characteristics and inflammatory and structural changes of axSpA patients. T-test was used to evaluate the difference of demographic characteristics and MRI scores between AS and nraxSpA patients. Spearman correlations were used to determine the correlation between SPARCC scores and clinical factors. Then we conducted multivariate stepwise regression analyses to determine the best significant predictors for inflammatory and structural lesions. All tests were two-sided, and a significance level of P < 0.05 was assumed. Interobserver reliability for imaging scores was assessed using the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). The ICC value of <0.4 was designed as fair, \geq 0.4 but <0.6 as moderate, \geq 0.6 but <0.8 as good, \geq 0.8 but <0.9 as very good, and ≥ 0.9 as excellent.

RESULTS

Demographic

A total of 253 patients with a clinical diagnosis of axSpA were included for analysis during June 2014 and December 2019 in the third affiliated hospital of SUN YAT-SEN University. Fifty-one patients were classified as nr-axSpA, while others fulfilled the diagnosis of r-axSpA. The average age of patients was 31.74 years with a mean disease duration of 7.91 years.



A total of 87.35% (n=221) of patients were HLA-B27 positive, and 79.45% of them were male. The mean BASDAI and BASFI scores were 4.31 ± 2.25 and 2.19 ± 2.27 respectively, and 33.2%(n=84) of patients had used tumor necrosis factor inhibitor (TNFi) in the recent 3 months. Longer disease duration, higher positive rate of HLA-B27, and worse function, as measured by BASFI, were seen in r-axSpA group. The disease activity markers of BASDAI, ASDAS, and SPARCC MRI SIJ inflammation were significantly higher in r-axSpA group. No significant differences in other demographic features were noted between the groups (**Table 1**).

Inflammatory and Structural Changes on MRI

Higher SPARCC score was seen in r-axSpA patients than in nr-axSpA patients. Of the 253 patients evaluated, 117 (46.25%) had no BME seen on MRI. There was no significant difference in percentage of patients with BME between r-axSpA and nr-axSpA groups. Clinical characteristics such as age, sex, BASDAI, and CRP did not differ between patients with and without BME. There was significant difference in the mean score of erosion, backfill, and ankylosis between patients with and without SIJ BME (**Table 2**). Relative frequencies of MRI structural lesions in patients with *versus* without SIJ BME were as follows: erosion (78/136, 57.35% *vs* 100/117, 85.47%; *P*<0.001), backfill (23/136, 16.91% *vs* 51/117, 43.59%; *P*<0.001), fat metaplasia (93/136, 68.38% *vs* 98/117, 83.76%; *P*=0.005), and ankylosis (50/136, 36.76% *vs* 26/117, 22.22%; *P*=0.01).

The majority of patients had a score of >0 for structural damages for at least one of fat metaplasia, erosion, backfill, and ankylosis in the SI joint. A total of 242 (95.65%) patients had ≥1 structural lesion on MRI comprising erosion 71.54%, backfill 29.24%, fat metaplasia 75.49%, and ankylosis 30.04%. In SSS structural scores, significant difference was found between r-axSpA and nr-axSpA groups in fat metaplasia, backfill, and ankylosis (**Table 2**). Frequencies of MRI structural lesions in r-axSpA patients and nr-axSpA patients were as follows: erosion (65.84 *vs* 88.23%, *P*=0.002), backfill (33.17 *vs* 13.73%, *P*<0.001), fat metaplasia (79.21 *vs* 60.78%, *P*=0.01), and ankylosis (37.13 *vs* 1.96%, *P*<0.001).

TABLE 1 | Demographic features of included patients.

Characteristics	All patients (n=254)	AS (n=202)	nr-axSpA (n=51)	P-value
Age (years)	31.74±9.14	31.7±9.25	31.88±8.77	0.9
Male patients, n (%)	201 (79.45)	164 (81.19)	37 (72.55)	0.18
Disease duration (years)	7.91±6.56	8.68±6.50	4.94±5.95	0.0002
HLA-B27, n (%)	221 (87.35%)	182 (90.1)	39 (76.47)	0.02
Family history, n (%)	60 (23.72)	51 (25.25)	9 (17.65)	0.35
CRP (mg/dl)	18.66±23.99	20.05±25.18	13.19±17.75	0.06
ESR (mm/H)	26.07±24.13	26.54±23.22	24.18±27.58	0.53
BASDAI (0-10)	4.31±2.25	4.53±2.26	3.43±2.02	0.002
BASFI (0-10)	2.19±2.27	2.38±2.29	1.44±0.05	0.009
ASDAS-CRP	2.98±1.17	3.14±1.13	2.37±1.13	< 0.000
Use of TNFi, n (%)	84 (33.2%)	63 (31.2%)	21 (41.2%)	0.19

Data were presented as mean±SD unless specifically indicated. HLA-B27, Human leukocyte antigen-B27; CRP, C-Reactive Protein; ESR, Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; BASMI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index; ASDAS, Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; TNFi, Tumor necrosis factor inhibitor.

TABLE 2 | MRI inflammatory and structural damages.

Characteristics	All patients (n=253)	AS (n=202)	nr-axSpA (n=51)	BME≥2 (N=136)	BME<2 (N=117)
SPARCC (0-72)	7.33 ± 12.02	8.08 ± 12.27*	4.37 ± 10.55	_	-
Fat metaplasia (0-40)	7.95 ± 8.74	8.93 ± 9.15*	4.06 ± 5.33	7.56 ± 9.34	8.41 ± 7.98
Erosion (0-40)	5.01 ± 6.41	5.13 ± 6.79	4.51 ± 4.60	3.36 ± 5.39 ⁿ	6.93 ± 6.97
Backfill (0-20)	1.51 ± 3.33	1.71 ± 3.35*	0.75 ± 3.19	0.68 ± 2.19 ⁿ	2.48 ± 4.11
Ankylosis (0-20)	3.59 ± 6.72	4.49 ± 7.25*	0.04 ± 0.28	$5.37 \pm 7.98^{\eta}$	1.65 ± 4.10

SPARCC, the Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada; AS, ankylosing spondylitis; nr-axSpA, non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis; BME, bone marrow edema. *Significant difference was found between AS and nr-axSpA patients.ⁿSignificant difference was found between patients with and without BME.

Correlations Between MRI Inflammatory and Structural Lesions

Significant correlation was found between SPARCC score and age (-0.21, P < 0.01), sex (-0.15, P = 0.02). In multivariable stepwise regression analysis, age (-0.28, P = 0.001) and HLA-B27 (4.53, P = 0.046) were found significantly associated with SPARCC score.

Table 3 shows factors associated with SSS scores. Fat metaplasia was associated with age, sex, and BASDAI, and only BASDAI (β : -0.56, *P* =0.02) remained significant in multivariable analysis. For erosion, significant association was found with BASDAI (β : -0.88, *P* <0.01) and SPARCC (β : 0.18, *P* <0.01) in multivariable analysis. Backfill was associated with SPARCC (β : 0.05, *P* <0.01) in multivariable analysis. For ankylosis, age, sex, HLA-B27, disease duration, CRP, and SPARCC were found significantly associated.

TABLE 3 | Factors associated with structural damages on MRI.

	Fat m	Fat metaplasia		Erosion		ackfill	Ankylosis		
	Univariable Spearmen's rho, P value	Multivariable β (95% Cl)							
Age	0.12, P=0.046	NA	-0.08, NS	NA	-0.07, NS	NA	-0.02, NS	-0.17 (-0.27, -0.07)	
Sex	-0.02, NS	NA	0.10, NS	NA	-0.007, NS	NA	-0.15, P=0.02	-2.14 (-3.83, -0.44)	
HLA-B27	0.11, NS	3.09 (-0.13, 6.30)	-0.02, NS	NA	0.09, NS	NA	0.15, P=0.02	2.50 (0.16, 4.83)	
Disease duration	0.14, P=0.02	NA	-0.12, P=0.48	NA	-0.02, NS	NA	0.26, P<0.001	0.27 (0.13, 0.41)	
BASDAI	-0.16, P<0.01	-0.88 (-1.21, -0.54)	-0.39, P<0.01	-0.88 (-1.21, -0.54)	-0.10, NS	NA	0.12, NS	NA	
CRP	0.04, NS	NA	-0.13, P=0.04	NA	-0.02, NS	NA	0.28, P<0.001	0.05 (0.02, 0.08)	
ESR	-0.05, NS	NA	-0.06, NS	NA	0.006, NS	NA	0.12, NS	NA	
ASDAS	-0.07, NS	NA	-0.31, P<0.01	NA	-0.07, NS	NA	0.22, P<0.001	NA	
SPARCC	0.09, NS	NA	0.36, P<0.01	0.18 (0.12, 0.24)	0.31, P<0.001	0.05 (0.01, 0.09)	-0.22, P<0.01	-0.17 (-0.23, -0.10)	

HLA-B27, Human leukocyte antigen-B27; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; CRP, C-Reactive Protein; ESR, Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate; ASDAS, Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; SPARCC, the Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada; NS, not significant; NA, not available.

Bold values means significant difference.

Interobserver Reliability

ICC was computed to test interobserver reliability. Excellent correlation was achieved for rating of SPARCC score and ankylosis (ICC scores of 0.98 [95% CI 0.93–0.99] and 0.95 [95% CI 0.91–0.98], respectively). Good correlation was achieved for identification of erosion, fat metaplasia, and backfill with ICC scores of 0.85 (95% CI 0.71–0.93) for fat metaplasia, 0.87 (95% CI 0.75–0.94) for erosion, and 0.74 (95% CI 0.52–0.87) for backfill.

DISCUSSION

The results of this study demonstrate that structural lesions on MRI may occur in early stage of SpA (nr-axSpA) and in the absence of SIJ BME on MRI. R-axSpA patients have more SIJ inflammation on MRI, and fat metaplasia is seen more in r-axSpA than nr-axSpA patients. Our data also support that structural damages in SIJ are associated with active inflammation.

Conventional radiograph is still preferred for the analysis of SIJ structural damage and for the diagnosis of axSpA. It has been verified that T1-weighted MRI sequences were superior to conventional radiographs in the detection of erosion of SIJ in axSpA patients (14). Besides, additional lesions such as fat metaplasia, backfill, and ankylosis can be observed clearly on MRI. The distribution pattern of inflammation and structural lesions may differ between AS and nr-axSpA patients; unilateral fat metaplasia and erosion were more seen in nr-axSpA patients (15) with a small simple size. This study compared the inflammation and structural lesions in r-axSpA and nr-axSpA patients using SPARCC scoring system and analyzed factor related to MRI changes.

Fat metaplasia, one of the chronic lesions and usually observed in the bone marrow of SI joint and spine, is assumed to be an intermediate stage between active inflammation and formation of new bone (16). Prospective studies indicated that fat metaplasia and backfill are associated with the development of new ankylosis (8, 14, 16). However, the proportion of fat marrow increases over time, and a previous study reported that a very high prevalence of fat metaplasia (50.6% in the age groups less than 45years, 94.4% in patients \geq 75 years) was found in the SIJ of asymptomatic patients, while erosions were extremely uncommon (17). Fat metaplasia with certain features such as a distinct border, proximity to subchondral bone, and homogeneity of T1-weighted signal, combined with other abnormalities (bone marrow edema and erosion), is assumed to be highly specific for SpA but does no help for diagnosis (18).

The relationship between inflammation, fat metaplasia, and ankylosis has been studied before. It is reported that baseline SPARCC SIJ inflammation and SIJ backfill scores independently predicted progression in SPARCC SIJ ankylosis (19). TNFi can retard not only inflammation but also structural progression rate on MRI in both short-term (11, 20) and long-term follow-up (19). It is reported that etanercept has more effect than usual care on SIJ erosion development; attaining sustained ASDAS inactive disease is relevant to the amelioration of erosion (21). Reduction of inflammation, erosion, and increase of fat metaplasia were seen in SpA patients treated with adalimumab compared with placebo group (20). Other clinical factors such as disease activity, demographics, and HLA-27 were not associated with development of MRI structural features according to previous study (22).

There are several limitations of this study. First is the retrospective nature, which is subject to inherent observation bias. Second is the interpretation of the MRI T1 sequence. The structural damages such as erosion and backfill are heterogeneous lesions, which are difficult to discern and need caution when interpreting the results. Besides, these damages could be presented in other diseases such as scoliosis and degenerative disease. Further validation of structural damages using both computed tomography and MRI is needed for better understanding.

CONCLUSIONS

This study indicated that higher inflammatory and structural damages except for erosion were seen in r-axSpA patients when compared with nr-axSpA patients. In patients without MRI SIJ BME, structural lesions are also present. Prospective study is necessary to understand the relationship between structural damages and treatments.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by third affiliated hospital of SUN YAT-SEN University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JG had full access to all of the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. Study concept and design: JG and LT. Acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data: all authors. Drafting the manuscript: LT and JG. Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: all authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study is funded by Guangdong Science & Technology Infrastructure Construction Project (Number: 2019B030316004).

REFERENCES

- Rudwaleit M, Haibel H, Baraliakos X, Listing J, Marker-Hermann E, Zeidler H, et al. The Early Disease Stage in Axial Spondylarthritis: Results From the German Spondyloarthritis Inception Cohort. *Arthritis Rheumatism* (2009) 60 (3):717–27. doi: 10.1002/art.24483
- Kiltz U, Baraliakos X, Karakostas P, Igelmann M, Kalthoff L, Klink C, et al. Do Patients With non-Radiographic Axial Spondylarthritis Differ From Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis? *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* (2012) 64 (9):1415–22. doi: 10.1002/acr.21688
- Zhao SS, Ermann J, Xu C, Lyu H, Tedeschi SK, Liao KP, et al. Comparison of Comorbidities and Treatment Between Ankylosing Spondylitis and non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis in the United States. *Rheumatology* (2019) 58(11):2025–30. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kez171
- Taurog JD, Chhabra A, Colbert RA. Ankylosing Spondylitis and Axial Spondyloarthritis. New Engl J Med (2016) 374(26):2563–74. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMra1406182
- Lambert RG, Bakker PA, van der Heijde D, Weber U, Rudwaleit M, Hermann KG, et al. Defining Active Sacroiliitis on MRI for Classification of Axial Spondyloarthritis: Update by the ASAS MRI Working Group. *Ann Rheumatic Dis* (2016) 75(11):1958–63. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-208642
- Maksymowych WP, Lambert RG, Ostergaard M, Pedersen SJ, Machado PM, Weber U, et al. MRI Lesions in the Sacroiliac Joints of Patients With Spondyloarthritis: An Update of Definitions and Validation by the ASAS MRI Working Group. *Ann Rheumatic Dis* (2019) 78(11):1550–8. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-215589
- Baraliakos X, Braun J. Imaging Scoring Methods in Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Rheumatic Dis Clinics North Am* (2016) 42(4):663–78. doi: 10.1016/ j.rdc.2016.07.006
- Weber U, Pedersen SJ, Ostergaard M, Rufibach K, Lambert RG, Maksymowych WP. Can Erosions on MRI of the Sacroiliac Joints be Reliably Detected in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis? - A crosssectional study. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2012) 14(3):R124. doi: 10.1186/ar3854
- Jang JH, Ward MM, Rucker AN, Reveille JD, Davis JC Jr, Weisman MH, et al. Ankylosing Spondylitis: Patterns of Radiographic Involvement-a Re-Examination of Accepted Principles in a Cohort of 769 Patients. *Radiology* (2011) 258(1):192–8. doi: 10.1148/radiol.10100426
- Maksymowych WP, Wichuk S, Chiowchanwisawakit P, Lambert RG, Pedersen SJ. Development and Preliminary Validation of the Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada Magnetic Resonance Imaging Sacroiliac Joint Structural Score. J Rheumatol (2015) 42(1):79–86. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.140519
- Maksymowych WP, Dougados M, van der Heijde D, Sieper J, Braun J, Citera G, et al. Clinical and MRI Responses to Etanercept in Early Non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis: 48-Week Results From the EMBARK Study. Ann Rheumatic Dis (2016) 75(7):1328–35. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-207596
- Maksymowych WP, Wichuk S, Dougados M, Jones H, Szumski A, Bukowski JF, et al. MRI Evidence of Structural Changes in the Sacroiliac Joints of Patients With non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis Even in the Absence of MRI Inflammation. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2017) 19(1):126. doi: 10.1186/ s13075-017-1342-9
- van der Heijde D, Sieper J, Maksymowych WP, Brown MA, Lambert RG, Rathmann SS, et al. Spinal Inflammation in the Absence of Sacroiliac Joint Inflammation on Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Patients With Active Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66 (3):667–73. doi: 10.1002/art.38283
- 14. Diekhoff T, Hermann KG, Greese J, Schwenke C, Poddubnyy D, Hamm B, et al. Comparison of MRI With Radiography for Detecting Structural Lesions of the Sacroiliac Joint Using CT as Standard of Reference: Results From the

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We specially thank the participants who made this study possible.

SIMACT Study. Ann Rheumatic Dis (2017) 76(9):1502-8. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2016-210640

- Motamedi D, Patel R, Devulapalli KK, Gensler LS, Steinbach L. MR Distribution of Active Inflammatory and Chronic Structural Sacroiliac Joint Changes in Axial Spondyloarthropathy: Challenging Conventional Wisdom. *Clin Imaging* (2019) 58:70–3. doi: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2019.06.003
- Maksymowych WP, Wichuk S, Chiowchanwisawakit P, Lambert RG, Pedersen SJ. Fat Metaplasia and Backfill Are Key Intermediaries in the Development of Sacroiliac Joint Ankylosis in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(11):2958–67. doi: 10.1002/art.38792
- Ziegeler K, Eshkal H, Schorr C, Sieper J, Diekhoff T, Makowski MR, et al. Ageand Sex-Dependent Frequency of Fat Metaplasia and Other Structural Changes of the Sacroiliac Joints in Patients Without Axial Spondyloarthritis: A Retrospective, Cross-Sectional MRI Study. *J Rheumatol* (2018) 45(7):915–21. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.170904
- Weber U, Pedersen SJ, Zubler V, Rufibach K, Chan SM, Lambert RG, et al. Fat Infiltration on Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Sacroiliac Joints has Limited Diagnostic Utility in Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *J Rheumatol* (2014) 41(1):75–83. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.130568
- Pedersen SJ, Weber U, Said-Nahal R, Sorensen IJ, Loft AG, Kollerup G, et al. Structural Progression Rate Decreases Over Time on Serial Radiography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Sacroiliac Joints and Spine in a Five-Year Follow-Up Study of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis Treated With Tumour Necrosis Factor Inhibitor. *Scand J Rheumatol* (2019) 48(3):185–97. doi: 10.1080/03009742.2018.1506822
- 20. Pedersen SJ, Poddubnyy D, Sorensen IJ, Loft AG, Hindrup JS, Thamsborg G, et al. Course of Magnetic Resonance Imaging-Detected Inflammation and Structural Lesions in the Sacroiliac Joints of Patients in the Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Danish Multicenter Study of Adalimumab in Spondyloarthritis, as Assessed by the Berlin and Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada Methods. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68(2):418–29. doi: 10.1002/art.39434
- 21. Maksymowych WP, Claudepierre P, de Hooge M, Lambert RG, Landewe R, Molto A, et al. Structural Changes in the Sacroiliac Joint on MRI and Relationship to ASDAS Inactive Disease in Axial Spondyloarthritis: A 2-Year Study Comparing Treatment With Etanercept in EMBARK to a Contemporary Control Cohort in DESIR. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2021) 23 (1):43. doi: 10.1186/s13075-021-02428-8
- 22. Pedersen SJ, Wichuk S, Chiowchanwisawakit P, Lambert RG, Maksymowych WP. Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitor Therapy But Not Standard Therapy is Associated With Resolution of Erosion in the Sacroiliac Joints of Patients With Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2014) 16(2):R100. doi: 10.1186/ar4548

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Tu, Lin, Xie, Wang, Wei, Zhang and Gu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Adalimumab Therapy Restores the Gut Microbiota in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis

Zena Chen, Xuqi Zheng, Xinyu Wu, Jialing Wu, Xiaomin Li, Qiujing Wei, Xi Zhang, Linkai Fang, Ou Jin * and Jieruo Gu *

Rheumatology and Immunology Department, Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China

Growing evidence suggests that the gut microbiota is involved in the initiation and progression of ankylosing spondylitis (AS). In this study, we aimed to explore the gut microbiome alterations during adalimumab therapy and verify microbiome biomarkers predicting treatment response. By evaluating the gut microbial features of 30 AS patients before and after adalimumab therapy for 6 months and 24 healthy controls, we confirmed that the microbiome was restored remarkably after 6 months of adalimumab therapy in AS patients. We then compared the baseline gut microbiome of 22 adalimumab responders with 8 non-responders, a higher abundance of *Comamonas* was revealed in the latter, although no statistical difference was found after adjusting for the false discovery rate. These results suggested that adalimumab therapy restored the gut microbiome in AS patients and indicated the utility of gut microbiome to be potential biomarkers for therapeutic evaluation. These findings provided an insight into the development of predictive tools and the establishment of precise medical interventions for clinical practice.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maria I. Bokarewa, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Daniella Schwartz, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIH), United States Wenru Su, Sun Yat-sen University, China

*Correspondence:

Ou Jin jinou@mail.sysu.edu.cn Jieruo Gu gujieruo@mail.sysu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 April 2021 Accepted: 17 August 2021 Published: 01 September 2021

Citation:

Chen Z, Zheng X, Wu X, Wu J, Li X, Wei Q, Zhang X, Fang L, Jin O and Gu J (2021) Adalimumab Therapy Restores the Gut Microbiota in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. Front. Immunol. 12:700570. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.700570 Keywords: adalimumab, TNF, gut microbiome, ankylosing spondylitis, biomarker

INTRODUCTION

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is a chronic inflammatory disorder that affects the axial skeleton, causing characteristic inflammatory back pain that can lead to structural and functional impairments and a decreased quality of life (1). Among patients with AS, 40–60% present with subclinical intestinal inflammation, and 5–10% progress to clinical inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (2). In recent years, substantial evidence has indicated the vital role of the gut microbiota in the initiation and progression of IBD (3). Similarly, a growing number of studies revealed perturbed gut microbiota in AS or spondyloarthritis (SpA) patients (4), and also in AS animal model typically HLA-B27 transgenic rats (5). Moreover, some altered species like *Dialister*, was related to AS disease activity (6). Recently, HLA- B27- positive healthy individuals were identified with a significantly different microbiome (7), indicating that the gut microbiota may in fact be a driver of AS.

The development of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor (TNFi) and its introduction into clinics was a milestone in the treatments for autoimmune diseases, including AS, IBD, psoriasis, and rheumatoid arthritis. It is well known that TNFi improves symptoms and inflammatory cytokine levels in patients with AS. However, it is unknown whether TNFi affects the gut microbiome due to a lack of evidence. A previous study analyzed the gut microbiome of SpA patients before and after

41

3 months of TNFi treatment, using stool samples (8). Only a modest difference in the alpha diversity of the gut microbiome was found, while no specific bacterial taxa were observed. But this study did not include healthy controls, so it is uncertain whether TNFi treatment was responsible for restoring the gut microbiome to a healthier status. Recently, restoration of gut microbiota composition was revealed in proteoglycan-induced AS mice after TNFi treatment (9), indicating that TNFi treatment might affect the gut microbiota.

As humanized monoclonal antibody targeting TNF, adalimumab has been successfully used to manage inflammation in AS patients in clinic, especially in those with extra-articular symptoms such as IBD and uveitis (10). It was also reported to improve symptoms and restore gut microbiota in patients with IBD (11). In addition, baseline features of the gut microbiome were valuable in predicting the treatment response to TNFi in patients with IBD (12). However, the association between the gut microbiome alteration and adalimumab treatment in AS patients is unknown.

In this study, we recruited AS patients prescribed adalimumab and healthy controls to evaluate the effect of adalimumab treatment on the gut microbiome. Further, we explored whether the gut microbiome can be used to predict the response to adalimumab treatment in AS patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Populations and Sample Size

We conducted a prospective observational study between January 2017 and July 2018. Patients with AS who were initiated adalimumab therapy were consecutively recruited at the outpatient clinic of Rheumatology at the Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) age of 18 years or older, (2) fulfillment of the 1984 modified New York Criteria for AS (13), (3) inadequate improvement despite taking at least two non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for 4 weeks, (4) Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI) > 4 at baseline, and (5) no TNFi treatment in the 6 months prior to recruitment. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) antibiotic or probiotic treatment within 2 months of fecal collection, and (2) chronic infectious disease such as tuberculosis or hepatitis B. Fecal samples and clinical data, including demographic information, disease-related characteristics, and measurements of disease activity or functional status, were collected by trained investigators at baseline (M0) and after 6 months of adalimumab treatment (M6). Disease activity of AS was assessed using the Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS) according to its cutoff points, while therapeutic response was defined using the change in ASDAS (\triangle ASDAS) as reported previously (14, 15). Clinical response was defined as ASDAS change > 1.1, and no clinical response was defined as ASDAS change \leq 1.1. In order to determine the suitable sample size, we hypothesized that, after treatment with adalimumab, 50-60% of patients would experience an alteration in the abundance of potentially disease-related components of gut microbiota (16).

A total sample size of at least 13 pairs of AS patients (pre- and post-treatment) was required to achieve a power of 90% and a two-sided significance of 5%. The sample size was estimated by PASS 15 software (https://www.ncss.com).

Healthy controls were recruited from volunteers, at the same hospital, who had not been diagnosed with AS, other rheumatic diseases, or chronic infectious diseases, and who had not received antibiotic or probiotic treatment within 2 months of fecal collection.

This study was conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the ethics committee of the Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University. Before enrollment, written informed consent was obtained from all subjects for research and publication of their data.

Fecal Sample Collection

Fresh fecal samples were collected from the patients at baseline and at 6 months, and from healthy controls at baseline. After defecation fecal samples were collected and immediately placed on dry ice, and then transferred to the laboratory within 2 hours, followed by the storage at -80°C until DNA extraction.

DNA Extraction and 16S rRNA Gene Sequencing

Microbial genomic DNA was extracted from fecal samples using a DNA isolation kit (Tiangen Biotech Co., Ltd., Beijing, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene from each sample was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using specific primers (515F, 5'-GTGCCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3', and 806R, 5'-GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT-3') with barcodes (17). After purification, the DNA library was obtained and sequenced using the Illumina Hiseq2500 platform to generate 250 bp pairedend reads.

The reads were purified and merged and then processed using a QIIME-based bioinformatics pipeline (v1.9.1) (18). Briefly, we curated the sequences to reduce sequencing and PCR errors, aligned the resulting sequences to the SILVA 16S rRNA sequence database, and used UCHIME to remove any chimeric sequences as per to the GOLD database. Sequences were clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) with a 97% similarity cutoff using the average neighbor algorithm. All sequences were classified using a naïve Bayesian classifier trained on the RDP training set, and the OTUs were assigned a classification based on the taxonomy with the majority consensus of sequences within a given OTU at a threshold of 80%. We obtained the OTU table and taxonomy tree, and further analysis of the α - and β -diversity indices was conducted using Microbiomeanalyst (19). It is a web-based tool for comprehensive statistical, visual and meta-analysis of microbiome data.

Statistical Analysis

Graphpad 8.0 (IBM, USA) and R (version 3.4.3) were used to analyze the data. Longitudinal comparisons were used to analyze changes in patients after treatment, and cross-sectional comparisons were made between patients and healthy controls.

Gut microbiome composition was represented by α - and β diversity. To assess α -diversity (20), the Shannon and Simpson indices were calculated for each sample in the dataset. Wilcoxon rank sum tests were performed for pairwise comparisons within patients with AS, and Mann-Whitney tests were performed for comparisons between patients and healthy controls. To measure β -diversity, the UniFrac distance between samples was calculated (21), and permutational multivariate analysis of variance using distance matrices (PERMANOVA) was used to assess the overlap of taxonomy between patients with AS and healthy controls. Comparisons of the relative abundance of taxa were made using Wilcoxon rank sum or Mann-Whitney tests. A *P* value of less than 0.05, after correcting for false discovery rate (FDR) for multiple comparisons, was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristic of AS Patients

A total of 30 patients (mean age, 31.23 ± 7.48 years) and 24 healthy controls (mean age, 38.54 ± 10.79 years) were obtained in this study. All included patients were HLA-B27 positive, 12 of them (40%) had peripheral arthritis and 5 (17%) had a positive family history. None of these 30 AS patients had established IBD, psoriasis, or uveitis history. Before treatment, 15 patients had a high level of disease activity and 13 patients had very high level of disease activity. NSAIDs and sulfasalazine (SASP) were prescribed for 20 and 5 patients respectively. During adalimumab therapy, NSAIDs and SASP were remained for those patients.

Overall, clinical symptoms and signs of AS patients were greatly relieved after 6 months of adalimumab therapy, along with improvements in C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), BASDAI, ASDAS, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index (BASFI), and Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index (BASMI), comparing with baseline values (all *P* values < 0.01, **Table 1**). Six patients still had high or very high levels of disease activity even after treatment. As for treatment response, 22 patients responded to adalimumab therapy ($\triangle ASDAS > 1.1$, R) while 8 patients did not ($\triangle ASDAS \le 1.1$, NR). Patients exhibiting different clinical responses were similar in terms of sex, age, and disease activity before treatment (**Table S1**).

Association Between Gut Microbiome and Adalimumab Therapy

In the present study, an average of 65 194 (range, 45 295–78 205) high-quality effective reads were obtained from 84 samples. After taxonomic identification and filtering out taxa with a very low abundance (reads had to be present in at least 20% of the samples, with a count of more than 2), 602 OTUs remained for further analysis. After species annotation, a total of 9 phyla, 16 classes, 24 orders, 47 families, and 117 genera were obtained.

For α -diversity, the Shannon and Simpson indices of AS patients before treatment (AS_M0) were obviously lower than healthy controls (*P*<0.01, **Figure 1A**), and there were no statistical differences of the above indices between two groups after treatment (*P*>0.05, **Figure 1A**). Similarly, noteworthy difference in β -diversity between the two groups was found

TABLE 1	Clinical	characteristic	of AS	patients

	MO	M6
Age (years)	31.23 ± 7.48	
Males (n, %)	27 (90)	
Duration (years)§	10 (5)	
NSAIDs (n, %)	20 (66.7)	
SASP (n, %)	5 (16.7)	
CRP (mg/L)§	11.25 (21.70)	0.95 (4.25)***
ESR (mm/h)§	14.00 (25.50)	4.50 (6.25)***
BASDAI [§]	5.23 (1.51)	2.23 (2.72)***
BASFI [§]	3.72 (2.64)	1.60 (2.35)***
BASMI [§]	2.50 (3.00)	1.00 (3.00)**
ASDAS [§]	3.43 (1.29)	1.33 (1.16)***
Inactive [†]	0	14
Low activity [†]	2	10
High activity [†]	15	5
Very high activity [†]	13	1
$BASDAI > 4^{\dagger}$	30	4

[§]Data expressed as median (IQR); [†]data expressed as frequency. Comparisons of CRP, ESR, BASDAI, BASFI, BASMI, and ASDAS between M0 and M6 were calculated using Wilcoxon rank-sum tests. ^{**}P < 0.01, ^{***}P < 0.001. AS, ankylosing spondylitis; IQR, interquartile range; INSAIDs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; SASP, sulfasalazine; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; BASFI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index; BASMI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Metrology Index; ASDAS, ankylosing spondylitis disease activity score; M0, baseline; M6, after 6 months of treatment.

before treatment (P < 0.001), while no statistical difference was found after treatment, according to the results of PERMANOVA based on weighted and unweighted UniFrac distance (**Figures 1B, C**). These results revealed an alteration of gut microbial community structure in AS patients and an impact of adalimumab treatment on the gut microbiota.

The three most dominant phyla were *Firmicutes*, *Bacteroidetes*, and *Actinobacteria*, which accounted for over 95% of total abundance both in AS patients and healthy controls. The top fifteen relative abundances of taxa at different taxonomic levels in patients with AS and in healthy controls are listed in **Table S2**.

At the phylum level, gut microbiota from AS patients before treatment exhibited a significantly higher abundance of Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, Oxyphotobacteria, Preteobacteria, and *Tenericutes* (all *P* <0.01, **Figure 2**), as well as a lower abundance of Bacteroidetes and Fusobacteria than the microbiota from healthy controls (P <0.001 and P <0.05, respectively, Figure 2). Interestingly, the relative abundance of these seven phyla shifted during adalimumab therapy, eventually resulting in no statistical difference between the two groups (all P > 0.05, Figure 2). At the genus level, 73 genera with distinguishing abundance (such as Bacteroides, Megamonas, and Collinsella) were identified in AS patients before treatment compared with healthy controls (all P<0.05, Table S3). Relative abundance of these genera altered during adalimumab therapy, and in particular four genera namely Lachnoclostridium, Lachnospira, Solobacterium, and Rothia shifted greatly during this time (all P<0.05, Figure 3 and Table S3). The relative abundance of Lachnoclostridium, Lachnospira, and Solobacterium in AS patients was restored to levels similar with healthy controls after therapy (P>0.05, Figure 3 and Table S3). Only 28 out of the 73 genera (such as Rothia, Streptococcus, Blautia,



FIGURE 1 | Community structure of gut microbiota in AS patients and HCs. (A) α -diversity of gut microbiota (Shannon and Simpson index) among AS patients at baseline and after treatment and among HCs. The horizontal bar within each box represents the median. The bottom and top of each box represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, respectively. The upper and lower whiskers extend to data no more than 1.5 × the IQR from the upper and lower edges of the box, respectively. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ns, P > 0.05. PCoA plot based on the unweighted UniFrac distance (B) and weighted UniFrac distance (C) of gut microbiota from AS patients at baseline and after treatment and from HCs. AS, ankylosing spondylitis; AS_M0, AS patients at baseline; AS_M6, AS patients after treatment; HC, healthy control; IQR, interquartile range; PCoA, principal coordinates analysis.





FIGURE 3 | Differential relative abundance of genera in AS patients before and after treatment. AS, ankylosing spondylitis. The horizontal bar within each box represents the median. The bottom and top of each box represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, respectively. The upper and lower whiskers extend to data no more than 1.5 × the IQR from the upper and lower edges of the box, respectively. **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001, ns, *P* > 0.05.

and *Dorea*) remained statistically different (all *P*<0.05, **Table S3**) between the two groups after therapy.

Association Between Gut Microbiome and Response to Adalimumab Therapy

We further investigated whether the gut microbial community structure in patients with AS before adalimumab therapy was related to the treatment response. No significant differences of clinical status as well as α - and β -diversity were found between the responders and non-responders (**Table S1** and **Figures 4A–C**). The abundance of microbiota at different taxonomic levels were then analyzed and no differences were found at the phylum, class, order, or family levels, either. At the genus level, a higher abundance of *Comamonas* was observed in the non-responder group (**Figure 4D**). Unfortunately, after adjusting for FDR, no statistical difference was found.

DISCUSSION

Ankylosing spondylitis is a chronic inflammatory disease that is thought to be associated with the gut microbiota. Previous studies have suggested that TNFi therapy improves the gut microbial community. In the current study, we illustrated the effect of adalimumab on the gut microbiota composition in AS patients during 6 months of treatment. We observed that the



FIGURE 4 | Gut microbial community structure of AS patients before treatment with different responses to Adalimumab. (**A**, **B**) α -diversity; (**C**) PCoA based on unweighted UniFrac distance. (**D**) Relative abundance of *Comamonas* in response and no_response subgroups. AS, ankylosing spondylitis; PCoA, principal coordinates analysis.

overall gut microbial composition of AS patients exhibited obvious differences comparing with healthy controls, as did most bacterial taxa. After 6 months of adalimumab treatment, the gut microbial composition was restored to a state similar with healthy controls. In addition, no difference was observed in the overall gut composition between the responders and nonresponders in AS patients. A higher abundance of *Comamonas* was observed in the non-responders, but this result was not statistically significant after adjustment.

Decreased gut microbiota diversity occurs in many diseases, including IBD and AS. In the current study, we confirmed that gut microbiota diversity was reduced in AS. In addition, we identified bacterial species which were differentiated between AS patients and controls. Depletion of *Bacteroides* and *Megamonas* and enrichment of *Collinsella* in AS patients were noted in our study, which was consistent with findings of previous studies (22, 23). All of these three species restored to indistinguishable from healthy controls after treatment. Carriage of *Dialister* species has been previously reported be associated with disease activity in SpA patients (6). However, we found depletion of *Dialister* in AS patients before treatment and it was restored to similar with healthy controls after treatment. Neither Yin et al. (16) revealed remarkable difference of *Dialister* in AS patients. So, the pathogenic significance of *Dialister* is therefore uncertain.

Restoration of the gut microbiota after treatment has been reported in several other autoimmune diseases, such as IBD and RA (24). One previous study analyzed patients with SpA before and after TNFi therapy and revealed modest differences in microbial composition, but no specific taxon was found to be modulated, which is likely due to the small sample size (8). In another previous study comparing AS patient with and without TNFi treatment, restoration of the overall microbial composition and the abundance of specific taxa were both revealed (16). These indicated TNFi therapy was correlated with a restoration of the perturbed gut microbiota. However, the previous studies did not assess the change in the gut microbiota dynamics of each individual patient. In our study, we compared the baseline state of the gut microbiome of each patient to that 6 months after treatment. Adalimumab therapy was associated with restoration of the microbial composition, and several notable bacterial species modulated by the treatment were identified. We observed that adalimumab therapy restored the normal abundances of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes. A decrease in the Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes ratio has been associated with autoimmune diseases. Moreover, at the genus level, the abundance of four genera were found to shifted greatly during treatment. Specifically, Lachnoclostridium was reduced in AS patients and increased to a level similar with healthy controls after treatment. Lachnoclostridium was also found to be less abundant in children with autism spectrum disorders in a previous study (25). As known, AS patients are prone to mental disorders such as depression (26), the effect of perturbations in the gut microbiome on mental disorders in AS patients is worth investigation.

Although great improvement has been reported in some AS patients treated with TNFi, nearly 30% of patients show no

response. In the current study, we observed a comparable proportion that 8 out of 30 enrolled patients showed no response to TNFi therapy Thus it is important to identify nonresponsive patients, as TNFi therapy is costly. An increasing number of studies have indicated that the gut microbiome was a potential indicator of the response to TNFi treatment, and gut microbiome plays an important role in drug efficacy (27-29). To our knowledge, only one previous study has utilized gut microbiome features to predict the TNFi response in SpA patients in which only 8 non-responders and 5 responders were included (8). A higher abundance of Burkholderiales orders was observed in responders prior to treatment. In our study, we included a larger cohort and longer treatment durations and a higher abundance of the Comamonas genus in non-responders to adalimumab prior to treatment were revealed. Comamonas species are infrequently reported as an infectious agent in routine clinical practice due to rare isolates in microbiology laboratories. In recent years, Comamonas kerstersii and Comamonas testosteroni were identified to cause appendicitis and bacteremia by microbiome sequencing (30, 31). Subclinical gut inflammation is common in AS patients, but its relationship with Comamonas needs further study. The discrepancy between our results and those of the prior study may be due to differences in racial composition, dietary habits, and treatment duration. These two studies together suggest a possible association between gut microbial features and clinical response, without presuming causality. If the results are further confirmed, it could be clinically helpful to use gut microbiome features as a reliable indicator of treatment response before the initiation of TNFi therapy to avoid a delay in symptom relief and ease the economic burden on health services, paving the way for precision therapy for AS.

Our study had several limitations. Firstly, patients treated with other TNFis or other treatments such as NSAIDs were not recruited, so we cannot conclude that the restoration of the microbiota was specifically related to adalimumab treatment. Secondly, as information of dietary patterns was not collected, the influence of diet was not taken into account. However, since we compared the same patients before and after treatment, any effects of diet should have been somewhat reduced. Finally, due to the small size of our cohort, the power of the statistical analysis may be limited. Nevertheless, in our study, nearly 30% of the patients showed no response to adalimumab therapy, which was consistent with previous larger-scale studies, thereby enhancing the external validity of our study. Further prospective, large-scale studies are required to confirm our results.

CONCLUSION

In summary, our study revealed the gut microbiota features in patients with AS and provided insights into the dynamic alterations during adalimumab treatment. Our investigation suggests that the gut microbiota may be a potential tool for predicting the treatment response to adalimumab in AS patients. Additional studies are needed to further investigate the exact bacterial species that play key roles in the response to adalimumab treatment, which will be helpful to achieve precise medical interventions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data presented in the study are deposited in the SRA repository, accession number is PRJNA755445.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of the Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

(I) Conception and design: JG and ZC. (II) Administrative support: JG. (III) Provision of study materials or patients: All authors. (IV) Collection and assembly of data: ZC. (V) Data analysis and interpretation: All authors. (VI) Manuscript writing

REFERENCES

- Taurog JD, Chhabra A, Colbert RA. Ankylosing Spondylitis and Axial Spondyloarthritis. N Engl J Med (2016) 374:2563–74. doi: 10.1056/ nejmra1406182
- Garcia-Montoya L, Gul H, Emery P. Recent Advances in Ankylosing Spondylitis: Understanding the Disease and Management [Version 1; Peer Review: 2 Approved]. *F1000Research* (2018) 7:F1000 Faculty Rev-1512. doi: 10.12688/ F1000RESEARCH.14956.1
- Sartor RB, Wu GD. Roles for Intestinal Bacteria, Viruses, and Fungi in Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases and Therapeutic Approaches. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152:327–39.e4. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.10.012
- Řeháková Z, Čapková J, Štěpánková R, Šinkora J, Loužecká A, Ivanyi P, et al. Germ-Free Mice do Not Develop Ankylosing Enthesopathy, a Spontaneous Joint Disease. *Hum Immunol* (2000) 61:555–8. doi: 10.1016/S0198-8859(00) 00122-1
- Asquith MJ, Stauffer P, Davin S, Mitchell C, Lin P, Rosenbaum JT. Perturbed Mucosal Immunity and Dysbiosis Accompany Clinical Disease in a Rat Model of Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68:2151–62. doi: 10.1002/art.39681
- Tito RY, Cypers H, Joossens M, Varkas G, Van Praet L, Glorieus E, et al. Brief Report: Dialister as a Microbial Marker of Disease Activity in Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69:114–21. doi: 10.1002/art.39802
- Asquith M, Sternes PR, Costello ME, Karstens L, Diamond S, Martin TM, et al. HLA Alleles Associated With Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis and Rheumatoid Arthritis Influence the Gut Microbiome. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2019) 71:1642–50. doi: 10.1002/art.40917
- Bazin T, Hooks KB, Barnetche T, Truchetet ME, Enaud R, Richez C, et al. Microbiota Composition May Predict Anti-TNF Alpha Response in Spondyloarthritis Patients: An Exploratory Study. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8:5446. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23571-4
- Liu B, Yang L, Cui Z, Zheng J, Huang J, Zhao Q, et al. Anti-TNF-α Therapy Alters the Gut Microbiota in Proteoglycan-Induced Ankylosing Spondylitis in Mice. *Microbiologyopen* (2019) 8:e927. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.927

and revision: All authors. (VII) Final approval of the manuscript: All authors. (VIII) Funding acquisition: JG. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the General Program of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81871294) and the Science and Technology Planning Project of Guangdong Province (2019B030316004).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All authors of this paper fulfilled the criteria of authorship. The authors thank the participants for this study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 700570/full#supplementary-material

- 10. Ward MM, Deodhar A, Gensler LS, Dubreuil M, Yu D, Khan MA, et al. Update of the American College of Rheumatology/Spondylitis Association of America/Spondyloarthritis Research and Treatment Network Recommendations for the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis and Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2019) 71:1599-613. doi: 10.1002/art.41042
- Magnusson MK, Strid H, Sapnara M, Lasson A, Bajor A, Ung KA, et al. Anti-TNF Therapy Response in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis Is Associated With Colonic Antimicrobial Peptide Expression and Microbiota Composition. *J Crohn's Colitis* (2016) 10:943–52. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw051
- Zhou Y, Xu ZZ, He Y, Yang Y, Liu L, Lin Q, et al. Gut Microbiota Offers Universal Biomarkers Across Ethnicity in Inflammatory Bowel Disease Diagnosis and Infliximab Response Prediction. *mSystems* (2018) 3:e00188– 17. doi: 10.1128/msystems.00188-17
- van der Linden S, Valkenburg HA, Cats A. Evaluation of Diagnostic Criteria for Ankylosing Spondylitis. A Proposal for Modification of the New York Criteria. Arthritis Rheum (1984) 27:361–8. doi: 10.1002/art.1780270401
- Machado PM, Landewé R, Heijde DVD. Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS): 2018 Update of the Nomenclature for Disease Activity States. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77:1539–40. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2018-213184
- MacHado P, Landewé R, Lie E, Kvien TK, Braun J, Baker D, et al. Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS): Defining Cut-Off Values for Disease Activity States and Improvement Scores. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) 70:47–53. doi: 10.1136/ard.2010.138594
- 16. Yin J, Sternes PR, Wang M, Song J, Morrison M, Li T, et al. Shotgun Metagenomics Reveals an Enrichment of Potentially Cross-Reactive Bacterial Epitopes in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients, as Well as the Effects of TNFi Therapy Upon Microbiome Composition. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79:132–40. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-215763
- Walters W, Hyde ER, Berg-Lyons D, Ackermann G, Humphrey G, Parada A, et al. Improved Bacterial 16s rRNA Gene (V4 and V4-5) and Fungal Internal Transcribed Spacer Marker Gene Primers for Microbial Community Surveys. *mSystems* (2016) 1:e00009-15. doi: 10.1128/msystems.00009-15

- Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Walters WA, González A, Caporaso JG, Knight R. Using QIIME to Analyze 16s rRNA Gene Sequences From Microbial Communities. *Curr Protoc Microbiol* (2012) 01:Unit–1E.5. doi: 10.1002/ 9780471729259.mc01e05s27
- Dhariwal A, Chong J, Habib S, King IL, Agellon LB, Xia J. MicrobiomeAnalyst: A Web-Based Tool for Comprehensive Statistical, Visual and Meta-Analysis of Microbiome Data. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2017) 45:W180-8. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx295
- Whittaker RJ, Willis KJ, Field R. Scale and Species Richness: Towards a General, Hierarchical Theory of Species Diversity. J Biogeogr (2001) 28:453– 70. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2699.2001.00563.x
- Lozupone C, Lladser ME, Knights D, Stombaugh J, Knight R. UniFrac: An Effective Distance Metric for Microbial Community Comparison. *ISME J* (2011) 5:169–72. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2010.133
- Wen C, Zheng Z, Shao T, Liu L, Xie Z, Le Chatelier E, et al. Quantitative Metagenomics Reveals Unique Gut Microbiome Biomarkers in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Genome Biol* (2017) 18:142. doi: 10.1186/s13059-017-1271-6
- Breban M, Tap J, Leboime A, Said-Nahal R, Langella P, Chiocchia G, et al. Faecal Microbiota Study Reveals Specific Dysbiosis in Spondyloarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76:1614–22. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-211064
- Zhang X, Zhang D, Jia H, Feng Q, Wang D, Liang D, et al. The Oral and Gut Microbiomes Are Perturbed in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Partly Normalized After Treatment. *Nat Med* (2015) 21:895–905. doi: 10.1038/nm.3914
- Ma B, Liang J, Dai M, Wang J, Luo J, Zhang Z, et al. Altered Gut Microbiota in Chinese Children With Autism Spectrum Disorders. Front Cell Infect Microbiol (2019) 9:40. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00040
- Parkinson JT, Foley ÉM, Jadon DR, Khandaker GM. Depression in Patients With Spondyloarthritis: Prevalence, Incidence, Risk Factors, Mechanisms and Management. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis* (2020) 12:1–17. doi: 10.1177/ 1759720X20970028
- 27. Artacho A, Isaac S, Nayak R, Flor-Duro A, Alexander M, Koo I, et al. The Pre-Treatment Gut Microbiome Is Associated With Lack of Response to

Methotrexate in New Onset Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol (2021) 73:931-42. doi: 10.1002/art.41622

- Guthrie L, Kelly L. Bringing Microbiome-Drug Interaction Research Into the Clinic. *EBioMedicine* (2019) 44:708–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.05.009
- 29. Weersma RK, Zhernakova A, Fu J. Interaction Between Drugs and the Gut Microbiome. *Gut* (2020) 69:1510–9. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-320204
- Zhou YH, Ma HX, Dong ZY, Shen MH. Comamonas Kerstersii Bacteremia in a Patient With Acute Perforated Appendicitis. *Med (United States)* (2018) 97: e9296. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000009296
- Tiwari S, Nanda M. Bacteremia Caused by Comamonas Testosteroni an Unusual Pathogen. J Lab Physicians (2019) 11:087–90. doi: 10.4103/ jlp.jlp_116_18

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer WS declared a shared affiliation with the authors to the handling editor at the time of review.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Chen, Zheng, Wu, Wu, Li, Wei, Zhang, Fang, Jin and Gu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Genetic Associations Between IL-6 and the Development of Autoimmune Arthritis Are Gender-Specific

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Zhiming Lin, Third Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, China Katerina Theodoropoulou, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois (CHUV), Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Shigui Yan zrjwsj@zju.edu.cn Wei Wang sunny01@zju.edu.cn [†]These authors have contributed

equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 May 2021 Accepted: 11 August 2021 Published: 03 September 2021

Citation:

Hong J, Qu Z, Ji X, Li C, Zhang G, Jin C, Wang J, Zhang Y, Shen Y, Meng J, Zhou C, Fang C, Wang W and Yan S (2021) Genetic Associations Between IL-6 and the Development of Autoimmune Arthritis Are Gender-Specific. Front. Immunol. 12:707617. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.707617 Jianqiao Hong^{1,2,3†}, Zihao Qu^{1,2,3†}, Xiaoxiao Ji^{1,2,3†}, Congsun Li^{1,2,3}, Geng Zhang^{1,2,3}, Ciliang Jin⁴, Jie Wang^{1,2,3}, Yongxing Zhang^{1,2,3}, Yue Shen^{1,2,3}, Jiahong Meng^{1,2,3}, Chenhe Zhou^{1,2,3}, Chaohua Fang⁵, Wei Wang^{1,2,3*} and Shigui Yan^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Orthopedic Surgery, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ² Orthopedic Research Institute of Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ³ Key Laboratory of Motor System Disease Research and Precision Therapy of Zhejiang Province, The Second Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ⁴ State Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, National Clinical Research Center for Infectious Diseases, Collaborative Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, Department of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, College of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ⁵ Joint Surgery, Ningbo 6th Hospital, Ningbo, China

Objectives: To find out the genetic association between IL6 and autoimmune arthritis.

Methods: We performed a two-sample Mendelian randomization (MR) study using multiple genome-wide association studies (GWAS) datasets. Furthermore, a sex-stratified MR study was performed to identify sexual dimorphism in the association between IL6 and autoimmune arthritis. Then, LocusZoom plots were displayed based on the IL6R gene region to present evidence of genetic colocalization between diseases.

Results: The MR result denoted a genetic association between the increased level of IL-6 signaling and risk of RA (β =0.325, 95%CI 0.088, 0.561, p=7.08E-03) and AS (β =1.240, 95% CI 0.495, 1.980, p=1.1E-03). Accordingly, sIL6R was found to have negatively correlation with the onset of RA (β =-0.020, 95%CI -0.0320, -0.008, p=1.18E-03) and AS (β =-0.125, 95%CI -0.177, -0.073, p=2.29E-06). However, no genetic association between IL6/sIL6R and PsA was detected. The gender-stratified MR analysis showed that IL6 was associated with AS in the male population, with RA in the female population, and with PsA in the male population. Additionally, ADAR, a gene identified by a sensitive test, could be the reason for the nonsignificant association between IL6 and PsA in a pooled population.

Conclusion: Our findings showed that the overactive IL6 signal pathway led to autoimmune arthritis, especially in RA and AS. Sexual difference was also observed in IL6-intermediate susceptibility to autoimmune arthritis.

Keywords: Mendelian randomization, IL6, sIL6R, autoimmune arthritis, ADAR

HIGHLIGHTS

- 1. Genetic association was identified between IL6-signaling and autoimmune arthritis.
- 2. IL6 was correlated with male AS, male PsA, and female RA development in a sex-dependent manner.

INTRODUCTION

Interleukin-6 (IL-6), as a proinflammatory cytokine, plays major roles in the inflammation process and the development of the immune system (1, 2). However, abnormal immune response could lead to autoimmune arthritis including rheumatoid arthritis (RA), ankylosing spondylitis (AS), and psoriatic arthritis (PsA), which places a great burden on patients by causing joint destruction and even ending up with disability (3, 4). As previously reported, elevating levels of IL-6 have been detected in pathological sites among RA, AS, and PsA patients, and the serum level of IL-6 is associated with the autoimmune arthritis pathogenesis (5-7). Hence, IL-6 blockade seems to be a therapeutic target for alleviating the process of autoimmune arthritis. Anti-IL-6 signaling drugs such as tocilizumab and siltuximab have been approved for RA and systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis therapy by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (4). However, treating AS or PsA with anti-IL-6 therapy could only relatively alleviate the progression of diseases in some reports (8, 9).

It is known that genetic susceptibility accounts for 30% in terms of the risk of autoimmune disease (10). By using information from genome-wide association studies (GWAS), Mendelian randomization (MR), a newly introduced approach, has the potential to evaluate the causal relationship between exposures and phenotype (11, 12). Briefly, MR uses genetic variants as the instrumental variable to interpret a different outcome without bias caused by reverse causation or confounding factors (13, 14). Previous MR studies have shown that the genetic level of serum sIL6R is negatively associated with the risk of developing RA (15). Li and his colleges found that the IL-6 gene -174G/C variant is associated with the risk of RA using MR meta-analysis (16). In order to evaluate the casual association between IL-6 and other autoimmune arthritis, large-scale MR study should be carried out to verify the exact correlation and find out potential therapeutic strategy.

In this study, up-to-date GWAS level summary data for IL-6 signaling and circulating sIL6R were utilized in the MR analysis. The results presented a genetic association between IL6 and different types of autoimmune arthritis. Additionally, we further discovered the underlying sexual dimorphism in these autoimmune diseases based on the MR results.

METHOD

Genetic Instrumental Variables

Two sets of IL6-related genetic instruments were based on recent MR reports. Genetic variants that represented for IL6 signaling

were obtained from a large-scale GWAS meta-analysis assessing chronic inflammation, which included 204,402 European individuals (17). Based on prior MR reports from Kappelmann et al. and Georgakis et al. (18, 19), who investigated the association between IL6 signaling on specific depressive symptom outcomes and cardiovascular outcomes, respectively, IL6 signaling-related SNPs were used in our study (**Table S1**). According to Kappelmann et al.'s definition, "IL6 signaling" referred to IL-6R genetic instruments and weighted by the level of CRP.

Plasma sIL6R is a decoy receptor that is able to suppress IL6 signaling by forming an inhibitory complex with sgp130 (20). To further identify the role of IL6 signaling in autoimmune arthritis, genetic IV SNPs associated with the level of sIL6R were generated from a European ancestry GWAS (n=3,301) (21). A total of 34 SNPs utilized in this study were based on Rosa et al.'s study (**Table S1**) (15). Linkage disequilibrium levels of SNPs chosen above from two datasets were tested using the LDmatrix Tool (https://ldlink.nci.nih.gov/?tab=ldmatrix, CEU; r2 < 0.1). When IV SNPs could not be found in autoimmune arthritis summary statistics, the LDproxy Tool was used to identify potential proxy SNPs (CEU; r2>0.8).

Summary Statistics for Autoimmune Arthritis

Publicly available meta-analysis datasets for autoimmune arthritis (RA, AS, PsA) were derived from some different studies. GWAS summary statistics of 14,361 RA cases and 43,923 controls of European ancestry were obtained from a large-scale GWAS (22). The summary of the GWAS statistic for AS and PsA was obtained from FinnGen, a large-scale project combining genotype data from Finnish biobanks and digital health record data from Finnish health registries. We selected datasets containing 541 AS cases, 74,589 controls and 562 PsA cases, and 93,959 controls of Finnish ancestry. Another set of autoimmune arthritis meta-analysis summary statistic was acquired from UK Biobank (UKBB) for replication study, encompassing 361,141 of European ancestry with 4,017 RA cases, 3,154 AS cases, and 712 PsA cases.

Moreover, summary GWAS results of these three types of autoimmune arthritis in different genders were extracted from UKBB (with 194,174 female and 167,020 male) for further sexstratified MR analysis to avoid potential sexual bias, due to the fact that gender differences had been widely reported in autoimmune diseases.

Statistical Analysis

To evaluate casual effect, an MR study was carried out with four modes: MR-Egger mode, weighted median mode, and inverse variance-weighted (IVW) mode with the "TwoSampleMR" Rpackage (23). With the minimum weighted average variance, the IVW method was mainly selected for analysis (24). Because the MR analysis is based on the hypothesis that genetic exposure influences the outcome directly, it is not suitable to perform the analysis in the presence of pleiotropy. Thus, we conducted several approaches to detect potential pleiotropy (25), Firstly, MR-Egger regression was performed to capture the horizontal pleiotropy (26). Additionally, we applied MR pleiotropy residual sum and outlier test (MR-PRESSO) to detect potential horizontal pleiotropy using the MR-PRESSO global test. For any detected pleiotropic SNP, the MR-PRESSO outlier test was performed to remove these SNPs and rectify the horizontal pleiotropy (27).

Heterogeneity test was performed using Cochran's Q statistics analysis to identify whether the MR results were biased by the heterogenic factors. Leave-one-out sensitivity analysis was performed to identify whether the estimate was driven by an SNP. These two methods were also applied through the "TwoSampleMR" R-package. The estimated effect represented the log odds ratio (OR) between IL6R and autoimmune arthritis risk. All the analyses with P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Potential genetic association between the levels of IL6-signaling, sIL6R, and autoimmune arthritis were detected by using twosample MR analysis (**Figure 1**). Summarized results of associations are shown in **Table 1**, and a forest plot is shown in **Figure 2**.

Finding for Upregulated IL6-Signaling and Levels of sIL6R in Autoimmune Arthritis

Casual effects of upregulated IL6-signaling have been found to be positively associated with RA (IVW mode effect=0.325, 95%CI 0.088 to 0.561, p=7.08E-03) and AS (IVW mode effect=1.240, 95%CI 0.495 to 1.980, p=1.1E-03). As the results of MR present, the elevated concentration of sIL6R, which inhibits IL6signaling, was negatively associated with the risk of RA (IVW mode effect=-0.020, 95%CI -0.0320 to -0.008, p=1.18E-03) and AS (IVW mode effect=-0.125, 95%CI -0.177 to -0.073, p=2.29E-06). Replicated MR analysis confirmed the connection between IL6 and risk of RA (IVW mode effect=0.003, 95%CI 0.007 to 0.011, p=1.98E-04) or AS (IVW mode effect=0.0039, 95%CI 0.0019 to 0.0059, p=1.51E-04). The negative association between sIL6R and AS was validated through replicated MR analysis (IVW mode effect=-0.00033, 95%CI -0.00048 to -0.00018, p=-0.00018). However, no genetic association was found between RA and sIL6R in the replicated MR analysis. Similar with the MR analysis results in PsA, no genetic effects were found between the risk of PsA and IL6-signaling (**Table 1**).

Pleiotropy test using MR-Egger did not denote any pleiotropic SNP in the MR study. However, the horizontal pleiotropy was detected among the MR results by using MRPRESSO (**Table 1**). After removing the pleiotropic SNPs by the MRPRESSO outlier test, the corrected MR estimates are listed in **Table S2**.

Furthermore, we carried out Cochran's Q statistics test to evaluate the MR results. There was no sign of heterogenetic effects between the genetic effects and risk of AS (**Table 1**). However, heterogeneity was found among the MR estimate concerning the association between IL6 and two other autoimmune arthritis diseases (**Table 1**). Thus, leave-one-out sensitivity analysis was performed to identify the important SNP and the possible source of heterogeneity (**Figure S1**). Rs2228145, a well-reported IL6 receptor genetic variant, was confirmed to strongly influence the effects of IL6-signaling on RA or AS (28) (**Figure S1**). In addition, rs4129267, an IL6R-related SNP in LD with rs2228145(r2 = 1) identified by Ferreira and her colleges (29), was found to make a great contribution to getting RA. On the other hand, rs12059682 had a biased role of IL6 in the onset of PsA (**Figure S1**).

Gender-Stratified MR Analysis for IL6-Signaling and Levels of sIL6R in Autoimmune Arthritis

Sexual dimorphic effects on autoimmune arthritis were widely demonstrated previously. In order to further identify the potential heterogeneity in order to further identify among MR analyses. We performed sex-stratified MR analysis to judge whether a sex-specific genetic relationship existed between the



Exposure	MR method	Outcome		Association		Heter	ogeneity	Egger regression	MR PRESSO
			beta	se	pval	Q	P-value	P-value	P-value
IL6-signaling	ME	RA	0.053156	0.46213	0.914	19.34	0.0017	0.5733	0.015
0 0	WM	(Euro)	0.327559	0.07645	2E-05				
	IVW		0.324962	0.12067	0.0071				
	ME	RA	-0.00496	0.0071	0.5234	3.54	0.6174	0.1430	0.09
	WM	(UKBB)	0.005779	0.00241	0.0163				
	IVW		0.007435	0.002	0.0002				
	ME	AS	1.470001	1.53846	0.3934	5.33	0.3766	0.8838	0.021
	WM	(Finngen)	1.434537	0.46354	0.002				
	IVW		1.239619	0.37985	0.0011				
	ME	AS	0.003159	0.00363	0.433	1.30	0.9352	0.8485	0.237
	WM	(UKBB)	0.003863	0.00122	0.0015				
	IVW	· · · ·	0.003868	0.00102	0.0002				
	ME	PsA	1.20307	2.09803	0.5971	11.21	0.0474	0.7250	0.069
	WM	(Finngen)	0.579845	0.43903	0.1866				
	IVW	(),	0.441713	0.52576	0.4008				
	ME	PsA	0.002501	0.00548	0.6717	14.02	0.0155	0.6613	0.006
	WM	(UKBB)	0.000954	0.00108	0.3762				
	IVW	· · · ·	1.77E-05	0.00142	0.99				
sIL6R	ME	RA	-0.02508	0.01238	0.0524	50.80	0.0074	0.6351	0.003
	WM	(Euro)*	-0.02599	0.0064	5E-05				
	IVW	(/	-0.01995	0.00615	0.0012				
	ME	RA	-0.00021	0.00036	0.5684	48.29	0.0418	0.8518	0.026
	WM	(UKBB)	-0.00034	0.00021	0.1018				
	IVW	()	-0.00026	0.00017	0.1283				
	ME	AS	-0.15921	0.05436	0.0062	20.85	0.9503	0.4793	0.035
	WM	(Finngen)	-0.12799	0.0384	0.0009				
	IVW	(),	-0.12524	0.0265	2E-06				
	ME	AS	-0.00029	0.00016	0.0697	35.73	0.3414	0.8073	0.085
	WM	(UKBB)	-0.00027	0.0001	0.0111				
	IVW	()	-0.00033	7.6E-05	2E-05				
	ME	PsA	-0.07011	0.05904	0.2437	41.86	0.1386	0.5380	0.086
	WM	(Finngen)	-0.04221	0.03518	0.2302				
	IVW	()- /	-0.03802	0.02852	0.1825				
	ME	PsA	0.000118	0.00017	0.4816	62.73	0.0014	0.1337	<0.001
	WM	(UKBB)	-0.00011	8.9E-05	0.2077				
	IVW	()	-0.0001	8.4E-05	0.2143				

6 IV SNPs were used in IL6-signaling; 34 IV SNPs were used in sIL6R MR analysis. *30 IV SNPs were identified in the Euro RA database. Significant results are in bold. MR, Mendelian randomization; ME, MR-Egger; WM, weighted median; IVW: inverse variance weighted.

IL6 and the risk of autoimmune arthritis (**Figure 3**). The UKBB GWAS datasets were used, which include publicly available sexspecific summary data. We found casual association between IL6 and RA in women rather than in men. Conversely, the male population seemed easier to suffer from AS when exposed to elevating IL6-signaling levels (**Table 2**). Consistent with the casual estimate in AS, men could be at higher risk of getting PsA than women. However, it is intriguing that upregulation of IL6-signaling even negatively associated with the risk of PsA (**Table 2**). Next, as shown by MRPRESSO, the pleiotropy in the MR estimate was found only in PsA. After removing pleiotropic SNP from MR analysis, there was no casual association between IL6 and PSA in the female population (corrected estimate listed in **Table S2**).

Next, we apply the leave-one-out sensitive test to evaluate whether some potential SNP creates bias on the gender effects on the MR estimate. No SNP was discovered to create bias in the genetic effect between IL-6 exposure and RA or AS (**Table 2**). Accordingly, Rs2228145 was also verified as the key SNP in the

development of PsA in men (**Figure S2**). Because rs12059682 was identified as the potential bias SNP among overall PsA populations, we found that it posed gender difference in the effect contribution to the onset of PsA (**Figure S2**). When leaving it out, upregulating IL6-signaling was also found to be not associated with the risk of PsA.

To deeply identify the role of rs12059682 in the PsA among different genders, firstly, the genetic variant was mapped as the variation of ADAR (adenosine deaminase acting on RNA). Single-tissue eQTL evaluation was carried out using GTEX. Rs12059682 T>C variation would lead to a higher transcriptional level of ADAR in the adrenal gland, EBV-transformed lymphocytes, lung esophagus mucosa, and fibroblast (**Figure S3** and **Table S3**). Based on Shallev et al.'s work (30), decreased A-to-I RNA editing could lead to the accumulation of (double-stranded RNA) dsRNA, which played an important role in psoriasis pathogenesis. Variation of rs12059682 was found riskier in women. Therefore, we brought out the hypothesis that a lower level of ADAR promoted the development of PsA in females.





Thus, we browsed the GEO database for sex-stratified PsA gene expression profile. As shown by **Figure 4A**, the transcriptional level of ADAR was lower in female PsA patients than healthy donors (GSE61281, p=0.0371) (31), while there was no statistically significant difference between male PsA patients and the control group (p=0.3333). In addition, the ADAR level was found to be correlated with RA (32). The rs12059682 T>C mutation could result in a higher level of ADAR and increased the risk of developing RA based on the GWAS datasets. Moreover, the level of ADAR was found to be higher in female RA patients compared to age-matched male patients (**Figure 4B**, GSE74143) (32).

Regional Visualization of Autoimmune Arthritis GWAS Datasets for Further Analysis

As shown in **Figure 5**, LocusZoom plots were displayed based on the IL6R gene region (1q21.3) to present evidence of genetic colocalization between diseases. However, no genome-wide level association signals were found in this region. At first, we browsed the IL6R gene region to identify the top SNPs with a p-value lower than 0.01 (MAF >0.01). If the candidate SNP could not be annotated to the RS number and substituted by proxy SNP, then the SNP in this region with the next lowest p-value was chosen for analysis.

Exposure	MR method	Outcome		Association		Hetero	ogeneity	Egger regression	MR PRESSO
			beta	se	pval	Q	P-value	P-value	P-value
IL6	ME	RA	-0.00517	0.010933	0.661162	3.002	0.6996	0.206	0.124
-signaling	WM	(Female)	0.008674	0.003873	0.02512				
	IVW		0.010639	0.003077	0.00054				
	ME	RA	-0.00465	0.008614	0.617867	2.240	0.8150	0.371	0.669
	WM	(Male)	0.00236	0.002809	0.400914				
	IVW		0.003676	0.002425	0.129564				
	ME	AS	-0.00083	0.004016	0.846193	1.855	0.8689	0.682	0.854
	WM	(Female)	0.000379	0.001309	0.771996				
	IVW		0.000869	0.00113	0.441816				
	ME	AS	0.007835	0.006303	0.28172	0.661	0.9850	0.942	0.105
	WM	(Male)	0.007138	0.002134	0.00082				
	IVW		0.007363	0.001774	3.3E-05				
	ME	PsA	0.002284	0.005417	0.694948	9.320	0.0970	0.360	0.046
	WM	(Female)	-0.00168	0.001378	0.222713				
	IVW		-0.00308	0.001534	0.04443				
	ME	PsA	0.002806	0.005655	0.64576	6.215	0.2859	0.888	0.033
	WM	(Male)	0.003881	0.001518	0.01056				
	IVW		0.003621	0.001428	0.01122				
sIL6R	ME	RA	-0.00034	0.000501	0.505225	40.382	0.1764	0.740	0.141
	WM	(Female)	-0.00059	0.000318	0.06377				
	IVW		-0.00048	0.000244	0.04763				
	ME	RA	-5E-05	0.000352	0.887085	30.849	0.5746	0.882	0.561
	WM	(Male)	-1E-04	0.000245	0.684076				
	IVW		-4.5E-06	0.000174	0.9794				
	ME	AS	-4E-05	0.000164	0.807609	29.348	0.6496	0.807	0.627
	WM	(Female)	-8.9E-06	0.00012	0.940617				
	IVW		-7.6E-05	8.11E-05	0.351547				
	ME	AS	-0.00059	0.000258	0.02848	26.696	0.7728	0.896	0.311
	WM	(Male)	-0.00055	0.000186	0.00307				
	IVW		-0.00062	0.000127	1.1E-06				
	ME	PsA	0.000286	0.000175	0.111997	38.330	0.2404	0.261	0.319
	WM	(Female)	0.00013	0.000112	0.247094				
	IVW		0.000112	8.7E-05	0.197332				
	ME	PsA	-7.9E-05	0.000218	0.720009	46.942	0.0547	0.154	0.001
	WM	(Male)	-0.00032	0.000134	0.01541				
	IVW		-0.00036	0.00011	0.00117				

TABLE 2 Gender-stratified MR estimates of the causal	effect of IL6-signaling and sIL6R level on the risk of autoimmune arthritis.
--	--

Significant results are in bold. MR, Mendelian randomization; ME, MR-Egger; WM, weighted median; IVW, inverse variance weighted



FIGURE 4 | Expression of ADAR in RA or PsA from GEO datasets GSE61281 (**A**) and GSE74143 (**B**). con, control; psa, psoriatic arthritis; ps, psoriasis; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; F, female; M, male. Data from all bar graphs are presented as mean \pm SEM. (*P < 0.05, ****P < 0.0001, n.s., not significant).

By using the Finngen GWAS dataset for AS, rs4845372 (1:154442920_C/A, P=2.48 × 10^-3) was identified as the potential SNP accounting for IL6's effects in the onset of AS. After LD evaluation, this genetic variance was found to be in high linkage with rs2228145 (r2 = 0.882). Next, a sex-stratified plot using UKBB GWAS data presented rs6695045 (1:154432957_A/G, P=1.47 × 10^-3) as the top influencer in the IL6R region with the male population, which was also an SNP that was relatively in linkage with rs2228145 (r2 = 0.438). On the other hand, in the female population, none of the candidate SNPs (p<0.01) was detected in the IL6R gene region. When looking for other than the IL6R gene region, there were no other signals having eQTL data or a literature-based relationship with IL6R.

In addition, our regional plot further emphasized rs2228145 (1:154426970_A/C, P=4.50 \times 10^-6) as the lead SNP, putting great genetic predisposition to RA (**Figure 5**). As for further sexspecific analysis, no SNP in the IL6R region met our criteria when analyzing male GWAS data. Rather, a weak signal (1:154410686_C/CT p=0.012) was identified in women with



RA. The C to T variance of proxy SNP rs55800510 (R2 = 0.9666) was associated with the risk of RA (**Table S3**).

As for the regional plotting result in male PsA patients, we found that rs12730036 (1:154416969_C/T p=9.37 × 10^-3) was in high linkage with rs2228145 (r2 = 0.941). This result denoted consistency with the MR analysis, which resulted in a higher risk of PsA in male by upregulating IL6 signaling. Interestingly, the lowest-p value-polymorphism rs12083537 G>A, which was able to activate the IL6-related pathway, presented to be a protective genetic variance for women against PsA (**Table S3**).

DISCUSSION

In the present MR study, by applying two sets of genetic IVs, our findings showed corroborating evidence that the overactive IL6 signal pathway led to autoimmune arthritis, especially in RA and AS. Genetic predisposition to a higher IL6 level was also genetically associated with the risk of PsA in the male population. Consistent with a previous study, elevating level of IL6 was found in patients with autoimmune arthritis, which played a great role in the

pathogenesis of joint lesions (6, 7, 33). As Rosa and her colleague presented, by using sIL6R genetical IV and PheWAS analysis, the genetically determined sIL6R was negatively associated with the risk of RA (15). We extended the result and complemented the evidence from a regional plot and MR analysis. rs2228145, a genetic variant that accounted for 51% variance of sIL6R levels (34), was identified as the common susceptibility locus for autoimmune arthritis. Additionally, the strategy of targeting the IL6 axis by using novel biological medicine to treat RA had been well validated (35). However, anti-IL6 therapy against AS or PsA was still not introduced clinically.

We observed that sexual differences influenced IL6-intermediate susceptibility to autoimmune arthritis. Sex differences were reported in the level of IL-6 among monocytes (36). Consistently, gender differences in the prevalence of RA were well described based on some large epidemiological studies (37). In the previous study, hormonal factors and sex chromosomes were thought to cause the sex difference in autoimmune disease (38, 39). Here, we present the evidence that IL6 acted differently during the onset of RA, which could be another possible explanation for gender difference in RA (40). Likewise, AS is another typical autoimmune arthritis where the sex ratio is 3:1 (M/F) (41). Our MR analysis confirmed the casual association between IL6 and the development of AS in a genderdependent manner. However, Gracey and his colleagues found that there was no sex dimorphism in the level of IL-6 among AS patients (42). Additionally, another observational study identified a higher level of IL6 in female patients with syndesmophytes than those without them. No significant change of the IL6 level was found in the pooled populations or male patients with syndesmophytes (43). Here, by using the summary dependent t-test, we found that the IL6 level was higher in male than in female patients without syndesmophytes (3.46 \pm 2.86 *vs* 1.47 \pm 1.1) (p=0.024). We presumed that the result of the IL6 level was confounded by the progression of diseases. However, the underlying mechanism is still unclear and further study is needed.

As for the onset of PSA, unlike the equal gender ratio observed in epidemiology, we found that a genetically elevating level of IL6 could increase the risk of PsA for men and decrease the risk for women. A cross-sectional analysis reported by Eder et al., who specifically compared the sexual difference in PsA, presented the phenotype that male PsA patients developed more severe axial and joint damage than female (44). Contrarily, some researchers reported that female patients were suffering from RA with more severe joint damages (45, 46). Here we identified a genetic variant rs12059682, located in the ADAR1 gene region, causing heterogeneity in MR analysis. A recent study introduced the role of the IL6R-STAT3-ADAR1 axis in the oncogenicity of multiple myeloma (47). It should be noted that enrichment of ADAR SNP loci was identified in GWAS signals for autoimmune diseases (48). Corresponding to the evidence from the rna-seq dataset, rs12059682 C>T mutation could lead to a lower level of ADAR in the lymphocyte and fibroblast. The decreased level of DNA editing, regulated by the ADAR (49), was correlated with a higher risk of PsA due to the accumulation of dsRNA (30). Furthermore, the impaired post-translational modification of dsRNA and unwinding of dsRNA structures led to adaptive immune activation through producing IFN β (50). On the other hand, Vlachogiannis et al. observed elevated adenosine-toinosine RNA editing in the progress of RA (32). Consistently, a higher transcriptional level of ADAR was observed in female RA patients. As Vlachogiannis et al. suggested, more singlestranded RNA (ssRNA) was produced by adenosine-to-inosine RNA editing, which resulted in the binding of ssRNA-binding proteins and increase in the expression of these proinflammatory genes (such as HuR). Therefore, the opposite effect of ADAR could be the reason for a different role of IL6 in these two autoimmune arthritis diseases. Elsewise, this SNP could partially account for the sexual difference in RA or PsA susceptibility. However, further sex-stratified GWAS research and pathological studies should be carried out to validate these hypotheses and undermine the potential mechanism.

This MR study was performed by using two sets of IL6-related IV and multiple GWAS datasets, which aimed to ensure the consistency of the results. However, there were still some limitations. Firstly, the sex-stratified MR analysis was mainly based on the UKBB GWAS data. Some genetic variants were different from Finland and UK populations, which was caused by "population bottlenecks" (51). Gender-stratified GWAS datasets from Finland should be collected to replicate the findings, although the allele frequency of major SNP was similar between the two ethnic groups. Moreover, our study identified rs12059682 as the potential source of bias. Other GWAS focused on the level of ADRA editing that should be performed to identify the casual association between ADRA and autoimmune arthritis. Finally, however, the genetic pleiotropy was rectified by the MRPRESSO in the pooled or sex-stratified MR under a sensitive test. Other potential pathway for the associations cannot be fully ruled out.

To summarize, we identified the genetic association between IL6-signaling and onset of autoimmune arthritis. These results further validated IL6 inhibition as the therapeutic strategies for RA. Rather, the genetic role of IL6 in a sex-dependent manner was discovered in the development of male AS, male PsA, and female RA. Those who have started randomized controlled trials of IL6 inhibition on autoimmune arthritis should take gender differences into account. In the end, the hypothesis that ADAR reduces the effectiveness of the IL6 inhibitor in PsA populations, supported by the statistical findings, should be further investigated through pathophysiological studies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SY, JH, and WW designed this study. Study conduct: JH and WW. Data collection: ZQ, CL, XJ, and JW. Data analysis: CF, YZ, XJ, and GZ. Drafting the manuscript: JH, ZQ, and XJ. Revising the manuscript content: JM, CJ, YS, and CZ. Approving the final version of the manuscript: all authors. SY takes responsibility for the integrity of the data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China under Grant Nos. 81772360 and 81800782, Zhejiang Province Medical and Health Project No. 2020391395, and Yinzhou District Agriculture and Social Development Science and Technology Project No. 2017YZQ104.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We want to acknowledge the participants and investigators of FinnGen study and Neale Lab (http://www.nealelab.is/uk-

biobank). The authors thank all investigators for sharing these data.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 707617/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Choy E, Rose-John S. Interleukin-6 as a Multifunctional Regulator: Inflammation, Immune Response, and Fibrosis. J Scleroderma Rel Disord (2017) 2(2_suppl):S1–5. doi: 10.5301/jsrd.5000265
- Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in Inflammation, Immunity, and Disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2014) 6(10):a016295. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a016295
- Hirano T. Interleukin 6 in Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases: A Personal Memoir. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci (2010) 86(7):717–30. doi: 10.2183/pjab.86.717
- Lai JH, Luo SF, Ho LJ. Targeting the CD40-CD154 Signaling Pathway for Treatment of Autoimmune Arthritis. *Cells* (2019) 8(8):927. doi: 10.3390/ cells8080927
- McInnes IB, Schett G. Cytokines in the Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7(6):429–42. doi: 10.1038/nri2094
- Liu W, Wu YH, Zhang L, Liu XY, Xue B, Wang Y, et al. Elevated Serum Levels of IL-6 and IL-17 may Associate With the Development of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int J Clin Exp Med* (2015) 8(10):17362–76.
- Ogata A, Kumanogoh A, Tanaka T. Pathological Role of Interleukin-6 in Psoriatic Arthritis. Arthritis (2012) 2012:713618. doi: 10.1155/2012/713618
- Mease PJ, Gottlieb AB, Berman A, Drescher E, Xing J, Wong R, et al. The Efficacy and Safety of Clazakizumab, an Anti-Interleukin-6 Monoclonal Antibody, in a Phase IIb Study of Adults With Active Psoriatic Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68(9):2163–73. doi: 10.1002/art.39700
- Merashli M, De Marco G, Podgorski M, McGonagle D, Marzo-Ortega H. Evidence of Response to IL-6 Inhibition in Some Cases of Refractory Spondyloarthritis-Associated Peripheral Synovitis. Ann Rheum Dis (2016) 75(7):1418–20. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209275
- Azizov V, Dietel K, Steffen F, Dürholz K, Meidenbauer J, Lucas S, et al. Ethanol Consumption Inhibits TFH Cell Responses and the Development of Autoimmune Arthritis. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):1998. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15855-z
- Porcu E, Rueger S, Lepik K, eQTLGen Consortium, BIOS Consortium, Santoni F, et al. Mendelian Randomization Integrating GWAS and eQTL Data Reveals Genetic Determinants of Complex and Clinical Traits. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):3300. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10936-0
- Marson A, Housley WJ, Hafler DA. Genetic Basis of Autoimmunity. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(6):2234–41. doi: 10.1172/JCI78086
- Burgess S, Butterworth A, Thompson SG. Mendelian Randomization Analysis With Multiple Genetic Variants Using Summarized Data. *Genet Epidemiol* (2013) 37(7):658–65. doi: 10.1002/gepi.21758
- Sekula P, Del Greco MF, Pattaro C, Köttgen A. Mendelian Randomization as an Approach to Assess Causality Using Observational Data. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27(11):3253–65. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016010098
- Rosa M, Chignon A, Li Z, Boulanger M, Arsenault BJ, Bossé Y, et al. A Mendelian Randomization Study of IL6 Signaling in Cardiovascular Diseases, Immune-Related Disorders and Longevity. NPJ Genom Med (2019) 4:23. doi: 10.1038/s41525-019-0097-4
- Li B, Xiao Y, Xing D, Ma XL, Liu J. Circulating Interleukin-6 and Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Mendelian Randomization Meta-Analysis. *Med (Baltimore)* (2016) 95(23):e3855. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000003855
- Ligthart S, Vaez A, Vosa U, Stathopoulou MG, de Vries PS, Prins BP, et al. Genome Analyses of >200,000 Individuals Identify 58 Loci for Chronic Inflammation and Highlight Pathways That Link Inflammation and

Supplementary Figure S1 | Forest plots and "leave-one-out" plot for MR analyses of the causal effect of IL6 on autoimmune arthritis in pooled population.

Supplementary Figure S2 | Forest plots and "leave-one-out" plot for MR analyses of the causal effect of IL6 on autoimmune arthritis in female or male population.

Supplementary Figure S3 | Violin plot and multiple tissues expression level of rs12059682.

Complex Disorders. Am J Hum Genet (2018) 103(5):691–706. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajhg.2018.09.009

- Kappelmann N, Arloth J, Georgakis MK, Czamara D, Rost N, Ligthart S, et al. Dissecting the Association Between Inflammation, Metabolic Dysregulation, and Specific Depressive Symptoms: A Genetic Correlation and 2-Sample Mendelian Randomization Study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2021) 78(2):161–70. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.3436
- Georgakis MK, Malik R, Gill D, Franceschini N, Sudlow C, Dichgans M, et al. Interleukin-6 Signaling Effects on Ischemic Stroke and Other Cardiovascular Outcomes: A Mendelian Randomization Study. *Circ Genom Precis Med* (2020) 13(3):e002872.doi: 10.1161/CIRCGEN.119.002872
- Jostock T, Müllberg J, Ozbek S, Atreya R, Blinn G, Voltz N, et al. Soluble Gp130 is the Natural Inhibitor of Soluble Interleukin-6 Receptor Transsignaling Responses. *Eur J Biochem* (2001) 268(1):160–7. doi: 10.1046/ j.1432-1327.2001.01867.x
- Sun BB, Maranville JC, Peters JE, Stacey D, Staley JR, Blackshaw J, et al. Genomic Atlas of the Human Plasma Proteome. *Nature* (2018) 558(7708):73– 9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0175-2
- Okada Y, Wu D, Trynka G, Raj T, Terao C, Ikari K, et al. Genetics of Rheumatoid Arthritis Contributes to Biology and Drug Discovery. *Nature* (2014) 506(7488):376–81. doi: 10.1038/nature12873
- Hemani G, Zheng J, Elsworth B, Wade KH, Haberland V, Baird D, et al. The MR-Base Platform Supports Systematic Causal Inference Across the Human Phenome. *Elife* (2018) 7:e34408. doi: 10.7554/eLife.34408
- Lee CH, Cook S, Lee JS, Han B. Comparison of Two Meta-Analysis Methods: Inverse-Variance-Weighted Average and Weighted Sum of Z-Scores. *Genomics Inform* (2016) 14(4):173–80. doi: 10.5808/GI.2016.14.4.173
- Bucur IG, Claassen T, Heskes T. Inferring the Direction of a Causal Link and Estimating its Effect via a Bayesian Mendelian Randomization Approach. Stat Methods Med Res (2020) 29(4):1081–111. doi: 10.1177/0962280219851817
- Hemani G, Bowden J, Davey Smith G. Evaluating the Potential Role of Pleiotropy in Mendelian Randomization Studies. *Hum Mol Genet* (2018) 27 (R2):R195–208. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddy163
- Verbanck M, Chen CY, Neale B, Do R. Detection of Widespread Horizontal Pleiotropy in Causal Relationships Inferred From Mendelian Randomization Between Complex Traits and Diseases. *Nat Genet* (2018) 50(5):693–8. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0099-7
- Garbers C, Monhasery N, Aparicio-Siegmund S, Lokau J, Baran P, Nowell MA, et al. The Interleukin-6 Receptor Asp358Ala Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Rs2228145 Confers Increased Proteolytic Conversion Rates by ADAM Proteases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1842(9):1485–94. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.05.018
- 29. Ferreira MA, Matheson MC, Duffy DL, Marks GB, Hui J, Souëf PL, et al. Identification of IL6R and Chromosome 11q13.5 as Risk Loci for Asthma. *Lancet* (2011) 378(9795):1006–14. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60874-X
- Shallev L, Kopel E, Feiglin A, Leichner GS, Avni D, Sidi Y, et al. Decreased A-To-I RNA Editing as a Source of Keratinocytes' dsRNA in Psoriasis. *Rna* (2018) 24(6):828–40. doi: 10.1261/rna.064659.117
- Pollock RA, Abji F, Liang K, Chandran V, Pellett FJ, Virtanen C, et al. Gene Expression Differences Between Psoriasis Patients With and Without Inflammatory Arthritis. J Invest Dermatol (2015) 135(2):620–3. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.414
- Vlachogiannis NI, Gatsiou A, Silvestris DA, Stamatelopoulos K, Tektonidou MG, Gallo A, et al. Increased Adenosine-to-Inosine RNA Editing in Rheumatoid Arthritis. J Autoimmun (2020) 106:102329. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2019.102329

- Hashizume M, Mihara M. The Roles of Interleukin-6 in the Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis (2011) 2011:765624. doi: 10.1155/2011/765624
- 34. van Dongen J, Jansen R, Smit D, Hottenga JJ, Mbarek H, Willemsen G, et al. The Contribution of the Functional IL6R Polymorphism Rs2228145, eQTLs and Other Genome-Wide SNPs to the Heritability of Plasma sIL-6R Levels. *Behav Genet* (2014) 44(4):368–82. doi: 10.1007/s10519-014-9656-8
- Ogata A, Kato Y, Higa S, Yoshizaki K. IL-6 Inhibitor for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Comprehensive Review. *Mod Rheumatol* (2019) 29 (2):258–67. doi: 10.1080/14397595.2018.1546357
- O'Connor MF, Motivala SJ, Valladares EM, Olmstead R, Irwin MR. Sex Differences in Monocyte Expression of IL-6: Role of Autonomic Mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2007) 293(1):R145–51. doi: 10.1152/ ajpregu.00752.2006
- Linos A, Worthington JW, O'Fallon WM, Kurland LT. The Epidemiology of Rheumatoid Arthritis in Rochester, Minnesota: A Study of Incidence, Prevalence, and Mortality. *Am J Epidemiol* (1980) 111(1):87–98. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a112878
- Rubtsov AV, Rubtsova K, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Genetic and Hormonal Factors in Female-Biased Autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev* (2010) 9(7):494–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2010.02.008
- Jirholt J, Lindqvist AB, Holmdahl R. The Genetics of Rheumatoid Arthritis and the Need for Animal Models to Find and Understand the Underlying Genes. Arthritis Res (2001) 3(2):87–97. doi: 10.1186/ar145
- van Vollenhoven RF. Sex Differences in Rheumatoid Arthritis: More Than Meets the Eye. BMC Med (2009) 7:12. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-12
- 41. Will R, Edmunds L, Elswood J, Calin A. Is There Sexual Inequality in Ankylosing-Spondylitis a Study of 498 Women and 1202 Men. *J Rheumatol* (1990) 17(12):1649-52.
- 42. Gracey E, Yao Y, Green B, Qaiyum Z, Baglaenko Y, Lin A, et al. Sexual Dimorphism in the Th17 Signature of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68(3):679–89. doi: 10.1002/art.39464
- Huang WN, Tso TK, Kuo YC, Tsay GJ. Distinct Impacts of Syndesmophyte Formation on Male and Female Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int J Rheum Dis* (2012) 15(2):163–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-185X.2011.01687.x
- 44. Eder L, Thavaneswaran A, Chandran V, Gladman DD. Gender Difference in Disease Expression, Radiographic Damage and Disability Among Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis (2013) 72(4):578–82. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2012-201357
- 45. Jawaheer D, Maranian P, Park G, Lahiff M, Amjadi SS, Paulus HE. Disease Progression and Treatment Responses in a Prospective DMARD-Naive

Seropositive Early Rheumatoid Arthritis Cohort: Does Gender Matter? *J Rheumatol* (2010) 37(12):2475–85. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.091432

- 46. Kuiper S, van Gestel AM, Swinkels HL, de Boo TM, da Silva JA, van Riel PL. Influence of Sex, Age, and Menopausal State on the Course of Early Rheumatoid Arthritis. J Rheumatol (2001) 28(8):1809–16.
- Teoh PJ, Chung TH, Chng PYZ, Toh SHM, Chng WJ. IL6R-STAT3-ADAR1 (P150) Interplay Promotes Oncogenicity in Multiple Myeloma With 1q21 Amplification. *Haematologica* (2020) 105(5):1391–404. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2019.221176
- Zhang H, Fu Q, Shi X, Pan Z, Yang W, Huang Z, et al. Human A-To-I RNA Editing SNP Loci Are Enriched in GWAS Signals for Autoimmune Diseases and Under Balancing Selection. *Genome Biol* (2020) 21(1):288. doi: 10.1186/ s13059-020-02205-x
- Qu L, Yi Z, Zhu S, Wang C, Cao Z, Zhou Z, et al. Programmable RNA Editing by Recruiting Endogenous ADAR Using Engineered RNAs. *Nat Biotechnol* (2019) 37(9):1059–69. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0178-z
- Zhang LJ. Type1 Interferons Potential Initiating Factors Linking Skin Wounds With Psoriasis Pathogenesis. Front Immunol (2019) 10:1440. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01440
- Kim MS, Patel KP, Teng AK, Berens AJ, Lachance J. Genetic Disease Risks can be Misestimated Across Global Populations. *Genome Biol* (2018) 19:179. doi: 10.1186/s13059-018-1561-7

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hong, Qu, Ji, Li, Zhang, Jin, Wang, Zhang, Shen, Meng, Zhou, Fang, Wang and Yan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeting the Interleukin-23/ Interleukin-17 Inflammatory Pathway: Successes and Failures in the Treatment of Axial Spondyloarthritis

Runsheng Wang^{1,2} and Walter P. Maksymowych^{3,4*}

¹ Division of Rheumatology, Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY, United States, ² Garden State Rheumatology Consultants, Union, NJ, United States, ³ Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, ⁴ CARE Arthritis, Edmonton, AB, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Åsa Andersson, Halmstad University, Sweden Seung-Hyo Lee, Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology, South Korea

*Correspondence: Walter P. Maksymowych walter.maksymowych@ualberta.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 27 May 2021 Accepted: 10 August 2021 Published: 03 September 2021

Citation:

Wang R and Maksymowych WP (2021) Targeting the Interleukin-23/ Interleukin-17 Inflammatory Pathway: Successes and Failures in the Treatment of Axial Spondyloarthritis. Front. Immunol. 12:715510. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.715510 The IL-23/IL-17 pathway has been implicated in the etiopathogenesis of axial spondyloarthritis through studies of genetic polymorphisms associated with disease, an animal model with over-expression of IL-23 that resembles human disease, and observations that cytokines in this pathway can be found at the site of disease in both humans and animal models. However, the most direct evidence has emerged from clinical trials of agents targeting cytokines in this pathway. Monoclonal antibodies targeting IL-17A have been shown to ameliorate signs and symptoms, as well as MRI inflammation in the spine and sacroiliac joints, in patients with radiographic and non-radiographic axial spondyloarthritis. This was evident in patients refractory to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents as well as patients failing treatment with tumor necrosis factor inhibitor therapies. Treatment with a bispecific antibody targeting both IL-17A and IL-17F was also effective in a phase II study. Post-hoc analyses have even suggested a potential disease-modifying effect in reducing development of spinal ankylosis. However, benefits for extra-articular manifestations were limited to psoriasis and did not extend to colitis and uveitis. Conversely, trials of therapies targeting IL-23 did not demonstrate any significant impact on signs, symptoms, and MRI inflammation in axial spondyloarthritis. These developments coincide with recent observations that expression of these cytokines is evident in many different cell types with roles in innate as well as adaptive immunity. Moreover, evidence has emerged for the existence of both IL-23-dependent and IL-23-independent pathways regulating expression of IL-17, potentially associated with different roles in intestinal and axial skeletal inflammation.

Keywords: axial spondylarthritis, treatment, IL-23/IL-17 axis, inflammation, disease progression

INTRODUCTION

Axial spondyloarthritis (axSpA) is an inflammatory disease of the sacroiliac joints (SIJ) and spine that may also involve peripheral joints and entheses (1). It is associated with extra-articular sites of inflammation manifesting as anterior uveitis, aortitis, colitis, and psoriasis. A pathological hallmark is the development of new bone formation as a tissue response to inflammation which is primarily

evident in the SIJ and spine. This may lead to spinal ankylosis, and its severity determines the degree of functional impairment. Disease onset is typically in the third and fourth decades of life and the disease pursues a severe course in about 30-40% of cases, with considerably impairment of quality of life and even increased mortality (2). There is a strong genetic component to its etiology along with alterations in gut microbiome and mechanical factors though the precise steps remain unclear (3). Therapeutics that effectively control inflammation have recently emerged, although these have been identified more by randomized placebo-controlled trials (RCTs) than by studies of basic pathogenesis. Therapeutic agents that target tumor necrosis factor (TNF) have now been used to successfully treat not only joint and entheseal inflammation but also all extra-articular manifestations of disease (4, 5). It remains unclear, however, whether they impact the development of new bone, and about 30-40% of patients fail to attain a sufficient response. Recent attention has pivoted to the interleukin-23(IL-23)/interleukin-17 (IL-17) pathway as data has emerged from animal models and human tissue samples that these cytokines are present at the site of disease and are key effectors of tissue inflammation. However, the picture that has emerged is a complex one as it has become apparent that targeting this pathway is effective in some tissue locations and not others. Our aims in this review were to discuss recent studies investigating the role of the IL-23/IL-17 pathway in the pathophysiology of inflammation and new bone formation in axSpA, data from recent RCTs and other studies informing the tissue specificity of IL-23 and IL-17 targeted therapies, and the

new implications of the findings of RCTs for our understanding of the pathophysiology of axSpA.

CLASSIC IL-23/IL-17 PATHWAY

IL-23 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine with a critical role in mediating autoimmunity (**Figure 1**). It promotes the development of a group of cells that express transcriptional factor retinoid-acid-receptor-related orphan receptor γ (ROR γ t), including T_H17 cells differentiated from naïve T cells, and other IL-17 expressing cells in the innate immune system or non-lymphoid tissues. These ROR γ t+ cells express a unique panel of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, including IL-17, IL-22 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (6, 7). The recognition of IL-23 and downstream T_H17 cells challenged the long-standing paradigm of T_H1- T_H2 cells, adding T_H17 cells in the spectrum of immune response (8).

IL-23 is a heterodimer with two subunits, the p40 subunit, shared with IL-12, and the p19 subunit, unique to IL-23. It is primarily secreted by macrophages and dendritic cells in tissues like skin, intestinal mucosa, lungs, synovium, and brain, and signals through the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) complex. The IL-23R complex consists of two subunits, one is IL23R, and the other is IL-12 receptor (IL-12R) β chain (9), shared with IL-12R. IL-23/ IL-23R signaling plays an important role in T_H17cell differentiation, survival, and expansion. The initial stage of



FIGURE 1 | Interleukin-23/interleukin-17 pathway. **(A)** IL-23 is essential for differentiation of T_H17 cells and production of IL-17 cytokine. **(B)** IL-17 cytokine can be produced by other immune cells. IL, interleukin; IL-23R, interleukin-23 receptor; IL-12Rβ, interleukin-12 receptor beta; IL-6R, interleukin-6 receptor; TGFβ, transforming growth factor beta; TGFβ-R, transforming growth factor beta receptor; IL-1R, interleukin-1 receptor; JAK2, Janus kinase 2; TYK2, tyrosine kinase 2; RORγt, retinoid-related orphan receptor gamma t; receptor: STAT3, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; IRF4, interferon regulatory factor 4; NK cell, natural killer cell; ILC, innate lymphoid cell; MAIT, mucosal associated invariant T cells.

60

 $T_H 17$ cell differentiation from naïve T cells is triggered by IL-6, transforming growth factor β (TGF β), and IL-1 β . The presence of these cytokines promotes the expression of ROR γ t, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and interferon-regulatory factor 4 (IRF4). After the initial trigger, IL-23 is essential for maturation of $T_H 17$ cells, by reinforcing ROR γ t expression and suppresses differentiation to $T_H 1$, $T_H 2$ or regulatory T cells (Treg) (10), as well as for maintenance of $T_H 17$ signature gene expression, including IL-17, IL-22 and GM-CSF (11).

IL-17 is a family of pro-inflammatory cytokines primarily secreted by T_H17 cells, and by natural killer cells (NK cells), innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), $\gamma\delta$ T cells, mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells. It has six members, from IL-17A to IL-17F, IL-17A being the best described among them (Figure 2) (11, 12). It binds to IL-17 receptors, a family of receptors that consist of 5 homologous subunits, IL-17RA to IL17-RE, that are widely expressed in all type of cells. Among them, IL-17RA is the most well studied, primarily expressed in myeloid cells, while IL-17RC is mainly expressed in non-hematopoietic cells, such as epithelial cells, mesenchymal cells and fibroblasts. IL-17 induces expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-6 and IL-8) and chemokines that promote neutrophil chemotaxis and accumulation, antimicrobial peptides that protect skin and mucosal surfaces, and molecules that are involved in bone remodeling [e.g. matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and receptor activator for nuclear factor-kB ligand (RANKL)] (13, 14).

IL-17A and IL-17F are typically co-expressed by type 17 cells and exist as both homodimers and as a heterodimer. All forms bind to a heterodimeric IL-17RA/IL-17RC complex and trigger qualitatively similar signaling pathways. Both cytokines are increased in a variety of inflamed human tissues and there is synergistic activity with other proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF, in driving inflammatory pathways (15-17). In a proofof-concept study of skin and synovial tissue from patients with psoriatic arthritis (PsA), both IL-17A and IL-17F were present in skin lesions and inflamed synovial tissue (18). Moreover, IL-17A or IL-17F did not activate PsA synoviocytes when administered alone, but both cytokines stimulated PsA synoviocytes to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-8 when co-administered with TNF, although IL-17F was less potent than IL-17A. Dual neutralization of IL-17A and IL-17F demonstrated greater suppression of synoviocyte and healthy human dermal fibroblast activation and decreased expression of IL-6, IL-8, and metalloproteinase-3 (MMP3) than blockade of IL-17A or IL-17F alone. Of particular relevance to axSpA, IL-17F mediates osteogenic differentiation of human periosteal cells induced by supernatant from T_H17 or gamma-delta T cells and this can be inhibited using an antibody targeting IL-17F (19). Moreover, a bispecific antibody neutralizing both cytokines, bimekizumab, was more effective than antibodies targeting either IL-17A or IL-17F implying that such dual inhibition might prevent the ankylosis observed in patients with axSpA.

Relatively little is known about the pathophysiological role of other IL-17 family members relevant to axSpA. IL-17B may have an anti-inflammatory role by blocking IL-17E signaling during mucosal inflammation (20). IL-17C may have a similar role to IL-17A in anti-microbial protective responses in the intestine but is produced by epithelial rather than immune cells and may therefore provide a rapid local response to epithelial injury (21). A recent report indicated that IL-17D is the most highly expressed IL-17 family member in inflamed SpA synovium and is expressed by synovial stromal cells (22). The level of expression of IL-17D correlated with levels of expression of genes associated with synovial tissue remodeling (e.g. Bone Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) 4, BMP Receptor Type 1B, TGF β Receptor 3, Wnt Family Members 3 and 11, Fibroblast



Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

Growth Factor 1 and 17) and varied inversely with the degree of expression of genes associated with inflammation. IL-17D deficiency in mice increases joint and systemic inflammation suggesting that the cytokine has an anti-inflammatory role in joint inflammation. IL-17E is expressed by intestinal tuft cells and has a beneficial role in mucosal immunity to parasitic infection but has also been shown to inhibit autoimmunity induced by $T_H 17$ cells and suppress production of IL-1, IL-6, and IL-23 by activated dendritic cells (23).

Case reports of patients with monogenic mutations in the IL-23/IL-17 pathway indicate that, physiologically, IL-23 and IL-17 are involved in maintaining mucosa barrier and protecting the body against bacterial and fungal infections. Increased risk for mucocutaneous candidiasis has been reported in patients with loss of function in IL-17F, IL-17RA or IL-17RC (24, 25). Patients with autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1 (APS-1) syndrome have neutralizing antibodies against IL-17A, IL-17F and/or IL-22, and have increased risk for candidiasis (26). Patients with autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome (Job's syndrome, caused by *STAT3* mutation) have defects in IL-6, IL-23 and IL-22 signaling with reduced T_H17 cells, and are prone to have mucocutaneous candidiasis, staphylococcus aureus infection, and probably viral infections (27).

IL-17/IL-23 Pathway in Axial Spondyloarthritis

Human genome wide association analyses (GWAS) and studies in animal models and human tissues have implicated a pivotal role of IL-23/IL-17 pathway in the disease pathogenesis of ankylosing spondylitis (AS, a.k.a. radiographic axSpA, r-axSpA).

GWAS showed that *IL23R* (rs11209026, rs1004819, rs10489629, rs11465804, rs1343151, rs10889677, rs11209032, rs1495965) and *IL12B* (rs6556416, rs10045431) single nuclear polymorphism (SNPs) are associated with the susceptibility to AS, as well as SpA related conditions, such as psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (28–30). In addition, GWAS of Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada (VKH) syndrome, a condition that primarily manifests as pan-uveitis, also showed that the *IL23R* SNP is associated with increased disease susceptibility (31). Apart from these two genes, genes that modulate the IL-23/IL-17 pathway, such as *STAT3* (rs6503695, rs744166), *IL1R2* (rs2310173), *CARD9* (rs10781500), have been reported to be associated with the risk of having AS and IBD (32). The SNP of *TNFAIP3*, the gene that encodes A20 protein and inhibits IL-17 signaling (33), was associated with risk for psoriasis (30).

Consistent with the genetic findings, *in vivo* over-expression of IL-23 in mouse models induces enthesitis, the pathologic hallmark of axSpA. In B10.RIII mice, IL-23 overexpression acts on a group of ROR- γ t+ entheseal resident CD4 and CD8 negative T cells, and induces expression of IL-17 and IL-22, as well as IL-6 and Chemokine Ligand 1 (34). Additional features resembling the human axSpA phenotype included psoriasiform skin lesions, aortitis, uveitis, peripheral arthritis, and spondylitis. A subsequent report demonstrated that $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the major cells producing IL17 in the enthesis of this IL-23 overexpressing model and that 50-80% of these cells are of the V γ 6+ phenotype (35). Furthermore, these cells also accumulate in the aortic valve and root as well as the ciliary body of the eye. However, this model has proven difficult to reproduce in other labs. In one report, over-expression of IL-23 using minicircle DNA led to chronic arthritis, severe bone loss, and myelopoiesis associated with the expansion of a myeloid lineage osteoclast precursor. This was partly dependent on TNF and IL-17A but could not be reproduced by overexpression of IL-17A (36). In SKG mice, after injection of curdlan, the mice developed IL-23 and T cell dependent arthritis and spondylitis, and the phenotype was transferrable by CD4+ T cells (37). Interestingly, a study in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat model with arthritis and spondylitis showed that IL-23R inhibition is effective for disease prevention when given prior to clinical onset, but when used for treatment of established disease, anti-IL-23R did not reduce clinical features or levels of IL-17 and IL-22 (38). Instead, when treated with anti-IL17A, the axial and peripheral joint inflammation were significantly reduced (39), suggesting IL-23 might be responsible for the onset of axSpA, but not for maintenance of the phenotype.

Immunohistochemical analysis of facet joints from patients with AS confirmed the presence of IL-23 expressing cells, including myeloperoxidase positive cells, macrophages and dendritic cells (40), as well as IL-17 positive neutrophils, T cells and mast cells (41). In peripheral blood of patients with AS, an increase of IL-23R expressing $\gamma\delta$ T cells was also observed, associated with enhanced IL-17 secretion from these cells (42).

In summary, preclinical studies provided indirect evidence for inhibiting IL-23 or IL-17 as potential treatment options for axSpA.

CLINICAL STUDIES OF IL-17 INHIBITION IN AXIAL SPONDYLOARTHRITIS

Monoclonal antibodies against IL-17A alone or with dual inhibition of IL-17A/IL-17F have been developed and tested in clinical trials of axSpA, with clear efficacy in treating clinical symptoms and reducing inflammation.

Secukinumab

The first approved IL-17A antibody for AS was secukinumab (SEC), a fully human IgG1k monoclonal antibody. MEASURE 1 and MEASURE 2 were two randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled, phase 3 trials in patients with active AS, defined by the modified New York criteria (see Box 1) (43), with prior exposure to no more than one tumor necrosis factor inhibitor (TNFi). Patients were randomized 1:1:1 into placebo, SEC 150mg every 4 weeks (Q4W), and SEC 75mg Q4W arms, with either intravenous loading dose in MEASURE 1 or subcutaneous loading dose in MEASURE 2. The primary endpoint was the Assessment of Spondyloarthritis International Society 20% response criterion [ASAS20 (44), see Box 1] at Week 16. Secondary endpoints included the ASAS40 response (44) (see Box 1), change of Bath AS disease activity index [BASDAI (45), see Box 1], SF-36, AS Quality of Life (ASQoL) scale, and ASAS partial remission. In MEASURE 1, 371 patients were randomized, with 61% of patients in the SEC 150mg arm, 60%

Box 1 | Fact Box. Diagnoses and major outcome measures in axial spondyloarthritis.

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) – classified based on modified New York (mNY) criteria, composed of clinical criteria (inflammatory back pain (IBP), limited range of motion in lumbar spine, or limited range of motion in chest expansion) and radiological criterion (bilateral grade 2 sacroiliitis or unilateral grade 3 sacroiliitis on radiograph) (43). Definite AS is defined as meeting radiologic criterion and at least one clinical criterion.

Axial Spondyloarthritis (axSpA) – classified based on Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS) criteria (44). In patients with 3 months back pain and age of onset < 45 years, axial spondyloarthritis is defined as 1) having sacrolliitis on imaging studies (either radiographic according to mNY criteria or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) evidence of subchondral bone marrow edema highly suggestive of axSpA) and one spondyloarthritis (SpA) feature (IBP, arthritis, heel enthesitis, uveitis, dactylitis, psoriasis, Crohn's/colitis, good response to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, family history of SpA, positive HLA-B27, elevated C-reactive protein), or 2) positive HLA-B27 and two other SpA features. The condition is further categorized as radiographic axSpA (r-axSpA) if not present.

ASAS 40% response criteria (ASAS40) – improvement of \geq 40% and \geq 2 units (0-10 scale) in at least three of the four domains (patient global, pain, function, inflammation), and no worsening in any domain (44).

Bath ankylosing spondylitis disease activity index (BASDAI) – a six-question (each with 0-10 scale), self-administered questionnaire, assessing fatigue, spinal pain, peripheral arthritis, enthesitis, intensity and duration of morning stiffness in patients with AS (45).

Bath ankylosing spondylitis functional index (BASFI) - a 10-question (each with 0-10 scale), self-administered questionnaire, assessing degree of functional limitations in patients with AS (46).

Ankylosing spondylitis disease activity score (ASDAS) - a composite score, including assessment of total back pain, patient global of disease activity, peripheral pain and swelling, duration of morning stiffness, and C-reactive protein or erythrocyte sedimentation rate (47).

Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada MRI index for scoring inflammation in the sacroiliac joints (SIJ) (SPARCC MRI SIJ score) - a semiquantitative scoring system to assess active inflammation in SIJs, based on the presence, intensity and depth of bone marrow edema on a fat-suppressed sequence in six consecutive coronal slices of pelvis MRI, with a total maximum score of 72 (48).

Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada MRI index for scoring inflammation in the spine (SPARCC MRI Spine score) - a semiquantitative scoring system to assess active inflammation in the spine, based on the presence, intensity and depth of bone marrow edema on a fat-suppressed sequence of 3 consecutive sagittal slices through each discovertebral level of the entire spine, with a total maximum score of 414 (49). Modified Stoke AS Spine Score (mSASSS) - a semi-quantitative scoring system to assess structural damage of the spine based on certain features (erosion, sclerosis, squaring, syndesmophytes and bony bridging between adjacent vertebra) of the anterior vertebral corners on lateral projections of cervical and lumbar spine radiographs, with a total maximum score of 0 -72 (50).

of patients in the SEC 75mg arm *versus* 29% of patients in the placebo arm meeting the primary endpoint. ASAS40 responses were 42%, 33% and 13% in these three arms, respectively. In MEASURE 2, 219 patients were randomized, and 61% of patients in the SEC 150mg arm, 41% of patients in the SEC 75mg arm, *versus* 28% of patients in the placebo arm met the primary endpoint. ASAS40 responses were 36%, 26% and 11% in these three arms, respectively (51) (**Table 1**). All other secondary endpoints were met, except ASAS partial remission in the MEASURE 2 study. Long term extension studies of SEC up to 5 years follow up showed that, for those who stayed on SEC for two years, 84% patients (N = 230/274) remained on SEC at

Year 5, with an ASAS40 response rate of 65.2% and BASDAI of 2.6, indicating a very low level of active symptomatology (52).

A 1-year placebo-controlled RCT of SEC recruited 555 patients with non-radiographic axial SpA (nr-axSpA) who were randomized (1:1:1) to receive subcutaneous SEC 150 mg with a loading dose (loading dose [LD] group), SEC 150 mg without a loading dose (non-loading dose [NL] group), or placebo weekly and then Q4W starting at week 4 (53). The primary endpoint was the ASAS40 response at week 16 (European Union and non-US analysis) and week 52 (US analysis). Escape to open label SEC was possible at any time after week 20. Most recruited patients were naïve to TNFi (90.3%) and in these patients an ASAS40 response was achieved at 16 weeks in 41.5% of the SEC 150mg LD group, 42.2% of the SEC NL group, and 29.2% of those on placebo (Table 1). The corresponding response rates at week 52 were 35.4%, 39.8%, and 19.9% of patients in the SEC 150mg LD, SEC 150mg NL, and placebo groups, respectively. All major secondary endpoints showed greater improvement in the SEC groups compared to those on placebo at week 16. These included the ASAS5/6 response, ASAS partial remission, BASDAI50 response at weeks 16, change from baseline to week 16 in the BASDAI, high sensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP), Bath AS Functional Index [BASFI (46), see Box 1], MRI SIJ edema (Berlin score), SF-36 Physical Component Scale, and ASQoL score. For the week 52 analysis of secondary endpoints, significance versus placebo was achieved for the BASDAI50 and AS Disease Activity Score [ASDAS (47), see Box 1] inactive disease [(SDAS-ID, defined as an ASDAS score <1.3) responses in the SEC 150mg NL group but not for ASDAS-ID in the SEC LD group and in view of the hierarchical testing procedure SIJ edema score on MRI and ASQoL for the 150 mg LD group were not tested. The frequencies of serious adverse events (SAE) and discontinuations due to adverse events were similar across the three groups. There were 14 cases of uveitis in 11 patients, 9 in the SEC groups (4 de novo cases) and 2 in the placebo group. Seven patients receiving SEC reported colitis (5 Crohn's disease and 2 ulcerative colitis) of whom two had a history of colitis.

Overall, the SEC RCT data demonstrates convincingly that IL-17A targeted therapy with this agent is effective at ameliorating inflammation in AS as well as nr-axSpA patients who are biologic disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug (bDMARD) naïve and refractory to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAIDs) therapy, but the trials recruited insufficient numbers of TNFi experienced patients. Moreover, a trial recruiting only TNFi experienced patients has not yet been reported. The impact on concomitant musculoskeletal inflammation in the peripheral skeleton in axSpA, such as enthesitis and peripheral synovitis, has also not yet been reported.

Ixekizumab

Ixekizumab (IXE) is another IL-17A inhibitor that have been approved in treating active axSpA. It is a humanized IgG4 monoclonal antibody. In the COAST-V study, a phase 3, doubleblinded RCT, biologic naïve patients with active r-axSpA based on ASAS classification criteria (44) (see **Box 1**) were included in the study (54). In addition to the placebo control, the study also had an active comparator arm of adalimumab 40mg Q4W, a fully human

TABLE 1 Pivotal randomized clinical trials of IL	-17 inhibitors in axial spondyloarthritis.
--	--

Study ID	Drug	Acronym	Clinical Trial Phase	Condition	Previous bDMARD use	Primary Endpoint	TNF inaïve (%)	Arms	Enrollment (n)	Meeting Primary Endpoint
NCT01358175	SEC	MEASURE 1	Ph. 3	AS	Not more than one TNFi	W16 ASAS20	73%	Placebo	122	29%
							73%	SEC IV loading + 150mg Q4W	125	61%
							74%	SEC IV loading + 75mg Q4W	124	60%
NCT01649375	SEC	MEASURE 2	Ph. 3	AS	Not more than one TNFi	W16 ASAS20	61%	Placebo	74	28%
							61%	SEC IV loading + 150mg Q4W	72	61%
							62%	SEC IV loading + 75mg Q4W	73	41%
VCT02696031	SEC	PREVENT	Ph. 3	nr-axSpA	Prior TNFi allowed	W16 ASAS40*	91.9%	Placebo	186	29.2%
							88.6%	SEC LD + 150mg Q4W	185	41.5%
							90.2%	SEC NL + 150mg Q4L	184	42.2%
NCT02696798	SEC	COAST-V	Ph. 3	AS	Not allowed	W16 ASAS40	100%	Placebo	87	18%
							100%	ADA 40mg Q2W	90	32%
							100%	IXE 80mg Q2W	83	52%
							100%	IXE 80mg Q4W	81	48%
VCT02757352	IXE	COAST-W	Ph. 3	r-axSpA	TNFi experienced required	W16 ASAS40	0%	Placebo	104	12.5%
							0%	IXE 80mg Q2W	98	30.6%
							0%	IXE 80mg Q4W	114	25.4%
NCT02696785	IXE	COAST-X	Ph. 3	nr-axSpA	Not allowed	W16 ASAS40*	100%	Placebo	105	19%
							100%	IXE 80mg Q2W	102	41%
							100%	IXE 80mg Q4W	96	35%
VCT02963506	BKZ	BE AGILE	Ph. 2B	AS	TNFi experienced allowed	W12 ASAS40	88.3%	Placebo	60	13.3%
							86.9%	BKZ 16mg Q4W	61	29.5%
							88.5%	BKZ 64mg Q4W	60	42.6%
							88.3%	BKZ 160mg Q4W	60	46.7%
							91.8%	BKZ 320mg Q4W	61	45.9%
NCT02763111	NTK	-	Ph. 2	AS	TNFi experienced allowed	W16 ASAS20	81.8%	Placebo	22	42.9%
							81.8%	NTK 40mg	22	72.7%
							90.9%	NTK 80mg	22	81.8%
							86.4%	NTK 120mg	22	90.9%

SEC, secukinumab; IXE, ixekizumab; BKZ, bimekizumab; NTK, netakimab; AS, ankylosing Spondylitis; nr-axSpA, nonradiographic axial spondyloarthritis; r-axSpA, radiographic axial spondyloarthritis; bDMARD, biologic disease modifying antirheumatic drug; TNFi, tumor necrosis factor inhibitor; ASAS20, the Assessment in Ankylosing Spondylitis 20% response criteria; ASAS40, the Assessment in Ankylosing Spondylitis 40% response criteria. Wang and Maksymowych

IgG1 monoclonal antibody to TNFa. The treatment arms included IXE 80mg every 2 weeks (Q2W) and IXE 80mg Q4W. The primary endpoint of the study was the proportion of patients who achieved an ASAS40 response at Week 16. The main secondary endpoints included the ASAS20 response, the BASDAI50 response, change in ASDAS, change in BASFI, and ASDAS-ID. In this study, MRI of spine and SIJ were obtained at baseline and Week 16, and change in the severity of MRI inflammation in the spine was assessed using the Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada (SPARCC) MRI spine score (see Box 1)while change in the severity of MRI inflammation in the sacroiliac joints was assessed using the SPARCC MRI SIJ score (see Box 1) and these were among the secondary outcomes (48, 49). A total of 341 patients were included and randomized 1:1:1:1 into 4 arms. At Week 16, significantly more patients in the IXE Q2W arm (51.8%), the IXE Q4W arm (48.1%), and the adalimumab arm (35.6%) achieved an ASAS40 response, compared to patients in the placebo arm (18.4%) (Table 1). The main secondary outcomes were significantly better in the active treatment compared to placebo arms, including the SPARCC MRI spine and SIJ scores. During the 16 weeks of the double blinded period, the most common AEs were nasopharyngitis, which occurred in 23 patients, and almost equally among the 4 arms (6.0% to 7.4%). One patient in each IXE arm, and 3 in the adalimumab arm experienced SAE. Three patients in the IXE Q2W arm and one in the adalimumab arm discontinued the study due to AEs. One case of candida infection in the adalimumab arm was reported, as well as one case of

cerebrocardiovascular event in the IXE Q4W arm, one case of IBD in the IXE Q2W arm, and one case of depression in the adalimumab arm.

The COAST-W study of IXE followed a similar design to COAST-V, except that patients in COAST-W were required to have discontinued at least one TNFi, but not more than 2 TNFi, due to inadequate response or intolerance (55). A total of 316 patients were included and randomized 1:1:1 into placebo, IXE 80mg Q2W and IXE 80mg Q4W arms. At Week 16, significantly more patients in the IXE Q2W arm (30.6%) and the IXE Q4W arm (25.4%) achieved ASAS40, compared to placebo (12.5%) (**Table 1**). A proportion of patients had spine MRI at baseline and Week 16. The reductions in the MRI SPARCC spine scores were significantly more in the IXE Q2W and the IXE Q4W arms than in the placebo arm (**Table 2**).

Sustained efficacy was observed at Week 52 for both COAST-V and COAST-W trials (56). At Week 52, 47% - 53% of patients in the COAST-V trial and 31% - 39% patients in the COAST-W trial achieved an ASAS40 response and demonstrated sustained clinical efficacy of IXE. Moreover, patients originally randomized to placebo showed rapid improvement in ASAS40 response rates after switching to IXE and by 52 weeks responses were similar to those seen in patients originally randomized to IXE. In the COAST-V trial, patients originally randomized to Adalimumab demonstrated further improvement after switching to IXE with ASAS40 response of 36% at week 16 increasing to 51.2% at week 52. Treatment with IXE was well tolerated in this

Study ID	Drug	Acronym	MRI endpoint	Arms	Number of patients with MRI	Baseline	Changes
NCT02696031	SEC	PREVENT	Berlin SIJ MRI score change	Placebo	139	2.70 (3.96)	-0.59
				SEC LD + 150mg Q4W	132	2.80 (3.83)	-2.38
				SEC NL + 150mg Q4L	134	2.24 (3.29)	-1.42
NCT02696798	IXE	COAST-V	SPARCC Spine Score change from baseline to	Placebo	87	15.8 (21.2)	-1.51 (1.15)
			W16	ADA 40mg Q2W	90	20.0 (28.4)	-11.57 (1.11
				IXE 80mg Q2W	83	16.6 (23.8)	-9.58 (1.17)
				IXE 80mg Q4W	81	14.5 (20.6)	-11.02 (1.16
			SPARCC SIJ Score change from baseline to	Placebo	87	5.0 (9.6)	0.9 (0.6)
			W16	ADA 40mg Q2W	90	4.7 (11.2)	-4.2 (0.6)
				IXE 80mg Q2W	83	6.4 (10.9)	-4.3 (0.6)
				IXE 80mg Q4W	81	4.5 (9.1)	-4.0 (0.6)
NCT02757352	IXE	COAST-	SPARCC spine Score change from baseline to	Placebo	51	6.4 (10.2)	3.3 (1.4)
		W	W16	IXE 80mg Q2W	58	11.1 (20.3)	-4.0 (1.5)
				IXE 80mg Q4W	53	8.3 (16)	-3.0 (1.4)
NCT02696785	IXE	COAST-X	SPARCC SIJ Score change from baseline to	Placebo	105	6.2 (9.1)	-0.31 (0.54)
			W16	IXE 80mg Q2W	102	7.5 (10.8)	-4.52 (0.53)
				IXE 80mg Q4W	96	5.3 (8.3)	-3.38 (0.55)
NCT02963506	BKZ	BE AGILE	SPARCC SIJ Score change from baseline to	Placebo	20	NR	-3.7
			W12	BKZ 16mg Q4W	20	NR	-10
				BKZ 64mg Q4W	20	NR	-9.5
				BKZ 160mg Q4W	20	NR	-2.5
				BKZ 320mg Q4W	20	NR	-5.5
			Berlin Spine MRI score change from baseline	Placebo	20	NR	-1.3
			to W12	BKZ 16mg Q4W	20	NR	0.5
				BKZ 64mg Q4W	20	NR	-1.8
				BKZ 160mg Q4W	20	NR	-3.5
				BKZ 320mg Q4W	20	NR	-3.1

SEC, secukinumab; IXE, ixekizumab; BKZ, bimekizumab; SPARCC, Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada; SIJ, sacroiliac joint; NR, not reported.

52-week extension. Serious infections were reported by 3 patients in COAST-V and 3 patients in COAST-W but only 1 patient withdrew from the study. Candida infection was reported by 2 patients in each of the COAST-V and COAST-W studies. Two patients reported de novo Crohn's in COAST-V and 2 reported flares of ulcerative colitis but there was no association between these events and length of exposure to IXE. There were no events related to colitis in COAST-W. Acute anterior uveitis (AAU) was reported by 6 patients (1.8%) in COAST-V and 11 (3.9%) in COAST-W of whom 14 had a history of AAU. Corresponding exposure adjusted incidence rates (IRs, number of events per 100 patient years) for Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis were 0.8 and 0.4, respectively, while the exposure adjusted IR for AAU was 3.9. These event rates are comparable to those reported previously for these extra-articular manifestations in patients receiving TNFi bDMARDs for AS (57, 58).

IXE has also demonstrated efficacy in a 52-week placebocontrolled trial of nr-axSpA (COAST-X) (59). Patients refractory to ≥2 NSAIDs with either elevated CRP or MRI inflammation in the SIJ and meeting ASAS classification criteria for axSpA were randomized 1:1:1 to IXE 80mg Q4W, Q2W or placebo. Escape to open label IXE Q2W was possible after week 16 at investigator discretion. Primary endpoint was the ASAS40 response at weeks 16 (European Union and non-US analysis) and week 52 (US analysis). It was achieved at 16 weeks by 35%, 40%, and 19% of patients in the IXE 80mg Q4W, IXE 80mg Q2W, and placebo groups, respectively (Table 1). At 52 weeks, the corresponding ASAS40 response rates were lower at 30%, 31%, and 13%. However, 25% on ixekizumab Q4W, 17% on ixekizumab Q2W, and 6% on placebo had ASAS40 at their last visit before switching. Statistically significant group differences were seen as soon as week 1 and all major secondary endpoints showed greater improvement in the IXE groups compared to those on placebo. These included the ASDAS, BASDAI, SF-36 Physical Component Scale, and SPARCC MRI SIJ inflammation score (Table 2). The frequencies of SAE, discontinuations due to adverse events, and frequency of anterior uveitis were similar across the three groups. A single case of Crohn's disease occurred in a patient reported as having pre-existing diarrhea.

In a withdrawal study (COAST -Y), patients in the previous COAST clinical trial program who completed 52 weeks of treatment with IXE continued a further 24 weeks on IXE, and those who achieved ASDAS-ID were randomly assigned to continue IXE Q2W, Q4W or to receive placebo (60). The primary endpoint was the proportion of patients who had not flared, which was defined as an ASDAS≥2.1 at two consecutive visits or an ASDAS>3.5 at any visit, at the 40-week time point of the randomized withdrawal period, with time-to-flare as a major secondary endpoint. A total of 773 patients were enrolled and 155 were randomized to treatment withdrawal or continuation on treatment with IXE. At 40 weeks, 83.3% of those who continued treatment with IXE had not flared as compared to 54.7% of those on placebo, and IXE significantly delayed time to flare. Re-treatment of patients who flared with at least 16 weeks of open-label IXE resulted in recapture of ASDAS-ID in only 44% of those who had withdrawn to placebo.

Overall, the IXE RCT data demonstrated convincingly that IL-17A targeted therapy with this agent is effective at ameliorating inflammation in r-axSpA as well as nr-axSpA and in bDMARD naïve as well as TNFi experienced patients. It has a clearly beneficial impact on objective manifestations of disease, namely, the CRP and MRI inflammation in the SIJ and spine, but impact on concomitant musculoskeletal inflammation in the peripheral skeleton, such as enthesitis and peripheral synovitis, has not yet been reported in axSpA. An important consideration is that disease flare occurs upon treatment withdrawal in about half of patients over a 40-week time frame and re-institution of therapy recaptures the response in only half of the patients that flare.

Bimekizumab

Bimekizumab (BKZ) is a monoclonal humanized IgG1 antibody that neutralizes both IL-17A and IL-17F. Its efficacy in active AS was investigated in a phase 2b placebo controlled, double blinded, dose ranging trial (61). The primary endpoint was the proportion of patients who achieved the ASAS40 at Week 12. Secondary endpoints included the ASAS20 response, change in the BASDAI, change in the BASFI, and change in the ASDAS at Week 12. A total of 303 patients were randomized 1:1:1:1:1 into placebo, BKZ 16mg, 64mg, 160mg, or 320mg Q4W. At Week 12, more BKZ-treated patients achieved an ASAS40 response compared to placebo (29.5% - 46.7% vs 13.3%, p < 0.05 in all comparison, Table 1). In addition, a significant dose-response was observed. In patients treated with BKZ, the ASAS20 response at Week 12 was achieved by 41% (BKZ 16mg Q4W) to 72.1% (BKZ 320mg Q4W) of patients, compared to 28.3% in the placebo arm. Efficacy was maintained at 48 weeks, and 58.6% patients in the BKZ 160mg Q4W arm and 62.3% patients in the BKZ 320mg Q4W arm achieved the ASAS40 response. During the 48-week study period, the most reported adverse event was nasopharyngitis, with 34 cases out of 303 patients. Candidiasis infection was reported in 19 patients, major cardiovascular events in 2 patients, and IBD in 4 patients, two being de novo events. No malignancy or suicidal ideation was reported. Thirteen patients had SAE, and 20 patients discontinued the study drug due to AEs. Some patients in the study had MRI spine at baseline and at Week 12. In addition to the symptom relief, inflammatory lesions seen on spinal and SIJ MRI were reduced after 12 weeks of BKZ (Table 2).

Overall, one can conclude that treatment with BKZ is efficacious and well-tolerated though it is questionable whether clinical and MRI improvement in disease activity is superior to responses observed with bDMARDs targeting only IL-17A. While different patient populations recruited to these clinical trials requires caution in making comparisons between outcomes in different clinical trials, it nevertheless appears unlikely that the dual inhibition hypothesis is supported by the results of the efficacy data related to clinical outcomes in this phase 2b trial of BKZ. An important future priority will be to determine whether this agent might prevent the development of ankylosis, which would support the dual inhibition hypothesis and be consistent with the *in-vitro* data that blockade of both IL-17A and IL-17F is more effective at preventing osteogenic differentiation of periosteal stem cells than blockade of either cytokine alone.

Netakumab

Netakumab (NTK) is a recombinant humanized IgG1 IL-17A monoclonal antibody with modified CDR-regions and Fcfragment. In a phase 2, double blinded RCT, patients with active AS were randomized 1:1:1:1 to placebo vs. NTK 40mg, 80mg, 120mg Q2W (62). The primary endpoint was the percentage of patients achieving the ASAS20 response at Week 16. The ASAS40 response at Week 16 was assessed as one of the secondary endpoints. A total of 88 patients were included in the study, with 22 patients in each arm. At Week 16, 72.7%, 81.8% and 90.9% patients in the NTK 40mg, 80mg, and 120mg arms achieved an ASAS20 response, compared to 42.8% patients in the placebo arm, and significantly more in the NTK 80mg and 120mg arms (Table 1). An ASAS40 response was achieved in 40.9%, 63.6% and 72.7% patients in the NTK 40mg, 80mg, and 120mg arms respectively, compared to 14.3% in the placebo arm. No SAE or withdrawal due to AE was observed during the 16week study period. However, it was a relatively small study with a short study duration. More data is needed to demonstrate its efficacy and safety in treating patients with axSpA.

Safety of IL-17 Inhibition

Although patients with monogenic diseases with loss of IL-17 have increased risk for candidiasis, monoclonal antibodies against IL-17A seem to be relatively safe. Using post-marketing surveillance data and pooled clinical trial data, exposure adjusted IR of adverse events of SEC in patients with AS per 100 patientyears was 1.2 for serious infections, 0.7 for candida infections, 0.6 for major adverse cardiac events, 0.4 for Crohn's disease, 0.2 for ulcerative colitis, and 0.5 for malignancy (63). IXE reported a similar safety profile from pooled clinical trial data and showed that the adjusted IR per 100 patient-years was 1.3 for serious infections and infestations, 1.6 for candida infection, 0.1 for major adverse cardiac events, 0.5 for Crohn's disease, 0.4 for ulcerative colitis, 0.4 for malignancy (64). No reactivation of tuberculosis was observed in these two studies, and demyelinating disease was not commented.

Real-World Data

Consistent with the efficacy and safety data from clinical trials, in clinical practice, IL-17 inhibitor was shown to be effective. In patients with axSpA started on SEC as part of routine clinical care (N =1860), the drug retention rate at 12 months was reported to be 72%. Twenty two percent of patients reached ASAS40 and 26% had ASDAS major improvement (ASDAS-MI, ASDAS decrease \geq 2.0). When drug retention was examined in TNFi naïve AS patients, the drug retention rate of SEC at 12 months was increased to 84%, and 55% of patients reached ASAS40 and 51% had ASDAS-MI at 12 months (65).

CLINICAL STUDIES OF IL-17 IN SPONDYLOARTHRITIS RELATED DISEASES

Genetic and epidemiologic studies have established the association between AS and psoriasis, uveitis, and IBD. More

than one third of patients with AS report one or more extraarticular manifestations, including psoriasis, uveitis and IBD (66). However, despite the shared genetic risk factors in the IL-23/IL-17 pathway, and a positive response to IL-23 inhibitors in psoriasis/PsA and IBD, the efficacy of IL-17i in SpA-related conditions varies.

Phase 3 clinical trials of SEC, IXE and BKZ have demonstrated clear efficacy of IL-17i in psoriasis and PsA. Among them, the MAXIMISE trial is a phase 3b, randomized, double blind trial that focuses on axial PsA, a condition that may be distinct from axSpA, but with overlapping features (67). In this study, patients with PsA fulfilling Classification criteria for Psoriatic Arthritis (CASPAR) criteria, with active spinal symptoms [defined as BASDAI ≥ 4 and spinal pain ≥ 40 mm (0-100mm visual analog scale)], and inadequate response to NSAIDs were included. A total of 498 patients were randomized 1:1:1 into SEC 300mg Q4W vs SEC 150mg Q4W vs. placebo arms. Two-third of the patient population had Grade 1 to Grade 4 sacroiliitis on either side as determined by the local investigator, although the number meeting mNY criteria for radiographic sacroiliitis was not stipulated. Around 60% of patients had a positive MRI with inflammation in the spine and SIJs, although the criteria used to define this were not stipulated. Moreover, Berlin scores for spinal inflammation at baseline were less than half of those recorded in a trial of a TNFi agent (certolizumab) in patients with r-axSpA and even less than in those patients with nr-axSpA. HLA-B27 status was positive for 33% of the 261 patients for whom this data was available (68). The primary endpoint was the proportion of patients achieving ASAS20 response at Week 12, and secondary endpoints included the ASAS 40 response at Week 12. At Week 12, 63% patients in the SEC 300mg Q4W arm and 66% patients in the SEC 150mg Q4W arm achieved an ASAS20 response, compared to 31% in the placebo arm. ASAS40 response rates were 44%, 40% and 12% respectively. At Week 52, the retention rates were 83% for SEC 300mg Q4W arm and 86% for SEC 150mg Q4W arm. The study also included exploratory outcomes such as improvement of Berlin MRI score for spine and SIJ at Week 12. Although the baseline MRI scores for spine and SIJ were relatively low, the least square means of difference from baseline to Week 12 between SEC arms and the placebo arm were significant. However, the magnitude of response was substantially less than observed in an RCT of a TNFi in patients with r-axSpA and nr-axSpA (68). A significant drawback of this study is the lack of central evaluation of radiographs and lack of detail as to how MRI positivity for inflammation in the spine was defined. The age of the patients was higher than typically noted for AS trials so it is likely that many patients will have had MRI inflammation related to degenerative changes in the spine and SIJs. The 33% prevalence of HLA-B27 in this population was lower than the 60% previously reported in psoriatic axSpA further suggesting that some patients may have had mechanical causes of back pain and MRI inflammation. Moreover, 80% had concomitant peripheral arthritis and the self-reported improvement in clinical outcomes of pain and stiffness could reflect predominant alleviation of peripheral arthritis. However, the improvement in MRI inflammation in

SEC-treated patients supports the hypothesis that IL-17A is a cytokine that also mediates inflammation in the axial joints of patients with PsA.

In contrast, the efficacy of IL-17 blockade in uveitis has been inconclusive and the most recent data indicates it is not effective. Subcutaneous loading and maintenance dosing of SEC were tested in three phase 3 randomized, double-blind trials for Behcet's uveitis, active non-Behcet's, noninfectious uveitis, and quiescent, non-infectious, non-Behcet's uveitis, respectively, and none of the studies met its primary endpoint for efficacy (69). However, in a proof-of-concept phase 2 study with 37 patients, when given intravenously at 10mg/kg for loading and maintenance, SEC seemed effective compared to subcutaneous dosing and placebo (70). It is worth noting that the sample size of this study was very small, and all the uveitis trials only included patients with intermediate, posterior, and pan-uveitis, whereas in patients with AS, anterior uveitis is much more common. On the other hand, from the safety perspective, IL-17 blockade does not appear to trigger uveitis flares in patients with AS. In a pooled analysis of three phase 3 RCTs of SEC in AS, the exposure adjusted IR for uveitis was 1.4 per 100 patient-years. In comparison, the exposure adjusted IR of uveitis during TNFi treatment was 2.6 to 3.5 per 100 patient-years (71). Caution is warranted in comparing event rates across trials because event rate during a trial will depend on the numbers of patients recruited with a prior history of uveitis, especially in the year preceding entry into the trial. A recent study reporting AAU event rates in the Swedish Rheumatology Quality Register was based on 4851 treatment starts (456 secukinumab; 4395 any TNFi); the rate of AU-diagnoses per 100 patient-years was 6.8 (95% CI 5.2 to 8.7) for secukinumab (72). Among the TNFi, the rate varied from 2.9 (95% CI 2.1 to 3.7) for infliximab and 4.0 (95% CI 3.3 to 4.9) for adalimumab to 7.5 (95% CI 6.7 to 8.4) for etanercept. Sensitivity analyses confirmed the pattern of higher AU rates with secukinumab and etanercept versus monoclonal TNFi.

For Crohn's disease, it is surprising that IL-17A blockade is not only ineffective, but may potentially worsen disease activity and/or cause serious side effects. A phase 2 study of SEC in patients with active Crohn's disease was terminated prematurely because it met the prespecified futility criteria (73). Another phase 2 study, which evaluated AMG 827 (Brodalumab), an anti-IL-17 receptor antibody, did not demonstrate efficacy either (74). Instead, in both studies, a disproportionate number of patients in the IL-17 blockade arms experienced worsening of their Crohn's disease compared to placebo. Furthermore, in the SEC arm (74%, 29/ 39) than in the placebo arm (50%, 10/20), particularly infections.

It is possible that the greater disease severity, as defined by higher rates of prior bowel surgery and failure of TNFi therapy, in patients randomized to SEC were contributory factors. More likely, these results suggest a different role of IL-17A in IBD, specifically, protective rather than pathogenic. In mice, IL-17A or IL-17 receptor deficient T cells induce flare of colitis when transferred into RAG-1 deficient mice, and blocking IL-17A increases tissue damage and leads to enhanced inflammation (75–77). Furthermore, it has been shown that IL-17A is produced in an IL-23 independent fashion by resident $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the intestinal lamina propria and these cells have an important role in maintaining the mucosal barrier (77). These findings in murine models probably explain the unsuccessful clinical trials of IL-17A inhibitors beyond trial design. Interestingly, IL-17F deficient mice, but not IL-17A deficient mice, were found to be resistant to chemically induced colitis and T cell induced colitis, with increased T_{reg} population in colon, commensal dysbiosis (increased *Clostridium* cluster XIVa, reduced *Prevotellaceae*) and reduced expression of some antimicrobial peptides (78). Antibody against IL-17F was effective in treating chemically induced colitis, while antibody to IL-17A was not. Whether sole IL-17F inhibition would be effective in IBD patients is unclear.

What is reassuring is that, clinically, in patients with psoriasis, PsA or AS treated with SEC or IXE, the incidence of IBD was low, and the risk was similar to patients without this exposure (79-81). A recent retrospective pooled analysis of 7355 patients and a cumulative exposure time of 16,226.9 patient-years described the incidence rates of IBD in patients enrolled in 21 clinical trials of SEC for the treatment of psoriasis, PsA, and AS (81). There were 41 cases of IBD. Forest plots illustrating the relative risk of Crohn's and UC versus placebo did not show any increased risk from treatment with SEC. There was also no evidence of a dose-response relationship between SEC dose (150 mg vs 300 mg) and rates of reported IBD and the exposure adjusted IRs did not increase over time for each patient or each indication. In the post-marketing safety surveillance analysis, the cumulative reporting rate of IBD remained stable at approximately 0.20 reported events per 100 PY over a cumulative exposure of >96,000 patient years.

Further, a recent study examined the intestinal biopsy samples from axSpA patients who developed clinical Crohn's disease after IL-17A inhibition, and found an expansion of IL-17E producing cells (82). Whether a similar increase, or even higher levels might be observed in those without colonic inflammation is unknown. In contrast, in classic Crohn's disease patients, the expression of IL-17E were reduced, and the reduction correlated with endoscopic severity, suggesting IL-17E, similar to IL-17A, might be protective in patients with Crohn's disease (83).

These differences, both at the clinical level, and at the translational level, suggest that the underlying mechanism of IL-17A inhibition induced colonic inflammation might be different from Crohn's disease.

CLINICAL STUDIES OF IL-23 INHIBITION IN AXIAL SPONDYLOARTHRITIS

Risankizumab

A proof-of-concept dose-ranging placebo-controlled RCT evaluated risankizumab (BI 655066/ABBV-066), a humanized, IgG1 monoclonal antibody that selectively targets the p19 subunit of IL-23, in patients with definite AS refractory to ≥ 2 NSAIDs (84). Radiographic sacroiliitis was determined by local

reader evaluation. The dosing range of risankizumab had previously demonstrated efficacy in RCTs of psoriasis, PsA, and Crohn's disease (85-88). A total of 159 patients were randomized 1:1:1:1 to risankizumab (18 mg single dose, 90 mg or 180 mg at day 1 and weeks 8, 16 and 24) or placebo for 24 weeks with escape treatment to 180 mg risankizumab being available at 16 weeks for patients not achieving an ASAS20 response at 12 weeks. Primary endpoint was the ASAS40 response at 12 weeks and this was achieved by 25%, 21% and 15% of patients in the 18 mg, 90 mg and 180 mg risankizumab groups, respectively, which was not significantly different from the placebo group (18%). A total of 96 (60.4%) patients switched to the escape 180mg risankizumab treatment arm and prolongation of treatment for up to 40 weeks did not substantially improve ASAS40 response rates. No significant differences were noted for ASAS20, ASAS5/6, or ASAS partial remission responses. There was a dose-dependent reduction in the CRP level and greater reduction in the ASDAS-CRP for the 18mg and 180mg Risankizumab groups compared to placebo. However, a clinically relevant reduction in ASDAS-CRP ≥ 1.1 was not achieved with risankizumab and the reduction was primarily driven by the change in CRP. Greater though modest reduction in SPARCC MRI spine inflammation scores for the risankizumab 90mg and 180mg groups when compared to placebo was noted at week 12 in patients with a clinical response. But SPARCC MRI scores at 12 weeks were no different among groups who switched to escape treatment. There were no differences between treatment groups in levels of the IL-23/T_H17 pathway biomarker β -defensin 2 or in several biomarkers of bone remodeling (dikkopf-1, sclerostin, BMP-7 and osteocalcin). Treatment was well tolerated with no significant differences in adverse events between treatment groups and no reports of severe infections.

Ustekinumab

Three RCTs have evaluated ustekinumab, a human monoclonal antibody targeting the p40 subunit found in both IL-12 and IL-23, after an open label pilot study of 20 patients with AS (TOPAS) demonstrated improvement in clinical and MRI parameters of spinal inflammation at 24 weeks after receiving ustekinumab 90mg at 0, 4, and 16 weeks (89). This agent is approved for the treatment of psoriasis, PsA, and Crohn's disease, and improvement in spinal symptoms was reported in a subgroup of patients with PsA considered to have axial inflammation by their physician. All three RCTs evaluated ustekinumab at 45mg or 90mg versus placebo at weeks 0, 4, 16 and randomized 1:1:1 to these groups (90). Two studies recruited patients with active r-axSpA. One of these studies included patients refractory to ≥2 NSAIDs but naïve to bDMARD therapy while the second study included patients refractory to a single TNFi. A third study recruited patients with nr-axSpA refractory to ≥ 2 NSAIDs and could have been exposed to no more than one TNFi. The primary endpoint was the ASAS40 response at week 24 for the r-axSpA trials and the ASAS20 response at week 24 for the nr-axSpA trial. Patients failing to achieve $\geq 10\%$ improvement from baseline in both total back pain

and morning stiffness measures at both week 12 and week 16 could escape at week 16 to either open label golimumab (patients with r-axSpA) or were re-randomized in a blinded manner to ustekinumab 45mg or 90mg (patients with nr-axSpA). The presence of radiographic sacroiliitis and MRI inflammation in the SIJ typical of axSpA was assessed by a single central reader. Major secondary endpoints included the BASDAI50 response, ASDAS-CRP inactive disease, and change from baseline in the BASFI. Study continuation for all 3 studies was based on the week 24 results in 346 patients with r-axSpA who were naïve to bDMARD. This showed that primary and secondary endpoints were not met and so all 3 studies were discontinued. In particular, there was no significant difference in the proportions of patients who achieved an ASAS40 response in the ustekinumab 45 mg (31%) and 90 mg (28%) groups when compared to the placebo group (28%). There were also no significant differences in MRI inflammation scores. Assessment of treatment responses in r-axSpA patients refractory to anti-TNF demonstrated higher ASAS40 responses in the ustekinumab 45mg (19%) and 90mg (27%) groups compared to the placebo group (12%) but early discontinuation of this RCT with only 44% of the planned sample size precluded valid statistical analysis and clinical conclusions. Moreover, separation from placebo was not consistent across endpoints and there was no benefit of ustekinumab in reducing CRP in this RCT. Frequencies of adverse events were comparable among treatment groups with no new safety signals. Of particular interest, neither T_H17 cytokines (IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-22, and IL-23) nor T_{H1} cytokines (IFN γ and IL-12p70) were dysregulated at baseline in AS patients compared with healthy controls. Moreover, ustekinumab had only a minor impact on biomarkers at weeks 4 and 16 with only MMP3, serum amyloid A (SAA), and IL-8 being significantly decreased, and this change did not correlate with clinical response.

These RCTs conclusively demonstrate a lack of impact of targeting IL-23 for alleviation of inflammation in axSpA according to both patient self-reported outcomes, objective measures of inflammation, and biomarkers reflecting inflammation and tissue turnover. These RCTs also highlight the limitations of open label studies in a disease where the primary outcomes assessed in clinical trials are patient selfreported assessments of symptoms such as pain, stiffness, and global well-being. The open label study of ustekinumab did report an overall reduction of 30-40% in MRI scores for inflammation in the SIJ and spine after 24 weeks but this is substantially less than the 60-70% reductions noted in trials of TNFi agents. Moreover, it has been shown that fluctuation over a 3-month time frame in MRI inflammation in the SIJ beyond measurement error may be observed in about 20% of patients despite stable NSAID and/or DMARD intake (91). Consequently, it is very important to design a clinical trial program for novel therapeutics in axSpA that includes an appropriately powered phase II placebo-controlled RCT with MRI inflammation as an endpoint since demonstration of significant treatment group differences in MRI scores has been a consistent indicator of an efficacious therapeutic.

Guselkumab

A recent report has added yet another twist to the potential therapeutic role of agents targeting IL-23 (92). The efficacy of guselkumab (GUS), a human monoclonal IgG1 λ antibody that selectively binds to the p19 subunit of IL-23, was examined in patients with back pain in a post-hoc analysis of two phase III placebo-controlled RCTs that evaluated this agent in active peripheral PsA (93). In DISCOVER-1, 381 pts with active PsA $(\geq 3 \text{ swollen joints}, \geq 3 \text{ tender joints}; C-reactive protein \geq 0.3 \text{mg}/$ dL despite standard therapies) and in DISCOVER-2, 739 pts with active PsA (\geq 5 swollen joints, \geq 5 tender joints, CRP \geq 0.6mg/dL despite standard therapies) were randomized 1:1:1 to GUS 100mg Q4W, GUS 100mg Q8W (Wk0, Wk4, then Q8W), or placebo. This analysis included patients with sacroiliitis at baseline who had either documented imaging confirmation of sacroiliitis in the past or pelvic X-ray confirmation of sacroiliitis at screening (pooled data from DISCOVER-1&2) based on local investigators' judgment of presence/absence of sacroiliitis. Central reading of imaging was not performed. Efficacy was assessed by BASDAI score, BASDAI50 response, spinal pain, ASDAS-ID, and ASDAS-MI. There were 312 patients with axial involvement and those in the GUS arms had significantly greater clinical responses with BASDAI50 improvement noted in 40.5% and 37.9% of the 100mg Q8W and 100mg Q4W dosing arms, respectively, as compared to 19.1% of those on placebo. A major challenge in the interpretation of this data is whether the clinical responses truly reflect improvement in axial versus peripheral inflammation as impact of treatment on objective features of inflammation, especially MRI of the SIJ and spine, was not reported. A second major challenge is

the lack of a case definition for psoriatic axial involvement so that appropriate patients can be selected for clinical trials. Again, this will most likely require evidence of both active and structural lesions on MRI of the SIJ and spine.

Beyond the trial design issues outlined in the preceding paragraphs, the recent discovery of IL-17 production independent of IL-23 could be the explanation for the lack of success of IL-23 blockade in axSpA [ref]. Although IL-23 and IL-17 are closely related and form a classically described "IL-23/IL-17 pathway", cells other than $T_{\rm H}$ 17 cells can be the source of IL-17, including MAIT cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, NK cells and ILCs (Figure 1). These other RORyt+, Type 17 cells could express IL-17 upon stimulation by cytokines other than IL-23, and therefore, blocking IL-23/IL-23R would not be sufficient to suppress the downstream effects of IL-17. The co-existence of IL-23 dependent and independent IL-17 production has been supported by laboratory data both from human tissues and from animal models. In human entheseal tissue, two subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells were identified, V82 subset cells that express IL-23inducible IL-17 associated transcripts, and V\delta1 subset cells that completely lack detectable IL-23R but express IL-17 transcript upon stimulation with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and ionomycin, suggesting the presence of IL-23 independent expression of IL-17 in human entheseal tissue (94) (Figure 3). Consistent with this finding and the importance of IL23independent regulation of IL-17 in human disease, patients with AS have a higher frequency of IL-17A positive MAIT cells in peripheral blood and in synovial fluid (95). IL-7, but not IL-23, induces IL-17A expression in these MAIT cells (95).



Inhibition of IL-23 in collagen-induced arthritis and SKG mice ameliorated inflammatory arthritis but did not completely abolish it (96, 97). Targeting IL-23R in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat, an experimental model that closely resembles human SpA, was not effective once arthritis was established but did have some beneficial impact in preventing the onset of disease, indicating IL-23 independent production of IL-17 in the perpetuation of disease (38). All these data suggest IL-17 can be induced by other cytokines in non-T_H17 cells, and there could be a co-existence of IL-23 dependent and IL-23 independent IL-17 expression in entheseal tissues (**Figure 3**).

IL-17 EFFECT ON BONE METABOLISM

Inflammation related bone loss and osteoporosis are often seen in patients with inflammatory arthritis, including patients with AS. Paradoxically, the hallmark of AS is new bone formation at the entheseal sites, particularly syndesmophyte formation and ankylosis of the spine. The mechanism of co-existence of new bone formation at entheseal sites and diffuse bone loss is not fully understood.

IL-17 and Osteoclastogenesis

IL-17 has long been reported to play an important role in bone loss, by either inducing osteoclastogenesis or by suppressing Wnt signaling. Its effects likely depend on the type of cell and its stage of differentiation as well as the cellular composition and the extracellular milieu, especially the levels of other cytokines and inflammatory mediators. It may impact various cells mediating cartilage and bone destruction, but it may also act on mesenchymal cells and osteoblasts. Co-culture of T_H17 cells and monocytes induced osteoclastogenesis in mice, and this process is possibly also mediated by IL-17 (98). In a coculture system of murine hematopoietic cells and primary osteoblasts, IL-17 induced expression of RANKL in osteoblasts, which in turn, induced differentiation of osteoclast progenitors into mature osteoclasts (99). In a mouse model of IL-17A mediated skin inflammation, keratinocytes, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, and ILCs expressed IL-17A, and inhibited osteoblast and osteocyte function via inhibition of Wnt signaling (100). Consistent with this finding, more periosteal bone formation was observed at peak inflammation in IL-17A deficient mice (101). Furthermore, in vitro study showed that IL-17A inhibited osteoblast differentiation by inducing mRNA expression of the Wnt signaling antagonist secreted frizzled related protein-1 (sFRP1) and suppressing mRNA expression of sFRP3, which has been shown to promote osteoblast differentiation in bone marrow stromal cells (101). IL-17A might also have a direct effect on osteoclasts. In an in vitro study of human CD14+ monocytes, IL-17A upregulated RANK expression in osteoclast progenitors and therefore could directly induce osteoclastogenesis (102).

IL-17 and Osteoblastogenesis

Other studies, which include murine fracture healing models and evaluation of human mesenchymal stem cells, suggest that IL-17

promotes osteoblastogenesis and new bone growth. In a murine fracture model, IL-17F was reported to induce osteoblast maturation and mediate the early phase of fracture repair (103). A further study in mice with bone injury demonstrated that IL-17A was produced immediately after injury by V δ 6+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the peripheral tissues, and promoted osteoblastogenesis by increased proliferation of mesenchymal cells (104). In humans, activated T cells or derived condition medium triggers osteogenic differentiation in bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells, and this effect was mediated by IL-17A and IL-17F (105). In mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human spinal peri-entheseal bone, IL-17A enhances osteogenesis and suppresses adipogenesis (106).

The effect other of cytokines involved in IL-23/IL-17 pathway, in addition to IL-17, on bone formation and bone reabsorption has been reviewed elsewhere (107).

EFFECT OF IL-17 INHIBITION IN PATIENTS WITH ANKYLOSING SPONDYLITIS

In axSpA, preclinical data suggested that IL-17 may play a role in osteogenesis and that inhibition of IL-17 might be associated with less new bone formation. An in vitro study showed that IL-17A promotes osteogenesis in synovial fibroblasts from patients with active axSpA (39). Serum from patients with AS can induce osteogenesis in human periosteum-derived cells in vitro, and this effect can be blocked by bimekizumab, the dual inhibitor of IL-17A and IL-17F (19). Further, in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat model, administration of an IL-17A inhibitor antibody after disease onset resulted in new bone formation in 9 vertebrae from 3 rats, while treatment with control IgG2a resulted in new bone formation in 11 vertebrae from 5 rats, a numerical decrease but not statistically significant (39). It has been shown that circulating IL-17 increases with the onset of ankylosis in male DBA/1 mice, who develop enthesitis after being caged together, which then proceeds to ankylosis (108). Prophylactic administration of anti-IL-17 antibodies significantly prevented the development of ankylosis while administration after disease onset ameliorated but did not completely prevent ankylosis.

Clinical data for radiographic progression in patients with AS treated with IL-17A inhibitors is scant and inconclusive. Recent studies have used the modified Stoke AS Spine Score (50) (mSASSS, see **Box 1**) to quantify new syndesmophytes and radiographic progression in AS. In patients treated with SEC 150mg Q4W (n=86) *versus* 75mg Q4W (n=82) for 2 years, a comparable increase in mSASSS (0.30 +/-1.94 in the 150mg dose group *vs.* 0.31 +/- 3.04 in the 75mg dose group) was observed (109). After 4-year treatment, the mean change in mSASSS was 1.2 +/- 3.91 in the 150mg dose group (N = 71) *vs.* 1.6 +/- 5.67 in the 75mg/up titration dose group (N = 61) (110), without a significant dose effect. When compared to a historical cohort of biologic naïve patients treated only with NSAIDs over 2 years,
the change in mSASSS in SEC treated patients was 0.55 ± 0.139 (N = 168), numerically lower than the change of mSASSS in the historical cohort (0.89 ± 0.216 , N = 69) (111). The proportion of patients without radiographic progression was also higher in the SEC group than historical cohort, but again, not statistically significant (mSASSS change <= 0: 60.7% in SEC group *versus* 52.2% in historical cohort; mSASSS change <= 2: 82.1.7% in SEC group *versus* 72.5% in historical cohort) (111).

However, the interpretation of these clinical data is limited by the reliability and sensitivity to change of the mSASSS and the absence of a control group which leads to a conservative bias to scoring change. This radiographic scoring method records radiographic features (sclerosis, squaring, erosion, syndesmophyte, ankylosis) in the anterior vertebral corners on lateral projections of cervical and lumbar spine radiographs, with a total possible score of 0-72 (50). In biologic naïve patients, 30 -40% demonstrate an increase in mSASSS over 2 years, with an average change of 1.0 +/- 2.9 units (112). When used in clinical trials to assess the efficacy of a given treatment over placebo, a sample size of 100 in each arm would be needed to detect a difference between arms over 2 years (113). In addition, the interreader reliability was only 54% when assessing progression over 2 years (112). Consequently, the limited sample size in the above studies and measurement error preclude the demonstration of a statistically significant result for IL-17 inhibition on radiographic progression. Evidence of a lag effect of TNFi therapies on radiographic progression strongly suggests that at least 4-year follow up will be desirable which will necessitate active comparator studies as placebo-controlled trials will not be feasible. As yet, there are no soluble biomarkers that reflect radiographic progression which can be targeted in clinical trials but increasing evidence suggests that MRI inflammation in the spine may be a valid and more responsive surrogate.

REFERENCES

- Taurog JD, Chhabra A, Colbert RA. Ankylosing Spondylitis and Axial Spondyloarthritis. N Engl J Med (2016) 374(26):2563–74. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMra1406182
- Bakland G, Gran JT, Nossent JC. Increased Mortality in Ankylosing Spondylitis Is Related to Disease Activity. Ann Rheum Dis (2011) 70:1921-5. doi: 10.1136/ard.2011.151191
- Ranganathan V, Gracey E, Brown MA, Inman RD, Haroon N. Pathogenesis of Ankylosing Spondylitis — Recent Advances and Future Directions. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2017) 13:359–67. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2017.56
- van der HD, Ramiro S, Landewé R, Baraliakos X, Bosch FV, Sepriano A, et al. Update of the ASAS-EULAR Management Recommendations for Axial Spondyloarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76(6):978–91. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2016-210770
- 5. Ward MM, Deodhar A, Gensler LS, Dubreuil M, Yu D, Khan MA, et al. Update of the American College of Rheumatology/Spondylitis Association of America/Spondyloarthritis Research and Treatment Network Recommendations for the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis and Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Care Res* (2019) 71:1285–99. doi: 10.1002/acr.24025
- Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, et al. IL-23 Drives a Pathogenic T Cell Population That Induces Autoimmune Inflammation. J Exp Med (2005) 201:233–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041257
- 7. Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, et al. Divergent Pro- and Antiinflammatory Roles for IL-23

CONCLUSIONS

It has been a long way from the discovery of IL-23/IL-17 pathway to its clinical application in the treatment of patients with axSpA and SpA related conditions. While the inhibition of IL-17 cytokines has been a great success in controlling inflammatory symptoms in patients with axSpA, IL-23 blockade was not effective in treating axSpA. Despite that IL-17 inhibition is not effective and even harmful in treating IBD, but it does not seem to increase the incidence of IBD when given to patients with axSpA. It also seems ineffective for uveitis. These findings at the bedside brought new insights at the bench, suggesting tissue heterogeneity of expression and function of IL-23 and IL-17 cytokines. In addition to the classically described IL-23/IL-17 pathway, cells other than T_H17 cells could express IL-17 in an IL-23 independent fashion. Laboratory evidence has suggested a coexistence of IL-23 dependent and independent IL-17 production in human entheseal tissues. Future work should focus on how to dissect these two processes at a clinical level in patients with axSpA, using objective measures for inflammation, such as CRP, MRI, and innovative biomarkers. Whether IL-17 inhibition will impede radiographic progression in patients with axSpA remains inconclusive. Future work should focus on improving study design, outcome measures, and identifying imaging and soluble biomarkers for disease progression.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RW and WM contributed to conception of the review, and conducted literature review. RW and WM wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

and IL-12 in Joint Autoimmune Inflammation. J Exp Med (2003) 198:1951–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030896

- Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE. IL-17 Family Cytokines and the Expanding Diversity of Effector T Cell Lineages. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2007) 25:821–52. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol. 25.022106.141557
- 9. Parham C, Chirica M, Timans J, Vaisberg E, Travis M, Cheung J, et al. A Receptor for the Heterodimeric Cytokine IL-23 Is Composed of IL-12R β 1 and a Novel Cytokine Receptor Subunit, IL-23R. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:5699–708. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.11.5699
- Gaffen SL, Jain R, Garg AV, Cua DJ. The IL-23–IL-17 Immune Axis: From Mechanisms to Therapeutic Testing. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:585–600. doi: 10.1038/nri3707
- 11. Miossec P, Kolls JK. Targeting IL-17 and TH17 Cells in Chronic Inflammation. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2012) 11:763–76. doi: 10.1038/nrd3794
- Huang G, Wang Y, Chi H. Regulation of T H 17 Cell Differentiation by Innate Immune Signals. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2012) 9:287–95. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2012.10
- Shen F, Ruddy MJ, Plamondon P, Gaffen SL. Cytokines Link Osteoblasts and Inflammation: Microarray Analysis of Interleukin-17- and TNF-Alpha-Induced Genes in Bone Cells. J Leukoc Biol (2005) 77:388–99. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0904490
- Yang D, Chertov O, Bykovskaia SN, Chen Q, Buffo MJ, Shogan J, et al. Beta-Defensins: Linking Innate and Adaptive Immunity Through Dendritic and T Cell CCR6. *Science* (1999) 286:525–8. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5439.525
- Ota K, Kawaguchi M, Matsukura S, Kurokawa M, Kokubu F, Fujita J, et al. Potential Involvement of IL-17F in Asthma. J Immunol Res (2014) 2014:602846. doi: 10.1155/2014/602846

- 16. Iboshi Y, Nakamura K, Fukaura K, Iwasa T, Ogino H, Sumida Y, et al. Increased IL-17A/IL-17F Expression Ratio Represents the Key Mucosal T Helper/Regulatory Cell-Related Gene Signature Paralleling Disease Activity in Ulcerative Colitis. J Gastroenterol (2017) 52:315–26. doi: 10.1007/s00535-016-1221-1
- Hot A, Miossec P. Effects of Interleukin (IL)-17A and IL-17F in Human Rheumatoid Arthritis Synoviocytes. Ann Rheum Dis (2011) 70:727–32. doi: 10.1136/ard.2010.143768
- Glatt S, Baeten D, Baker T, Griffiths M, Ionescu L, Lawson ADG, et al. Dual IL-17A and IL-17F Neutralisation by Bimekizumab in Psoriatic Arthritis: Evidence From Preclinical Experiments and a Randomised Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial That IL-17F Contributes to Human Chronic Tissue Inflammation. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77:523–32. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2017-212127
- Shah M, Maroof A, Gikas P, Mittal G, Keen R, Baeten D, et al. Dual Neutralisation of IL-17F and IL-17A With Bimekizumab Blocks Inflammation-Driven Osteogenic Differentiation of Human Periosteal Cells. *RMD Open* (2020) 6(2):e001306. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001306
- Reynolds JM, Lee Y-H, Shi Y, Wang X, Angkasekwinai P, Nallaparaju KC, et al. Interleukin-17b Antagonizes Interleukin-25-Mediated Mucosal Inflammation. *Immunity* (2015) 42:692–703. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.03.008
- Song X, Zhu S, Shi P, Liu Y, Shi Y, Levin SD, et al. IL-17RE Is the Functional Receptor for IL-17C and Mediates Mucosal Immunity to Infection With Intestinal Pathogens. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:1151–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2155
- 22. Chen S, Manning C, van Tok M, Maeda Y, Montoro D, Kim J, et al. Interleukin-17D, A Cytokine Derived From Stromal Cells, Attenuates Joint Inflammation. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2020) 72 (suppl 10).
- Kleinschek MA, Owyang AM, Joyce-Shaikh B, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Gorman DM, et al. IL-25 Regulates Th17 Function in Autoimmune Inflammation. J Exp Med (2007) 204:161–70. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20061738
- Puel A, Cypowyj S, Bustamante J, Wright JF, Liu L, Lim HK, et al. Chronic Mucocutaneous Candidiasis in Humans With Inborn Errors of Interleukin-17 Immunity. *Science* (2011) 332:65–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1200439
- Boisson B, Wang C, Pedergnana V, Wu L, Cypowyj S, Rybojad M, et al. An ACT1 Mutation Selectively Abolishes Interleukin-17 Responses in Humans With Chronic Mucocutaneous Candidiasis. *Immunity* (2013) 39:676–86. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.09.002
- Puel A, Döffinger R, Natividad A, Chrabieh M, Barcenas-Morales G, Picard C, et al. Autoantibodies Against IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in Patients With Chronic Mucocutaneous Candidiasis and Autoimmune Polyendocrine Syndrome Type I. J Exp Med (2010) 207:291–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091983
- Minegishi Y, Saito M, Tsuchiya S, Tsuge I, Takada H, Hara T, et al. Dominant-Negative Mutations in the DNA-Binding Domain of STAT3 Cause Hyper-Ige Syndrome. *Nature* (2007) 448:1058–62. doi: 10.1038/ nature06096
- Australo-Anglo-American Spondyloarthritis Consortium (TASC), Reveille JD, Sims A-M, Danoy P, Evans DM, Leo P, et al. Genome-Wide Association Study of Ankylosing Spondylitis Identifies Non-MHC Susceptibility Loci. *Nat Genet* (2010) 42:123–7. doi: 10.1038/ng.513
- Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies IL23R as an Inflammatory Bowel Disease Gene. *Science* (2006) 314:1461–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1135245
- Cargill M, Schrodi SJ, Chang M, Garcia VE, Brandon R, Callis KP, et al. A Large-Scale Genetic Association Study Confirms IL12B and Leads to the Identification of IL23R as Psoriasis-Risk Genes. *Am J Hum Genet* (2007) 80:273–90. doi: 10.1086/511051
- 31. Hou S, Du L, Lei B, Pang CP, Zhang M, Zhuang W, et al. Genome-Wide Association Analysis of Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada Syndrome Identifies Two New Susceptibility Loci at 1p31.2 and 10q21.3. *Nat Genet* (2014) 46:1007– 11. doi: 10.1038/ng.3061
- 32. Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, Australo-Anglo-American Spondylitis Consortium (TASC), Burton PR, Clayton DG, Cardon LR, Craddock N, et al. Association Scan of 14,500 Nonsynonymous Snps in Four Diseases Identifies Autoimmunity Variants. *Nat Genet* (2007) 39:1329– 37. doi: 10.1038/ng.2007.17
- 33. Zhong B, Liu X, Wang X, Chang SH, Liu X, Wang A, et al. Negative Regulation of IL-17-Mediated Signaling and Inflammation by the Ubiquitin-

Specific Protease USP25. Nat Immunol (2012) 13:1110-7. doi: 10.1038/ ni.2427

- Sherlock JP, Joyce-Shaikh B, Turner SP, Chao C-C, Sathe M, Grein J, et al. IL-23 Induces Spondyloarthropathy by Acting on ROR-Γt + CD3 + CD4 – CD8 – Entheseal Resident T Cells. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1069–76. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2817
- 35. Reinhardt A, Yevsa T, Worbs T, Lienenklaus S, Sandrock I, Oberdörfer L, et al. Interleukin-23–Dependent Γ/Δ T Cells Produce Interleukin-17 and Accumulate in the Enthesis, Aortic Valve, and Ciliary Body in Mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68:2476–86. doi: 10.1002/art.39732
- Adamopoulos IE, Tessmer M, Chao C-C, Adda S, Gorman D, Petro M, et al. IL-23 Is Critical for Induction of Arthritis, Osteoclast Formation, and Maintenance of Bone Mass. J Immunol (2011) 187:951–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1003986
- 37. Ruutu M, Thomas G, Steck R, Degli-Esposti MA, Zinkernagel MS, Alexander K, et al. β -Glucan Triggers Spondylarthritis and Crohn's Disease–Like Ileitis in SKG Mice. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64:2211–22. doi: 10.1002/art.34423
- 38. van Tok MN, Na S, Lao CR, Alvi M, Pots D, van de MGH, et al. The Initiation, But Not the Persistence, of Experimental Spondyloarthritis Is Dependent on Interleukin-23 Signaling. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1550. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01550
- 39. van Tok MN, van Duivenvoorde LM, Kramer I, Ingold P, Pfister S, Roth L, et al. Interleukin-17A Inhibition Diminishes Inflammation and New Bone Formation in Experimental Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2019) 71:612–25. doi: 10.1002/art.40770
- Appel H, Maier R, Bleil J, Hempfing A, Loddenkemper C, Schlichting U, et al. *In Situ* Analysis of Interleukin-23- and Interleukin-12–Positive Cells in the Spine of Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65:1522–9. doi: 10.1002/art.37937
- 41. Appel H, Maier R, Wu P, Scheer R, Hempfing A, Kayser R, et al. Analysis of IL-17+Cells in Facet Joints of Patients With Spondyloarthritis Suggests That the Innate Immune Pathway Might Be of Greater Relevance Than the Th17-Mediated Adaptive Immune Response. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2011) 13:R95. doi: 10.1186/ar3370
- 42. Kenna TJ, Davidson SI, Duan R, Bradbury LA, McFarlane J, Smith M, et al. Enrichment of Circulating Interleukin-17–Secreting Interleukin-23 Receptor–Positive Γ/Δ T Cells in Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64:1420–9. doi: 10.1002/art.33507
- van der Linden S, Valkenburg HA, Cats A. Evaluation of Diagnostic Criteria for Ankylosing Spondylitis. A Proposal for Modification of the New York Criteria. Arthritis Rheum (1984) 27:361–8. doi: 10.1002/art.1780270401
- 44. Sieper J, Rudwaleit M, Baraliakos X, Brandt J, Braun J, Burgos-Vargas R, et al. The Assessment of Spondyloarthritis International Society (ASAS) Handbook: A Guide to Assess Spondyloarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2009) 68 (Suppl 2):ii1–44. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.104018
- 45. Garrett S, Jenkinson T, Kennedy LG, Whitelock H, Gaisford P, Calin A. A New Approach to Defining Disease Status in Ankylosing Spondylitis: The Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index. J Rheumatol (1994) 21:2286–91.
- 46. Calin A, Garrett S, Whitelock H, Kennedy LG, O'Hea J, Mallorie P, et al. A New Approach to Defining Functional Ability in Ankylosing Spondylitis: The Development of the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index. *J Rheumatol* (1994) 21:2281–5.
- 47. Lukas C, Landewe R, Sieper J, Dougados M, Davis J, Braun J, et al. Development of an ASAS-Endorsed Disease Activity Score (ASDAS) in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis (2008) 68:18–24. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.094870
- Maksymowych WP, Inman RD, Salonen D, Dhillon SS, Krishnananthan R, Stone M, et al. Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada Magnetic Resonance Imaging Index for Assessment of Sacroiliac Joint Inflammation in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 53:703–9. doi: 10.1002/ art.21445
- Maksymowych WP, Inman RD, Salonen D, Dhillon SS, Williams M, Stone M, et al. Spondyloarthritis Research Consortium of Canada Magnetic Resonance Imaging Index for Assessment of Spinal Inflammation in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 53:502–9. doi: 10.1002/ art.21337

- Creemers MCW, Franssen MJAM, van't Hof MA, Gribnau FWJ, van de Putte LBA, van Riel PLCM. Assessment of Outcome in Ankylosing Spondylitis: An Extended Radiographic Scoring System. Ann Rheum Dis (2005) 64:127–9. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.020503
- Baeten D, Sieper J, Braun J, Baraliakos X, Dougados M, Emery P, et al. Secukinumab, an Interleukin-17A Inhibitor, in Ankylosing Spondylitis. N Engl J Med (2015) 373:2534–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1505066
- Baraliakos X, Braun J, Deodhar A, Poddubnyy D, Kivitz A, Tahir H, et al. Long-Term Efficacy and Safety of Secukinumab 150 Mg in Ankylosing Spondylitis: 5-Year Results From the Phase III MEASURE 1 Extension Study. *RMD Open* (2019) 5:e001005. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2019-001005
- 53. Deodhar A, Blanco R, Dokoupilová E, Hall S, Kameda H, Kivitz AJ, et al. Improvement of Signs and Symptoms of Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis in Patients Treated With Secukinumab: Primary Results of a Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Phase III Study. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2021) 73:110–20. doi: 10.1002/art.41477
- 54. van der Heijde D, Cheng-Chung Wei J, Dougados M, Mease P, Deodhar A, Maksymowych WP, et al. Ixekizumab, an Interleukin-17A Antagonist in the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis or Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis in Patients Previously Untreated With Biological Disease-Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (COAST-V): 16 Week Results of a Phase 3 Randomised, Double-Blind, Active-Controlled and Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Lancet* (2018) 392:2441–51. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31946-9
- 55. Deodhar A, Poddubnyy D, Pacheco-Tena C, Salvarani C, Lespessailles E, Rahman P, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Ixekizumab in the Treatment of Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis: Sixteen-Week Results From a Phase III Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial in Patients With Prior Inadequate Response to or Intolerance of Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitors. Arthritis Rheumatol (2019) 71:599–611. doi: 10.1002/art.40753
- Dougados M, Wei JC-C, Landewé R, Sieper J, Baraliakos X, Van den Bosch F, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Ixekizumab Through 52 Weeks in Two Phase 3, Randomised, Controlled Clinical Trials in Patients With Active Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis (COAST-V and COAST-W). Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79:176–85. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216118
- Braun J, Baraliakos X, Listing J, Sieper J. Decreased Incidence of Anterior Uveitis in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis Treated With the Anti– Tumor Necrosis Factor Agents Infliximab and Etanercept. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52:2447–51. doi: 10.1002/art.21197
- Braun J, Baraliakos X, Listing J, Davis J, Heijde D, Haibel H, et al. Differences in the Incidence of Flares or New Onset of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis Exposed to Therapy With Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Agents. *Arthritis Rheum* (2007) 57:639–47. doi: 10.1002/art.22669
- Deodhar A, van der Heijde D, Gensler LS, Kim T-H, Maksymowych WP, Østergaard M, et al. Ixekizumab for Patients With non-Radiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis (COAST-X): A Randomised, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Lancet* (2020) 395:53–64. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32971-X
- 60. Landewé RB, Gensler LS, Poddubnyy D, Rahman P, Hojnik M, Li X, et al. Continuing Versus Withdrawing Ixekizumab Treatment in Patients With Axial Spondyloarthritis Who Achieved Remission: Efficacy and Safety Results From a Placebo-Controlled, Randomised Withdrawal Study (COAST-Y). Ann Rheum Dis (2021) 80(8):1022–30. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2020-219717
- 61. van der Heijde D, Gensler LS, Deodhar A, Baraliakos X, Poddubnyy D, Kivitz A, et al. Dual Neutralisation of Interleukin-17A and Interleukin-17F With Bimekizumab in Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis: Results From a 48-Week Phase Iib, Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Dose-Ranging Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79:595–604. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2020-216980
- 62. Erdes S, Nasonov E, Kunder E, Pristrom A, Soroka N, Shesternya P, et al. Primary Efficacy of Netakimab, a Novel Interleukin-17 Inhibitor, in the Treatment of Active Ankylosing Spondylitis in Adults. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2020) 38:27–34.
- 63. Deodhar A, Mease PJ, McInnes IB, Baraliakos X, Reich K, Blauvelt A, et al. Long-Term Safety of Secukinumab in Patients With Moderate-to-Severe Plaque Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis, and Ankylosing Spondylitis: Integrated Pooled Clinical Trial and Post-Marketing Surveillance Data. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2019) 21:111. doi: 10.1186/s13075-019-1882-2

- 64. Genovese MC, Mysler E, Tomita T, Papp KA, Salvarani C, Schwartzman S, et al. Safety of Ixekizumab in Adult Patients With Plaque Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis and Axial Spondyloarthritis: Data From 21 Clinical Trials. *Rheumatol (Oxf)* (2020) 59:3834–44. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa189
- 65. Michelsen B, Lindström U, Codreanu C, Ciurea A, Zavada J, Loft AG, et al. Drug Retention, Inactive Disease and Response Rates in 1860 Patients With Axial Spondyloarthritis Initiating Secukinumab Treatment: Routine Care Data From 13 Registries in the Eurospa Collaboration. *RMD Open* (2020) 6 (3):e001280. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2020-001280
- 66. Cruyssen BV, Ribbens C, Boonen A, Mielants H, Vlam K, Lenaerts J, et al. The Epidemiology of Ankylosing Spondylitis and the Commencement of Anti-TNF Therapy in Daily Rheumatology Practice. Ann Rheum Dis (2007) 66:1072–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2006.064543
- 67. Baraliakos X, Gossec L, Pournara E, Jeka S, Mera-Varela A, D'Angelo S, et al. Secukinumab in Patients With Psoriatic Arthritis and Axial Manifestations: Results From the Double-Blind, Randomised, Phase 3 MAXIMISE Trial. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 80(5):582–90. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218808
- 68. Braun J, Baraliakos X, Hermann K-G, Landewé R, Machado PM, Maksymowych WP, et al. Effect of Certolizumab Pegol Over 96 Weeks of Treatment on Inflammation of the Spine and Sacroiliac Joints, as Measured by MRI, and the Association Between Clinical and MRI Outcomes in Patients With Axial Spondyloarthritis. *RMD Open* (2017) 3:e000430. doi: 10.1136/rmdopen-2017-000430
- Dick AD, Tugal-Tutkun I, Foster S, Zierhut M, Melissa Liew SH, Bezlyak V, et al. Secukinumab in the Treatment of Noninfectious Uveitis: Results of Three Randomized, Controlled Clinical Trials. *Ophthalmology* (2013) 120:777–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2012.09.040
- Letko E, Yeh S, Foster CS, Pleyer U, Brigell M, Grosskreutz CL, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Intravenous Secukinumab in Noninfectious Uveitis Requiring Steroid-Sparing Immunosuppressive Therapy. *Ophthalmology* (2015) 122:939–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.12.033
- Deodhar AA, Miceli-Richard C, Baraliakos X, Marzo-Ortega H, Gladman DD, Blanco R, et al. Incidence of Uveitis in Secukinumab-Treated Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: Pooled Data Analysis From Three Phase 3 Studies. ACR Open Rheumatol (2020) 2:294–9. doi: 10. 1002/acr2.11139
- 72. Lindström U, Bengtsson K, Olofsson T, Di Giuseppe D, Glintborg B, Forsblad-d'Elia H, et al. Anterior Uveitis in Patients With Spondyloarthritis Treated With Secukinumab or Tumour Necrosis Factor Inhibitors in Routine Care: Does the Choice of Biological Therapy Matter? Ann Rheum Dis (2021), annrheumdis–2021-220420. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2021-220420
- 73. Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PDR, et al. Secukinumab, a Human Anti-IL-17A Monoclonal Antibody, for Moderate to Severe Crohn's Disease: Unexpected Results of a Randomised, Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Gut* (2012) 61:1693– 700. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301668
- 74. Targan SR, Feagan BG, Vermeire S, Panaccione R, Melmed GY, Blosch C, et al. Mo2083 a Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study to Evaluate the Safety, Tolerability, and Efficacy of AMG 827 in Subjects With Moderate to Severe Crohn's Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143:e26. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.07.084
- 75. O'Connor W, Kamanaka M, Booth CJ, Town T, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, et al. A Protective Function for Interleukin 17A in T Cell-Mediated Intestinal Inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:603–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.1736
- Ogawa A, Andoh A, Araki Y, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y. Neutralization of Interleukin-17 Aggravates Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Colitis in Mice. *Clin Immunol* (2004) 110:55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2003.09.013
- 77. Lee JS, Tato CM, Joyce-Shaikh B, Gulen MF, Gulan F, Cayatte C, et al. Interleukin-23-Independent IL-17 Production Regulates Intestinal Epithelial Permeability. *Immunity* (2015) 43:727–38. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2015.09.003
- Tang C, Kakuta S, Shimizu K, Kadoki M, Kamiya T, Shimazu T, et al. Suppression of IL-17F, But Not of IL-17A, Provides Protection Against Colitis by Inducing Treg Cells Through Modification of the Intestinal Microbiota. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19:755–65. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0134-y
- 79. Wright S, Alloo A, Strunk A, Garg A. Real-World Risk of New-Onset Inflammatory Bowel Disease Among Patients With Psoriasis Exposed to

Interleukin 17 Inhibitors. J Am Acad Dermatol (2020) 83:382-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.010

- Reich K, Leonardi C, Langley RG, Warren RB, Bachelez H, Romiti R, et al. Inflammatory Bowel Disease Among Patients With Psoriasis Treated With Ixekizumab: A Presentation of Adjudicated Data From an Integrated Database of 7 Randomized Controlled and Uncontrolled Trials. J Am Acad Dermatol (2017) 76:441–8.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2016.10.027
- 81. Schreiber S, Colombel J-F, Feagan BG, Reich K, Deodhar AA, McInnes IB, et al. Incidence Rates of Inflammatory Bowel Disease in Patients With Psoriasis, Psoriatic Arthritis and Ankylosing Spondylitis Treated With Secukinumab: A Retrospective Analysis of Pooled Data From 21 Clinical Trials. Ann Rheum Dis (2019) 78:473–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-214273
- Manasson J, Wallach DS, Guggino G, Stapylton M, Badri MH, Solomon G, et al. Interleukin-17 Inhibition in Spondyloarthritis Is Associated With Subclinical Gut Microbiome Perturbations and a Distinctive Interleukin-25-Driven Intestinal Inflammation. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2020) 72:645–57. doi: 10.1002/art.41169
- Su J, Chen T, Ji X-Y, Liu C, Yadav PK, Wu R, et al. IL-25 Downregulates Th1/ Th17 Immune Response in an IL-10-Dependent Manner in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2013) 19:720–8. doi: 10.1097/ MIB.0b013e3182802a76
- Baeten D, Østergaard M, Wei JC-C, Sieper J, Järvinen P, Tam L-S, et al. Risankizumab, an IL-23 Inhibitor, for Ankylosing Spondylitis: Results of a Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Proof-of-Concept, Dose-Finding Phase 2 Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77:1295–302. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2018-213328
- Krueger JG, Ferris LK, Menter A, Wagner F, White A, Visvanathan S, et al. Anti-IL-23A Mab BI 655066 for Treatment of Moderate-to-Severe Psoriasis: Safety, Efficacy, Pharmacokinetics, and Biomarker Results of a Single-Rising-Dose, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2015) 136:116–24.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.01.018
- Papp KA, Blauvelt A, Bukhalo M, Gooderham M, Krueger JG, Lacour J-P, et al. Risankizumab Versus Ustekinumab for Moderate-to-Severe Plaque Psoriasis. N Engl J Med (2017) 376:1551–60. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1607017
- Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, Panés J, Kaser A, Ferrante M, et al. Induction Therapy With the Selective Interleukin-23 Inhibitor Risankizumab in Patients With Moderate-to-Severe Crohn's Disease: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Phase 2 Study. *Lancet* (2017) 389:1699–709. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30570-6
- Mease PJ, Kellner H, Morita A, Kivitz AJ, Papp KA, Aslanyan S, et al. OP0307 Efficacy and Safety of Risankizumab, a Selective Il-23p19 Inhibitor, in Patients With Active Psoriatic Arthritis Over 24 Weeks: Results From a Phase 2 Trial. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77:200–1. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-eular.2140
- Poddubnyy D, Hermann K-GA, Callhoff J, Listing J, Sieper J. Ustekinumab for the Treatment of Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis: Results of a 28-Week, Prospective, Open-Label, Proof-of-Concept Study (TOPAS). *Ann Rheum Dis* (2014) 73:817–23. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204248
- Deodhar A, Gensler LS, Sieper J, Clark M, Calderon C, Wang Y, et al. Three Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Studies Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of Ustekinumab in Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2019) 71:258–70. doi: 10.1002/ art.40728
- van den Berg R, de Hooge M, Bakker PAC, van Gaalen F, Navarro-Compán V, Fagerli KM, et al. Metric Properties of the SPARCC Score of the Sacroiliac Joints - Data From Baseline, 3-Month, and 12-Month Followup in the SPACE Cohort. J Rheumatol (2015) 42:1186–93. doi: 10.3899/ jrheum.140806
- 92. Mease PJ, Helliwell PS, Gladman DD, Poddubnyy D, Baraliakos X, Chakravarty SD, et al. Efficacy of Guselkumab on Axial Involvement in Patients With Active Psoriatic Arthritis and Sacroiliitis: A Post-Hoc Analysis of the Phase 3 DISCOVER-1 and DISCOVER-2 Studies. *Lancet Rheumatol* (2021). doi: 10.1016/S2665-9913(21)00105-3
- 93. Helliwell P, Gladman DD, Poddubnyy D, Mease PJ, Baraliakos X, Kollmeier A, et al. Op0054 Efficacy of Guselkumab, a Monoclonal Antibody That Specifically Binds to the P19-Subunit of Il-23, on Endpoints Related to Axial Involvement in Patients With Active Psa With Imaging-Confirmed Sacroiliitis: Week-24 Results From Two Phase 3, Randomized, Double-

Blind, Placebo-Controlled Studies. Ann Rheum Dis (2020) 79:36-7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-eular.474

- 94. Cuthbert RJ, Watad A, Fragkakis EM, Dunsmuir R, Loughenbury P, Khan A, et al. Evidence That Tissue Resident Human Enthesis Γδt-Cells can Produce IL-17A Independently of IL-23R Transcript Expression. Ann Rheum Dis (2019) 78:1559–65. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-215210
- 95. Gracey E, Qaiyum Z, Almaghlouth I, Lawson D, Karki S, Avvaru N, et al. IL-7 Primes IL-17 in Mucosal-Associated Invariant T (MAIT) Cells, Which Contribute to the Th17-Axis in Ankylosing Spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis (2016) 75:2124–32. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-208902
- 96. Benham H, Rehaume LM, Hasnain SZ, Velasco J, Baillet AC, Ruutu M, et al. Interleukin-23 Mediates the Intestinal Response to Microbial β-1,3-Glucan and the Development of Spondyloarthritis Pathology in SKG Mice. Arthritis Rheumatol (2014) 66:1755–67. doi: 10.1002/art.38638
- 97. Cornelissen F, Asmawidjaja PS, Mus AMC, Corneth O, Kikly K, Lubberts E, et al. IL-23 Dependent and Independent Stages of Experimental Arthritis: No Clinical Effect of Therapeutic IL-23p19 Inhibition in Collagen-Induced Arthritis. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e57553. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057553
- Sato K, Suematsu A, Okamoto K, Yamaguchi A, Morishita Y, Kadono Y, et al. Th17 Functions as an Osteoclastogenic Helper T Cell Subset That Links T Cell Activation and Bone Destruction. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2673–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061775
- 99. Kotake S, Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Matsuzaki K, Itoh K, Ishiyama S, et al. IL-17 in Synovial Fluids From Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis Is a Potent Stimulator of Osteoclastogenesis. J Clin Invest (1999) 103:1345–52. doi: 10.1172/JCI5703
- 100. Uluçkan Ö, Jimenez M, Karbach S, Jeschke A, Graña O, Keller J, et al. Chronic Skin Inflammation Leads to Bone Loss by IL-17–Mediated Inhibition of Wnt Signaling in Osteoblasts. *Sci Trans Med* (2016) 8:330ra37–330ra37. doi: 10.1126/ scitransImed.aad8996
- 101. Shaw AT, Maeda Y, Gravallese EM. IL-17A Deficiency Promotes Periosteal Bone Formation in a Model of Inflammatory Arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2016) 18:104. doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-0998-x
- Adamopoulos IE, Chao C, Geissler R, Laface D, Blumenschein W, Iwakura Y, et al. Interleukin-17A Upregulates Receptor Activator of NF-kb on Osteoclast Precursors. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2010) 12:R29. doi: 10.1186/ar2936
- 103. Nam D, Mau E, Wang Y, Wright D, Silkstone D, Whetstone H, et al. T-Lymphocytes Enable Osteoblast Maturation via IL-17F During the Early Phase of Fracture Repair. PloS One (2012) 7:e40044. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0040044
- 104. Ono T, Okamoto K, Nakashima T, Nitta T, Hori S, Iwakura Y, et al. IL-17-Producing $\Gamma\delta$ T Cells Enhance Bone Regeneration. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:10928. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10928
- 105. Croes M, Öner FC, van Neerven D, Sabir E, Kruyt MC, Blokhuis TJ, et al. Proinflammatory T Cells and IL-17 Stimulate Osteoblast Differentiation. Bone (2016) 84:262–70. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2016.01.010
- 106. Russell T, Watad A, Bridgewood C, Rowe H, Khan A, Rao A, et al. IL-17A and TNF Modulate Normal Human Spinal Entheseal Bone and Soft Tissue Mesenchymal Stem Cell Osteogenesis, Adipogenesis, and Stromal Function. *Cells* (2021) 10:341. doi: 10.3390/cells10020341
- 107. Gravallese EM, Schett G. Effects of the IL-23-IL-17 Pathway on Bone in Spondyloarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2018) 14:631-40. doi: 10.1038/ s41584-018-0091-8
- Ebihara S, Date F, Dong Y, Ono M. Interleukin-17 Is a Critical Target for the Treatment of Ankylosing Enthesitis and Psoriasis-Like Dermatitis in Mice. *Autoimmunity* (2015) 48:259–66. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2014.976630
- Braun J, Baraliakos X, Deodhar A, Baeten D, Sieper J, Emery P, et al. Effect of Secukinumab on Clinical and Radiographic Outcomes in Ankylosing Spondylitis:
 2-Year Results From the Randomised Phase III MEASURE 1 Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76:1070–7. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209730
- 110. Braun J, Baraliakos X, Deodhar A, Poddubnyy D, Emery P, Delicha EM, et al. Secukinumab Shows Sustained Efficacy and Low Structural Progression in Ankylosing Spondylitis: 4-Year Results From the MEASURE 1 Study. *Rheumatol (Oxf)* (2019) 58:859–68. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/key375
- 111. Braun J, Haibel H, de Hooge M, Landewé R, Rudwaleit M, Fox T, et al. Spinal Radiographic Progression Over 2 Years in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients Treated With Secukinumab: A Historical Cohort Comparison. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2019) 21(1):142. doi: 10.1186/s13075-019-1911-1

- 112. Wanders A, Landewé R, Spoorenberg A, de Vlam K, Mielants H, Dougados M, et al. Scoring of Radiographic Progression in Randomised Clinical Trials in Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Preference for Paired Reading Order. Ann Rheum Dis (2004) 63:1601–4. doi: 10.1136/ard.2004.022038
- 113. Wanders AJB, Landewé RBM, Spoorenberg A, Dougados M, van der Linden S, Mielants H, et al. What Is the Most Appropriate Radiologic Scoring Method for Ankylosing Spondylitis? *Arthritis Rheum* (2004) 50:2622–32. doi: 10.1002/art.20446

Conflict of Interest: RW is the Founder of Garden State Rheumatology Consultants. WM is Chief Medical Officer of CARE Arthritis, has received research grants and consultancy fees from AbbVie, Novartis and Pfizer; and consultancy fees from Boehringer Ingelheim, Celgene, Galapagos, Gilead, Janssen, Lilly, Novartis, Pfizer and UCB Pharma. **Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Wang and Maksymowych. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Paradoxical Augmentation of Experimental Spondyloarthritis by RORC Inhibition in HLA-B27 Transgenic Rats

Melissa N. van Tok^{1,2}, Mohamed Mandour^{1,2*}, Joseph Wahle³, Mark E. Labadia³, Marleen G. H. van de Sande^{1,2}, Gerald Nabozny³, Dominique L. Baeten^{1,2} and Leonie M. van Duivenvoorde^{1,2}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Amita Aggarwal, Sanjay Gandhi Post Graduate Institute of Medical Sciences (SGPGI), India David Yu, University of California, Los Angeles, United States

*Correspondence:

Mohamed Mandour m.a.f.m.m.mandour@ amsterdamumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 April 2021 Accepted: 15 July 2021 Published: 06 September 2021

Citation:

van Tok MN, Mandour M, Wahle J, Labadia ME, van de Sande MGH, Nabozny G, Baeten DL and van Duivenvoorde LM (2021) Paradoxical Augmentation of Experimental Spondyloarthritis by RORC Inhibition in HLA-B27 Transgenic Rats. Front. Immunol. 12:699987. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.699987 ¹ Department of Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology, Amsterdam Rheumatology & Immunology Center (ARC), Amsterdam University Medical Centers (UMC), Location Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Department of Experimental Immunology, Infection and Immunity Institute, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Location AMC, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ³ Immunology and Respiratory Diseases, Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc., Ridgefield, CT, United States

Objective: IL-17A plays a major role in the pathogenesis of spondyloarthritis (SpA). Here we assessed the impact of inhibition of RAR related orphan receptor- γ (RORC), the key transcription factor controlling IL-17 production, on experimental SpA in HLA-B27 transgenic (tg) rats.

Methods: Experimental SpA was induced by immunization of HLA-B27 tg rats with heatinactivated *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Splenocytes obtained at day 7, 14 and 21 after immunization were restimulated *ex vivo* to assess the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Rats were then prophylactically treated with a RORC inhibitor *versus* vehicle control. The biologic effect of RORC inhibition was assessed by pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in draining lymph nodes. Arthritis and spondylitis were monitored clinically, and the degree of peripheral and axial inflammation, destruction and new bone formation was confirmed by histology.

Results: *Ex vivo* mRNA and protein analyses revealed the rapid and selective induction of IL-17A and IL-22 production by a variety of lymphocyte subsets upon disease induction in HLA-B27 tg rats. Prophylactic RORC inhibition *in vivo* suppressed the expression of IL-17A, IL17F, and IL-22 without affecting the expression of other T helper cell subset related genes. This biological effect did not translate into clinical efficacy as RORC inhibition significantly accelerated the onset of arthritis and spondylitis, and aggravated the clinical severity of arthritis. This worsening of experimental SpA was confirmed by histopathological demonstration of increased inflammation, destruction, and new bone formation.

Conclusion: Despite a significant suppression of the IL-17 axis, RORC inhibitor treatment accelerates and aggravates experimental SpA in the HLA-B27 tg rat model.

Keywords: spondyloarthritis, IL-17A, RORC, IL-22, HLA-B27 transgenic rats

INTRODUCTION

The IL-17 axis plays an important role in the immunopathology of spondyloarthritis (SpA) as indicated by a wealth of genetic, immunopathological, experimental, and translational evidence (1). Randomized clinical trials have formally demonstrated the role of IL-17A, the prototypical IL-17 cytokine, in human SpA. Treatment with Secukinumab (anti-IL-17A mAb) reduced signs and symptoms of ankylosing spondylitis (AS) as well as of psoriatic arthritis (PsA), the major forms of axial and peripheral SpA, respectively (2, 3). Similarly, ixekizumab has proven clinical efficacy in PsA (4) and AS (4). Recent evidence, however, suggests that other cytokines of the IL-17A family, with as prime example IL-17F, can contribute to inflammation in SpA (5). Albeit not proven clinically, animal models have also suggested a potential role for IL-22 (6, 7). This raises the question whether targeting other molecules in the IL-17 axis could enhance clinical efficacy above and beyond selective IL-17A blockade.

One of the key molecules controlling the production of IL-17A and related cytokines is the transcription factor retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor RORyt (murine) or RORC (the human homologue). RORC is involved in the production and regulation of IL-17A by different cell types including Th17 cells (8), $\gamma\delta$ T cells (9), innate lymphoid cells (10). In animal models a distinctive group of RORyt+ Tregs that is vital to maintain gastrointestinal homeostasis and avoid colitis (11-13). Moreover, it is crucial in orchestrating the differentiation of naïve CD4 T cells to Th17 cells (8). Enhanced gene transcription of RORC increases IL-17A production in a T cell line and human primary cells (14-16), whereas blockade of RORC in human CD4 T cells suppresses IL-17A and other inflammatory cytokines, including IL-17F and IL-22 (17, 18). Expression of IL-23R, CCR6, and IL-26 were also decreased upon RORC inhibition in Th17 cells, without affecting the gene signature of other T helper cell types (18, 19). Genetic lack of RORyt protected mice against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), induced defects in Th17 differentiation and prevented T-cell-transfermediated colitis (8, 20). Pre-clinical studies in animal models, including imiquimod-induced psoriasis (21), spontaneous colonic inflammation (22), antigen induced arthritis (17), EAE (23), and experimental autoimmune uveitis (EAU) (24), confirmed that RORC inhibition markedly reduces local and systemic IL-17A levels and decreases tissue inflammation. Moreover, expression of IL-17F and IL-22 was also reduced upon in vivo RORC inhibition (21, 23). These findings indicate that RORC could be an interesting therapeutic target in IL-17A dependent pathology, blocking not only IL-17A but also related pro-inflammatory cytokines.

In this study, we aimed to assess RORC as potential therapeutic target in SpA by studying the effects of a small molecule RORC inhibitor in experimental SpA in HLA-B27 transgenic (tg) rats, a well validated model for human SpA (25–27). As we previously showed that both initiation and disease persistence in this model is partially but not completely inhibited by IL-17A blockade (28), we used this model to

assess how RORC inhibition affects a panel of IL-17 related cytokines *in vivo* and if this biological effect translates into clinical efficacy.

METHODS

Animals

The inducible HLA-B27 tg x beta-2 microglobulin (B2M) tg rat model has been described previously (27). Briefly, the Tg (HLA-B*2705,B2M) 21-3Reh and Tg(B2M) 283-2Reh rat lines (25) on Lewis background were bred and housed (3 per cage) in individually ventilated cages at the animal research institute AMC. Six weeks-old F1[21-3x283-2] animals were immunized with low dose (30-90 µg depending on sex and housing conditions) heat-inactivated Mycobacterium tuberculosis (MTB) (Difco, Detroit, MI) in 100 µl Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant (IFA) (Chondrex) via subcutaneous injection in the tail base. The immunization strategy using heat-inactivated Mycobacterium tuberculosis as a broad innate immune receptor trigger. In the HLA-B27 tg rats, immunization using 30-60 µg M. tuberculosis was sufficient to induce spondylitis and arthritis in both male and female rats (80-100%). Without immunization spontaneous development of spondylitis and arthritis appeared in 40% of the male rats around 9 months of age in the presence of a severe autoimmune epididymoorchitis which is clinically manifested in 100% of the male rats at 3 months of age. Clinical disease (arthritis and spondylitis) appears 20-30 days after immunization. All animal experiments were approved by the AMC Animal Care and Use Committee, in line with national and international regulations and guidelines. The data presented are the data of two separated experiments combined.

Ex Vivo Restimulation Experiments

Mononuclear cells from spleen were isolated from F1[21-3x283-2] rats at day 7, 14, 21 after immunization with MTB in IFA (n=4/time point). At each time point two non-immunized rats matched by age and gender, were taken along as control. The non-immunized rats (n=6) were pooled for all analyses. Cells were used either unstimulated or after ex vivo restimulation with 10 ng/ml PMA and 1 µg/ml ionomycin for 6 hours. Using splenocytes, mRNA expression was measured using Tagman assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for il17a (assay ID Rn01757168_m1), tnf (assay ID Rn99999017_m1) and ifng (assay ID Rn00594078_m1) with gapdh (assay ID Rn01775763_g1) as housekeeping gene. Data were analyzed according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (29). IL-17A, TNF, and IFNy protein secretion was measured by ELISAs in the culture supernatant stimulated for 24 hours (Thermo Fisher Scientific IL-17A ELISA kit #88-7170-88; R&D duoset IFNy ELISA #DY-585). Intracellular protein expression of IL-17A and IFNy (versus isotype control) by different lymphocyte subsets was assessed by FACS in splenocytes stimulated overnight (in the presence of 10 µg/ml Brefeldin for the final 4 hours). Data was recorded using a FACS Canto II and analyzed using FlowJo software.

In Vivo RORC Inhibition

The RORC inhibitor BI119 (Boehringer-Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc., Ridgefield, CT, USA) was discovered by screening a small-molecule compound library. BI119 strongly bound to the human RORvt ligand-binding domain (LBD) and was active in an RORyt LBD reporter assay (Kd for RORy LBD -65 nM; IC50 for RORy LBD reporter assay 260 nM). The compound showed high selectivity towards RORyt as demonstrated by a lack of significant activity against RORa (IC50 > 10 μ M) and RORb (IC50 > 6 μ M). Rats (n=6/group) received 30 mg/kg RORC inhibitor dissolved in NatrosolTM 250 Hydroxyethylcellulose (further referred to as Natrosol) (Ashland Specialty Ingredients #88-7170-88) or Natrosol alone twice daily via oral gavage. Assignment to treatment was random and per cage to avoid cross contamination via feces. Treatment started one week after immunization and continued for five weeks. Experiment was done twice with 6 rats/group.

Serum Exposure Measurement

Serum samples were collected *via* Saphenous vein puncture, 2 hours after the morning dose at day 31 and before the morning dose at day 32 post immunization. The concentration of BI114 was determined by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry analysis.

Downstream Cytokine Analyses

After *in vivo* treatment, RNA was isolated from popliteal lymph nodes using TRIzol. Samples were analyzed with a rat Th17 qPCR array according to the manufacturers protocol (Qiagen # PARN-073Z). Selective genes were confirmed by regular qPCR with SYBR green primers for IL-17A, IL-22, IL-17F, IL-13 and GAPDH as housekeeping gene (all primer sequences are available upon request). Data were analyzed according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method (29).

Clinical Scoring of Arthritis and Spondylitis

The presence of arthritis in the paws was determined clinically and digital hind paw swelling was measured with plethysmometry. Arthritis severity in each paw was graded 0-3 as described before (27). Cumulative clinical scores were calculated for severity analysis. Swelling in cm³ was normalized to the days before disease onset. Spondylitis was determined clinically by swelling and bumps in the tail and scored yes/no. In case of humane endpoints, due to ethical considerations, rats were sacrificed with the last observation carried forward. Humane endpoints were defined as 15% bodyweight loss or two completely swollen paws. One rat in the vehicle treated group was sacrificed due to reaching the humane endpoint for bodyweight loss. Clinical scoring was performed by one observer, blinded for treatment.

Histology

Hind paws and tails were decalcified in Osteosoft (Merck) and embedded in paraffin. Sections were stained for hematoxylin and eosin or safranin O and semi-quantitatively scored by two observers blinded for treatment (MT, LD) as previously described (26).

Statistics

Data were analyzed using GraphPad prism 7 software. Spondylitis and arthritis incidence were analyzed using a survival curve. Comparison of survival curves was analyzed using the Log-Rank (Mantel-Cox) test. Arthritis severity (arthritis score and hind paw swelling) was analyzed using the area under the curve followed by a Mann-Whitney U test. All other data were analyzed using a Mann-Whitney U test.

RESULTS

Induction of Experimental SpA in HLA-B27 Tg Rats Is Associated With a Rapid and Selective Induction of IL-17A and IL-22

We previously demonstrated that selective blockade of IL-17A significantly reduces spondylitis and arthritis development in the inducible HLA-B27 tg rat model of SpA (28). To further assess the potential involvement of IL-17A and related pro-inflammatory cytokines, ex vivo cellular responses to MTB immunization were assessed. To this end cytokine expression and production were determined in splenocytes upon restimulation with PMA/ Ionomycin at 7, 14 and 21 days after MTB immunization. RNA expression analysis indicated a trend towards an increase in IL-17A, but not in IL-17F expression upon restimulation, with the peak-response at 7 days after immunization. Furthermore IL-22 was increased upon restimulation at 7 days after immunization. Other pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF and IFNy as well as the expression of RORC, were not changed after immunization (Figure 1A). Protein secretion analysis confirmed the trend towards increased levels of IL-17A at 7 days after immunization (Figure 1B), while secretion of TNF and IFNy was not detectable at any time point upon restimulation with PMA/Ionomycin. A repetitive experiment with samples collected at day 7 (n=2 non-immunized and n=3 immunized), confirmed the increase in IL-17A expression, and the unchanged expression of IFNy upon immunization. To assess which cells were responsible for IL-17A production in our model FACS analysis was performed, focusing on three T cell subsets: CD4+, CD4- and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. The increased presence of IL-17A⁺ cells at 7 days after immunization could be confirmed, within the population of CD4+ TCRab⁺, CD4-TCRab⁺ and CD4-TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ T cells (Figure 1C). The frequency of IFNy⁺ cells was low in all subsets, with no differences between the different time points (Figure 1C). Collectively, these data indicate the rapid and selective induction of IL-17A production by a variety T cell subsets upon MTB immunization in HLA-B27 tg rats.

In Vivo RORC Inhibition Suppresses IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22 Expression in HLA-B27 Tg Rats

To assess the potential relevance of RORC - the key transcriptional regulator of IL-17A and related cytokines - as therapeutic target, we performed an *in vivo* prophylactic treatment study with RORC inhibition *versus* vehicle control in our HLA-B27 tg at model (**Figure 2A**). Serum measurements



confirmed that all rats in the treatment group, but not in the vehicle control group, had high exposure to the compound (**Table 1**). Whereas a variety of previous experiments with human/mouse cells indicated an IC50 of 10 to 20 nM (data not shown), we confirmed that the exposure levels seen *in vivo* in the rats significantly inhibited IL-17A production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells of both wildtype and HLA-B27 tg rats *in vitro* (**Figure 2B**).

We next investigated whether the expression of IL-17A and related cytokines was also reduced *in vivo* by RORC inhibition by analyzing popliteal lymph nodes obtained at the end of the *in vivo* study. IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 expression was more than 2-fold downregulated as measured in a qPCR array (**Figure 2C**). These data were confirmed by regular qPCR (**Figure 2D**). The Th2 cytokine IL-13 initially showed a tendency towards an increase upon RORC inhibition in the arrays (**Figure 2C**) but this could not be confirmed by regular qPCR (**Figure 2D**). Expression of a wide panel of Th1, Th2, and Treg cytokines or transcription factors, or other genes included in the Th17 array, was not different between vehicle treated and RORCi treated rats. Together these data indicate that RORC inhibition *in vivo* suppressed the expression of IL-17A, IL17F, and IL-22 without affecting the expression of other T helper cell subset related genes.

In Vivo RORC Inhibition Augments Experimental SpA in HLA-B27 Tg Rats

To assess if the observed biological effects on the IL-17 axis translate into clinical efficacy, clinical disease development was monitored over time and histopathological analysis was performed at the end of the study. All RORC inhibitor-treated rats developed both spondylitis and arthritis *versus* 70% and 100%, respectively, in the vehicle-treated group (**Figure 3A**). The mean onset of spondylitis was day 25 in RORC inhibitor *versus* day 34 in vehicle treated rats. The mean onset of arthritis was day 21 in RORC inhibitor *vs* day 33 in vehicle treated rats. In terms of arthritis severity, both arthritis score (p=0.004) and hind paw swelling as assessed by plethysmometry (p=0.001) were increased upon RORC inhibition (**Figure 3B**). Histopathological analysis of the peripheral joints at the end of the experiment confirmed a



prophylactic treatment (B) Dose response effect of *in vitro* RORC. (A) study design in *in vitro* prophylactic treatment (B) Dose response effect of *in vitro* RORC inhibition on frequencies of IL-17+ yd T cells. (C) Relative expression of genes >2fold differentially regulated in vehicle vs RORCi treated rats. (D) Gene expression from the selected genes, IL-17A, IL-22, IL-17F and IL-13 was confirmed by regular qPCR. Data are individual data points and median.

significant increase in inflammatory infiltration (p=0.004), destruction (p=0.003), newly formed bone (p=0.001), and hypertrophic chondrocytes (p=0.001) in RORC inhibitor treated rats compared to the controls (**Figure 4**). A similar trend towards increased inflammation (p=0.058) and bone destruction (p=0.061) was observed in the spine (**Figure 4**). Collectively, these data consistently demonstrate that, despite the expected biological impact of RORC inhibition on the IL-17 axis, this treatment did

TABLE 1	Serum levels of RORC inhibitor.

Rat	Treatment	Concentration (nM)		
		before	after	
1	RORCi	2491	2055	
2	RORCi	1487	1576	
3	RORCi	1425	1873	
4	Vehicle	0	0	
5	Vehicle	0	0	
6	Vehicle	0	0	
7	RORCi	3527	4691	
8	RORCi	1187	4673	
9	RORCi	1891	1762	
10	Vehicle	0	0	
11	Vehicle	0	0	
12	Vehicle	0	0	

RORCi serum exposure was measured in rats of both groups (RORCi vs vehicle) before the morning dose and 2-3 hours after the morning dose at 1 timepoint only: day 32/33 of treatment. not inhibit but rather accelerated and aggravated experimental SpA in HLA-B27 tg rats. To investigate if RORgt inhibition affected the gut we performed histology on the colon and small intestine. No inflammation was observed in the colon and the small intestine. Combined with the absence of weight loss, these data show that the aggravation of the SpA phenotype cannot be explained by triggering of disease by RORgt inhibition induced gut inflammation.

DISCUSSION

The major findings of the current study are 1) that IL-17A is primarily produced upon restimulation of splenocytes from MTB immunized rats, with a peak response after 7 days of immunization. 2) IL-17A expression could be reduced upon in vitro as well as in vivo RORC inhibition, additionally in vivo RORC inhibition reduced IL-17F and IL-22 expression without affecting other T helper cell related genes. 3) Despite these molecular changes RORC inhibition did not inhibit, but rather stimulated disease development. These findings are surprising considering previous studies of RORC inhibition in a variety of inflammatory models including antigen-induced arthritis (17), imiquimod-induced psoriasis (21), IL-23 induced skin inflammation (30), intestinal inflammation (22, 31). Recently, Tan et al. (24) showed the reduced clinical severity of experimental autoimmune uveitis (EAU), and EAE using two different RORc antagonists (CQMU151 and CQMU152) (24).

All these models showed decreased levels of IL-17A and significant reduction of clinical symptoms upon pharmacological RORC inhibition or in RORC deficient animals. Also in 2018, Taurog et al. demonstrated the therapeutic efficicacy of the ROR γ t antagonist (A-1619758) in reducing inflammation, and suppression of both axial and peripheral skeletal bone changes in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat deficient for *Dazl gene* (21-3x283-2x17-9) (32).

A major question is whether the data of the current study could have been biased by a technical or biological artefact. Exposure measurements indicated that all rats in the treatment group have high levels of RORC inhibitor present in their serum shortly before and a few hours after treatment. The control group responded as expected, although disease incidence and severity were low. We could detect a biological effect, in terms of reduced IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22 expression and finally clinical data are in line with histological data. Together these findings prove that groups were not switched during or after this experiment. The potential mechanism remains unknown.

Others showed, using the exact same RORC inhibitor, that while IL-17A levels were reduced, the production of IL-22 continued (33, 34) and treatment with the RORC inhibitor abrogated experimental colitis (34). Specific subsets of iNKT and $\gamma\delta$ T cells showed to be among the IL-22 producing cells upon RORC inhibition (33). Similarly another RORC inhibiting compound could selectively impact specific cell types, including Th17 cells, while local IL-17A or IL-22 production by ILC3s was not reduced in a mouse model for intestinal inflammation (22). IL-22 has been shown to be a key player in intestinal host defence and mucosal homeostasis (35), and as we did observe reduced



IL-22 expression, it could by hypothesized that RORgt inhibition could result in gut inflammation by a decrease in IL-22. This gut inflammation could then induce the SpA phenotype in the rats, similar to the induction of disease by orchitis, which is a consistent finding in this animal model. However, the rats showed no weight loss (**Figures 5A**, **B**) and gut inflammation was absent after RORgt inhibition, which makes this hypothesis very unlikely.

In contrast, in another model for intestinal inflammation the RORgt inverse agonist (TAK-828F) suppressed intestinal inflammation. In this model the compound significantly reduced Th17 and Th17/Th1 cell population in mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) which was accompanied by suppressed/decreased gene expression of not only IL17A, IL17F but also IL-22. Local effects on ILC3 function in the intestine was not studied. However, in normal mice this RORgt inverse agonist did reduce numbers of Th17 cells and IL3s in the laminal propria (31).

In order to test the responsiveness of cells in the MTB immunized HLA-B27 tg rat CD4⁺ T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells were isolated from spleen and draining lymph nodes and restimulated in the presence of RORC inhibitor (n=9). IL-17A and IL-22 expression were similarly decreased in both cell subsets upon RORC inhibition.

It is important to note, however, that this is not the first time that clinical or preclinical data demonstrate that the IL-17 axis does not work in a linear manner. It was reported by Chong et al., that loss of IL-17A produced by Th17 cells didn't reduce the pathogenicity of these cells as expected and instead increased the expression of other Th17 cytokines (i.e. GM-CSF and IL-17F) (36). This was attributed to a Th17 cell-intrinsic autocrine loop induced by IL-17A binding to its receptor resulting in IL-24 induction, which in turn repressed the Th17 cytokine program. They showed that *in vivo* IL-24 treatment ameliorated Th17-induced EAU, whereas silencing of IL-24 in Th17 cells enhanced disease. However, these findings are unlikely to explain the paradoxical effects of RORC inhibition in our model as we observed the down regulation of other TH17 cytokines (e.g. IL-17F).

Clinical studies in psoriasis patients indicated that both blockade of IL-23 as well as IL-17A are effective (37, 38). However in Crohns disease blockade of IL-23 was effective while blockade of IL-17A or IL-17RA was not (39–41). Finally in SpA, blockade of IL-23p19 seems to be effective in psoriatic arthritis (42) but not in ankylosing spondylitis (43). Similarly in a previous study with our HLA-B27 tg rats, we showed that blockade of the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) significantly reduced levels of IL-17A and IL-22 (but not IL-17F) *in vivo*. While prophylactic blockade of the IL-23R completely prevented spondylitis and arthritis development, therapeutic blockade did not impact clinical or histological spondyloarthritis in the HLA-B27 tg rat (44). Moreover prophylactic as well as therapeutic blockade of IL-17A was effective in this model (28).

The ROR γ t+ Tregs subset might be involved in these unanticipated effects. The function of these regulatory cells was thought to be controlled partly by ROR γ t (45). Kleinewietfeld et al. showed that a low molecular weight ROR γ t inhibitor could influence the frequencies of regulatory T-cells (Tregs) beside the







Th17 response. The equilibrium between ROR γ t and FoxP3 expression level would equally control Treg and Th17 cells, depending on the cytokine environment. ROR γ t inhibition would twist the Th17/Treg cell ratio towards the Treg pathway (46). Despite the apparent beneficial effect for inducing immune tolerance, it seems that ROR γ t modulation would alter both the downstream pro- and anti-inflammatory pathways and induce undesirable effects (45). Affecting the regulatory function of these ROR γ t Tregs would predispose to inflammation (even when the expression of Th17 signature genes and cytokines is decreased). The question remains to what extend these findings are relevant for other models or for human disease. Based on our previous findings regarding IL-23R and IL-17A blockade in the HLA-B27 tg rats we conclude that it is uncertain whether RORC inhibition might be a good therapeutic option for all IL-17A driven diseases.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Yeremenko N, Paramarta JE, Baeten D. The Interleukin-23/Interleukin-17 Immune Axis as a Promising New Target in the Treatment of Spondyloarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2014) 26(4):361–70. doi: 10.1097/ BOR.000000000000069
- Baeten D, Baraliakos X, Braun J, Sieper J, Emery P, van der Heijde D, et al. Anti-Interleukin-17A Monoclonal Antibody Secukinumab in Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Lancet* (2013) 382(9906):1705–13. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61134-4
- Baeten D, Sieper J, Braun J, Baraliakos X, Dougados M, Emery P, et al. Secukinumab, An Interleukin-17a Inhibitor, in Ankylosing Spondylitis. N Engl J Med (2015) 373(26):2534–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1505066
- 4. Mease PJ, van der Heijde D, Ritchlin CT, Okada M, Cuchacovich RS, Shuler CL, et al. Ixekizumab, An Interleukin-17A Specific Monoclonal Antibody, for T:E Treatment of Biologic-Naive Patients With Active Psoriatic Arthritis: Results From the 24-Week Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled and Active (Adalimumab)-Controlled Period of the Phase III Trial SPIRIT-P1. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76(1):79–87. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209709

ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal experiments were approved by the AMC Animal Care and Use Committee, in line with national and international regulations and guidelines.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MT and LD, study design, experimental procedures, analyzing data, writing manuscript. MM, analyzing data, writing manuscript. JW, experimental procedures. ML, study design, experimental procedures, analyzing data. MS, analyzing data, writing manuscript. GN and DB, study design, analyzing data, writing manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was sponsored by Boehringer-Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc., Ridgefield, CT, USA.

- Glatt S, Baeten D, Baker T, Griffiths M, Ionescu L, Lawson ADG, et al. Dual IL-17A and IL-17F Neutralisation by Bimekizumab in Psoriatic Arthritis: Evidence From Preclinical Experiments and a Randomised Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial That IL-17F Contributes to Human Chronic Tissue Inflammation. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77(4):523–32. doi: 10.1136/ annrheumdis-2017-212127
- Sherlock JP, Joyce-Shaikh B, Turner SP, Chao CC, Sathe M, Grein J, et al. IL-23 Induces Spondyloarthropathy by Acting on ROR-Gammat+ CD3+CD4-CD8-Entheseal Resident T Cells. Nat Med (2012) 18(7):1069–76. doi: 10.1038/nm.2817
- Benham H, Rehaume LM, Hasnain SZ, Velasco J, Baillet AC, Ruutu M, et al. Interleukin-23 Mediates the Intestinal Response to Microbial Beta-1,3-Glucan and the Development of Spondyloarthritis Pathology in SKG Mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2014) 66(7):1755–67. doi: 10.1002/art.38638
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The Orphan Nuclear Receptor RORgammat Directs the Differentiation Program of Proinflammatory IL-17+ T Helper Cells. *Cell* (2006) 126 (6):1121–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- O'Brien RL, Roark CL, Born WK. IL-17-Producing Gammadelta T Cells. Eur J Immunol (2009) 39(3):662–6. doi: 10.1002/eji.200839120

- Spits H, Di Santo JP. The Expanding Family of Innate Lymphoid Cells: Regulators and Effectors of Immunity and Tissue Remodeling. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(1):21–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.1962
- Sefik E, Geva-Zatorsky N, Oh S, Konnikova L, Zemmour D, McGuire AM, et al. MUCOSAL Immunology Individual Intestinal Symbionts Induce a Distinct Population of Rorγ+ Regulatory T Cells. *Science* (2015) 349:993–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa9420
- Ohnmacht C, Park JH, Cording S, Wing JB, Atarashi K, Obata Y, et al. MUCOSAL Immunology the Microbiota Regulates Type 2 Immunity Through Roryt+ T Cells. Science (2015) 349:989–93. doi: 10.1126/ science.aac4263
- Yang B-H, Hagemann S, Mamareli P, Lauer U, Hoffmann U, Beckstette M, et al. Foxp3+ T Cells Expressing Roryt Represent a Stabl Regulatory T-Cell Effector Lineage With Enhanced Suppressive Capacity During Intestinal Inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 205:1381–93. doi: 10.1038/ mi.2015.74
- 14. Zhang W, Zhang J, Fang L, Zhou L, Wang S, Xiang Z, et al. Increasing Human Th17 Differentiation Through Activation of Orphan Nuclear Receptor Retinoid Acid-Related Orphan Receptor Gamma (RORgamma) by a Class of Aryl Amide Compounds. *Mol Pharmacol* (2012) 82(4):583–90. doi: 10.1124/mol.112.078667
- Rene O, Fauber BP, Boenig Gde L, Burton B, Eidenschenk C, Everett C, et al. Minor Structural Change to Tertiary Sulfonamide RORc Ligands Led to Opposite Mechanisms of Action. ACS Med Chem Lett (2015) 6(3):276–81. doi: 10.1021/ml500420y
- Olsson RI, Xue Y, von Berg S, Aagaard A, McPheat J, Hansson EL, et al. Benzoxazepines Achieve Potent Suppression of IL-17 Release in Human T-Helper 17 (TH 17) Cells Through an Induced-Fit Binding Mode to the Nuclear Receptor RORgamma. *Chem Med Chem* (2016) 11(2):207–16. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201500432
- Guendisch U, Weiss J, Ecoeur F, Riker JC, Kaupmann K, Kallen J, et al. Pharmacological Inhibition of RORgammat Suppresses the Th17 Pathway and Alleviates Arthritis In Vivo. PloS One (2017) 12(11):e0188391. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188391
- Guntermann C, Piaia A, Hamel ML, Theil D, Rubic-Schneider T, Del Rio-Espinola A, et al. Retinoic-Acid-Orphan-Receptor-C Inhibition Suppresses Th17 Cells and Induces Thymic Aberrations. JCI Insight (2017) 2(5):e91127. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.91127
- Ecoeur F, Weiss J, Kaupmann K, Hintermann S, Orain D, Guntermann C. Antagonizing Retinoic Acid-Related-Orphan Receptor Gamma Activity Blocks the T Helper 17/Interleukin-17 Pathway Leading to Attenuated Pro-Inflammatory Human Keratinocyte and Skin Responses. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:577. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00577
- Leppkes M, Becker C, Ivanov II, Hirth S, Wirtz S, Neufert C, et al. RORgamma-Expressing Th17 Cells Induce Murine Chronic Intestinal Inflammation via Redundant Effects of IL-17A and IL-17f. Gastroenterology (2009) 136(1):257–67. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.10.018
- Banerjee D, Zhao L, Wu L, Palanichamy A, Ergun A, Peng L, et al. Small Molecule Mediated Inhibition of RORgamma-Dependent Gene Expression and Autoimmune Disease Pathology *In Vivo. Immunology* (2016) 147(4):399– 413. doi: 10.1111/imm.12570
- 22. Withers DR, Hepworth MR, Wang X, Mackley EC, Halford EE, Dutton EE, et al. Transient Inhibition of ROR-Gammat Therapeutically Limits Intestinal Inflammation by Reducing TH17 Cells and Preserving Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Nat Med* (2016) 22(3):319–23. doi: 10.1038/nm.4046
- Solt LA, Kumar N, Nuhant P, Wang Y, Lauer JL, Liu J, et al. Suppression of TH17 Differentiation and Autoimmunity by a Synthetic ROR Ligand. *Nature* (2011) 472(7344):491–4. doi: 10.1038/nature10075
- Tan J, Liu H, Huang M, Li N, Tang S, Meng J, et al. Small Molecules Targeting Rorγt Inhibit Autoimmune Disease by Suppressing Th17 Cell Differentiation. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11(8):697. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-02891-2
- 25. Tran TM, Dorris ML, Satumtira N, Richardson JA, Hammer RE, Shang J, et al. Additional Human Beta2-Microglobulin Curbs HLA-B27 Misfolding and Promotes Arthritis and Spondylitis Without Colitis in Male HLA-B27-Transgenic Rats. Arthritis Rheum (2006) 54(4):1317–27. doi: 10.1002/art.21740
- 26. van Duivenvoorde LM, Dorris ML, Satumtira N, van Tok MN, Redlich K, Tak PP, et al. Relationship Between Inflammation, Bone Destruction, and Osteoproliferation in the HLA-B27/human Beta2 -Microglobulin-

Transgenic Rat Model of Spondylarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64 (10):3210–9. doi: 10.1002/art.34600

- van Tok MN, Satumtira N, Dorris M, Pots D, Slobodin G, van de Sande MG, et al. Innate Immune Activation Can Trigger Experimental Spondyloarthritis in HLA-B27/Hubeta2m Transgenic Rats. *Front Immnol* (2017) 8:920. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00920
- Van Tok MN, Van Duivenvoorde LM, Kramer I, Ingold P, Pfister S, Roth L, et al. IL-17a Inhibition Diminishes Inflammation And New Bone Formation In Experimental Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2019) 71(4):612–25. doi: 10.1002/art.40770
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* (2001) 25(4):402–8. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- 30. Xue X, Soroosh P, De Leon-Tabaldo A, Luna-Roman R, Sablad M, Rozenkrants N, et al. Pharmacologic Modulation of RORgammat Translates to Efficacy in Preclinical and Translational Models of Psoriasis and Inflammatory Arthritis. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:37977. doi: 10.1038/srep37977
- 31. Igaki K, Nakamura Y, Tanaka M, Mizuno S, Yoshimatsu Y, Komoike Y, et al. Pharmacological Effects of TAK-828F: An Orally Available Roryt Inverse Agonist, in Mouse Colitis Model and Human Blood Cells of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Inflamm Res* (2019) 68(6):493–509. doi: 10.1007/s00011-019-01234-y
- 32. Taurog J, Zhu J, Kort M, Bryant S, Phillips L, Waegell W. Inhibition of the Transcription Factor That Drives IL-17 Expression Suppresses Inflammation, Joint Damage, and New Bone Formation in Experimental Spondyloarthritis in HLA-B27 Transgenic Rats. Abstract Supplement 2018 ACR/ARHP Annual Meeting (Abstract Number 2059). Arthritis Rheumatol (2018) 70(S9):2280–1.
- Venken 3, Jacques P, Mortier C, Labadia ME, Decruy T, Coudenys J, et al. Rorγt Inhibition Selectively Targets IL-17 Producing iNKT and γδ-T Cells Enriched in Spondyloarthritis Patients. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):9. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07911-6
- 34. Bassolas-Molina H, Raymond E, Labadia M, Wahle J, Ferrer-Picón E, Panzenbeck M, et al. An Roryt Oral Inhibitor Modulates IL-17 Responses in Peripheral Blood and Intestinal Mucosa of Crohn's Disease Patients. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2307. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02307
- Sonnenberg GF, Monticelli LA, Alenghat T, Fung TC, Hutnick NA, Kunisawa J, et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells Promote Anatomical Containment of Lymphoidresident Commensal Bacteria. *Science* (2012) 336:1321–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1222551
- 36. Chong WP, Mattapallil MJ, Raychaudhuri K, Bing SJ, Wu S, Zhong Y. The Cytokine IL-17A Limits Th17 Pathogenicity via a Negative Feedback Loop Driven by Autocrine Induction of IL-24. *Immunity* (2020) 53:384. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.06.022
- Papp K, Thaci D, Reich K, Riedl E, Langley RG, Krueger JG, et al. Tildrakizumab (MK-3222), an Anti-Interleukin-23p19 Monoclonal Antibody, Improves Psoriasis in a Phase IIb Randomized Placebo-Controlled Trial. Br J Dermatol (2015) 173(4):930–9. doi: 10.1111/bjd.13932
- 38. Langley RG, Lebwohl M, Krueger GG, Szapary PO, Wasfi Y, Chan D, et al. Long-Term Efficacy and Safety of Ustekinumab, With and Without Dosing Adjustment, in Patients With Moderate-to-Severe Psoriasis: Results From the PHOENIX 2 Study Through 5 Years of Follow-Up. *Br J Dermatol* (2015) 172 (5):1371–83. doi: 10.1111/bjd.13469
- 39. Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PD, et al. Secukinumab, a Human Anti-IL-17A Monoclonal Antibody, for Moderate to Severe Crohn's Disease: Unexpected Results of a Randomised, Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Gut* (2012) 61 (12):1693–700. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301668
- Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, Panes J, Kaser A, Ferrante M, et al. Induction Therapy With the Selective Interleukin-23 Inhibitor Risankizumab in Patients With Moderate-to-Severe Crohn's Disease: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Phase 2 Study. *Lancet* (2017) 389 (10080):1699–709. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30570-6
- 41. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN, Scherl E, Fleisher MR, Katz S, et al. A Randomized Trial of Ustekinumab, a Human Interleukin-12/23 Monoclonal Antibody, in Patients With Moderate-to-Severe Crohn's Disease. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 135(4):1130–41. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.07.014
- 42. Mease PJ KH, Morita A, Kivitz AJ, Papp KA, Aslanyan S, Berner B, et al. Efficacy and Safety Results From a Phase 2 Trial of Risankizumab, a Selective

IL-23p19 Inhibitor, in Patients With Active Psoriatic Arthritis [Abstract]. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2017) 69(suppl 10). doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018eular.2140

- 43. Baeten D, Ostergaard M, Wei JC, Sieper J, Jarvinen P, Tam LS, et al. Risankizumab, an IL-23 Inhibitor, for Ankylosing Spondylitis: Results of a Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Proof-of-Concept, Dose-Finding Phase 2 Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2018) 77(9):1295–302. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213328
- 44. van Tok MN, Na S, Lao CR, Alvi M, Pots D, van de Sande MGH, et al. The Initiation, But Not the Persistence, of Experimental Spondyloarthritis Is Dependent on Interleukin-23 Signaling. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1550. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01550
- 45. Mickael ME, Bhaumik S, Basu R. Retinoid-Related Orphan Receptor Rorγt in CD4 + T-Cell-Mediated Intestinal Homeostasis and Inflammation. Am J Pathol (2020) 190(10):1984–99. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajpath.2020.07.010
- Kleinewietfeld M, Hafler DA. The Plasticity of Human Treg and Th17 Cells and Its Role in Autoimmunity. *Semin Immunol* (2013) 25(4):305–12. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.009

Conflict of Interest: ML and GN are employees of Boehringer-Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc. MS received consultancy fees from Novartis and Abbvie and research grants from Janssen, Novartis and Eli Lilly. DB is an employee of UCB. The authors declare that this study received funding from Boehringer-Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals Inc. The funder shared in study design, data analysis and data collection.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 van Tok, Mandour, Wahle, Labadia, van de Sande, Nabozny, Baeten and van Duivenvoorde. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Clinical and MRI Effect of TNF-α Inhibitors in Spondyloarthritis Patients With Hip Involvement: A Real-World Observational Clinical Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

Walter Maksymowych, University of Alberta, Canada Su-Boon Yong, Lin Shin Hospital, Taiwan

*Correspondence:

Minwen Zheng zhengmw2007@163.com Zhaohui Zheng zhengzh@fmmu.edu.cn Ping Zhu zhuping@fmmu.edu.cn orcid.org/0000-0002-8391-4945

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 July 2021 Accepted: 03 September 2021 Published: 29 September 2021

Citation:

Zhang K, Zheng Y, Han Q, Liu Y, Wang W, Ding J, Wang Y, Zhang B, Jia J, Zheng M, Zheng Z and Zhu P (2021) The Clinical and MRI Effect of TNF-α Inhibitors in Spondyloarthritis Patients With Hip Involvement: A Real-World Observational Clinical Study. Front. Immunol. 12:740980. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.740980 Kui Zhang^{1,2†}, Yan Zheng^{1,2†}, Qing Han^{1,2†}, Ying Liu^{3†}, Weitao Wang^{1,2}, Jin Ding^{1,2}, Yan Wang^{1,2}, Bei Zhang^{1,2}, Junfeng Jia^{1,2}, Minwen Zheng^{3*}, Zhaohui Zheng^{1,2*} and Ping Zhu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Clinical Immunology, Xijing Hospital, The Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, ² National Translational Science Center for Molecular Medicine, Xi'an, China, ³ Department of Radiology, Xijing Hospital, The Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China

Objectives: Hip involvement is an important cause of disability and poor prognosis in patients with spondyloarthritis (SpA). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α inhibitor treatment has been demonstrated to be effective in SpA patients with hip arthritis; however, quantitative assessment using MRI in long-term follow-up needs further application and observation.

Methods: A total of 239 patients were involved in this study. Methotrexate and sulfasalazine were given as basic treatment. In total, 165 patients received TNF- α inhibitors plus basic treatment, and 74 received basic treatment only, as controls. Clinical symptoms were assessed at baseline and at weeks 12, 24, and 52. MRI performances of hip arthritis, including bone marrow edema (BME) and synovitis, were quantitatively assessed using the Hip Inflammation MRI Scoring System (HIMRISS).

Results: The clinical values of erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI), Harris hip score, and Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS)-ESR in both groups showed significant clinical remission at week 52 (p < 0.001). However, the change in disease activity levels at week 52 in the control group was significantly worse than in the TNF- α inhibitor group. At week 52, MRI showed a significant remission trend in the TNF- α inhibitor group versus baseline, and total HIMRISS scores were significantly decreased (26.49 ± 10.37 vs. 20.59 ± 9.41, p < 0.001); the control group only had slight improvement (p < 0.05).

Conclusions: TNF- α inhibitors could significantly improve clinical and MRI manifestations of hip involvement in patients with SpA. Quantitative MRI assessment combined with clinical assessment can be used to accurately evaluate the treatment effect of TNF- α in SpA patients with hip involvement to help guide targeted treatment.

Keywords: MRI, hip, spondyloarthritis, TNF- α , ASDAS-ESR

INTRODUCTION

Hip involvement is an important cause of disability and poor prognosis in approximately 10%–50% of patients with spondyloarthritis (SpA) (1, 2), and 47%–90% of those patients with hip involvement have it bilaterally (3). Progression of hip involvement is reported to be associated with more severe spinal involvement (4, 5) and seriously affects joint function and life quality. In addition, nearly 8% of patients with hip involvement have intractable pain and disability. Even if they are treated with total hip arthroplasty, there is a high likelihood of revision surgery and high rates of complication (6).

The principal clinical manifestations of hip involvement in SpA include inflammation of the subchondral bone marrow edema (BME) and synovitis effusion (7). MRI has been widely used as a sensitive tool to detect hip arthritis. MRI is helpful for early diagnosis to enable treatment to suppress inflammation and avoid further structural damage (8, 9). The Hip Inflammation MRI Scoring System (HIMRISS) is a new quantitative assessment method that is based on several MRI slices from one patient. The HIMRISS is used to systematically assess synovitis and BME of the femoral head and acetabulum (10). Although the association between the HIMRISS and disease activity has been validated in SpA (11), the sensitivity and accuracy of the HIMRISS in assessing treatment response in SpA with hip involvement require further validation.

Previous SpA treatment strategies have focused on global symptom management rather than SpA-related hip lesions or other peripheral joint diseases (12, 13). Increasing evidence indicates that early detection and diagnosis of hip inflammation are beneficial to active treatment, which is important to improve hip function and general prognosis of SpA (14). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α inhibitors are a prompt and robust treatment to improve the signs and symptoms of SpA as well as function and spinal mobility (15, 16). In recent clinical studies, TNF- α inhibitors, including etanercept, adalimumab, and infliximab, were shown to be effective for patients with SpA patients with hip involvement in clinical and imaging assessments (1). However, the detailed clinical effects of TNF- α inhibitors in the long-term treatment cycle need to be further clarified. Previous imaging assessments have been limited to radiographic assessment of Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Radiology Index (BASRI)-hip or ultrasound (17, 18). More accurate imaging tools such as MRI are not sufficiently applied in assessment of the effect of acute and long-term followup treatment with TNF- α inhibitors.

Thus, the purpose of this prospective study was to quantitatively assess the details of clinical remission and MRI changes in hip involvement under treatment with TNF- α inhibitors. Hip

inflammation was quantitatively assessed using HIMRISS based on MRI changes, as well as systematic clinical evaluation. We aimed to suggest an assessment standard for patients with SpA patients with hip involvement, including MRI and clinical standards, to help guide accurate and targeted treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This clinical trial was registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry on November 28, 2011 (ID: ChiCTR-ONRC-11001846, http://www.chictr.org.cn/showproj.aspx?proj=7701). The study was based on data from Xijing Hospital in China. All patients with a clinical diagnosis of SpA were enrolled, and long-term treatment and monitoring were conducted by rheumatologists in Xijing Hospital. Eligible patients were 18–65 years of age and fulfilled the recently published Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS) classification criteria (19) or the Modified New York criteria for SpA (20).

The inclusion criteria for hip involvement were subject with i) spontaneous groin, thigh, and hip pain with or without history of trauma; ii) limited internal and external rotation of the symptomatic hip/hips after initial clinical assessment; and iii) both acute and chronic inflammatory changes on MRI.

Patients were excluded from this study if they had i) hip surgery or hip trauma in the previous year; ii) pregnancy; iii) any condition that would limit lower extremity function and mobility, such as history of stroke, infection, lower extremity joint replacement, or amputation; iv) abnormal laboratory test at 4 weeks before treatment (routine blood test: hemoglobin <90.0 g/L, white blood cell count <3.0 × 10⁹/L, and neutrophils <1.5 × 10⁹/L; biochemical test: alanine aminotransferase (ALT) or aspartate aminotransferase (AST) or total bilirubin >normal upper limit, and positive for HIV or syphilis); v) MRI contraindications (e.g., implanted pacemaker or claustrophobia); or vi) if the acquired MRI images were suboptimal in quality.

In order to enhance treatment of SpA patients with hip involvement and reduce disability rate, all enrolled participants would receive basic treatment with methotrexate (10 mg every week) and sulfasalazine (SSZ; 2 g/day, given orally) from baseline to 52 weeks. For all eligible participants, patients who were disinclined to have TNF- α inhibitor or with TNF- α inhibitor contraindications such as the patients with a hepatitis B virus and mycobacterium tuberculosis infection were allocated to the control group and would receive basic treatment only. Other patients were allocated to the TNF- α group and received one of three kinds of TNF- α inhibitor plus basic treatment (etanercept 50 mg given once weekly subcutaneously (s.c.); adalimumab treatment 40 mg s.c. every other week; infliximab 3 mg/kg i.v. at baseline, week 2 and week 6, and then every 8 weeks). The cost of treatment was self-funded, and therapeutic options were determined on the consent of the doctors and patients. The study was approved by the ethics committee of Xijing Hospital, and all patients provided written informed consent before enrollment in this study.

Abbreviations: SpA, spondyloarthritis; BME, bone marrow edema; HIMRISS, Hip Inflammation MRI Scoring System; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; ASDAS, Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score; ASAS, Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society; STIR, short tau inversion recovery; DMARDs, disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs; MTX, methotrexate; SSZ, sulfasalazine; HLA-B27, human leukocyte antigen B27; BASRI-h, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Radiology Index-hip score.

Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), and human leukocyte antigen B27 (HLA-B27) were measured with standard laboratory techniques. Serum CRP and ESR were measured at baseline and at 12, 24, and 52 weeks. At the same time point, evaluation of disease activity levels (Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI), Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score (ASDAS)-CRP, and ASDAS-ESR) and hip function level [Harris hip score (HHS)] were conducted by experienced rheumatologists. At the same time point, the ASAS remission rates (including ASAS20, ASAS 40, ASAS50, and ASAS partial) were also calculated for the TNF-α group.

Quantitative MRI Assessment of Changes

The HIMRISS was used to assess the changes on MRI between baseline and week 52. MRI was performed with a coronal short tau inversion recovery (STIR) sequence with slice thickness of 4 mm and field of view 400×400 mm. The baseline and follow-up MRI examinations of both hips were recommended to be performed every 6 months during the 52-week follow-up. And the MRI scans at baseline and at week 52 were calculated by HIMRISS. The HIMRISS protocol was used to score the inflammatory changes on MRI images of the hip joints including BME of the femoral head, BME of the acetabulum, and synovitis (10, 11). The HIMRISS procedure was performed independently by two readers (YL and MZ) who had been well trained at a previous study (11). The final HIMRISS scores were mean scores of both readers. Statistical analysis was conducted by an independent technologist (YZ). The standard HIMRISS scores were calculated based on 15 MRI image slides; therefore, to avoid bias, patients with MRI images of the hip structure who had fewer than five slides were considered as missing samples.

Statistical Analysis

The Kaplan–Meier test was used to assess the differences in remission of clinical symptoms (ASAS20, ASAS40, ASAS50, and ASAS partial) and MRI improvement between different followup time points. The baseline status was taken into account, and non-parametric analysis of covariance was used. The statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). p-Values <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Between January 1, 2014, and December 30, 2018, we enrolled 239 patients with SpA and coxitis, and treatment follow-up was completed in these patients. In total, 165 patients (69.04%) received TNF- α treatment, and 74 controls (30.96%) received basic treatment only (**Table 1**). In the TNF- α inhibitor group, 103 patients received etanercept treatment, 51 received adalimumab, and 11 patients received infliximab treatment. Patients with SpA in both the TNF- α inhibitor group and control group underwent evaluation of clinical symptoms and

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics including disease activity indexes and hip
function in both groups at baseline.

	TNF- α group	Control group	p-Value
Number	165	74	
Age	28.67 ± 10.21	27.3 ± 7.11	0.362
Sex	117:48 = 71%:39%	43:31 = 58%:42%	0.067
B27	93%	87%	0.163
Disease duration (m)	25.19 ± 34.52	45.41 ± 40.48	0.000
ESR (mm)	26.91 ± 14.90	25.04 ± 14.34	0.367
CRP (mg/L)	1.42 ± 1.28	1.27 ± 1.23	0.364
Harris	67.65 ± 9.26	66.27 ± 10.85	0.313
BASDAI	5.76 ± 1.20	5.53 ± 1.29	0.199
Morning stiffness (h)	0.43 ± 0.18	0.39 ± 0.42	0.276
ASDAS-ESR	2.76 ± 0.60	2.90 ± 0.67	0.124
ASDAS-CRP	2.78 ± 0.62	2.53 ± 0.57	0.004

ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; ASAS, Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society.

MRI examination during the 52-week observation period. As shown in **Table 1**, the differences in demographic and clinical characteristics including ESR, CRP, Harris, BASDAI, morning stiffness time, and ASDAS-CRP between the two groups were not significant at baseline, except for ASAS-ESR (p < 0.01) and disease duration (p < 0.001). Patients in the TNF- α inhibitor group had shorter disease duration and worse disease activity than the control group. All patients had serious disease activity with high BASDAI scores (5.76 ± 1.20 and 5.53 ± 1.29) and ASDAS score (2.78 ± 0.62 and 2.53 ± 0.57), as well as elevated CRP and ESR values.

Quantitative MRI Assessment

MRI changes in hip inflammation among patients with SpA were assessed using the HIMRISS, including BME and synovitis. Compared with those at baseline, patients in the TNF- α inhibitor group had significant improvement on MRI of both BME and synovitis at week 52 (all p < 0.001). However, the difference on MRI between week 52 and baseline in the control group was smaller (BME of the femoral head, p < 0.05; total BME, p < 0.05; synovitis, p < 0.05; total mean/max HIMRISS, p < 0.05); BME scores of the acetabulum were similar (p > 0.01) (**Table 2**).

Intergroup analysis showed little difference between the total HIMRISS scores of the TNF group and control group at baseline (p > 0.05) and at week 52 (p > 0.05). However, the treatment group with higher total HIMRISS scores at baseline demonstrated significant improvement at week 52 and lower scores than did the control group (TNF- α vs. control groups at week 52: 20.59 ± 9.41 vs. 22.33 ± 7.0). Additionally, acetabular BME scores indicated that patients in the TNF- α group had significantly more serious disease activity at baseline (p = 0.006) but had significant improvement at week 52 (p < 0.001) (**Table 2**).

Clinical Symptoms and Hip Function Assessment

Both the TNF- α inhibitor group and control group achieved significant amelioration of all clinical symptoms and hip function at week 52, but the improvement degrees of TNF

	Group	Baseline	Treatment 52 weeks	Changed levels	Baseline vs. week 52 p-value
BME of femoral head ^{mean}	TNF-α group	10.53 ± 6.78	7.74 ± 5.77	2.86 ± 0.38	0.000
(0-65)	Control group	9.74 ± 5.77	8.73 ± 5.06	0.74 ± 0.40	0.018
	TNF vs. control p-value	0.124	0.315	0.001	
BME of acetabular ^{mean}	TNF-α group	7.06 ± 3.68	5.51 ± 3.81	1.60 ± 0.23	0.000
(0-35)	Control group	6.27 ± 2.82	5.89 ± 2.45	0.33 ± 0.26	0.164
	TNF vs. control p-value	0.006	0.000	0.028	
Total BME ^{mean}	TNF-α group	17.59 ± 9.36	13.26 ± 8.75	4.46 ± 0.52	0.000
(0-100)	Control group	16.05 ± 7.11	14.61 ± 2.44	1.06 ± 0.55	0.019
	TNF vs. control p-value	0.047	0.037	0.005	
Synovitis effusion score ^{mean}	TNF-α group	8.90 ± 3.33	7.34 ± 2.97	1.53 ± 0.23	0.000
(0–30)	Control group	8.44 ± 2.19	7.71 ± 2.24	0.48 ± 0.23	0.011
	TNF vs. control p-value	0.002	0.088	0.000	
Total HIMRISS ^{ave}	TNF-α group	26.49 ± 10.37	20.59 ± 9.41	5.99 ± 0.58	0.000
(0-130)	Control group	24.49 ± 8.07	22.33 ± 7.07	1.54 ± 0.66	0.039
. ,	TNF vs. control p-value	0.073	0.079	0.011	
Total HIMRISS ^{max}	TNF-α group	29.95 ± 11.70	23.03 ± 10.31	7.07 ± 0.66	0.000
(0-130)	Control group	27.31 ± 9.50	24.64 ± 8.38	1.91 ± 0.73	0.015
* *	TNF vs. control p-value	0.118	0.126	0.007	

ave, the average score of two hips; max, the max score of two hips; changed levels, score at baseline minus score at week 52; HIMRISS, Hip Inflammation MRI Scoring System; BME, bone marrow edema.

group were significantly better than those of the control group (**Table 3**). Notably in TNF- α inhibitor group, BASDAI scores decreased from 5.76 ± 1.20 to 2.16 ± 1.90 at week 52 (p < 0.001); ASDAS-CRP/ASDAS-ESR decreased from 2.78 ± 0.62/2.76 ± 0.60 to 1.06 ± 0.46/1.42 ± 0.60 at week 52 (p < 0.001); CRP and ESR levels also improved significantly compared with baseline levels (p < 0.001 and p < 0.001). In addition, Harris score indicated significant hip function improvement to generally normal by week 52 versus baseline in the TNF- α inhibitor group (67.65 ± 9.26 vs. 92.26 ± 7.06, p < 0.001).

Even the control group showed a significant clinical improvement at week 52 versus baseline (p < 0.001); the mean BASDAI score, ASDAS-CRP, ASDAS-ESR, and Harris scores of

TABLE 3 Clinical outcomes and hip function from baseline to 52 week	Ś
between the TNF- α inhibitor group and control group.	

	Groups	Baseline	Treatment 52 weeks	p-Value
ESR (mm)	TNF-α group	26.91 ± 14.90	11.01 ± 12.58	0.000
	Control group	25.04 ± 14.34	17.07 ± 12.23	0.000
	p-Value	0.367	0.002	
CRP (mg/L)	TNF- α group	1.42 ± 1.28	0.73 ± 1.17	0.000
	Control group	1.27 ± 1.23	0.88 ± 0.91	0.047
	p-Value	0.364	0.371	
Harris	TNF- α group	67.65 ± 9.26	92.26 ± 7.06	0.000
	Control group	66.27 ± 10.85	82.95 ± 7.93	0.000
	p-Value	0.313	0.000	
BASDAI	TNF- α group	5.76 ± 1.20	2.16 ± 1.90	0.000
	Control group	5.53 ± 1.29	2.81 ± 1.42	0.000
	p-Value	0.199	0.000	
ASDAS-CRP	TNF- α group	2.78 ± 0.62	1.06 ± 0.46	0.000
	Control group	2.53 ± 0.57	1.40 ± 0.63	0.000
	p-Value	0.004	0.000	
ASDAS-ESR	TNF- α group	2.76 ± 0.60	1.42 ± 0.60	0.000
	Control group	2.90 ± 0.67	1.88 ± 0.62	0.000
	p-Value	0.124	0.000	

ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; BASDAI, Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index; ASDAS, Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Score. the TNF- α group were significantly better than those of the control group at week 52 (all p-values <0.001) (**Table 3**). In particular, the degree of ASDAS-CRP indicated a real-world clinical characteristic. Patients in the TNF- α group had more serious disease activity at baseline but obviously better remission at week 52 than had controls.

The ASAS remission rates of ASAS20, ASAS40, and ASAS50 and the ASAS partial remission rate were compared between the TNF- α group and control group at week 52. The TNF- α group had higher and better ASAS remission levels than the control group (**Figure 1**). Moreover, the distribution of disease activity including BASDAI, ASDAS-CRP, and ASDAS-ESR between the two groups at week 52 was significantly different. Patients in the TNF- α inhibitor treatment group were able to achieve inactive disease status (TNF- α *vs.* controls: BASDAI, 96.93% *vs.* 74.33%; ASDAS-CRP, 80.98% *vs.* 58.67%; ASDAS-ESR, 51.53% *vs.* 22.67%; p < 0.001). However, a considerable number of patients in the control group were still classified as having



FIGURE 1 | Distribution of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS) remission rates between the group that received tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α inhibitors and the control group at week 52.

active disease (TNF- α vs. controls: BASDAI, 3.07% vs. 22.67%; p < 0.001), low disease activity (TNF- α vs. controls: ASDAS-CRP, 15.34% vs. 24.00%; ASDAS-ESR, 35.58% vs. 42.67%; p < 0.001), and moderate disease activity (TNF- α vs. controls: ASDAS-CRP, 3.07% vs. 17.33%; ASDAS-ESR, 11.66% vs. 32.00%; p < 0.001) (**Figure 2**).

We also performed subgroup analysis of all patients in the TNF- α group to compare the treatment difference between different TNF- α inhibitors. First, for all patients receiving treatment with TNF- α inhibitors, all continuous parameters related to disease activity (i.e., CRP, ESR, BASDAI, and ASDAS) and hip joint function (i.e., Harris) were significantly ameliorated from week 12 (all p < 0.001) compared with baseline, and the significant remission levels persisted until week 52 (all p < 0.001) (Figure 3). ASAS remission rates, including those of ASAS20, ASAS40, and ASAS50, and ASAS partial remission rates were compared between different TNF-a inhibitors and follow-up times. The results indicated that the differences in ASAS remission rates between different TNF-α inhibitor groups during the 52 weeks were not significant (p > 0.01) (Figure 4). Additionally, the HIMRISS was also compared between different TNF- α inhibitor groups (Supplementary Table S1). Both TNF- α inhibitor groups had achieved significant imaging improvement at week 52, and the changed HIMRISS levels were similar between different TNF- α inhibitor groups. The treatment responses were similar, which may be consistent with the clinical presentations.

Further, correlation analysis between HIMRISS and clinical outcome was also performed for both groups (**Supplementary Table S2**). In the TNF- α group, HIMRISS was significantly correlated with ASDAS-ESR, ASDAS-CRP, BASDAI, ESR, and CRP levels (all p < 0.05) in the TNF- α group at week 52, but the correlations were not significant at baseline. In addition, changed levels of HIMRISS between baseline and week 52 were significantly correlated with ASDAS-ESR changes in the TNF- α group. In the control group, HIMRISS was not significantly correlated with clinical outcomes at baseline and week 52, as well as changed levels (**Supplementary Table S2**).

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that treatment with TNF- α inhibitors could achieve significant clinical remission in patients and can manifest changes on MRI for hip arthritis in patients with SpA. In the TNF- α inhibitor group, disease activity indexes including BASDAI, ASDAS, ASAS remission rate, and hip function demonstrated superior improvement as compared with the control group. Additionally, the HIMRISS method could detect obviously better improvement in hip inflammation, based on overall MRI slices, under TNF- α inhibitor treatment versus control treatment. TNF- α inhibitor therapy was confirmed to be a better treatment option for patients with SpA and hip involvement.

Previous studies of therapy in SpA have mainly focused on axial spine radiology, and, to some extent, peripheral arthritis or enthesitis (5, 21). Hip involvement is difficult to cure, and it is considered an important cause of disability and poor prognosis in SpA, especially in ankylosing spondylitis (AS) (17, 22). There has been greater attention recently regarding hip arthritis in SpA, and various clinical studies on TNF- α inhibitor treatment and classical disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drug (DMARD) treatment have been conducted to assess the clinical and/or radiographic progress of hip joint and function (23–25). TNF- α inhibitor treatment has been demonstrated to be effective in patients with SpA and hip involvement. However, the specific effect differences between TNF- α inhibitors and other agents have rarely been evaluated in long-term follow-up studies.

Among therapeutic studies of SpA patients with hip involvement, the BASRI-h method is often adopted to assess radiological changes of hip lesions (24). However, most hip involvement in AS is related to early coxitis and is characterized by inflammation of the subchondral BME and synovitis (7, 26). The BASRI-h method is performed based on structural damage, which may not sensitively reflect the treatment effect in patients during early and acute inflammation stages in short-time follow-up. Comparatively, MRI is considered to be a more sensitive assessment tool for









hip inflammation and is especially helpful in early diagnosis (8, 23, 27).

Recent studies have shown that synovial enhancement with hyperintense signals on contrast-enhanced T1-weighted images is the most frequent imaging finding in early-stage hip involvement in AS (14). Joint effusion of the femoral neck and subchondral BME are frequent findings with hyperintense signals on T2-weighted images or STIR images (8, 27). However, lesion frequency analysis or description of characteristics cannot quantitatively reflect MRI changes under treatment. The HIMRISS can be used to systematically quantify inflammatory changes including BME of the femoral head, acetabular BME, and synovitis effusion of the hip based on overall MRI slices (10). The HIMRISS method has been previously applied in patients with SpA diagnosed with hip arthritis, and there is a significant correlation between MRI manifestations and Harris score or disease activity (11).

In past clinical studies, clinical manifestations assessed in patients with SpA and hip involvement mostly refer to global outcome indexes, including disease activity scores and



inflammatory markers. Despite the fact that the association between hip impairment and axial disease in inflammatory back pain is still controversial (22), further evidence points to the fact that hip disease more frequently occurs in patients with SpA and severe axial disease (28). However, the treatment efficacy and changes in hip involvement during the early stage and long-term follow-up are still not fully understood. Thus, more detailed assessments of clinical and MRI manifestations are needed.

In this study, the clinical efficacy of TNF- α inhibitors was compared with that of control agents in a 1-year follow-up period. TNF- α inhibitors were demonstrated to be significantly more effective in improving disease activity and inflammation than usual DMARD treatment. All the clinical indexes of the TNF- α group including ESR, CRP, BASDAI, and ASDAS-CRP/ ASDAS-ESR were significantly ameliorated at different follow-up times compared with baseline; this result is consistent with previous studies. Harris score was also significantly increased, which reflected outstanding improvement of hip function.

In this study, the HIMRISS method was used to quantify the acute and chronic inflammatory changes of hip arthritis in SpA under treatment with TNF- α inhibitors or control treatment. The results of the HIMRISS showed significantly better improvement on MRI in the TNF- α group than the control group at week 52. All HIMRISS parameters of the TNF- α group including BME of the femoral head, BME of the acetabulum, synovitis effusion, and total HIMRISS scores showed significant improvement, with p-values <0.001. These results indicated that, to some extent, TNF- α inhibitors could simultaneously achieve significant long-term remission on MRI and clinical remission

versus control treatment, which showed no notable MRI remission. Thus, TNF- α inhibitors demonstrated outstanding advantages for patients with SpA and hip involvement.

We performed additional subgroup analyses to further compare the clinical effect among different TNF- α inhibitors. A previous study indicated that etanercept and adalimumab treatment led to similar ASDAS-CRP improvement in patients with AS (16). In this study, the ASAS remission rates and HIMRISS were simultaneously compared between etanercept/ infliximab and adalimumab at follow-up time points. Results of the Kaplan–Meier test indicated that the difference in remission rates, including those of ASAS20, ASAS40, and ASAS50, and the ASAS partial remission rate were not significant among the different TNF- α inhibitors. At the same time, HIMRISS also had a similar improvement at week 52 between different TNF- α inhibitors with all p-values >0.5. This result indicated that all TNF- α inhibitors had a similar positive effect in patients with SpA complicated with hip involvement.

The follow-up cycle of hip joint function and clinical characteristics varies from 12 weeks to 24 months. In this study, we observed the treatment response between 12 and 52 weeks. Lian et al. and Huang et al. (23) demonstrated that TNF- α inhibitors could maintain stable hip function according to the Harris and clinical remission of hip arthritis in patients with SpA for 6 months. In this study, we simultaneously compared the effectiveness of TNF- α inhibitors and control therapy for the clinical outcome of hip arthritis in SpA from baseline to 52 weeks. Our results further confirmed that clinical remission levels at week 52 in the TNF- α inhibitor group were significantly better than those of the SSZ group in all clinical

parameters including ESR, CRP, Harris, BASDAI, and ASDAS. TNF- α inhibitor treatment yielded rapid clinical remission within 12 weeks and hip function improvement, and this improvement tended to remain through week 52.

The correlation analysis between HIMRISS and systematic clinical symptoms only indicates significant correlations in TNF- α inhibitor group at week 52, but the correlations were not significant at other time points and not significant in the control group. This result indicated that clinical remission and imaging remission may not be achieved at the same time, and treatment effect needs to be evaluated by multi-aspects.

Based on the fact that the cost of TNF- α inhibitors is relatively high in comparison with that of classical DMARDs, the present results indicate a real-world characteristic at baseline that patients in the TNF- α group had more serious disease activity and shorter disease duration than those in the control group, which was consistent with previous studies (29). Patients with SpA who had active hip arthritis are recommended to receive TNF- α inhibitor therapy for quick pain reduction and symptom remission, based on the global effectiveness of TNF- α inhibitors (30). Although disease duration assessed by months at baseline is significantly longer in the control group than the TNF- α group, the difference of average disease duration between the two groups was less than 2 years. In addition, the systematic clinical indexes of ESR, CRP, B27 Harris, BASDAI, and ASDAS-CRP at baseline were not significantly different between two groups. To some extent, the disease activity is a little worse in the TNF group instead. The results showed that as a chronic disease, although the average duration of disease difference in SpA between the two groups was less than 2 years, it should not have a great impact on the treatment response in this study. Similarly, the baseline results of MRI analysis did not fulfill the criteria of no difference between the two groups, particularly regarding the parameters of acetabular BME score, total BME score, and effusion synovitis. The present real-world data revealed that both disease activity and MRI features in patients under treatment with TNF- α inhibitors are more serious. TNF- α inhibitor therapy is suggested in these patients to quickly improve clinical outcomes, relieve pain, and reduce adverse reactions. As a consequence of these real-world characteristics, the present results must be interpreted with caution.

Some limitations of this study should be acknowledged. First, the 1-year treatment and observation period were short; longer follow-up is needed. Next, this was a single-center study in real world, and population bias may influence the applications regarding treatment efficiency. Moreover, although the HIMRISS method was used based on accurate MRI slices, it is not commonly used; additional application and confirmation of this method are required in the future.

CONCLUSION

The results of our quantitative assessment demonstrated that TNF- α inhibitors could significantly and simultaneously improve clinical outcomes and the treatment response on MRI

for hip arthritis in patients with SpA. This improvement was achieved quickly, within a 12-week treatment period, and was maintained in long-term follow-up. Our findings support a superior curative effect of TNF- α inhibitors over non-TNF- α inhibitor agents.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of Xijing Hospital of China (instruction number: 20110303-7). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KZ, YZ, and PZ contributed to the completion of the first draft and final version of the manuscript. PZ, KZ, and ZZ contributed to the initial design of the work. KZ, JD, ZZ, JJ, and PZ contributed to the clinical validation of the follow-up data. YL and MZ contributed to the interpretation of the MRI data. YZ, QH, WW, YW, and BZ contributed to the data acquisition and analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Basic Research Program of China (No. 2015CB553704) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81871273).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank LetPub (www.letpub.com, contact number of "PR_161230J04Y") for its linguistic assistance during the preparation of this manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 740980/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Wink F, Arends S, Maas F, Bootsma H, Griep EN, Bruyn G, et al. High Prevalence of Hip Involvement and Decrease in Inflammatory Ultrasound Lesions During Tumour Necrosis Factor-Alpha Blocking Therapy in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2019) 58:1040–6. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/key382
- Vander CB, Munoz-Gomariz E, Font P, Mulero J, de Vlam K, Boonen A, et al. Hip Involvement in Ankylosing Spondylitis: Epidemiology and Risk Factors Associated With Hip Replacement Surgery. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2010) 49:73–81. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kep174
- Guan M, Wang J, Zhao L, Xiao J, Li Z, Shi Z. Management of Hip Involvement in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2013) 32:1115–20. doi: 10.1007/s10067-013-2278-3
- 4. Bethi S, Dasgupta A, Weisman MH, Learch TJ, Gensler LS, Davis JJ, et al. Functional Limitations Due to Axial and Peripheral Joint Impairments in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: Are Focused Measures More Informative? *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* (2013) 65:607–14. doi: 10.1002/acr.21878
- Vander CB, Vastesaeger N, Collantes-Estevez E. Hip Disease in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2013) 25:448–54. doi: 10.1097/ BOR.0b013e3283620e04
- Hamdi W, Alaya Z, Ghannouchi MM, Haouel M, Kchir MM. Associated Risk Factors With Worse Functional Prognosis and Hip Replacement Surgery in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Joint Bone Spine* (2012) 79:94–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.jbspin.2011.05.021
- Appel H, Kuhne M, Spiekermann S, Kohler D, Zacher J, Stein H, et al. Immunohistochemical Analysis of Hip Arthritis in Ankylosing Spondylitis: Evaluation of the Bone-Cartilage Interface and Subchondral Bone Marrow. *Arthritis Rheum* (2006) 54:1805–13. doi: 10.1002/art.21907
- Huang ZG, Chen XL, Shi KN, Yan R, Chen H, Yang MX, et al. The Application of T2W SPIR-FLAIR in the Diagnosis of Hip Synovitis in Patients With Spondyloarthritis. *Br J Radiol* (2016) 89:20160566. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20160566
- Krabbe S, Eshed I, Sorensen IJ, Jensen B, Moller JM, Balding L, et al. Whole-Body Magnetic Resonance Imaging Inflammation in Peripheral Joints and Entheses in Axial Spondyloarthritis: Distribution and Changes During Adalimumab Treatment. J Rheumatol (2020) 47:50–8. doi: 10.3899/ jrheum.181159
- Maksymowych WP, Cibere J, Loeuille D, Weber U, Zubler V, Roemer FW, et al. Preliminary Validation of 2 Magnetic Resonance Image Scoring Systems for Osteoarthritis of the Hip According to the OMERACT Filter. *J Rheumatol* (2014) 41:370–8. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.131083
- 11. Zheng Y, Zhang K, Han Q, Hao Y, Liu Y, Yin H, et al. Application and Preliminary Validation of the Hip Inflammation MRI Scoring System (HIMRISS) in Spondyloarthritis. *Int J Rheum Dis* (2019) 22(2):228–33. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.13451
- Garcia-Montoya L, Gul H, Emery P. Recent Advances in Ankylosing Spondylitis: Understanding the Disease and Management. *F1000Res* (2018) 7:F1000 Faculty Rev-1512. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.14956.1
- Tam LS, Wei JC, Aggarwal A, Baek HJ, Cheung PP, Chiowchanwisawakit P, et al. 2018 APLAR Axial Spondyloarthritis Treatment Recommendations. *Int J Rheum Dis* (2019) 22:340–56. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.13510
- Chen D, Yuan S, Zhan Z, Xiao Y, Li H, Liang L, et al. Early-Stage Hip Involvement in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Chinese Study Based on Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Mod Rheumatol* (2016) 26:933–9. doi: 10.3109/14397595.2016.1153232
- 15. Zavada J, Uher M, Sisol K, Forejtova S, Jarosova K, Mann H, et al. A Tailored Approach to Reduce Dose of Anti-TNF Drugs may be Equally Effective, But Substantially Less Costly Than Standard Dosing in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis Over 1 Year: A Propensity Score-Matched Cohort Study. Ann Rheum Dis (2016) 75:96–102. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205202
- Ruwaard J, L'Ami MJ, Marsman AF, Kneepkens EL, van Denderen JC, van der Horst-Bruinsma IE, et al. Comparison of Drug Survival and Clinical Outcome in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis Treated With Etanercept or Adalimumab. Scand J Rheumatol (2018) 47:122–6. doi: 10.1080/03009742.2017.1330419
- Lopez-Medina C, Castro-Villegas MC, Collantes-Estevez E. Hip and Shoulder Involvement and Their Management in Axial Spondyloarthritis: A Current Review. Curr Rheumatol Rep (2020) 22:53. doi: 10.1007/s11926-020-00930-7

- Konsta M, Sfikakis PP, Bournia VK, Karras D, Iliopoulos A. Absence of Radiographic Progression of Hip Arthritis During Infliximab Treatment for Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2013) 32:1229–32. doi: 10.1007/ s10067-013-2263-x
- Rudwaleit M, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Listing J, Akkoc N, Brandt J, et al. The Development of Assessment of SpondyloArthritis International Society Classification Criteria for Axial Spondyloarthritis (Part II): Validation and Final Selection. Ann Rheum Dis (2009) 68:777–83. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.108233
- van der Linden S, Valkenburg HA, Cats A. Evaluation of Diagnostic Criteria for Ankylosing Spondylitis. A Proposal for Modification of the New York Criteria. Arthritis Rheum (1984) 27:361–8. doi: 10.1002/art.1780270401
- Ungprasert P, Erwin PJ, Koster MJ. Indirect Comparisons of the Efficacy of Biological Agents in Patients With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin Rheumatol* (2017) 36:1569–77. doi: 10.1007/s10067-017-3693-7
- Burki V, Gossec L, Payet J, Durnez A, Elhai M, Fabreguet I, et al. Prevalence and Characteristics of Hip Involvement in Spondyloarthritis: A Single-Centre Observational Study of 275 Patients. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2012) 30:481–6.
- Huang ZX, Deng WM, Guo X, Huang ZP, Huang YK, Lin CL, et al. Clinical and MRI Response to Dose Reduction of an Etanercept-Biosimilar for Hip Arthritis in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis: An Observational, Retrospective Cohort Study. *Clin Rheumatol* (2019) 38:1595–604. doi: 10.1007/s10067-019-04466-9
- Mahmoud I, Maatallah K, Ben ND, Belghali S, Ben AK, Metoui L, et al. Long Term Inhibition of Hip Joint Damage Under Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha Inhibitors in Spondyloarthritis. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 88:106927. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106927
- 25. Li J, Wang X, Han Z, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Zhang Y, et al. Dose Reduction of Recombinant Human Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitors (Etanercept) can be Effective in Ankylosing Spondylitis Patients With Synovitis of the Hip in A Chinese Population. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol (2016) 29:510–5. doi: 10.1177/0394632016656013
- Chen WS, Chen CH, Lin KC, Tsai CY, Liao HT, Wang HB, et al. Immunohistological Features of Hip Synovitis in Ankylosing Spondylitis With Advanced Hip Involvement. *Scand J Rheumatol* (2009) 38:154–5. doi: 10.1080/03009740802409504
- Huang ZG, Zhang XZ, Hong W, Wang GC, Zhou HQ, Lu X, et al. The Application of MR Imaging in the Detection of Hip Involvement in Patients With Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Eur J Radiol* (2013) 82:1487–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejrad.2013.03.020
- Amor B, Santos RS, Nahal R, Listrat V, Dougados M. Predictive Factors for the Longterm Outcome of Spondyloarthropathies. J Rheumatol (1994) 21:1883–7.
- Jones GT, Dean LE, Pathan E, Hollick RJ, Macfarlane GJ. Real-World Evidence of TNF Inhibition in Axial Spondyloarthritis: Can We Generalise the Results From Clinical Trials? *Ann Rheum Dis* (2020) 79:914–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2019-216841
- 30. Ward MM, Deodhar A, Akl EA, Lui A, Ermann J, Gensler LS, et al. American College of Rheumatology/Spondylitis Association of America/Spondyloarthritis Research and Treatment Network 2015 Recommendations for the Treatment of Ankylosing Spondylitis and Nonradiographic Axial Spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2016) 68:282–98. doi: 10.1002/art.39298

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Zheng, Han, Liu, Wang, Ding, Wang, Zhang, Jia, Zheng, Zheng and Zhu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association Between Infections and Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Xiao Zhang^{1,2,3†}, Zhe Sun^{4†}, Aihong Zhou⁴, Lei Tao⁴, Yingxin Chen^{1,2}, Xinyu Shi^{1,2}, Jia Yin³, Zheng Sun² and Guoyong Ding^{3,4*}

¹ School of Nursing, Shandong First Medical University & Shandong Academy of Medical Sciences, Taian, China, ² School of Clinical Medline, Shandong First Medical University & Shandong Academy of Medical Sciences, Jinan, China, ³ School of Public Health, Shandong First Medical University & Shandong Academy of Medical Sciences, Taian, China, ⁴ The Second Affiliated Hospital of Shandong First Medical University, Taian, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

James Cheng-Chung Wei, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan

Reviewed by:

HuangHsi Chen, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taiwan Qibing Xie, Sichuan University, China

*Correspondence:

Guoyong Ding dgy-153@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Autoimmune and Autoinflammatory Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 September 2021 Accepted: 11 October 2021 Published: 22 October 2021

Citation:

Zhang X, Sun Z, Zhou A, Tao L, Chen Y, Shi X, Yin J, Sun Z and Ding G (2021) Association Between Infections and Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Immunol. 12:768741. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.768741 **Background:** Previous literature on the association between infections and the risk of developing ankylosing spondylitis (AS) presented controversial results. This meta-analysis aimed to quantitatively investigate the effect of infections on the risk of AS.

Methods: We searched the PubMed, Embase, and Web of Science databases until March 26, 2021 for analytical epidemiological studies on the association between infections and the risk of AS. Fixed or random effect models were used to calculate total risk estimates based on study heterogeneity. Subgroup analysis, and sensitivity analysis were also performed. Publication bias was estimated using funnel plots and Begg's test.

Results: Six case-control articles (n=1,296,239) and seven cohort articles (n=7,618,524) were incorporated into our meta-analysis. The pooled odds ratio (OR) from these casecontrol studies showed that infections were associated with an increased risk of AS (OR=1.46, 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.23–1.73), and the pooled relative risk (RR) from the cohort studies showed the same findings (RR=1.35, 95% CI, 1.12–1.63). Subgroup analysis showed that infections in participants with unadjusted comorbidities (OR=1.66, 95% CI, 1.35–2.03), other types of infection (OR=1.40, 95% CI, 1.15–1.70), and infection of the immune system (OR=1.46, 95% CI, 1.42–1.49) were associated with the risk of AS in case-control studies. In cohort studies, infections with adjusted comorbidities (RR=1.39, 95% CI, 1.15–1.68), viral infection (RR=1.43, 95% CI, 1.22–1.66), other types of infection (RR=1.44, 95% CI, 1.12–1.86), and other sites of infection (RR=1.36, 95% CI, 1.11–1.67) were associated with an increased risk of AS.

Conclusions: The findings of this meta-analysis confirm that infections significantly increase the risks of AS. This is helpful in providing an essential basis for the prevention of AS *via* the avoidance of infections.

Keywords: ankylosing spondylitis, infections, analytical epidemiology, systematic review, meta-analysis

INTRODUCTION

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS), a complex autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic disease, has long been considered the archetype of spondyloarthritis (SpA). Common symptoms of AS include arthritic symptoms (such as inflammatory back pain, muscle spasms, and sacroiliac arthritis), potential extra-articular symptoms (such as uveitis, psoriasis, and inflammatory bowel syndrome), and the involvement of the heart, bone, lung, kidneys, and skin (1, 2). The worldwide prevalence of AS ranges between 0.07% and 0.32% (3). In addition, clinical symptoms of patients with AS usually appear between the ages of 26 and 45 years. Men also are more likely to suffer from AS than women, the prevalence being two to three times higher in men than in women (4–6).

The pathogenesis of AS is complex and multifactorial. Early studies have confirmed that AS is strongly associated with the inheritance of HLA allele B27, which might misfold in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), leading to the upregulation of interleukin (IL)-23 in dendritic cells (7-9). It may also result in the presentation of intracellular peptides to T cells, which may trigger cross reactions, leading to tissue inflammation (10, 11). Several recent studies have emphasized the critical role of intestinal flora dysregulation in the development and progression of AS, and have suggested that 60% of AS patients are associated with subclinical intestinal inflammation (12-14). This might be related to the imbalance of IL-17 or IL-23 cytokines caused by the activation a Th17-mediated immune response by intestinal dysbiosis (15). In contrast, the role of environmental factors in the etiology of AS is far from clear. One of the most popular theories presume that the onset of AS in susceptible individuals may be caused by infections (16), and that infections have the potential to modulate and attenuate immune responses.

The underlying pathogenic mechanisms for linking infections and AS involve changes in target cells and immune cells, and antigenic cross-reactions between microbial and host determinants (17). Infections might cause the quantitative reduction in specific T cells and the host defense defect against the infections that allows microbial antigens to reach the joint (18). The association between the infections and AS may be *via* IL-17 or C reactive protein levels that can induce inflammatory response (10, 19). In addition, certain microbial infections may reduce CD4+ T cells, and protein fragments released by dying CD4 lymphocytes may induce autoreactive CD8 lymphocytes (20). There is evidence of significantly elevated levels of IL-6 and TNF-a in AS patients, which might be caused by infections (21).

Numerous studies have investigated AS-related infections, including bacterial (10, 17, 18, 22), viral (17, 19, 20, 23), fungal (11), and those by microorganisms with sizes between those of bacteria and viruses (18, 24, 25). The infected sites include the respiratory (18, 24–26), immune (20, 23, 26, 27), digestive (10, 22, 26, 28), and genitourinary systems (19). However, there is no consensus on the association between infections and the risk of AS. To our knowledge, no systematic review and meta-analysis to date has investigated the effect of infections on the risk of AS. Therefore, in order to obtain a more convincing conclusion, this

study aimed to review all the relevant studies and summarise the findings, in order to investigate the association between infections and AS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The current study was developed according to the guidelines for the Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) (29) and Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA, **Supplementary Table 1**) (30). The protocol is presented in **Supplementary Data**.

Search Strategy

We systematically searched the PubMed, Embase, and Web of Science electronic databases to identify such literature published up until March 26, 2021, using terms related to infection and AS. The search strategy was developed and implemented under the guidance of experts on library services from Shandong First Medical University. The main search strategy involved the following: (spondylitis, ankylosing OR spondyloarthritis ankylopoietica OR ankylosing spondylarthritis OR ankylosing spondylarthritides OR spondylarthritides, ankylosing) AND (infections OR enteritis OR salmonella OR pneumonia OR klebsiella pneumoniae OR urogenital infections OR paradentitis OR tonsillitis OR infection of the upper respiratory tract OR appendicitis OR gastritis OR helicobactor pylori OR virus) AND (case-control study OR retrospective study OR cohort study OR prospective study OR longitudinal study OR follow-up study). The complete search strategy of the three databases is listed in Supplementary Table 2. Moreover, only English- or Chinese-language literature was retrieved from the databases as the investigators were proficient in both these languages. The lists of references from all of the included studies were manually checked to identify possible additional studies.

Selection Criteria

Studies were included according to the following criteria: (1) the study design was a cohort or case-control study; (2) the studies defined infections using self-reporting, clinical diagnosis, or basic medical experiment, and focused on infections that developed before AS did; (3) the outcome of interest was AS; and (4) the studies provided the effect size (relative risk [RR], hazard ratio [HR], or odds ratio [OR] with 95% confidence interval [CI]) or raw data that could be used to calculate RR, HR, or OR. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) non-human-based studies; (2) studies that were poster presentations, reviews, conference summaries, or dissertations; and (3) the scores of quality evaluation according to the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) were <4 (31). In the situation of multiple eligible studies from the same population, only the study with the largest number of individuals was included. Two authors (X.Z. and A.Z.) independently screened titles and abstracts initially and then evaluated full-text articles to ensure the included studies met the eligible inclusion criteria. Any disagreement between them was settled by another author (G.D.).

Data Extraction and Quality Assessment

According to the study design, the included studies were divided into two extraction forms of case-control studies and cohort studies. The following data were extracted from the eligible casecontrol studies using a customized form: the first name of the first author, year of publication, study location, types of infection, definition of infection, definition of AS, age, sex, sample size, adjustment for potential confounding factors, and estimates of association. The follow-up duration in cohort studies was also included. The Cochrane Non-randomized Studies Methods Working Group recommended the use of the NOS to assess the quality of observational studies (range: 0-9 stars) (32). According to the score stars of the NOS, the included studies were defined as low- (1-3 stars), moderate- (4-6 stars), and highquality (7–9 stars). Therefore, if the study obtained \geq 4 stars, it was considered to have an above-moderate quality and, thus, was incorporated into our meta-analysis (31). Data extraction and quality assessment were conducted by two independent investigators (L.T. and Y.C.), and disagreements between them were resolved through negotiation with a third researcher (Z.S.).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses were performed using Stata 15.1 software (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA). All of the tests were bilateral, and P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant, though P values >0.1 illustrated no heterogeneity among studies in the heterogeneity test (33). ORs, RRs, or HRs and their corresponding 95% CIs were considered to be the effect values of different infections on the risk of AS. The pooled OR and RR with their corresponding 95% CIs were used in casecontrol and cohort studies, respectively, to assess the association of infection with the risk of AS. We used the Q test and the I^2 statistic to detect heterogeneity among the studies. I^2 describes the percentage of total variation due to heterogeneity among studies rather than due to chance (34). In the presence of high heterogeneity (I^2 >50%), the Dersimonian and Laird random effects model (REM) was adopted as the pooling method; otherwise, the Mantel-Haensze fixed effects model (FEM) was applied as the pooling method.

Subgroup analyses were performed based on adjusting for comorbidities, infection type, and infection site. In addition, considering that publication year, study location, sample size, definition of infection, and duration of follow-up (only in cohort studies) may affect between-study heterogeneity, subgroup analysis was also conducted based on these possible factors. Sensitivity analyses were performed to validate the stability of pooled ORs of case-control literature and pooled RRs of cohort literature by removing each individual study. In addition, we used the funnel plot and Begg's test to assess publication bias.

RESULTS

Literature Search and Study Selection

The flowchart of the literature search and study selection process is represented in **Figure 1**. Using three electronic databases and running the search strategy, a total of 4,584 potentially relevant articles were identified. In total, 1,358 duplicate articles were excluded. An additional 3,226 articles were excluded by screening for the title and abstract, leaving 24 articles for the full-text review. Screening *via* hand-searching found 1 relevant article. An additional 12 articles were excluded because they did not meet the inclusion criteria. Therefore, 13 articles that met the inclusion criteria were ultimately included (10, 11, 17–20, 22–28).

Study Characteristics

There were six case-control design articles (18, 22, 25–28) and seven cohort study design articles (10, 11, 17, 19, 20, 23, 24). It must be noted that one article involved two case-control studies (28). Therefore, we included 13 articles with 14 studies. The characteristics of the included studies, which were published from 2004 to 2020, are summarized in **Supplementary Tables 3–6**. The case-control studies included 1,296,239 participants; the cohort studies, 7,618,524 participants.

Seven studies were from Asia (11, 19, 22-25, 27), five, from Europe (10, 17, 26, 28), and two, from North America (18, 20). The mean NOS star score of the methodological quality of the studies was 7.9. Two articles (with three studies) obtained 5 stars (25, 28); two studies, 7 stars (17, 23); two studies, 8 stars (10, 26); and seven studies, 9 stars (11, 18-20, 22, 24, 27). The follow-up duration ranged from 3.6 to 34 years in the cohort studies. All studies involved both men and women (10, 11, 18-20, 22-28) except the study by Nielsen et al. (17). Nine studies defined the infection using clinical diagnosis (11, 17, 19, 20, 22-24, 26, 27), two studies (in the same article) defined the infection using selfreport (28), and three studies defined the infection using laboratory tests in etiologic diagnoses (10, 18, 25). Thirteen studies reported one type of infection (10, 11, 19, 20, 22-28), and one study reported four types of infections (18). In the studies, except for those by Feng et al. and Yen et al., the risk estimates were adjusted for confounding variables, such as age, sex, urbanization, income, comorbidities, body mass index, educational attainment, smoking status, and alcohol consumption (10, 11, 17-20, 22, 24, 26-28).

Infection and the Risk of AS

Figures 2, **3** show the association between infections and the risk of AS in seven case-control studies (18, 22, 25–28) and seven cohort studies (10, 11, 17, 19, 20, 23, 24), respectively. There were significant heterogeneities among the seven case-control studies (P_Q <0.001. $I^2 = 88.9\%$), and the seven cohort studies (P_Q <0.001. $I^2 = 70.5\%$). Therefore, REM was used to pool the OR for case-control studies and RR for cohort studies. Our meta-analysis showed that, compared to the control group, the infection group was significantly associated with an increased risk of AS. The pooled OR calculated by REM was 1.46 (95% CI, 1.23–1.73) for the case-control studies, and the pooled RR was 1.35 (95% CI, 1.12–1.63) for the cohort studies.

Subgroup Analysis

Table 1 shows the subgroup analysis based on comorbidities (adjusted *vs.* unadjusted), infection type (bacterial *vs.* viral *vs.* other), and infection site (immune system *vs.* other).



In the case-control studies, our analysis showed no significant difference between adjusted comorbidities (OR=1.26, 95% CI, 0.94–1.70) and unadjusted comorbidities (OR=1.66, 95% CI, 1.35–2.03) (P=0.139). Similar results were reported with the infection type (bacterial, OR=1.31, 95% CI, 0.61–2.78; other, OR=1.40, 95% CI, 1.15–1.70; P=0.864) and the infection site

(immune system, OR=1.46, 95% CI, 1.42–1.49; other, OR=1.27, 95% CI, 0.96–1.69; *P*=0.347).

In the cohort studies, our analysis showed no statistically significant difference between adjusted comorbidities (RR=1.39, 95% CI, 1.15–1.68) and unadjusted comorbidities (RR=0.86, 95% CI, 0.45–1.63; P=0.157). No differences were also found in the



FIGURE 2 | Random effects meta-analysis of the association between infections and ankylosing spondylitis in case-control studies. CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio. a represents case-control study of self-reported ankylosing spondylitis; b represents case-control study of clinical recorded ankylosing spondylitis.



TABLE 1	The subgroup analyse	s of the association betwee	en infections and the risk of AS.

Subgroups	No. of items	OR/RR/HR (95% CI)	<i>I</i> ² (%)	Chi-square test P-value
Case-control studies				
Comorbidities				0.139
Adjusted	2	1.26 (0.94–1.70)	95.7	
Unadjusted	8	1.66 (1.35–2.03)	45.8	
Infection Type				0.864
Bacterial	4	1.31 (0.61–2.78)	55.3	
Other*	6	1.40 (1.15–1.70)	82.7	
Infection Site				0.347
Immune system	2	1.46 (1.42–1.49)	0.0	
Other**	10	1.27 (0.96–1.69)	86.7	
Cohort studies				
Comorbidities				0.157
Adjusted	6	1.39 (1.15–1.68)	71.6	
Unadjusted	1	0.86 (0.45-1.63)	0.0	
Infection Type				0.766
Bacterial	2	0.70 (0.10-4.78)	87.4	
Viral	4	1.43 (1.22–1.66)	35.3	
Other*	3	1.44 (1.12–1.86)	74.0	
Infection Site				0.863
Immune system	2	1.27 (0.61–2.65)	66.0	
Other**	5	1.36 (1.11-1.67)	76.6	

AS, ankylosing spondylitis; CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; OR, odds ratio, RR, relative risk.

*Other types of infection include fungi, chlamydia, and mycoplasma.

**Other sites of infection include the digestive system, respiratory system, and genitourinary system.

infection type (bacterial, RR=0.70, 95% CI, 0.10–4.78; viral, RR=1.43, 95% CI, 1.22–1.66; other, RR=1.44, 95% CI, 1.12–1.86; *P*=0.766) and infection site (immune system, RR=1.27, 95% CI, 0.61–2.65; other, RR=1.36, 95% CI, 1.11–1.67; *P*=0.863).

We also conducted subgroup analysis based on publication year, study location, sample size, definition of infection, and duration of follow-up. As shown in **Supplementary Table 7**, the results showed no significant difference between those subgroups in the case-control studies, which indicated that these above factors were not the source of heterogeneity in case-control studies. In the cohort studies, only for definition of infection, there was a significant deference between clinical diagnosis (RR=1.39, 95% CI, 1.19–1.63, $I^2 = 62.3\%$) and basic medical experiment (RR=0.23, 95% CI, 0.06–0.91, $I^2 = 0\%$, *P*=0.010). Definition of infection might be one of the sources of heterogeneity in the cohort studies.

Sensitivity Analysis and Publication Bias Detection

As shown in **Figure 4**, the results of sensitivity analysis showed that no individual study significantly influenced the pooled OR in the case-control studies. However, the study by Nielsen et al.



FIGURE 4 | Sensitivity analysis of the association between infections and ankylosing spondylitis. (A) Case-control study; a represents case-control study of selfreported ankylosing spondylitis; (B) Cohort study. affected the pooled RR in the cohort studies. The pooled RR was 1.26 (95% CI, 0.98–1.62; $I^2 = 58.6\%$) by omitting this study.

The funnel plots for estimating publication bias were roughly symmetrical for the case-control (**Figure 5A**) and cohort studies (**Figure 5B**). No publication bias was detected by Begg's test for the case-control (*P*=0.721) and cohort studies (*P*=0.368).

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this meta-analysis is the first study to investigate the association between infections and the risk of developing AS. The current meta-analysis included seven casecontrol studies with 1,296,239 participants and seven cohort studies with 7,618,524 participants. The results of this study confirm that infections play an important role in the risk of AS. Determining the effect of infections on AS would be beneficial for the identification of those who are at higher risk of AS as reasonable preventive intervention can be conducted for this population, enabling a farreaching significance for the prevention of AS.

The results showed that infections are associated with an increased risk of AS in both the case-control and cohort studies. Our findings are consistent with most of the studies, including the four studies from Asia (19, 22, 24, 27), three studies from Europe (17, 28), and one study from North America (20). However, the study by Bartels et al. showed opposite results (10), in that previous *Helicobacter pylori* (*H.pylori*) infection may reduce the risk for developing AS. Another study found that *H. pylori* infection was eradicated in more than 80% of cases in the same cohort as that of Bartels et al. (35), indicating that *H. pylori* leaves a protective potential for the development of AS later in life when it is eradicated (10). Furthermore, the microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract changes after the eradication of *H. pylori*, which may have an impact on AS development (36, 37).

Our subgroup analyses showed that there was an association between infection and the risk of AS after adjusting for

comorbidities in the cohort studies, which suggested that the comorbidities are a remarkably important confounding factor in cohort studies, and that we must control and adjust it. However, an association between infection and the risk of AS was found in the case-control studies without adjusted comorbidities. This is due to the nature of the case-control study design. As one of the matching factors of case-control studies, comorbidities may be matched in the design stage, cancelling the need to adjust for comorbidities in the statistical analysis stage.

With regards to the infection types, we did not observe that bacterial infections contribute to the risk of AS. In case-control studies, only the study by Keller et al. showed that there is an association between AS and a prior diagnosis of chronic periodontitis, which is characterized by an oral bacterial infection (22). This may be because rheumatic diseases and chronic periodontitis share pathogenic factors, including a dysfunction of inflammatory mechanisms and an imbalance of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines (22, 38-40). In the cohort studies, the study by Bartels et al. showed that H. pylori may be a protective factor for AS (10). The study of Nielsen et al. also showed that bacterial infection is associated with the development of AS in the general population (17). More cohort studies are needed to verify whether bacterial infection causes AS. The result of the subgroup of other infection types was that other infection types are associated with AS in both the case-control and cohort studies. In our analysis, other types of infection included fungal, chlamydia, and mycoplasma. The pathogenesis of AS due to other types of infection is far from clear. For example, one study suggested that AS could be induced after exposure to Candida albicans through a T cell-driven model towards Th17 responses (11). Another study suggested that Mycoplasma pneumoniae has a significant impact on immune cells and the immune system of the host, including polyclonal activation of T and B cells and the secretion of related cytokines (24), leading to a breakdown of immune-tolerance. In addition, subgroup analysis indicated that viruses play an important role in the risk of AS in the cohort studies. One study suggests that viruses (e.g., human





papillomavirus) might lead to inflammatory or immune-mediated disease by activating the pathogenic IL-23/IL-17 axis, resulting in elevated serum levels of Th17 cells, IL-17, and IL-23, and the imbalance of IL-17A/IL-23 cytokines (19). In the subgroup analysis of infection sites, we found that the infection of the immune system was significantly associated with the risk of AS in the case-control studies. Some immune organs, such as the tonsils, are involved in allergens tolerance by generating allergen-specific FOXP3⁺ regulatory T cells, suggesting that they are critical in the development of immune-tolerance (41). Some studies postulated that the alteration of immune tolerance in patients with tonsillitis might lead to the inflammatory disorders in autoimmune arthritis, including AS; therefore, tonsillitis might be aggravated by spondylitis, leading to the diagnosis of AS (26, 27). In addition, the higher risks of AS among infected people might be explained by HIV-induced antigen-driven immune responses (42), T cell imbalance (43), and molecular mimicry located between HIV protein and self-antigens (44). For the cohort studies, the infections in other sites were significantly associated with the risk of AS, which indicates that AS might be triggered by respiratory tract infections and genitourinary system infections. The pathogenesis of AS caused by the infection in the genitourinary system is mixed. In one of them, human papillomavirus in the genitourinary system might lead to AS by activating the IL-23/IL-17 axis (19). For the respiratory system, Klebsiella pneumoniae might lead to a decrease in the number of specific T cells, which could reflect an insufficient in the host's defense against Klebsiella, thereby allowing AS to be affected by bacterial antigens that reach the joint (18). In our study, we found that some design types were meaningful and some were not for the same subgroups, which might be related to the small number of included articles or the large heterogeneity between the included studies.

This meta-analysis has the following strengths: pooled effect values were analysed according to the different study design, and we grouped the studies according to the types and sites of infection to determine whether these factors were associated with the risk of AS. This study included analytical epidemiological studies to determine the risk of AS, and the sample size was large. The included studies were adjusted for potential confounding variables, which improved the accuracy of risk estimates.

However, some limitations have affected the current study. First, although heterogeneity was explored via subgroup analysis, it was still very high, which may be related to age, sex distribution of participants, definition of infection, diagnosis of AS, etc. The subgroup analysis suggested that definition of infection was one of sources of heterogeneity in the cohort studies, which indicated that the possible disagreement between measurement methods might be a source of misclassification. But heterogeneity within subgroups remained high. In addition, although we extracted the definition of AS, only two articles declared that the diagnosis of AS was based on the Amor criteria (18, 25). As most of articles were retrospective, the International Classification of Diseases codes for the diagnoses of AS were based on records made by physicians and hospitals rather than a prospective clinical setting; thus, we could not set uniform criteria for the definition of AS, which also may result in heterogeneity. Second, this meta-analysis

included only English- and Chinese-language articles, and qualified articles in other languages were not included in the analysis, which might have affected the pooled estimated value. Third, our pooled effect is affected by the study by Nielsen et al. in the cohort studies. However, the study by Nielsen et al. has the largest weight when synthesizing RRs across studies, because of its large sample size, narrow confidence interval, and high quality. When the study by Nielsen et al. was omitted in the sensitivity analysis, the pooled effect estimate was affected by some lowquality studies due to the increased weights. Thus, more large cohort studies are recommended in the future to assess the impact of infections on the risk of AS.

In conclusion, this meta-analysis confirms that there is an association between infections and an increased risk of AS, although the included studies suffered from high heterogeneity. As much as the mechanism of infection and the effect of bacterial and viral infections on AS has not yet been determined, further studies, particularly more higher quality prospective cohort studies and case-control studies, are required to verify that there is a true cause-and-effect relationship between infections and the risk of developing AS.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GD and XZ designed the study protocol. XZ, XS, and JY conducted the literature search. XZ, AZ, and GD retrieved and selected the articles. LT, YC, and ZhengS conducted data extraction. XZ and ZheS performed the statistical analysis of the data. XZ, ZheS, and GD wrote the manuscript draft. GD and ZhengS supervised the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province for the General Program (Grant No. ZR2020MH339). The funder had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 768741/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Sieper J, Poddubnyy D. Axial Spondyloarthritis. Lancet (2017) 390:73–84. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31591-4
- Ajmani S, Keshri A, Srivastava R, Aggarwal A, Lawrence A. Hearing Loss in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int J Rheum Dis* (2019) 22:1202–8. doi: 10.1111/1756-185x.13560
- Dean LE, Jones GT, MacDonald AG, Downham C, Sturrock RD, Macfarlane GJ. Global Prevalence of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2014) 53:650–7. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ket387
- Masi AT, Wilkins WR. Does Male:Female Sex Ratio in Ankylosing Spondylitis Change With Age? J Rheumatol (1996) 23:947–8.
- 5. Will R, Edmunds L, Elswood J, Calin A. Is There Sexual Inequality in Ankylosing Spondylitis? A Study of 498 Women and 1202 Men. *J Rheumatol* (1990) 17:1649-52.
- Lee W, Reveille JD, Davis JCJr., Learch TJ, Ward MM, Weisman MH. Are There Gender Differences in Severity of Ankylosing Spondylitis? Results From the PSOAS Cohort. Ann Rheum Dis (2007) 66:633–8. doi: 10.1136/ ard.2006.060293
- Schlosstein L, Terasaki PI, Bluestone R, Pearson CM. High Association of an HL-a Antigen, W27, With Ankylosing Spondylitis. N Engl J Med (1973) 288:704–6. doi: 10.1056/nejm197304052881403
- Mear JP, Schreiber KL, Münz C, Zhu X, Stevanović S, Rammensee HG, et al. Misfolding of HLA-B27 as a Result of its B Pocket Suggests a Novel Mechanism for its Role in Susceptibility to Spondyloarthropathies. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:6665–70.
- Goodall JC, Wu C, Zhang Y, McNeill L, Ellis L, Saudek V, et al. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Induced Transcription Factor, CHOP, Is Crucial for Dendritic Cell IL-23 Expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2010) 107:17698–703. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011736107
- Bartels LE, Pedersen AB, Kristensen NR, Vilstrup H, Stengaard-Pedersen K, Dahlerup JF. A Positive Helicobacter Pylori Test Is Associated With Low Spondylarthritis Incidence in a Danish Historical Cohort Study. *Rheumatol Int* (2020) 40:359–66. doi: 10.1007/s00296-019-04487-2
- Wei JC, Chou MC, Huang JY, Chang R, Hung YM. The Association Between Candida Infection and Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Population-Based Matched Cohort Study. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2020) 36:2063–9. doi: 10.1080/ 03007995.2020.1838460
- Fragoulis GE, Liava C, Daoussis D, Akriviadis E, Garyfallos A, Dimitroulas T. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases and Spondyloarthropathies: From Pathogenesis to Treatment. World J Gastroenterol (2019) 25:2162–76. doi: 10.3748/ wjg.v25.i18.2162
- Asquith M, Rosenbaum JT. The Interaction Between Host Genetics and the Microbiome in the Pathogenesis of Spondyloarthropathies. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2016) 28:405–12. doi: 10.1097/bor.00000000000299
- Rizzo A, Ferrante A, Guggino G, Ciccia F. Gut Inflammation in Spondyloarthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol (2017) 31:863–76. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2018.08.012
- Zhang L, Hu Y, Xu Y, Li P, Ma H, Li X, et al. The Correlation Between Intestinal Dysbiosis and the Development of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Microb Pathog* (2019) 132:188–92. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2019.04.038
- Smith JA. Update on Ankylosing Spondylitis: Current Concepts in Pathogenesis. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep (2015) 15:489. doi: 10.1007/s11882-014-0489-6
- Nielsen PR, Kragstrup TW, Deleuran BW, Benros ME. Infections as Risk Factor for Autoimmune Diseases - A Nationwide Study. *J Autoimmun* (2016) 74:176–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2016.05.013
- Stone MA, Payne U, Schentag C, Rahman P, Pacheco-Tena C, Inman RD. Comparative Immune Responses to Candidate Arthritogenic Bacteria do Not Confirm a Dominant Role for Klebsiella Pneumonia in the Pathogenesis of Familial Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2004) 43:148–55. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keg482
- Wei CY, Lin JY, Wang YT, Huang JY, Wei JC, Chiou JY. Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis Following Human Papillomavirus Infection: A Nationwide, Population-Based, Cohort Study. J Autoimmun (2020) 113:102482. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2020.102482
- Damba JJ, Laskine M, Jin Y, Sinyavskaya L, Durand M. Incidence of Autoimmune Diseases in People Living With HIV Compared to a Matched Population: A Cohort Study. *Clin Rheumatol* (2020) 40:2439–45. doi: 10.1007/ s10067-020-05500-x

- Ratz T, Dean LE, Atzeni F, Reeks C, Macfarlane GJ, Macfarlane TV. A Possible Link Between Ankylosing Spondylitis and Periodontitis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Rheumatol (Oxford)* (2015) 54:500–10. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keu356
- Keller JJ, Kang JH, Lin HC. Association Between Ankylosing Spondylitis and Chronic Periodontitis: A Population-Based Study. *Arthritis Rheum* (2013) 65:167–73. doi: 10.1002/art.37746
- Yen YF, Chuang PH, Jen IA, Chen M, Lan YC, Liu YL, et al. Incidence of Autoimmune Diseases in a Nationwide HIV/AIDS Patient Cohort in Taiwan, 2000-2012. Ann Rheum Dis (2017) 76:661–5. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209815
- Chu KA, Chen W, Hung YM, Wei JC. Increased Risk of Ankylosing Spondylitis After Mycoplasma Pneumonia: A Nationwide Population-Based Study. *Med* (*Baltimore*) (2019) 98:e15596. doi: 10.1097/md.000000000015596
- 25. Feng XG, Xu XJ, Ye S, Lin YY, Chen P, Zhang XJ, et al. Recent Chlamydia Pneumoniae Infection Is Highly Associated With Active Ankylosing Spondylitis in a Chinese Cohort. *Scand J Rheumatol* (2011) 40:289–91. doi: 10.3109/03009742.2011.560891
- 26. Lindström U, Exarchou S, Lie E, Dehlin M, Forsblad-d'Elia H, Askling J, et al. Childhood Hospitalisation With Infections and Later Development of Ankylosing Spondylitis: A National Case-Control Study. Arthritis Res Ther (2016) 18:240. doi: 10.1186/s13075-016-1141-8
- Chao WC, Lin CH, Chen YM, Jiang RS, Chen HH. Association Between Tonsillitis and Newly Diagnosed Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Nationwide, Population-Based, Case-Control Study. *PloS One* (2019) 14:e0220721. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0220721
- Abbood HM, Pathan E, Cherukara GP. The Link Between Ankylosing Spondylitis and Oral Health Conditions: Two Nested Case-Control Studies Using Data of the UK Biobank. J Appl Oral Sci (2018) 27:e20180207. doi: 10.1590/1678-7757-2018-0207
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology: A Proposal for Reporting. Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) Group. Jama (2000) 283:2008–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008
- 30. Page MJ, Moher D. Evaluations of the Uptake and Impact of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Statement and Extensions: A Scoping Review. Syst Rev (2017) 6:263. doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0663-8
- Xuan K, Jha AR, Zhao T, Uy JP, Sun C. Is Periodontal Disease Associated With Increased Risk of Colorectal Cancer? A Meta-Analysis. Int J Dent Hyg (2021) 19:50–61. doi: 10.1111/idh.12483
- 32. Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses (2021). Available at: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/ clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp (Accessed September 26, 2021).
- 33. Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.2 (2021). Cochrane. Available at: http://www.training.cochrane.org/handbook (Accessed October 6, 2021). updated February 2021.
- Huai P, Xun H, Reilly KH, Wang Y, Ma W, Xi B. Physical Activity and Risk of Hypertension: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. *Hypertension* (2013) 62:1021–6. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.01965
- Bartels LE, Jepsen P, Christensen LA, Gerdes LU, Vilstrup H, Dahlerup JF. Diagnosis of Helicobacter Pylori Infection Is Associated With Lower Prevalence and Subsequent Incidence of Crohn's Disease. J Crohns Colitis (2016) 10:443–8. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv229
- Yap TW, Gan HM, Lee YP, Leow AH, Azmi AN, Francois F, et al. Helicobacter Pylori Eradication Causes Perturbation of the Human Gut Microbiome in Young Adults. *PloS One* (2016) 11:e0151893. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151893
- Yang L, Wang L, Wang X, Xian CJ, Lu H. A Possible Role of Intestinal Microbiota in the Pathogenesis of Ankylosing Spondylitis. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17:2126. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122126
- Al-Katma MK, Bissada NF, Bordeaux JM, Sue J, Askari AD. Control of Periodontal Infection Reduces the Severity of Active Rheumatoid Arthritis. *J Clin Rheumatol* (2007) 13:134–7. doi: 10.1097/RHU.0b013e3180690616
- de Pablo P, Dietrich T, McAlindon TE. Association of Periodontal Disease and Tooth Loss With Rheumatoid Arthritis in the US Population. *J Rheumatol* (2008) 35:70–6.

- Pischon N, Pischon T, Kröger J, Gülmez E, Kleber BM, Bernimoulin JP, et al. Association Among Rheumatoid Arthritis, Oral Hygiene, and Periodontitis. J Periodontol (2008) 79:979–86. doi: 10.1902/jop.2008.070501
- Palomares O, Rückert B, Jartti T, Kücüksezer UC, Puhakka T, Gomez E, et al. Induction and Maintenance of Allergen-Specific FOXP3+ Treg Cells in Human Tonsils as Potential First-Line Organs of Oral Tolerance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 129:510–20, 20.e1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2011.09.031
- Itescu S, Dalton J, Zhang HZ, Winchester R. Tissue Infiltration in a CD8 Lymphocytosis Syndrome Associated With Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Infection has the Phenotypic Appearance of an Antigenically Driven Response. J Clin Invest (1993) 91:2216–25. doi: 10.1172/jci116448
- Fife DJ, Waller JM, Jeffes EW, Koo JY. Unraveling the Paradoxes of HIV-Associated Psoriasis: A Review of T-Cell Subsets and Cytokine Profiles. *Dermatol Online J* (2007) 13:4. doi: 10.5070/D34SF63339
- 44. Russo S, Lopalco L. Is Autoimmunity a Component of Natural Immunity to HIV? *Curr HIV Res* (2006) 4:177–90. doi: 10.2174/157016206776055011

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Sun, Zhou, Tao, Chen, Shi, Yin, Sun and Ding. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

